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The Union Investment Group is one of the largest and 
most important providers in Germany’s asset manage-
ment industry, with more than 50 years of expertise in 
fund management, and assets under management of 
over € 206.2 billion. Union Investment actively man-
ages assets, offering tailored investment solutions for 
both retail and institutional investors. 

Union Investment is a member of the DZ BANK Group 
alongside Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall, DG HYP, 
DZ PRIVATBANK, R+V Versicherung, TeamBank, VR 
LEASING, and various other specialized institutions. 
The companies in the DZ BANK Group constitute key 
pillars in the range of financial products and services 
offered by the cooperative financial network. The DZ 
BANK Group sets out its strategy and range of services 
for the cooperative banks and their customers through 
its four strategic business lines – Retail Banking, 
Corporate Banking, Capital Markets, and Transaction 

Banking. The DZ BANK Group forms part of the Ger-
man cooperative financial network, which comprises 
more than 1,100 local cooperative banks and is one 
of Germany’s largest private-sector financial services 
organizations in terms of total assets. Within the 
cooperative financial network, DZ BANK AG functions 
both as a central institution for over 900 cooperative 
banks (and their roughly 12,000 branch offices) and 
as a corporate bank.

This combination of banking, personal investment 
products and services, insurance, and home savings 
has a long and successful tradition in the cooperative 
financial network. The specialized institutions in the 
DZ BANK Group provide top-class, highly competitive 
products at reasonable prices within their specific 
areas of expertise. This ensures that the cooperative 
banks in Germany are able to offer their clients a com-
prehensive range of outstanding financial services.

Union Investment – Partner of the Cooperative Banks 
and a DZ BANK Group Company

2013 2012 2011 2010

Assets under management (AuM) (€ billion) 206.2 190.5 170.3 177.4

Mutual funds 120.8 114.8 103.0 109.7

Special funds 61.3 58.8 53.3 54.4

Other formats ¹ 30.0 26.1 20.3 19.1

Formats managed by third parties ² -6 -9.2 -6.3 -5.8

Market share of total BVI assets under management ³ 12.8% 12.3% 11.8% 11.9%

Market share of BVI mutual funds (AuM) 19.6% 19.5% 18.2% 18.1%

Market share of BVI special funds (AuM) 11.4% 11.0% 11.7% 11.9%

Net inflows (€ billion) 10.1 9.9 -1.5 8.7

Mutual funds 1.4 5.4 -2.1 -0.3

Special funds 1.9 2.1 0.3 6.2

Other formats ¹ 2.9 3.7 1.3 3.0

Formats managed by third parties ² 3.9 -1.3 -1.0 -0.2

Market share of total inflows to BVI (AuM) ³ 20.1% 14.9% -36.2% 25.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI mutual funds (AuM) 35.4% 41.0% n.a. 4 -32.0%

Market share of inflows to BVI special funds (AuM) 9.4% 10.3% 4.4% 21.5%

Number of products 963 998 969 957

Mutual funds 690 708 675 634

Special funds 311 323 308 318

Other formats ¹ 253 250 249 246

Formats managed by third parties ² -291 -283 -263 -241

¹ Fund-linked asset management, institutional asset management, private banking, advisory services.
² Notional adjustment of assets under management for formats that are administered by Union Investment but managed by third parties.
³ Based on fund management statistics published by the Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management e.V. (BVI) [Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies], analysis of 
managed funds. 
4 Total new business in the sector was down, therefore no market share can be shown.
Source: Union Investment; as at December 31, 2013
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Community is everything
A good payoff
Good corporate governance in the 
interests of investors –  
a good payoff 

New build with a seal of  
approval
Certification of the new MainTor 
Porta building in Frankfurt –  
a report

A step ahead 
Union Investment has developed 
its own tools so that it can predict 
investment risks as accurately as 
possible
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15 examples of how more can be achieved by working together

A good  
payoff6
Union Investment is almost unique among 
fund management companies in the way that 
it stands up for good corporate governance in 
the interests of shareholders. This commitment 
creates tangible financial benefits.  Page 34

Contents

Letter to shareholders  8

What makes a community 10

Laying the foundations for future prosperity  18

A tradition of engagement 24

Preparing for the future  28

UniProfiRente – the right Riester pension product 30

A good payoff 34

New build with a seal of approval 38

An obligation for all eternity   40

Achieving a balance  44

Every call is unique 46

The current champion 49

Navigating a course for returns 52

A step ahead 54

Escaping the core trap 58

Community as a way of life 62

2013 financial report

Group management report

Report of the Supervisory Board

Consolidated financial statements

Audit opinion (translation)

Shareholders and decision-making bodies 

2013 CSR report

About this report

Sustainability program

Our real-estate portfolio 

GRI Index

GRI report

Glossary

Editorial information

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

67

70

102

104

170

171

175

176

178

183

199

211

213

217

6



15 examples of how more can be achieved by working together

New build with a 
seal of approval
A sustainably designed building fits in perfectly with the environ-
mental targets and certified environmental management system 
of Union Investment. That is why it wants the new MainTor Porta 
building in Frankfurt to be awarded a gold certificate from the 
German Sustainable Building Council. A complex project.   
Page 38

The financial crisis revealed the weaknesses 
of the major rating agencies. Union Invest-
ment has developed its own tools so that it 
can predict the country risk of investments as 
accurately as possible. The tools broaden the 
decision-making basis for investments, for ex-
ample taking into consideration factors such as 
corruption in public authorities and companies. 
This increases the quality of financial products.  
Page 54
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A step 
ahead 
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What happens when the parameters within which we operate change significantly 
and the tried-and-tested approaches no longer work? This is the issue that particularly 
concerns us at the moment. Permanently low interest rates threaten the prosperity of 
our society. The Germans are becoming poorer as they save. Although they are diligent 
savers, their strong preference for safety means that they earn virtually no returns. Many 
investors have no idea how to deal with this situation. They have no experience to draw 
on, just an inherited attitude to investment based on interest rates that has been handed 
down for generations.

As the trustee of customer assets totaling more than €200 billion, Union Investment 
knows it has a particular responsibility. We want to encourage people to invest in a more 
balanced manner. We know full well that we will not make the Germans into a nation of 
shareholders overnight. Nonetheless, our task is to present the opportunity-oriented in-
vestment options and thereby give them access to more balanced investments. This is the 
only way that investors can generate reasonable returns when interest rates remain low 
for long periods. Our solutions can show them that there is a wide investment universe 
beyond zero interest rates.

The market performed well in 2013, showing that, through active asset management, it is 
still possible to create wealth and add value when interest rates are low. Across all classes 
of securities, the funds of Union Investment generated a net return of 5.7 percent. This 
strong performance combined with our rigorous focus on the needs of retail and institu-
tional investors again paid off in 2013. We generated net new business of €10.1 billion 
and increased assets under management to a record €206.2 billion. Moreover, we posted 
a profit before taxes of €399 million. 

Dear readers and shareholders,
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This report shows you how we are going about achieving our primary objective of making 
more of our investors‘ money so that we merit their trust. The report‘s title is ‚Community 
is everything‘ because we take our responsibility towards society – the community – 
seriously and constantly strive to integrate our sustainability efforts into our core business. 
We are making good progress, which is why we are reporting on our sustainability 
activities within the framework of our annual report for the first time. ‚Community is 
everything‘ indicates that we can only achieve our objective as part of a community with 
our partners in the cooperative financial network and as a result of the huge level of 
commitment shown by the 2,400 or so employees of Union Investment. On behalf of the 
Union Investment Board of Managing Directors, I would like to take this opportunity to 
say a big thank you to everyone. 

I hope you enjoy reading this report.  
 
Kind regards,

Hans Joachim Reinke
Chief Executive Officer of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report
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Diversity
Community means having a shared philosophy with 
which to move forward together. The rising heat 
carries us and the wind moves us, all in the same 
direction and each on our own journey. Doing things 
together does not mean doing everything the same. 
It is the interplay between different perspectives that 
results in diversity.
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What makes a  
community

1

Everyone knows that the whole is greater than the 
sum of its parts. But a loosely connected group 
of people need a sense of solidarity if they are to 
become a community. In other words, they need to 
understand that things will be bigger and better if 
many different people put their hearts and minds 
into achieving them.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report
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Creativity
To climb high, you need good ideas and a strong 
team. To produce something special, you must rise 
above the terra firma of fact. Creativity comes into 
being when a multitude of good ideas are mixed 
together, leading to new and unexpected concepts. 
Community and creativity belong together. 

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report
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Solidarity
Life sometimes puts challenges in our way, challenges 
that we can only overcome by pitching in and lending 
a hand. This is implicit for anyone who belongs to a 
functioning community – that is what is meant by 
solidarity, the backbone of every community.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report
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Strength
Together and in rhythm: When everyone works to-
gether to propel themselves forward, a great deal  
is possible. When everyone has the same objective,  
it is more likely to be reached. Community is a driving 
force and carries people along. It brings out the best 
in every single person. It is the energy source that 
makes things possible in the first place. 
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By and in himself a man can accomplish very little; 
he is like Robinson Crusoe on a desert island. 
It is only in society that a man’s powers can be 

called into full activity,” said the philosopher Arthur 
Schopenhauer. Society, or the community, is the basis 
that enables people to achieve ambitious objectives 
and together build something on a large scale. 

The benefits of a community are self-evident:  
‘Together we are strong!’ is a much repeated German 
proverb and brings up millions of hits on Google. Any 
weakness can be overcome if people pull together. 
The members of a community have similar outlooks, 
values, and objectives. They form this community in 
order to obtain something or create something new. 
Community is also synonymous with diversity. A large 
group of people offers a greater number of perspec-
tives and provides a platform on which they can 
present themselves. That is why communities are a 
seedbed for new ideas. Communities of like-minded 
people are therefore useful because they drive things 
forward. 

With all these positive and connecting forces that 
reach out to people, communities are at the core 
of our modern society. This can be seen by the way 
in which that very German form of community, the 
cooperative, has taken the world by storm since being 
invented in the 19th century. The International Co-
operative Alliance (ICA) numbers 900,000 coopera-
tives worldwide that successfully follow the ‘idealism 
plus returns’ operating model. Here in Germany, one 
in four people belongs to a cooperative. And they are 
right to do so: Plenty of broad shoulders and clever 
minds combine to offer security and achieve success. 
There was even a recent proposal to add the coopera-
tive principle to UNESCO’s list of intangible cultural 
heritage. It would be the first such example from 
Germany. 

According to one of its unspoken laws, the community 
should provide a benefit for each one of its members. 
There are few who understand this better than the 
people at Union Investment. As the fund manage-
ment company of the Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken 
cooperative financial network, Union Investment has 
always embodied the idea of community.  

17
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Laying the foundations for  
future prosperity 
Interest rates in Germany have never before been as low as they were in 2013. 
This phase will persist, bringing with it economic and social consequences for 
investors and society. That is why the members of the Union Investment Board 
of Managing Directors believe there is a need for action.

2
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Since the financial market crisis and European 
sovereign debt crisis, secure investments have 
become more of a priority for German savers than 

ever before – a fact that has been known for some 
time now. What was new in 2013, however, was that 
the European Central Bank reduced its key interest 
rate to a record low of 0.25 percent. It reflects the 
high point so far in a phase of low interest rates that 
has never been seen before, while returns have fallen 
dramatically over the past few years. This phase of low 
interest rates is set to continue: Experts believe that 
central banks will not change their expansionary mon-
etary policies for the time being. The US economist 

and Nobel laureate Joseph Stiglitz has said that this 
flood of money could carry on into the next decade. 

These developments are worrying for Hans Joachim 
Reinke, Chief Executive Officer of Union Investment: 
“The Germans have traditionally preferred safe invest-
ment products, such as instant-access accounts, fixed-
term deposits, and classic savings accounts. However, 
this becomes a problem when interest rates remain 
permanently low. After adjusting for inflation, they 
may even be making a loss.” Reinke believes that this 
means savers are losing out on huge sums of money. 
Estimates show that this could have been as much as 

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report
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€14 billion in 2013 alone. “The long-term prosperity 
of our society is at risk,” concludes Reinke.

Professional investors set an example

Many savers are not aware that they are losing the 
earnings that could give them financial security in 
their old age. By contrast, professional investors 
such as insurers, church organizations, and industrial 
corporations are increasingly looking for investment 
solutions that are suitable for an environment of low 
interest rates. 

“Pension funds are a good example of how profes-
sional investors are facing greater pressure to achieve 
returns against a backdrop of persistently low interest 
rates,” says Alexander Schindler, member of the Union 
Investment Board of Managing Directors responsible 
for institutional business. “An average pension fund 
invests a substantial portion of its pension contribu-
tions in safe interest-rate-based investments,” he 
explains. “But if interest rates drop to around zero, the 
urgently needed returns do not materialize. This has 
huge consequences for companies.”

The job of pension funds is to invest money for 
companies’ occupational pension schemes. So if 
the money in the pension funds does not generate 
sufficient income, the companies risk having to make 
significant additional payments. The German Institute 
for Working Time Accounts and Pension Solutions (diz) 
has found that many companies – including small and 
medium-sized enterprises – have a shortfall of 30–50 
percent of the capital they need to fulfill employees’ 
pension entitlements dating from times when interest 
rates were higher.

“This situation is forcing institutional investors such 
as pension funds to increasingly focus on achieving 
a minimum required rate of return,” says Schindler. 
“Similarly, 64 percent of the investors who participat-
ed in our latest risk management study said that they 
were aiming for a minimum required rate of return. 
That is an increase of 11 percentage points compared 
with 2012.” A noble objective, for which profes-
sional investors are turning to Union Investment for 
support. At the same time, a shift in investment policy 
is emerging. According to Schindler, pension funds 
and other institutional investors are now prepared to 
assume controlled risks and seize specific opportuni-
ties despite the growing regulatory requirements. They 
are also attaching greater importance to spreading 

“Financial security is when you have slight-
ly more money than you immediately need for 
your everyday life and you don’t lack anything 
in material terms. But it also has an intangible 
element. Someone who is financially secure can 
develop their potential better and do things in 
life that are not directly linked to earning their 
daily bread. Yet there are growing concerns 
about financial security among the German 
middle classes. Many people do not believe they 
will be able to pass on their standard of living to 
their children.” 
Hans Joachim Reinke

20



investments more widely across different asset classes 
and are venturing into the equity market again using 
risk-controlled equity strategies.

Widespread asset allocation and investments 
in equities offer upside potential

Retail investors in Germany could follow this example. 
Saving has a long tradition in this country – whether 
for an emergency, for old age, or for the children’s 
welfare. This has enabled German people to save 
up a sizeable sum of around €5 trillion according to 
Deutsche Bundesbank statistics. It is only the Ger-
mans who are overly fixated on safety, believes Jens 
Wilhelm, who is responsible for investment strategy on 
the Union Investment Board of Managing Directors. 
“Although German people carefully save an average 
of 11 percent of their disposable net income, when it 
comes to asset growth they are falling behind people 
in other countries,” emphasizes Wilhelm. Although US 
investors save just 4 percent, on average they achieve 
a 1 percent higher return per year with the same 
investment conditions. This performance can be traced 
back to broader asset allocation, Wilhelm says. “US 
citizens tend to invest in equities and long-term equity 
investments rather than in classic savings products. 
Although their savings are exposed to greater volatil-
ity, they generate a higher average return.”

Wilhelm attributes the Germans’ skepticism about 
investing in equity investments to the bad experience 
they had after the bursting of the technology bubble 
and the sometimes high losses that many investors 
then suffered at the turn of the millennium. In ad-
dition, unfavorable general parameters in Germany 
do not offer any incentive to rely more on the upside 
potential of an equity strategy in order to accumulate 
wealth over the long term. Jens Wilhelm: “Firstly, a 
regulatory corset is making equity savings products 
increasingly complicated. Secondly, there is a lack of 
tax incentives.” Both the investor and the companies 
involved have to pay tax on the income from invest-
ments in equities. It is also counterproductive that 
gains on the sale of equities are always liable for tax, 
irrespective of the duration of the investment, such as 
a savings contract, or the purpose of the investment.
German people will not be able to afford to opt for 
total safety for much longer as they are missing out 
on potential returns. The lack of financial security 
affects each and every investor and has an impact on 
society as a whole. “When people talk about finan-
cial security, many of them think of it as having a bit 

“Prosperity is an asset that must be pro-
tected. Pension funds can play a role here. How-
ever, persistently low interest rates are putting 
pressure on many institutional investors. They 
have to achieve a minimum required rate of 
return so that companies can fulfill entitlements 
under occupational pension schemes. That is 
why institutional investors are taking on a great-
er amount of controlled risk again, for example 
in the equity market. Dynamic capital preserva-
tion strategies provide the necessary balance 
between safety and returns. What’s more, active 
management has a proven track record when it 
comes to adding value.”
Alexander Schindler
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more money than they immediately need so that they 
do not lack anything in material terms,” says Hans 
Joachim Reinke. All the more worrying are the growing 
concerns about financial security among the middle 
classes, who have previously been in a strong position. 
A study of the middle classes by the Bertelsmann 
Foundation found that, unlike in other European coun-
tries, the middle classes were less worried about day-
to-day economic problems. However, many people do 
not believe they will be able to pass on their standard 
of living to their children.

Product solutions and quality of advice are 
crucial

“As part of the cooperative financial network, whose 
customers are frequently members and therefore 
owners of their bank, Union Investment believes it 
has a special responsibility in this situation to initiate 
the discussion,” explains Reinke. The Chief Execu-
tive Officer spends around 100 days a year visiting 
local cooperative banks, which has shown him that 
advisors face a significant challenge as a result of 
low interest rates and investors’ strong preference for 
safety. Nonetheless, he believes the quality of advice 
is important: “Investing is not a simple task, and most 
customers need help. This calls for good advisors who 
set store by long-term customer relationships and 
see their job as preparing the ground for customers’ 
objectives,” explains Reinke.

However, if the customers of the local cooperative 
banks are to achieve their investment objectives, there 
need to be products and solutions that are geared to 
savers’ requirements and take customers’ individual 
life situation and life planning situation into account 
using an appropriate risk/return profile. “By systemati-
cally expanding the range of multi-asset products, we 
have provided a high-yield way for customers to ac-
cess the capital markets while still retaining the focus 
on safety,” says Jens Wilhelm, who is delighted that 
Union Investment recently won the award for best 
multi-asset manager at the FERI EuroRating Awards. 
“Professional multi-asset management also helps 
customers to utilize the full bandwidth of investment 
options, particularly in times of low interest rates.” 

When building up mixed portfolios for customers, 
Union Investment can draw on its years of experience 
in institutional business. “Two things are paramount 
when it comes to fund management,” says Wilhelm. 
“Firstly, we need to identify attractive investment op-
portunities every day. 

“German people’s saving habits are put-
ting their prosperity at risk. They are falling 
behind people in other countries when it comes 
to asset growth because they are skeptical about 
high-yield investments. As a result, they do not 
choose a balanced allocation of assets. Multi- 
asset products are a possible solution because 
they enable customers to utilize the full band-
width of investment options.”
Jens Wilhelm
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Using dynamic risk management, we then have to 
ascertain the optimum allocation of assets based on 
the investor’s individual requirements. And secondly, 
we need ongoing active asset allocation so that we 
are better at adapting to change in the list of favorite 
stocks and to greater market volatility.” 

Personal initiative called for

The members of the Union Investment Board of Man-
aging Directors agree that, ultimately, savers them-
selves have to take more responsibility for where they 
put their money in order to ensure lasting financial 
security. Financial knowledge is an important issue.  
It is a recognized fact that a lack of understanding of 
financial affairs can result in the provisions that people 
make independently not being adequate for their 
personal situation or they put off making any decision 
at all. According to a study by the Federal Associa-
tion of German Fund Management Companies (BVI), 
more than half of the Germans who participated in 
the survey described their knowledge of investing as 
poor. Research conducted by Union Investment found 
that 84 percent of German people were unaware that 
they would have to pay tax on their old-age pension. 
“Many people cannot accurately estimate how much 
their income will be in later life,” summarizes Hans 
Joachim Reinke.

Joint efforts to ensure prosperity

Union Investment is helping to change this with 
products geared to investors’ interests and compre-
hensive support for advisors in the local cooperative 
banks. However, this will not be enough to ensure 
that society remains prosperous in the future. The 
support of other players is required. Politicians need 
to encourage financial education in schools and put in 
place the general parameters that will enable savers’ 
investments to work toward ensuring prosperity. And 
it is the task of each individual to think about their 
own investment strategy and to make use of the high-
quality advisory services that are available.  

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report



Mr. Stapelfeldt, corporate citizenship in itself 
isn’t a new venture for Union Investment, is it?

No. We fulfill our corporate social responsibility in 
many ways – such as by demanding that partners and 
service providers comply with standards relating to 
human rights, children’s rights, and the environment – 
but above all through a number of our own initiatives 
and activities.

What sort of activities?

One example is the mitMenschen initiative: Up to the 
end of 2013, more than 900 employees had partici-
pated in 111 projects, spending a total of around 
10,400 working hours to voluntarily help socially 
disadvantaged children, young people and adults, 
and people with disabilities. What’s more, we donate 
to charitable organizations such as Herzenswünsche, 
Südwind, the Klingelknopf Foundation in Hamburg, 
and SOS Children’s Villages. Union Investment also 
sponsors the Städel Museum, the Society for Friends 
and Supporters of the Frankfurt University of Music 
and Performing Arts, and the German Association of 
Stock Market Groups at German Universities. And 
finally there is the Union Investment Foundation, 
which focuses on supporting projects in the fields of 
science, research, education, and art – particularly 
those concerning financial investment, the cooperative 
movement, and promotion of culture and the arts. 

A tradition of engagement 
Following on from the other three CSR action areas (environment, employees, and products & 
services), Union Investment has now drawn up a strategy to provide direction for its corporate 
citizenship activities.

3

Dedication and the right strategy

On December 10, 2013, the Union Investment Board of Managing Directors approved 

the corporate social responsibility strategy. Sustainability coordinator Matthias Stapelfeldt 

commissioned the strategy and developed it in cooperation with Corporate Development 

and representatives from other areas of the Company. The first step was to analyze the 

existing situation. They then drew up recommendations for action and incorporated them 

into the strategy. The main new aspects are the activities‘ focus on the core issues of pen-

sions and education plus the establishment of a central coordination unit with a policy, 

monitoring, and reporting function. 
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Why has Union Investment only now devel-
oped a strategy in the area of corporate social 
responsibility?

There are two reasons. Firstly, we initially concen-
trated on the areas that are closely linked to our core 
business, i.e. products and services, employees, and 
the environment. We were able to follow generally 
accepted German and international standards in these 
areas. The UN Principles for Responsible Investment 
apply to products, for example. The berufundfamilie 
audit is relevant to how we treat employees. And our 
environmental management system is certified in 
accordance with ISO 14001. And that brings us to the 
second reason: These kinds of standard do not exist 
for corporate citizenship, so we had to develop many 
things ourselves. This takes time with such a multi-

Above: Sustainability coordinator Matthias Stapelfeldt in Frankfurt‘s Städel Museum – an area 
of involvement that fits in well with the CSR strategy.
Left: Twelfth-grade students at a commercial high school in Dreieich have fun increasing their 
knowledge of retirement pensions.

faceted issue, and we allowed ourselves this time to 
ensure that we achieved a good outcome.

Why is corporate social responsibility so multi-
faceted?

Union Investment has a long tradition of corporate 
citizenship. It is enshrined in our cooperative roots 
and encompasses many different things. But, and this 
is the crucial point, it has developed over many years 
without a defined framework or uniform structure. 
This meant there were many different activities, but 
no umbrella term that covered all of them. Corporate 
citizenship simply in the sense of support for social 
causes is far too narrow. It is a matter of the Company 
contributing to furthering the interests of society – in 
areas related to its core business. The corporate social 
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responsibility strategy that we have adopted takes this 
into account.

What are the main elements of the strategy?

The main new aspect is the focus on particular 
themes. In the future, corporate citizenship activi-
ties will center on the core issues of pensions and 
education. The main target group for the latter will be 
children and young people. Both of these focus topics 
are a good fit with the core business of Union Invest-
ment. There are already successful activities in these 
areas, such as the BVI’s Hoch im Kurs initiative, which 
we have supported for years, and the partnership with 
SOS-Kinderdorf e.V. and the charity Herzenswünsche 
e.V. for seriously ill children and young people. More 
will be added in 2014. For example, the Union Invest-
ment Foundation is promoting women in finance by 
awarding two scholarships to female students at the 
Universities of Frankfurt and Mannheim. 

Was it difficult to decide on the focus topics?

Not at all. They are the two obvious choices, given 
their close links to the core business of Union Invest-
ment. Firstly pensions: Demographic change has made 
retirement provision one of the most urgent problems 
of our age and we have been working on this problem 
for many years as a provider of pension solutions. The 
second focus topic is financial education. There is a 
lot to be done here, starting with teaching the basics 
in schools. You can only sensibly save for the long 
term, for example for university or retirement, if you 
are clued up on financial matters. That is why many 
of our corporate citizenship activities already relate 
to these two areas. Creating a focus for our activities 
is therefore not an entirely new strategy, it is more a 
question of providing a logical framework for them. 
And it doesn’t mean that other things are no longer 
allowed. The strategy states that at least 60 percent 
of our activities up to 2018 should focus on the two 
topics.

“Our focus topics – pensions and 
financial education – are closely linked 
to our core business.” 
Matthias Stapelfeldt
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What happens next?

The central coordination unit reports to the Board 
of Managing Directors and went into operation in 
January. Over the coming months, it will work with the 
individual divisions to document all existing activities 
in a database, set up a reporting process and, by the 
end of 2014, establish a binding policy for corporate 
citizenship activities at Union Investment. In parallel, 
the unit has already begun to look for new suitable 
activities relating to the focus topics. Plenty of ideas 
and suggestions are being collected and checked for 
compatibility with the strategy.  

How do you ensure that the changes made as 
part of the strategy are actually implemented?
 
That is the other major new aspect resulting from the 
strategy that we have adopted. The situation in the 
past was that, while our corporate citizenship activities 
were broad based, they lacked focus and were not 
documented transparently. We wanted to change that 
with the strategy. Our aim was to create a clear frame-
work within the Company for our engagement and to 
establish mandatory processes for checking, approv-
ing, and carrying out activities. It was also important 
to us to create transparency so that we can report on 
the corporate citizenship activities of Union Invest-
ment in both internal and external communications. 
That is why a central coordination unit was set up to 
collect information from every division and every site. 
It acts as a central register of the activities and has a 
policy, monitoring, and reporting function. 

Left: Markus Temme is one of the more than 900 Union Investment employees who have volun-
teered as part of mitMenschen projects since 2006. Union Investment employees have participated 
in 111 mitMenschen projects in that time, for example making urgently required toys and seating 
for children.
Above: A hands-on approach: Matthias Stapelfeldt takes a look at the projects for himself.
Right: There are many different corporate citizenship activities. They include supporting students‘ 
financial education.
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Preparing for the future
Employees from Union Investment have been involved with the Wilhelm-
Heinrich-von-Riehl-School in Wiesbaden since 2006. Once a year, they train 
ninth-grade students on what to do in a job interview.

4

Aleyna wants to become a kindergarten teacher. 
Today, she has her first interview. She is very 
excited, although it is just a mock interview, not 

the real thing. Twelve Union Investment employees are 
giving interview training to 24 ninth-grade students at 
the Wilhelm-Heinrich-von-Riehl-School in Wiesbaden. 
Nonetheless, she is taking it seriously. “I’ve never 
done anything like this before!” And that is precisely 
why the employees have travelled over from Frankfurt 
on a Saturday morning in February. After all, interviews 
are defining moments that can determine people’s 
careers. If a candidate makes a mistake, it can have 
significant consequences.

People who already have some successful life 
experience behind them are ideally placed to pass 
on important tips. Jan André Zacke (29), who works 
in marketing management at Union Investment, 
is here for the second time and has been helping 
Aleyna: “The students are in awe of us at first. But we 
approach them and give plenty of praise in order to 
break the ice.” The next step is to deal with funda-
mental mistakes. “Look the interviewer in the eye, 
speak in complete sentences. These things might be 
obvious to us, but for some of the students it’s the first 
big challenge.”

An important element

The Riehl School is unusual in that seven in ten 
students come from migrant families and 42 nations 
are represented in total. Elsewhere, this combination 
would perhaps generate negative headlines. But the 
Riehl School, an integrated high school for children 
of all academic abilities, is different. Principal Thomas 
Schwarze attaches a high priority to targeted career-
oriented programs. “Of all the schools in the State of 
Hessen, we have the highest proportion of students 
going from school into work,” he says with pride. 

“Our objective is for every student to achieve the best 
possible school-leaving qualifications and to be ideally 
equipped to meet the requirements of vocational 
training or further education.” Interview training is 
an important element, says Schwarze. Five hours are 
spent discussing and practicing interview techniques 
in a setting that is made as realistic as possible. The 
students have to wait in the corridor before being 
invited into the interview room one at a time. Work-
shop discussions are held in order to go through the 
important details and recapitulate crucial situations. 
During role-plays, the participants switch sides so that 
the students can see their mistakes acted out.

A good feeling

After the final round and presentation of certificates 
to the students, all the participants are very positive 
about the event. Jan André Zacke is delighted with 
how well many of the students have prepared: “The 
training can be considered a success. Every single 
student was very receptive to our help.” He is also full 
of praise for the employees from Wiesbaden’s school 
social work service who are assigned to the classes at 
the Riehl School: “They did a really good job in prepar-
ing the students.” Social worker Saskia Bublitz, who 
is assigned to work with Aleyna at the school, returns 
the compliment: “We believe the training is crucial 
because the students get to practice in a realistic but 
protected situation.” She adds that “appreciative 
feedback” from the Union Investment employees is 
particularly important. 

Aleyna, the future kindergarten teacher, is taking a 
great deal of new knowledge away with her: “It was 
really good. I prepared thoroughly, so everything went 
very well.” She now knows that she has the skills to 
deal with a real-life interview in the near future.  
“I have a good feeling,” she says.  

Above: Jan André Zacke from marketing management at Union Investment is practicing interviews with 
ninth-grade students at the Heinrich von Riehl School in Wiesbaden. Below: Aleyna (left), who wants to 
be a kindergarten teacher, is pleased to receive appreciative feedback from him. 
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Those depending on the state pension for their 
retirement will be left high and dry. Yet a recent 
study on investor behavior conducted by Union 

Investment found that many people in Germany have 
still not grasped this. Just 38 percent of the Germans 
surveyed were able to accurately state how much they 
are likely to receive in pensions. However, despite the 
lack of knowledge, 62 percent of those taking part 
believed that they had adequate provisions for their 
old age. “This clear contradiction will lead to increased 
poverty among the elderly,” warns Wolfram Erling, 
head of pension provision at Union Investment. 

The gap between the last gross salary payment and 
the first pension payment will continue to widen 
over the coming decades as a result of demographic 
change. The number of pensioners is growing; the 
number of people paying in is falling. According to the 
‘Germany Pensions Atlas’, which was produced by the 
University of Freiburg on behalf of Union Investment, 
the Germans can expect to receive 42 percent of their 
final income on average, while the generation of those 
who are currently under 35 will receive far less. More-
over, the entire pension will be taxed from 2040. 

That is why employees must top up their pensions 
themselves – and they are doing so: On average, 
German citizens put aside more than 10 percent of 
their net income. However, the bulk of this money is 
invested in savings accounts, instant-access accounts, 
fixed-term deposits, or conventional pension insurance 
and endowment insurance. This creates a problem: 
“These forms of savings have been generating barely 
any returns for years due to the central banks’ policies 

UniProfiRente –
the right Riester pension product

The Riester pension plan solution offered by Union 
Investment has long been the most popular pension 
option and generates good returns for Riester savers. 
Riester pensions benefit customers, Union Investment, 
and the cooperative banks.

5
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of low interest rates, and there is no end in sight,” 
explains Erling. Moreover, if inflation exceeds interest 
rates, savers’ purchasing power actually falls. “To 
close the pension gap effectively, investors need the 
benefit of the compounding effect – plus government 
subsidies. Riester fund-linked savings plans, such as 
UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select, are particu-
larly good because they offer both,” he adds. 

Seizing opportunities in equity markets

Union Investment and the cooperative banking sector 
recognized the urgency of the pension issue early on: 
UniProfiRente, which was launched in 2002, enables 
investors to utilize the opportunities of equity markets 
for as long as possible. The savings installments are 
initially invested in the international UniGlobal equity 
fund, which is regularly ranked highly by fund rating 
agencies such as Morningstar. Each individual custody 
account is examined to assess whether and when 
reallocation to the euro-denominated fixed-income 
fund, which has a medium-term focus, must take 
place in order to fulfill the statutory guarantee. At the 
start of the payout phase, customer contributions and 
subsidies are always fully guaranteed.

The following calculation shows that this strategy can 
pay off: Despite the turbulence of the financial crisis, 
single people (annual income of €40,000) who have 

saved into a Riester pension since their launch in 
2002 have had, including the subsidies, a return of 8.5 
percent on their invested capital. Families on the same 
income with two contracts and two children have 
achieved even greater returns of 16.2 percent. 

Besides the generally good performance of equity 
markets, UniProfiRente’s affordability and lack of 
hidden costs have contributed to these returns. 
“Riester customers pay the same as for a normal fund 
investment,” explains Erling. These advantages also 
convinced Stiftung Warentest: The critically inclined 
German consumer organization has repeatedly recom-
mended UniProfiRente. But there are other reasons 
why investors quickly recognized the appeal of the 

Riester solution from Union Investment. Emma the 
sheep and the slogan Die Schäfchen ins Trockene brin-
gen (literally: bring the sheep home and dry, meaning 
‘to ensure your money is safely invested’) enabled 

Due to the long saving phase for 
a Riester product, an equities-based 
solution is a sensible option.

22%
Women are much more likely to take out a Riester pension for 
their old age: At 52 percent, more than half of the women eligible have opted for a 

Riester contract, whereas the figure for men is just 22 percent.
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38%
While two thirds (62 percent) of German people believe that their 

financial provisions for old age are adequate, only one in three (38 percent) can accurately 

estimate how much their future pension will be.
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Union Investment to engage customers’ emotions. 
Union Investment replaced Allianz and Generali as 
the market leader for Riester products back in 2007. 
With more than 1.84 million contracts, Union Invest-
ment also holds the absolute majority (more than 60 
percent) of all Riester fund-linked savings plans. The 
volume of assets managed as part of Riester pensions 
had risen to approximately €9.5 billion by the end of 
2013. 

New products increase appeal

The tried-and-tested and multipurpose UniProfiRente 
satisfies most but not all customer needs. That is why 
Union Investment launched a second certified Riester 
product in October 2012 – UniProfiRente Select. Its 
appeal in times of low interest rates is that it offers a 
choice of four funds – pure equity funds, a mixed fund, 
and a fund that takes social and environmental criteria 
into account. Customers can even take up the Select 
variant shortly before retirement. The advantage is 
that they can make additional, unsubsidized contribu-
tions in order to build up a comfortable sum and use 
UniProfiRente Select as an immediate pension. 

Riester pensions benefit everyone involved: custom-
ers, Union Investment, and the cooperative banks. 
UniGlobal is now one of the highest-volume equity 
funds in Germany, with around two thirds of the 
assets under management from Riester business. And 
the local cooperative banks can offer their customers a 
product that is entirely in keeping with the cooperative 
idea: high returns and low costs. It is also attracting 
customers: Only 17 percent of customers now pay 
their savings installments for UniProfiRente from a 
current account at a bank outside the cooperative 
financial network – the percentage used to be higher. 
“Some Riester savers have been won over to the 
benefits of the cooperative sector and have moved 
their current accounts to the local cooperative banks,” 
explains Erling.  

Wolfram Erling, head of pension provision

at Union Investment

Investors are well protected with UniProfiRente

Mr. Erling: Why is it so important to take out a private pension?

Wolfram Erling: Due to pension reforms and demographic change, the state pension 

will only provide the basis for an adequate level of retirement provision in the future. 

People will have to make additional arrangements if they wish to maintain their stan-

dard of living after they reach 65 or 67. Besides personal pension products, a Riester 

pension solution is perfectly suited to this purpose. The subsidies and tax breaks make it 

highly attractive and low risk. 

Why are Union Investment and the cooperative banks so committed to this 

issue? 

We have a responsibility to our customers resulting from our role as ‘protectors’ of 

their financial security. This approach is in line with the cooperative idea: We offer a 

high-return product with affordable and fair conditions – and no hidden costs that can 

eat into the returns. Unlike direct investments in funds, there are no additional costs for 

UniProfiRente. 

Why do you favor equities-based solutions for Riester pensions? 

Given the current low level of interest rates, investors should certainly seize the op-

portunities of the equity market in order to top up the state pension. This is the only 

way to achieve real returns over the long term because investors reap the rewards of 

the compounding effect. 

But investing in equity markets involves risk. Can investors afford these 

risks? 

Of course – especially with a Riester pension. There are two reasons for this. In the 

short and medium term, equities-based investments are at greater risk of falling in 

value than bonds. But Riester pensions are a very long-term form of saving in which 

the contract runs for 40 years or more, depending on the age at which you take it out. 

And the longer the saving phase is, the more superior are the returns on investment in 

equity markets.

And the second reason …

… is particularly important to cautious investors. Even if equity markets perform 

badly over a long period, investors with a Riester solution are protected – unlike with 

conventional equity funds. That is because there is a capital guarantee: As a minimum, 

the capital paid in, including the subsidies, must be available for payout at the start of 

the pension. Investors who opt for a Riester pension therefore fully utilize the upside 

potential of the equity markets, receive generous government subsidies, and have a 100 

percent guarantee.

At the start of the payout 
phase of Riester pensions, 
contributions and subsidies 
are fully guaranteed.
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Sometimes it is necessary to climb up high in 
order to see the bigger picture – up to the 19th 
floor of a skyscraper in Berlin, to be precise. The 

purpose of an event held by Union Investment in the 
Axel Springer Tower was not to distract delegates with 
views of Berlin Museum Island and Friedrichstrasse 
train station, which was visible in the distance through 
the floor-length windows, but to focus their attention 
on the future of corporate governance. Experts from 

A good payoff6 Fund management companies no longer simply manage money. They are in-
creasingly using their voice as investors and calling for good corporate gov-
ernance in the interests of investors – sometimes publicly before the cameras, 
sometimes discretely behind closed doors. The winners are the investors.

politics and business gathered to discuss questions 
that are becoming increasingly important to fund 
managers: What do companies need to work on to 
ensure successful corporate governance – and what 
influence can shareholders exert here? 

During the event, it quickly emerged that, when the 
board of managing directors acts responsibly, the 
effects are usually palpable throughout the company. 
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And this also has an impact on investors. “Good 
corporate governance can make customers more will-
ing to buy products. It is also easier to hire and retain 
employees,” believes Manfred Gentz. He knows more 
about this issue than nearly anyone else in Germany. 
Formerly a Daimler executive, he now heads up the 
German Corporate Governance Code government 
commission, whose rules on corporate governance 
and monitoring are designed to make companies 
more transparent.

The debate about good corporate governance shows 
how fundamentally the role of an asset trustee has 
evolved. The investor who is only interested in the 
numbers is a thing of the past. Active fund manage-
ment companies such as Union Investment have long 
kept an eye on corporate governance, voicing their 
concerns when something goes awry. If short-term 
targets jeopardize long-term success, these share-
holders investigate and report any poor practices.  
“As a responsible investor, our duty is to intervene,” 

says Ingo Speich, a fund manager at Union Invest-
ment. Whether it is ThyssenKrupp, Deutsche Bank,  
or E.ON, Speich and his colleagues get involved if 
they feel that a company is making mistakes. 

The term ‘active shareholder’ had negative connota-
tions for a long time. It referred to shareholders who, 
in the 1980s, aggressively interfered with how a 
company was run in order to maximize shareholder 
value and their own profit for purely short-term gain. 

Above: How much regulation is necessary to ensure good corporate governance? This was the topic of 
discussion among (from left to right) Joachim Kayser (Hostettler, Kramarsch & Partner), Ulrich Seibert 
(Federal Ministry of Justice), Holger Zschäpitz (Die Welt), Ingo Speich (Union Investment), and Daniela 
Weber-Rey (Deutsche Bank).

This generation of active shareholders 
wants to boost shareholder value in 
another way. 
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More and more shareholders worldwide want to 
help shape companies’ decisions rather than simply 
rubber-stamp them. “Shareholders are perceived 
differently and therefore act differently,” says Othmar 
M. Lehner, an Austrian professor of business who 
researches and teaches in Oxford.

Union Investment embodies this generation of ac-
tive shareholders more than almost any other fund 
management company in Germany. But it is not just 
a question of companies’ finances. Portfolio manag-
ers such as Speich raise issues that would not be 
expected of the typical fund manager. How does the 
company treat its suppliers and employees? What pol-
lution does it cause? 

This raises fundamental questions. Whether someone 
can be accused of moral transgressions or not often 
depends on where they are located. German compa-
nies have to comply with ethical and moral standards 
without any ifs or buts, Lehner states. So it is entirely 
right to demand that German companies conduct 
their business in a sustainable manner in terms of 
people and the environment. But we should not lump 
everything together and look at it from a western 
perspective. What if, asks Lehner, a foreign company’s 
operations in a particular country are depleting 
the environment but providing the population with 
urgently required employment? Shareholders must 
always consider the local context in their investment 
decisions. 

But who actually determines the extent to which a 
shareholder intervenes in a company? Strictly speak-
ing, even a minor shareholder must keep a close eye 
on the company’s business and make common cause 
with other shareholders. However, their stake in the 
company can vary considerably, which is why experts 
warn against generalizing shareholders’ obligations. 
Majority shareholders, says Lehner, have a huge ethi-
cal and moral responsibility because they have influ-
ence, can intervene in how a company is managed, 
and can dismiss its executive board members. By 
contrast, the responsibility of minor shareholders ends 
with the question of which companies they invest in, 
he explains. 

Portfolio managers at Union Investment try to exert 
influence for the benefit of the company being 
invested in by offering constructive criticism during 
direct dialog with the management. If that is of no 
avail, the Union Investment fund managers repeat 

Above: To what extent should shareholders get involved in companies‘ day-to-day business? This and other questions were debated at the conference.
Right: The focus is on returns for investors: Michael Schmidt, member of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, believes that, although a 
company should only be invested in if it is performing well, corporate governance is the deciding factor when it comes to choosing between two companies with otherwise 
identical parameters.

Such investors still exist, but times have changed. A 
new generation of active shareholders wants to boost 
shareholder value in another way – through compa-
nies’ sustainable and long-term action.

Of course this internal compass does not mean a fund 
management company like Union Investment simply 
examines whether the company being invested in is 
complying with every single environmental regulation. 
“Performance continues to be the crucial factor,” says 
Michael Schmidt, member of the Board of Managing 
Directors of Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH. 
But if Union Investment is choosing between two 
companies whose parameters are otherwise the same, 
then “it prefers to invest in the company with better 
corporate governance.”
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In dialog

Fund managers at Union Investment conduct more than 4,000 one-on-one meetings 

with executives each year in order to review their investment decisions and constructively 

influence how the companies are run. As a trustee, Union Investment exercises the voting 

rights linked to its funds at more than 1,000 annual general meetings. Experts from the 

fund management company also regularly make use of their right to speak at individual 

shareholder meetings, with a particular emphasis on companies whose performance is 

lagging behind that of the relevant market or sector. The focus is not just on key financials 

but also on sustainability issues. Union Investment does not make any secret of its voting 

history: Any customer can request information about how it has voted. 

‚Union Engagement‘ is a service enabling institutional customers of Union Investment to 

actively exert influence. It includes exercising voting rights, speaking at annual general 

meetings, and holding private meetings about background issues with representatives of 

companies in the customer‘s portfolio.

their criticism publicly, thereby increasing the pres-
sure. “We deliberately include such topics when we 
speak at annual general meetings – that is one of our 
unique selling propositions,” says Speich. If this does 
not lead anywhere either and there are still doubts, 
the level of investment is reduced. And that hurts any 
board of managing directors. 

Union Investment is guided by the three pillars of 
today’s understanding of sustainability, the ESG 
aspects. Sustainable investments take account of the 
environment, social aspects, and good corporate gov-
ernance. The strong commitment of Union Investment 
to this issue is not just based on its own convictions. 
Ultimately, the fund management company also 
represents the interests of its own investors. And with 
more than four million savers investing their money in 
its funds, these interests vary considerably. “We also 
have to advocate socio-ideological interests,” says 
Schmidt. “Other trustees would be well advised to do 
the same.”

This commitment also offers tangible financial 
benefits. If investors pay attention to ethical stan-
dards from the outset, they will no longer be putting 
their money in companies that are secretly pumping 
chemicals into the ground in Africa or are having 
t-shirts produced in Bangladesh by people working in 
terrible conditions. This reduces the risk of the sudden 

emergence of a scandal that causes the share price to 
plunge. It removes a huge worry for investors, whose 
greatest fear is a headline that damages the reputa-
tion of one of their investments. “I don’t want to have 
anything to do with a company that, although its ex-
ecutives are increasing profits, is suddenly torpedoed 
because it has ignored the fundamental necessities,” 
says Joachim Faber, a former Allianz executive and 
now chairman of the Supervisory Board at Deutsche 
Börse.  
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Frankfurt in December 2013: a visit to the MainTor 
Porta construction site on Weissfrauenstrasse.  
Environmental management officer Peter Hassel-

bach and project manager Axel Meyermann from 
Union Investment are touring the future office building 
to see what progress has been made with its construc-
tion. A total of 900 Union Investment employees are 
due to start moving into the new building in summer 
2014. “We want the MainTor Porta to be awarded a 
gold certificate from the German Sustainable Building 
Council (DGNB),” reports Hasselbach. “To receive the 
highest certification level, you need to achieve a score 
of 80 percent for the criteria specified by the DGNB.” 

A complex project 

“We regularly consult with our interior architect, 
property developers, and their consultants about our 
aesthetic, functional, and financial expectations to 
ensure that they comply with the DGNB criteria,” 
explains Meyermann. He uses the example of the floor 
to illustrate his point: “The flooring that we are having 
laid here will have a mottled structure so that it can 
cope better with light soiling. This reduces the amount 

of cleaning and maintenance required.” For the same 
reason, the DGNB specifies the length of the dirt-
trapping mats in the lobby. Meyermann gives another 
example: “Instead of opting for standard lighting, 
we decided on more economical LEDs that, like the 
entire building, are powered by green electricity.” This 
scores additional points. However, the specifications 
sometimes put paid to an idea,” admits the project 
manager. “There was one floor covering that we all 
thought was good at first but we then realized it con-
tained PVC and had to be dropped.” PVC is prohibited 
because hazardous formaldehyde would be produced 
if there were a fire. “The DGNB rules also mean we 
cannot use heavy metals such as lead, cadmium, and 
tin,” reports Meyermann. “Even the flooring adhesive 
has to be certified by the DGNB.” The emulsion paint 
used in the interior is emission-free. But that is not all. 
The facade is decorated with fossil-flecked limestone, 
a material found in the local region. This means the 
DGNB’s strict criteria can be met, whereby materials 
may not be used if their transportation would have a 
disproportionately large carbon footprint. The insula-
tion used on the exterior reduces heat loss to less 
than 75 per cent of the maximum level permitted by 

Union Investment firmly believes in protecting the environment. The 
aim is for the new offices being built in Frankfurt, the MainTor Porta,  
to achieve the highest sustainability criteria for new buildings. 

New build with a seal of approval7
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the current German Energy Conservation Act (EnEV) – 
and does not contain any halogenated propellants. 

A long list of exclusions and requirements 

As Union Investment is renting the building, it must 
balance its own sustainability-oriented ecological 
demands with financial efficiency. “A sustainably 
designed building such as the MainTor Porta fits in 
perfectly with our environmental targets and our 
environmental management system, which is certified 
in accordance with ISO 14001,” explains Hasselbach. 
“Where prices are similar, we will always opt for the 
property that has been built in accordance with sus-
tainability criteria and can be operated more sustain-
ably,” he emphasizes. “Overall, the building’s specifi-
cations based on the gold standard for sustainability 
should keep operating and utility costs down.” 

The DGNB rules also relate to the socio-cultural and 
functional quality of a building, i.e. convenience and 
comfort for users. To illustrate this, Axel Meyermann 
opens one of the triple-glazed floor-length windows 
and looks out into the midday sunshine beaming 

down on the surrounding building site, which is lo-
cated on the banks of the Main river and was formerly 
home to Degussa. “It’s about being able to open this 
window because I want some fresh air – and I can de-
cide at any time whether I want to close the external 
shutters or would prefer to enjoy the view.” In terms 
of energy consumption, it would be more efficient to 
have shuttering that can only be controlled centrally. 
This means that the MainTor Porta’s actual energy 
needs will ultimately depend on each individual Union 
Investment employee as well.  

New build with a seal of approval

Above: Environmental management officer Peter Hasselbach (right) and relocation project manager Axel 
Meyermann inspect the shell of the new building, the MainTor Porta.
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An obligation for 
all eternity 

8
People expect fund management companies to 
take a long-term approach. Ideally, their calcu-
lations should extend over generations. Union 
Investment is going a step further for the RAG 
Foundation: Its assets must continue to generate 
returns for all eternity – a mammoth undertaking.
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Tranquillity now reigns. The sights and sounds of 
heavy industry have all but disappeared from 
the Ruhr region. The Auguste Victoria, Ibben-

büren, and Prosper Haniel mines only have a few 
more months or years in them. By the end of 2018, 
the last tonne of coal will have been extracted from 
the ground. But the peace and quiet is, literally, only 
superficial.

The end of coal mining in the Rhine and Ruhr regions 
does not mean that this chapter in Germany’s indus-
trial history is over and done with. A cross-section of 
the earth under the Ruhr region would shows that it 
has little in common with normal ground. The area in 
and around Dortmund, Bottrop, Hamm, and Oberhau-
sen sits atop a labyrinth of tunnels, passageways, and 
shafts. Some run more than a kilometer deep under 
the ground; others are much nearer the surface. 

North Rhine-Westphalia under water? Not 
unthinkable 

The consequences are serious. There are some farmers 
in the Ruhr region whose fields have sunk by up to 30 
meters over the decades – deeper than the height of 
the Brandenburg Gate. As a result, parts of the region 
lie below the water table. If the groundwater were 
not constantly pumped away (a task mainly done 
by the water companies), water might collect in the 
depressions that have formed. Could one of Europe’s 
largest conurbations turn into a myriad of lakes? 

Significant human intervention is required for a 
second time if this is to be prevented. A total of 550 
pumping stations are necessary to stop a lake the size 
of the Netherlands being formed. The pit water must 
also be pumped away in order to protect drinking 
water – a task that will continue for all eternity.  
“To ensure people in the Ruhr region can get to work 
without getting their feet wet, we have to continue 
pumping the water away,” says Eberhard Vetter from 
the RAG Foundation (see the interview). Vetter is an 
expert in investments. He is responsible for growing 
the RAG Foundation’s assets so that it can fulfill the 
remit in its articles of incorporation and, from 2019, 
afford to deal with the after-effects of mining. 

The issue at stake is the consequential damage 
caused by mining, which will literally last forever. The 
job will not be completed in a few years or decades 
but will continue for an almost unimaginable period: 
for all eternity, essentially until the Day of Judg-

Long-term planning – how is that possible in 
the current capital markets environment?

In 2014, historically low interest rates will continue to be the main 

difficulty for investors. The US Federal Reserve is now run by Janet  

Yellen, a supporter of ultra-expansionary monetary policy and the 

first woman to hold this post. Nobody believes that she will reverse 

interest rates this year. In fact, experts such as Jens Wilhelm of the 

Union Investment Board of Managing Directors do not expect inter-

est rates to rise before the end of 2015 in the United States, with 

eurozone interest rates likely to follow much later. 

But the main problem, minuscule interest rates, can also be an op-

portunity. As the RAG Foundation is doing, other investors with a 

long-term focus should also opt for equities. The stage has been set 

for further price rises: The eurozone has emerged from recession, 

the US and Chinese economies have returned to strong growth, and 

companies‘ earnings prospects are good. 
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Above left: One of the after-effects of coal mining in the Ruhr region is the pumping out of water from areas 
above areas hollowed out by mining that have consequently sunk below the water table – as is the case 
here in Klingenburg. 
Below left: This mining road near Recklinghausen illustrates how mining has impacted on the landscape of 
the Ruhr region. 

Three questions for Eberhard Vetter

Mr. Vetter, you need to earn money for all eternity. What 

rate of return do you require?

Eberhard Vetter: We need to generate €220 million per year from 

our existing assets. There is no minimum required rate of return 

in percentage terms. Our aim is to achieve real returns because 

inflation will cause the pump costs to rise year after year. As energy 

prices are a significant factor in pumping operations, the cost of 

dealing with the consequential damage of mining will rise at a 

faster rate than consumer prices.  

How do you budget?

If we work on the basis that real returns for investments in Ger-

many are 1.3 percent (which corresponds to our estimate for the 

sustained real growth rate of the German economy), then we need 

capital of €15-17 billion. We currently have more than €10 billion, 

most of which comes from the stake held in Evonik. So we need to 

grow our assets even more. 

Union Investment is one of your financial partners. How 

does the relationship work?

Union Investment is a significant partner for us, firstly with regard to 

developing the investment strategy. This is especially important to us 

because we have a very limited number of staff. Secondly, Union In-

vestment manages special funds for us that, above all, address our 

inflation problem. The aim here is to achieve inflation-linked returns.

Eberhard Vetter, head of investment at the RAG Foundation 

ment. “We have to keep pumping. There is no other 
technical solution,” says Vetter. From 2019, the RAG 
Foundation will face an estimated expense of  
€220 million per year to deal with the after-effects  
of mining in Germany. 

It has capital in the billions of euros but needs to 
earn money not just for a few years but for eternity 
– because the pumping has to continue for eternity. 
Very few investors anywhere else in the world need to 
protect their assets for so long. The phrase ‘long-term 
investment’ suddenly takes on a whole new meeting. 

Investing in equities and real estate 

Working with Union Investment, the financial manag-
ers’ task is to budget for future inflation as accurately 
as possible in order to achieve the necessary returns, 
even during difficult periods. The experts have to 
think ahead – in a world whose rules have changed 
at breathtaking speed. Nothing is as it used to be. 
Eurozone government bonds, once regarded as safe, 
have long shed their status as risk-free investments. 
And the returns for the highest credit ratings have 
fallen to their lowest level since the introduction of 
the deutschmark. 

The foundation’s capital, which is predominantly 
funded by the IPO of Evonik Industries AG, will 
need to be increased from the current €10 billion to 
€15-17 billion in the next few years. It was originally 
assumed that €9 billion would be enough to cover the 
annual costs. However, the low level of interest rates 
worldwide has forced a rethink. The financial experts 
now need more money to earn the same returns. 
The foundation is trying to offset poor interest rates 
by increasing its investments in tangible assets such 
as equities and real estate. Of course the investor’s 
mantra ‘diversify’ applies. 
 
“There is no textbook solution,” according to Vetter. 
It is almost impossible to predict what might happen 
over such long periods. Who would have thought a 
few years ago that there would be serious discussions 
about the end of the euro? That is why Vetter prefers 
to budget for a period of ten to 15 years so that ad-
justments can be made at a later date. “No decision 
remains the right one forever.”  
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Achieving a balance 
Community – a word that is almost as old as mankind itself. But how has this term 
evolved over the course of time? What does community mean in the modern work-
ing world? An essayistic search for the right way of getting along with our fellow 
human beings.

9



Humans are social creatures. To a greater or lessor extent, 
individuals need personal space and the option of do-
ing things their own way. But to cope with everything as 

a whole, they depend on the community – and the community 
depends on the individuals. Community – a word that has fallen 
out of fashion although it features as a buzzword in countless 
speeches. Yet it remains indispensable. Community – a word that 
is almost as old as mankind itself. The accompanying question 
is just as old: How much community does a society need? And, 
to bring the discussion round to the working world: How much 
community is good for a company, and how much for the people 
that it employs?

It is useful to look back to the recent past here because the term 
‘community’ is used differently now to how it was used a few 
decades ago. In the 20th century, when the big issues of social 
cooperation were Adam Smith’s economic liberalism versus Karl 
Marx’s criticism of capitalism, community was, from the worker’s 
perspective, underpinned by solidarity and cohesion. It was about 

forming a community, showing solidarity, and sticking together 
in order to stand up to those at the top. This battle was lost in 
the late 20th century. The process of separating people from their 
family and social background – a process that originated at the 
start of industrialization – led to unrestricted individualization. 
Community spirit faded into the background.

Community, solidarity, cohesion – concepts that belong to a long-
forgotten era? Not at all. The working world underwent another 
shift at the turn of the millennium. Gone was the endorsement 
of homo homini lupus defined by philosopher Thomas Hobbes: 
Man is a wolf to man. The creed: My interests come first. The 
consequence: Humanity falls by the wayside. Whereas the Anglo-
American adages ‘every man for himself’ and ‘good results will 
be rewarded’ applied in the 1990s, innovative companies at the 
start of the 21st century are again focusing on community spirit. 
Cooperation is experiencing a renaissance. Although the coor-
dinates have shifted and new watchwords have emerged: new 
economy, start-up generation. The talk is now of corporate culture 
and team-based organizations. A shared vision is being created. 
Everyone is pulling in the same direction! The community, appar-
ently, is important for companies.

A brave new working world. The many companies that are 
pioneering the way have demonstrably blurred the dividing 
line between free time and working hours, between the private 
individual and the employee. Individuals can work out in the gym 
with their colleagues. They can work at home on the company 
laptop. If they have a flash of inspiration, they can work on it 
at the weekend because offices are always open. Community is 
good – as long as the company benefits from it. A brave new 
working world. But what if the distinction between ‘can’ and 
‘must’ becomes noticeably less? In many companies, the divid-
ing line between free time and work life, between the private 
individual and the worker is becoming increasingly blurred. On 
the one hand, it is good that employees meet up after work and 
the company is always open. But this can also degenerate into a 
negative situation. Freedom of choice can evolve into pressure. 
Cohesion in a company is important. Back in the mid-1980s, 
management experts Thomas J. Peters and Robert H. Waterman 
underlined this theory in their book In Search of Excellence: Clas-
sic business tools may enable companies to do well, but they will 

only be excellent if they create a corporate culture that instills 
passion. But what happens when companies no longer give their 
employees any breathing space, when freedom of choice evolves 
into pressure?

The word on everyone’s lips is balance. Yes, community is needed 
in an amount that will do the company and its employees good. 
It is about balancing the personality of the worker against the 
personality of the individual. Companies that make demands on 
their employees around the clock grant leave for a few months at 
a time so that employees can devote themselves to their families. 
Or they are given the opportunity to work from home more often. 
It is a question of finding the right balance. A balance between 
individuality and community spirit within a company and in 
employees’ personal lives. This balance is essential if we are to 
successfully get along with each other in the working world.  

The word on everyone’s lips is balance. It is about balancing the 
personality of the worker against the personality of the individual. 
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Monday, December 23, 2013. The telephone 
rings at the desk of Nadine Kroll, who works 
in customer service at Union Investment. On 

the line could be a customer or an advisor from a local 
cooperative bank. She does not know why they might 
be calling. They could have questions about subsidies 
for their Riester contract, about opening a custody 
account, about Union Investment products, and so on. 
When she answers the telephone, it is not noticeable 
that she is always slightly nervous. “Good morning, 
my name is Nadine Kroll,” she says in a calm and 
friendly manner.

What other information is important?

On the line is a woman in her early 40s with two 
children. Several years ago, she took out a Riester 
contract to top up her retirement pension and receives 
government subsidies. She now needs a certificate for 
the tax authorities. It takes just a few keystrokes for 
Kroll to arrange for the certificate to be sent. She then 
quickly thinks what else might interest the customer 
and checks the Riester contract. “You haven’t received 
the full subsidy in past years,” Kroll says. She then 
explains the reasons to the surprised customer, adding 

that she will receive the full subsidy in the future with 
an amended direct debit. The customer agrees to the 
amendment, thanks Kroll, and the telephone call is 
over. 

Nine months earlier, Nadine Kroll had a different 
job. She worked as a group leader in custody busi-
ness, specializing in administration and the related 
management and organization of the team. In 2013, 
when Union Investment began to restructure its entire 
investment custody business as part of a change pro-
cess, Kroll initially felt unsettled. “I knew that we were 
going to switch to a multichannel structure. It was also 
clear that the customer service and custody service 
units would be merged. But I of course wondered 
what that would mean for me and what new tasks 
I would face,” explains Kroll. She is someone who 
believes new challenges present opportunities and 
has the courage to change. So she specified that her 
preferred role would be a completely new area for her: 
telephone service. “When the new structure was an-
nounced with me as a group leader in the telephone 
service, my pulse did start to quicken slightly,” admits 
Kroll. 

Every call is 
unique

10

Union Investment has restructured its customer service. Nadine Kroll and 350 
other employees had little time to prepare for the very high volume of work 
that would come their way in the winter months.

Left: In 2013, Nadine Kroll prepared intensively for her new role as a group leader in the telephone 
service. She had previously held a similar position in custody business, where she focused on administra-
tion.
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‘Real-time’ operations demand flexibility

The following months were very busy because the 
aim from the outset was ambitious: By the winter – 
when the workload tends to more than double – the 
approxi mately 350 employees in the investment 
custody business were to have familiarized themselves 
with their new tasks, and the new interfaces and 
processes were to be up and running. Nadine Kroll 
attended training courses and, to start with, shad-
owed the new colleagues in her team who already 
had experience of telephone work. “This support really 
helped me to fulfill the requirements expected of me 
as a group leader in my new area of responsibility,” 
says Kroll. And telephone work in itself is a challenge, 
but one that she was happy to take on: “Unlike cus-
tody account processing, which was a familiar task to 
me, answering the telephone takes place in ‘real time’. 
I have to quickly respond to the customers and brokers 
who call, and have possible solutions at my fingertips 
for every subject. It requires a great deal of flexibility 
but it’s enjoyable.”

Kroll says that she attaches particular importance to 
the emotional element of the telephone calls. After  
all, callers should feel that “there’s a human being 
at the other end of the line, not a machine.” And of 
course the service aspect plays an important role:  
“The structure is arranged according to subject matter 
and channel, ensuring that calls are handled in a 
streamlined manner. For example, if a bank advisor 
calls with specific questions about a transaction that 
is already being dealt with, he is put through to the 
relevant customer relationship manager as quickly as 
possible so that the case can be closed.”
  
The typical volume of work for the winter, with up to 
9,000 calls per day, will continue for another three 
months or so. “Everyone does their utmost to answer 
the incoming calls as quickly as possible. We support 
each other, which includes helping colleagues in other 
departments,” says Kroll. She is especially proud of her 
new team, which beside herself and another colleague 
from the former custody business includes 14 employ-
ees from the old customer service units: “It quickly 
felt like we had always worked together.” Kroll thinks 
it is good that she still gets a little nervous when the 
telephone rings because it means each call remains 
unique and “that is exactly the impression that I want 
to give to our customers.”  

“We always think in terms of our 
customers; that alone ensures we  
remain competitive.” 
Rainer Kobusch, member of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Investment 

Service Bank AG

Three questions for Rainer Kobusch

What are the benefits of the new customer service structure for partner 

banks and customers?

Rainer Kobusch: Our new structure optimally combines customer focus and market 

focus with efficient processes. What’s more, its grouping by channel and subject manner 

enables us to respond faster overall. In particular, when a caller has complex queries, 

he can quickly be put through to an expert who can provide the right information, for 

example about Riester pensions. 

What factors made the change process a success?

When we carried out the reorganization, we did not go over employees’ heads and 

decide where they would be deployed. They were given up to two options. We were 

able to fulfill their wishes in 98 percent of cases. This is of course a huge advantage for 

the new organization. Other key success factors were transparency and communication. 

During a change process, it is important to keep employees informed and show them 

what is currently happening. We made sure this was done wherever possible. 

How can Union Investment maintain its long-term competitiveness in 

custody business? 

We are already in a very strong position thanks to efficient processes and close ties with 

our service partners, particularly in the Retail Clients segment. In addition, we don’t see 

requirements simply as cost drivers. Instead, we try to use them to develop services that 

meet customers’ needs and therefore provide Union Investment with a unique selling 

proposition. We always think in terms of our customers; that alone ensures we remain 

competitive.
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There is a clear paradigm shift in terms of cus-
tomer focus. Customer service is no longer an 
accessory or tool; it has become the ultimate  

differentiating factor for successful companies,”  
says Dr. Claus Dethloff, Chief Executive Officer of 
ServiceValue GmbH. Dethloff’s company and Frankfurt 
University have been jointly compiling Germany’s  
largest customer service ranking every year since 
2010. More than one million customer reviews are 

collected for each survey, with 1,519 companies in 
180 industries covered in the last survey. In 2013, 
Union Investment came top in the ranking of fund 
management companies. 

The ranking is based on a service experience score 
(SES). Current and former customers are asked 
whether they have received ‘very good service’ in 
the past three years. Individual, specific aspects of 

The current champion
Union Investment was crowned ‘service champion’ in 2013 – the best in 
the fund management sector.

11
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Increasingly good customer service

The average SES for all of the 1,519 companies examined is currently 56.2 percent. 

That is up by 1.6 percentage points on 2012 and by as many as 4.6 percentage points 

compared with 2011. This means Germany is experiencing increasingly good customer 

service. Moreover, the gap between the best and worst companies in the overall ranking 

has shrunk over the years, leading to a generally better and more consistent level of 

customer service. 

ServiceValue GmbH, which compiles the ranking, sees itself as a “leading German in-

novator in the measurement of customer service and fairness.” An independent service 

provider based in Cologne, it focuses on management of the relationship between com-

panies and their customers, employees, and partners – the ‘CEP’ model. 

customer service are deliberately disregarded. The SES 
equals the percentage of survey participants who had 
contact with a company and recall experiencing ‘very 
good service’. 

Whereas the average score for all fund management 
companies was 56.3 percent, Union Investment 
achieved an SES of 62.2 percent – putting it far 
ahead of its competitors. Particularly positive was the 
fact that Union Investment increased its customer 
satisfaction score by 5.1 percentage points compared 
with 2012.

Barbara Resch, member of the Board of Manag-
ing Directors of Union Investment Service Bank, is 
responsible for customer service and is delighted 
with the score, which underlines the success of Union 
Investment in this area: “We are of course very proud 
of being ranked the number one service champion 
among fund management companies. But it does not 
mean we can rest on our laurels. Quite the opposite: 
We must and want to maintain this success!” In fact, 
customer service has improved across the board in 
Germany, rising by 4.6 percentage points within three 
years. At the same time, the gaps between companies 
have reduced. The competition to offer the highest 
quality customer service will therefore be much fiercer 
in the future. 

The word ‘service’ is derived from the Latin servitium 
and roughly translates as ‘slavery’. This may well be 
how some companies used to view customer service. 
But times have changed: “Companies that want to 
be successful in existing and future markets must 
focus on the quality of their customer service,” says 
Dethloff. Particularly in industries where, on paper, 
companies offer very similar services that are very 
easy to compare, the quality of customer service is 
becoming an increasingly crucial lever for a compa-
ny’s success. Resch agrees: “For us there is no ques-
tion that customer service is a fundamental element 
of the value chain.”

Word of good customer service quickly gets around. 
“Customers who are satisfied, or even delighted, with 
the service that they receive are prepared to buy more 
and pay more, remain loyal to the company, and  
recommend it to their friends and acquaintances,” 
states Professor Rolf van Dick, customer service 
researcher at Frankfurt University, where he com-
piles the service champions ranking. “Improving the 
customer service experience therefore pays off from 

“Being a champion does not mean 
we can rest on our laurels.” 
Barbara Resch, member of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Investment 

Service Bank with responsibility for customer service
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a business perspective,” he adds. “Perhaps not over-
night, but certainly in the medium and long term.” 

Service researcher Claus Dethloff advises financial 
service providers to give customers plenty of op-
portunity to have their say. Studies show that their 

satisfaction increases after discussions, the more they 
were able to speak themselves. “Advisors must listen 
to what customers really want, reduce the burden, 
give them security and guidance.” It is not helpful to 
offer customers, who are not investment experts, “all 
of the available options, i.e. pass on all the deci-
sions that the advisor should be assisting with as the 

professional.” The maxim is ‘optimize, not maximize’. 
According to Dethloff, the quality of customer service 
is not only defined through the relationship with the 
customer. Rather, it starts much earlier: in the com-
pany itself and in the collaboration between individu-
al departments. Customer service is “an attitude that 
must be demonstrated by managers.” The quality of a 
service is therefore established long before it reaches 
the end customer. 

This has long been the practice at Union Investment, 
as Barbara Resch emphasizes: “Customer service, 
sales, product management, and marketing manage-
ment all work hand in hand. Union Investment there-
fore focuses directly on customers’ needs. We try to 
identify these needs, get to the bottom of them, and 
offer suggestions. It is very important to us that we 
listen carefully to what the customer has to say.”  

Companies that want to be successful in 
future markets must particularly focus 
on the quality of customer service.

62.2
percent of the people surveyed reported they had received ‚very 
good service‘ from Union Investment – number one among fund 

management companies.

56.2  
percent is the average SES for all companies.

5.1 
percentage points is the year-on-

year increase in customer satisfac-
tion at Union Investment.

1.6
percentage points represents 
the improvement made since 
2012 by all of the companies 

examined.
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The requirements placed on fixed-income managers 
have risen sharply since the onset of the financial 
crisis in 2008. Achieving adequate returns from the 
securities of issuers with a good to very good credit 
rating has become a challenge. Government and 
corporate bonds now only offer low interest rates. 
Moreover, rapidly evolving economic cycles call for 
active and flexible management of asset classes. With 
a static allocation of assets, investors run the risk of 
missing out on potential returns in a changing market 
environment. But how do fund managers ascertain 
the optimum time to act? Asset allocation, fixed-
income management, and quant & risk management 
experts at Union Investment developed a systematic 
decision-making tool to help them obtain the most 
promising combination of fixed-income asset classes 
in the portfolio during every market phase. This 
cross-departmental cooperation resulted in the Fixed 
Income Navigator.

Late 2009: the kick-off meeting, the first brainstorm-
ing session. The participants look for a way of ac-
curately estimating the attractiveness of fixed-income 
segments throughout the economic cycle. “The aim 
was to develop rules for allocation that give us guid-

ance in this difficult environment,” explains Dr. Frank 
Engels, head of fixed-income management at Union 
Investment. 

March 2, 2010: The fund managers use one of their 
tried-and tested concepts, which involves dividing 
an economic cycle into eight phases. The leading 
indicators applied are the ELI (eurozone) and the ULI 
(United States), which are fed with information on 
manufacturing, consumer spending, real estate, and 
financial markets. A first test based on historical data 
from the United States and eurozone reveals which 
asset classes were attractive during which economic 
phases – providing good indications for the alloca-
tion. The tool still requires systematic optimization, 
however. 

May 3, 2010: The experts decide on a state-of-the-
art and efficient optimization process that replaces 
the ad-hoc allocation rules used initially. “This en- 
abled us to improve the results and robustness of the 
allocation considerably,” says Engels. Standard devia-
tion of 3 compared with the money markets is set as 
the risk measure. 

Navigating a course for returns
Since the financial crisis, interest rates have been low and economic cycles 
have shortened. Union Investment is using a new tool to ascertain the opti-
mum allocation of fixed-income bonds. 

12
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The investment universe is expanded to include 
emerging markets. Sebastian Rohm, a fund manager 
at Union Investment, believes that this geographical 
distribution is “essential in order to capitalize on op-
portunities worldwide.”

Summer 2010: The findings of the Fixed Income 
Navigator are used in a fixed-income fund for the 
first time in order to manage the fixed-income al-
location. 

Since 2011, all fixed-income fund managers at 
Union Investment have received regular information 
about the results of the analysis and can use the 
quantitative model to review the allocation of the 
funds for which they are responsible. 

From 2012: Huge variation in the credit spreads for 
eurozone government bonds emerged in 2010 and 
2011. That is why the government bonds team adds 
the periphery countries to the model’s universe as a 
separate asset class. 

Further tests show that the navigator would have 
responded to the weakening of the US economy as 
early as summer 2007. “The Fixed Income Naviga-

tor would have enabled investors to switch to the 
safe haven of government bonds early on,” explains 
Rohm. This effectively means that the model would 
have outperformed a global benchmark index. “We 
could have achieved considerably higher absolute 
returns with a comparable level of risk.”

Following successful trial runs, the fixed-income 
managers implement the navigator as a tool for 
fixed-income allocation – including for the UniFavorit: 
Renten fund. “We can now weight the segments of 
the bond market throughout the economic cycle in 
such a way that only the fixed-income segments with 
the best risk/return profile are represented in the 
custody account,” says asset allocator Michael Her-
zum. The monthly evaluation of the navigator is now 
incorporated into the binding investment strategy for 
portfolio management.

Autumn 2013: The Fixed Income Navigator is 
presented internally and externally. Engels is pleased 
to report that there is huge interest: “Our collabora-
tive working method, careful economic analysis, 
and state-of-the-art optimization process within a 
rules-based approach have proved to be a winning 
combination.”  

Dr. Frank Engels (left), head of fixed-income management at Union Investment, discusses an economic cycle 
with asset allocator Michael Herzum.
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When Union Investment portfolio managers 
want to buy a foreign government bond, 
they first measure the temperature of the 

country by looking at their ‘heat map’. This virtual map 
shows the countries where investors would be advised 
to exercise caution. Is a power struggle emerging in 
Ukraine? The heat map indicated the increased risk of 
a crisis long before crowds of people descended on 
the Maidan waving blue and yellow flags. Is the lira 
collapsing in Turkey? This did not come as a surprise to 
the portfolio experts at Union Investment either. 

“If a country appears on the list, the portfolio manag-
ers take a very close look, research the causes of what 
is happening, and adjust the positioning if necessary,” 
explains Björn Jesch, head of portfolio management 
at Union Investment. The heat map is part of a rating 
system that Union Investment has developed itself, 
enabling it to quickly get accurate indications of new 
dangers in financial markets. Investment experts need 
to know where the risks are as early as possible. 
Under Jesch’s leadership, 160 portfolio managers 
invest a total of €153 billion. 

The country rating used at Union Investment is one 
of the tools developed inhouse that experts use to 
scrutinize financial markets. There is a reason why 
Union Investment relies on its own tools. After all, the 
financial crisis did more than reveal the bleak finances 
of eurozone countries such as Greece and Portugal. 
There has also been considerable debate about the 
role of the major rating agencies. Their assessments 
– which are binding for many institutional investors 
– had largely been regarded as reliable up to 2008. 
However, the onset of the crisis revealed that Moody’s, 
S&P, and Fitch rarely anticipate developments and, in 
some cases, are actually playing catch up with reality 
– and this can impact on returns. Moreover, the rating 
agencies’ assessments are sometimes regarded as 
opaque and not always entirely understandable from 
an economic perspective. In short, a more comprehen-
sive set of tools was needed in order to truly predict 
whether a country was threatened with bankruptcy.

Union Investment has developed such tools. Besides 
a sustainability rating, it has also been using the 
Union Investment country rating since 2011 to assess 

A step ahead 
13

The financial crisis revealed the weaknesses of the major rating agencies. 
Union Investment has long stopped relying entirely on assessments from 
Moody’s etc. and instead supplements them by evaluating investments using 
its own set of tools. It forms its own independent opinion, drawing on the 
knowledge of its employees to do so.

Indicators such as protests in Kiev, corruption in Greece, and booming business at the Port of Hamburg are 
incorporated into the Union Investment country rating. 
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the future country risks of investments. The country 
rating incorporates much more than just economic 
fundamentals such as unemployment and the foreign 
trade deficit. It also looks at the degree of corruption 
among public officials and politicians, for example. 
Assessments from Transparency International are an 
integral element of the country rating. But that is not 
all. During the rating process, experts also estimate 
whether a country can satisfy its creditors in economic 
terms (solvency) and whether it is prepared to restore 
solvency by implementing appropriate measures 
(willingness to pay). Is the government known for 
making announcements but not following them up 
with action? Are mass protests likely that could lessen 
their will to implement reforms? The Union Investment 
country rating provides answers to these important 
questions. 

Within the rating process, there is also an early-warn-
ing system that raises the alarm in good time in the 
event of possible danger. This could be when a country 
is overly dependent on inflows of foreign capital, 
which could push the economy into financial ruin.

The rating combines ‘hard’ and ‘soft’ factors to give 
an overall picture. Only if investors have an overview 
can they reliably decide whether buying bonds from 
a country will pay off in the long term. “Our ratings 
are independent, comparable, and standardized,” 
says Jesch. This does not make the credit ratings of 
Fitch etc. superfluous. “But the decision-making basis 
becomes broader because factors such as corruption 
in public authorities and companies are also taken 
into consideration.”

70%
Thanks to having its own standards, Union Investment 

was often faster than the market and pre-empted approxi-

mately 70 percent of the credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s, 

Moody’s, and Fitch.
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And what is the effect? Very generally speaking, Union 
Investment gives some industrialized nations a lower 
rating than the big agencies owing to their poor 
growth, high debt and, in some cases, continued lack 
of budgetary discipline. There is also a mixed picture 
for emerging markets: Union Investment often sees 
the situation more positively in many countries, but 
more negatively in other cases, such as Turkey, China, 
and Russia.

The proprietary system has proved its worth in 
practice. Thanks to having its own standards, Union 
Investment was often faster than the market and pre-
empted approximately 70 percent of the credit ratings 
from Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch. For ex-
ample, the Union Investment country rating enabled it 
to ascertain sooner than the agencies that Ireland and 
Portugal are able to raise money on capital markets 
more easily again. This has a direct benefit for custom-
ers, for example those who invest in fixed-income 
funds specializing in government bonds. 

The inhouse tools have another advantage. The  
assessments provide portfolio managers with an  
additional, independent perspective that broadens 
their information base. This improves investment  
decisions and increases the quality of financial  

products. It is therefore no surprise that Union Invest-
ment wins awards for its work, recently receiving the 
accolade of best multi-asset manager from analysts 
FERI EuroRating Services.  

The financial crisis  
revealed the weaknesses of  
the major rating agencies.

Left: Björn Jesch, head of portfolio management at Union Investment 

Rating of macroeconomic  
fundamentals

Macroeconomic  
performance

Politics and business

Foreign trade

External debt

Debt

Fiscal data

Corruption Perceptions 
Index (CPI) from  
Transparency International

Adjustment of the rating of 
macroeconomic funda-
mentals on the basis of 
willingness to pay

Willingness to pay 

Identification of the 
potential threat of a crisis 
in a country using special 
macroeconomic crisis 
indicators

Early-warning system

Union Investment country rating

The three pillars of the Union Investment country rating and its indicators:
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Above: Because the prices for office buildings in prime locations in European cities such as London have 
shot up recently, Union Investment has increasingly turned its focus to hotels. 
Right: Union Investment is seizing the growth opportunities presented by ultra-modern budget hotels in city 
centers. 

Historically low interest rates on investments are not 
making it easy for conservative investors to grow their 
assets at present. As a consequence, both institutional 
and retail investors have increasingly turned to real-
estate investments. After all, investing in tangible as-
sets is considered comparably low-risk and, above all, 
offers stable returns. Within this segment, professional 
investors are focusing on commercial real estate, 
predominantly offices and retail space. 

Data from international real-estate consultancy CBRE 
shows that more than €154 billion was injected into 
Europe’s commercial real-estate markets in 2013, up 
by around €26 billion on the previous year and giving 
the continent its best results since 2007. Germany 
also benefited from increased interest in real-estate 
investments. With a transaction volume in excess of 
€30 billion (an increase of 21 percent compared with 
2012), Germany advanced to become the second larg-
est real-estate market in Europe according to CBRE. 

Investors are particularly interested in the core Euro-
pean real-estate markets, which include mega cities 
such as London and Paris, but also Germany’s four 
main business centers, Berlin, Frankfurt, Hamburg, and 
Munich. And within these markets, the vast majority 
of investors will only consider real estate that meets 
three criteria: central location in cities and regions 
with sustained prosperity, long-term tenants, and 
building construction in accordance with high quality 

Escaping the core trap

In a time in which demand for prime office buildings 
outstrips supply, the investors who are at an advantage 
are those who also feel at home in other real-estate 
classes. Union Investment is one of them, having be-
come one of the top hotel investors in Europe over a 
four-decade period.

14
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standards. With demand focused on these core proper-
ties in the core European markets, supply has recently 
become so scare that prices have risen – in some 
cases sharply. “Demand for opportunities to invest in 
core real estate in central business districts remains 
very high. This is particularly true of the City of London 
and Germany’s major city centers,” says Fabian Klein, 
head of investment at CBRE in Germany. 

Rising purchase prices, falling returns

By implication, however, rising purchase prices mean 
falling returns. This creates a dilemma for investors. 
On the one hand, core real estate in core markets 
promises a high level of safety and still offers better 
returns than bonds of European countries with a good 
credit rating. On the other, there is a greater risk of 
paying excessive prices, even for prime properties in 
core European markets. 

So there is good reason to look for alternative 
strategies. Besides offices and retail space, hotels are 
increasingly attracting the attention of professional 
investors. “There is no question that hotels are on 
investors’ shopping lists,” says Christoph Härle, Conti-
nental Europe CEO, Hotels & Hospitality Group, Jones 
Lang LaSalle. The numbers back this up. In 2013, 
investors spent a total of US$ 13.2 billion to acquire 
hotels in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA 
region). This represents a 17 percent year-on-year rise 
in the volume of investment, according to researchers 
at Jones Lang LaSalle. Germany particularly benefited 
from this demand: The volume of transactions reached 
approximately €1.6 billion in 2013 – up by more than 
30 percent compared with 2012. “As confidence in a 
recovery and growth increases throughout EMEA, the 
volume of investment in hotels is set to rise further 
in the region,” says Härle with optimism. He predicts 
that the volume will grow by more than 20 percent to 
roughly US$ 16 billion in 2014. 

One of the most active investors across Europe in 
2013 was Union Investment, which came fifth in a 
European ranking compiled by real-estate research 
institute Real Capital Analytics (RCA). Moreover, it was 
not only the largest investor but also the only German 
investor on the list of the 20 most active hotel buyers 
in Europe between February 2013 and February 2014. 
During this period, the total volume invested by Union 
Investment was €270 million (US$ 370 million). 

“Long-term leases make investments 
in hotels attractive even to risk-averse 
investors.” 
Andreas Löcher, head of hotel investment management, Union Investment Real Estate GmbH
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The hotel is managed by Spain’s largest hotel opera-
tor, Meliá Hotels International. The four-star Angelo 
Munich Westpark, which opened in January 2013, is 
included in the portfolio of UniInstitutional German 
Real Estate, a real-estate mutual fund for institutional 
investors. The lease with the operator of the 207-room 
hotel also runs for 20 years. 

The four other hotels purchased by Union Investment 
in 2013 reflect its focus on the fast-growing budget 
hotel category. It acquired four hotels in the Motel 
One chain for the UII Hotel Nr. 1 special fund: Motel 
One Deutsches Museum near the German Museum 
in Munich, Motel One Düsseldorf Hauptbahnhof near 
Düsseldorf’s main train station, Motel One Frankfurt 
East Side, and Motel One Stuttgart-Feuerbach.

More than 40 years’ experience

“We have more than 40 years’ experience of investing 
in hotels,” says Andreas Löcher, head of hotel invest-
ment management at Union Investment, highlighting 
the company’s successful involvement in this segment. 
It currently owns 36 hotels with a total value of some 
€2 billion. They therefore account for 8 percent of the 
overall portfolio, which is a high proportion com-
pared with other fund management companies and, 
furthermore, corresponds exactly to the percentage of 
the total investment market for commercial real-estate 
that is attributable to hotel transactions. 

The real-estate experts at Union Investment particu-
larly value the consistently stable returns generated by 
hotels. “Long-term leases, usually of 20 years, make 
investments in hotels attractive even to risk-averse 
investors,” believes Löcher. But he is also aware that 
maintaining long-term success in the hotel investment 
market requires special knowledge. “That is why our 
expertise is not limited to simply acquiring a hotel 
building,” he says. “We structure complex hotel in-
vestments, enter into strategic partnerships with hotel 
operators, and work with them to develop standards.”
This is best illustrated by the hotel investments made 
in 2013. The foundations of the partnership with hotel 
chain Meliá were laid back in 2012, when Union 
Investment signed a purchase agreement for the Meliá 
flagship hotel in Paris, La Défense. The real-estate 
investment managers also view the alliance with 
Barceló Hotels and Resorts as a long-term, strategic 
relationship, having acquired their first hotel run by 
the Spanish operator in 2012. Situated in Hamburg, it 

Union Investment acquired seven hotels in 2013. At 
the start of the year, it bought the four-star Barceló 
Raval in central Barcelona. The 186-room hotel built 
in 2008 has been part of the portfolio of the UniIm-
mo: Europa open-ended real estate fund since March 
2013. It is operated by the third largest Spanish hotel 
chain, Barceló Hotels & Resorts, which has leased the 
hotel for 20 years. In late 2013, the Hamburg-based 
real-estate investment arm of Union Investment 
acquired Meliá – a four-star superior hotel with 201 
rooms situated next to Düsseldorf’s Hofgarten Park – 
which since then has been part of the portfolio of the 
UniImmo: Deutschland open-ended real estate fund. 
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forms part of the UniImmo: Deutschland open-ended 
real estate fund. 

Early identification of growth opportunities in 
a comparatively new category

Union Investment is also very well placed in the bud-
get and economy hotel category. These mainly occupy 
central positions in city centers, are modern and often 
design-oriented, yet generally cost less than €100 
per night. This is achieved by offering a slightly more 
limited level of service than in four-star hotels.

Managers at Union Investment identified the growth 
opportunities of this comparatively new category early 
on. Its share of the market for brand-managed hotels 
is already 57 percent in France and 30 percent in the 
United Kingdom, according to information from PKF 
hotelexperts. In Germany, budget hotels only account 
for around 10 percent of the market but are doing 
very well: In 2013, this category generated the highest 
growth (2.8 percent) measured in terms of revenue 
per available room (RevPAR). 

“We are one of the few German capital management 
companies to have very good knowledge of this seg-
ment,” says Martin Schaller, senior hotel investment 
manager at Union Investment. It helped the rising 
star of the budget hotel industry, the German Motel 
One Group, to expand abroad, for example purchas-
ing hotels that were being launched in Brussels and 
Amsterdam. Hotels operated by Ibis and Holiday Inn 
Express can also be found in the real-estate portfolio. 

Schaller believes it makes sense to also focus on in-
novative newcomers in the hotel industry. “Having a 
mixture of different hotel concepts in a portfolio is, in 
our view, a very good way of diversifying risk,”  
he says, explaining that the strategy is to invest not 
only in four-star and four-star-plus hotels but also in 
hotels in the budget and midscale categories. Hotel 
specialist Löcher adds: “If we partner with an operator 
with internationally recognized brands, hotel invest-
ments are no more risky than investments in office 
buildings. They therefore offer a good alternative for 
investors.”  

Above left: The four-star Barceló Raval in Barcelona has been part of the portfolio of the UniImmo: Europa open-ended real estate fund since 2013. 
Below left: Andreas Löcher (left), head of hotel investment management, and Martin Schaller, senior hotel investment manager at Union Invest-
ment, are focusing on design-oriented hotels in the budget chain Motel One. 
Right: The Motel One close to Hamburg‘s iconic St. Michael‘s Church is part of the Union Investment hotel portfolio.  

Union Investment was the most active 
German hotel investor in 2013. 
Source: RCA
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Karl Peters is 73 years old. When he looks back to  
different times in his life, the milestones stand out:  
a solid apprenticeship, a secure job, the first car,  
family and children, purchase of his first apartment, 
eventually followed by his own home with a garden. 
His son Matthias Peters, now 37, does not have his 
own car and does not need or want one. A car-
sharing scheme means that there is generally a car 
available within 100 meters of his apartment that he 
can use. The house in which he lives with his wife and 
children belongs to him – in part. A few years ago, 
he formed a co-housing group with some friends. To-
gether they invested in realizing their dream of home 
ownership. On the city outskirts, Matthias Peters has 
rented a vegetable patch in a community garden, 
which he visits once a week with his family.

Karl and Matthias Peters exemplify the picture of two 
different generations. Whereas status symbols such 
as a car, house, and garden were once important, the 
message is now ‘sharing is the new having’. Follow-
ing on from an era of unconditional individualization, 

community ownership is gaining fresh momentum.  
A collective feeling of ‘us’ is more relevant and is hav-
ing more of an influence on lifestyle than ever before. 

On average, a European citizen has 10,000 posses-
sions. We own far more than we can ever put to good 
use. But a change of mindset can now be observed. 
A study conducted by the University of Lüneburg 
entitled Sharing Economy – Towards a New Culture 
of Consumption found that 23.5 percent of Germans 
are now co-consumers: They share reusable consumer 
goods and are moving away from ‘ownership-based 
individual consumption’.

The trend began with the digital sharing of knowl-
edge (Wikipedia), experiences (Facebook), and music 
(YouTube) and has quickly expanded to encompass 
material possessions. Websites for swapping and 
sharing items are booming, especially in cities. But 
the core idea is not actually that new. There have 
always been public libraries, public transport, and 
shared houses. Now, long-familiar forms of economic 

Community as a way of life
Whether car sharing, co-housing, or community gardens, the idea of sharing is experiencing 
a renaissance and putting the value of familiar status symbols into perspective. Unconditional 
individualization is being replaced by a new feeling of ‘us’. This fundamental attitude is a good 
fit with the values by which Union Investment has always operated.

15

The sharing economy: People are forming co-housing groups to achieve the dream of home ownership, 
workers in the creative industries rent space in shared offices, and car sharing means people do not need 
their own car.
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Sports clubs, allotments, and  
initiatives. What was once  
considered outdated is now  
avant garde. 
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exchange are increasingly being rediscovered. It is 
about dusting down and universalizing an idea that 
is as old as civilization itself. Being the sole owner 
has gone out of fashion. What was once considered 
outdated is now avant garde. Associations, coopera-
tives and, above all, the cooperative principle – as 
embodied and practiced by Union Investment since 
its establishment – are providing the framework for 
an age of community. 

But what are the reasons behind the current renais-
sance in sharing and communal use? Certainly one of 
them was the need to overcome the financial crises 
of the past few years, with sustainability and financial 
considerations causing us to cooperate more closely. 
Some people simply cannot afford to buy a house 
but do not want to miss out on home ownership. This 
gave rise to the idea of realizing the dream of home 
ownership by working together and pooling finances. 

Another important reason is the emergence of the 
internet as a mass phenomenon. Whereas the internet 
was originally used passively in the same way as radio 
and television, broad swathes of people have recog-
nized it as a medium that can be actively controlled. 
They are not simply using it but helping to create it. 
It has become a part of everyday life, an enrichment 
that has changed how we live. 

Mobile technology in the form of smartphones and 
tablets has evolved at breakneck speed. This has 
made it possible to get organized more quickly and 
to start communicating with complete strangers who 
have shared interests within a short space of time. 
Whereas people would once have to rely on a neigh-
bor or friend if they needed the use of a car, they now 
share cars with people they have never met.
The sharing economy is becoming a business for 
an entire generation. What in many cases started 
as a small-scale, non-professional idea, was soon 

recognized as being practical for everyday use and 
was adopted as a business model. Large companies 
have also picked up on the trend and have intro-
duced related products and services, thereby creating 
new market segments and new jobs. The concept 
of getting a ride to the shops with a neighbor has 
been replaced with professional operations such as 
car2go and DriveNow. In Berlin, 1,200 cars are now 
available as part of car-sharing schemes. The idea has 
also become well established in other areas. ‘flow2’ 
enables construction companies to share excavators, 
cranes, and trucks.

Empty rooms and parked cars are being turned 
into business ideas. Harvard graduate and qualified 
management consultant Rachel Botsman coined and 
defined the term ‘collaborative consumption’ in her 
best seller What’s mine is yours. She believes that 
sharing and swapping will revolutionize consumer  

behavior in the years to come. The US TIME magazine 
agrees and has included the principle of collaborative 
consumption in its list of ten ideas that will change 
the world.

The era of material egoism appears to finally be over. 
Gone are the times when people aimed to amass 
as many possessions as possible and, as soon as 
they had more than enough, defended them with 
everything in their means. We are more likely to 
question whether ownership is necessary, resulting in 
a new-found humility that provides us with greater 
personal freedom. This new humility means we no 
longer measure material goods purely in quantitative 
terms but rather try to assign them a qualitative value. 
More and more people are living by this new worthy 
principle and are realizing that the swapping of mate-
rial possessions has an element of human interaction. 
A new way of life, in other words.   

It is not a question of possession. This new humility means we no  
longer measure material goods purely in quantitative terms but rather 
try to assign them a qualitative value. 

Associations, cooperatives and, above all, the cooperative principle – as embodied and practiced by Union 
Investment since its establishment – are providing the framework for an age of community. 
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Group Management Report 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
for the Financial Year from 
January 1 to December 31, 2013
Note

This management report should be read in the context 
of the audited financial data and disclosures in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The 
management report also includes forward-looking 
statements that are based on current planning, as-
sumptions, and estimates rather than on historical 
facts. In all cases, the forward-looking statements 
apply at the time the statements are made and Union 
Asset Management Holding AG (UMH AG) gives no 
undertaking that it will update the statements if new 
information becomes available. Forward-looking state-
ments are always subject to risk and uncertainty. We 
therefore explicitly stress that actual events may differ 
significantly from those forecast as a consequence of a 
number of factors. Factors that appear to be mate-
rial from the current perspective are described under 
‘Outlook, opportunity, and risk report’ and in other 
sections of this report.
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Business situation

A  Group business model

Union Asset Management Holding AG together with 
its subsidiaries (Union Investment) forms part of the 
cooperative financial network. The objectives and 
strategies pursued by Union Investment are therefore 
shaped by the guiding principles of the cooperative 
financial network, which focus on mutual benefit and 
decentralization. In this structure, the local primary 
banks and their members are supported by specialist 
service providers that pool expertise in particular types 
of products and services and operate at a national 
level. The range of services provided by Union Invest-
ment – highly professional, innovative asset manage-
ment products and solutions with competitive terms 
and conditions – is aimed at both retail and institu-
tional clients. 

In the retail business, Union Investment services are 
placed exclusively at the disposal of the retail clients 
of the partner banks (‘Verbund First’). Union Invest-
ment offers precisely tailored support for the client ad-
visory process conducted by the partner banks, which 
involves a two-stage sales approach. As a solutions 
provider, Union Investment identifies and stimulates 
retail client needs. It then provides targeted support 
in the form of suitable products and services to cover 
the entire partner value chain, enabling the partner 
to offer the best possible range of asset management 
options.

The products and services in the institutional clients 
business are aimed at discerning institutional investors 
of varying sizes. Clients from within the cooperative 
financial network include partner banks, the other 
specialized institutions, and corporate customers of 
the cooperative partner banks. Union Investment also 
competes to attract custom from other institutional 
investors outside the cooperative financial network, 
such as pension funds. 
The core geographical area of the retail client activi-
ties of Union Investment is the territory covered by 
the cooperative financial network (Germany). The 
institutional clients business also has a regional focus 
in Germany, although there are some activities in 
other markets on a selective basis. The main locations 
of the Union Investment asset management units are 
Frankfurt, Hamburg, and Luxembourg.
The Union Investment Group comprises a number of 
individual companies with Union Asset Management 

Holding AG (UMH) as the parent holding company. 
UMH’s portfolio of long-term equity investments 
currently consists of 20 investee companies.1) These 
entities also include non-operating companies solely 
for the purpose, for example, of holding real estate. 
The most significant long-term equity investments in 
the Union Investment portfolio can be broken down 
as follows:

•  Asset management companies in Germany and 
abroad: Pooling of asset management expertise 
for different management styles, asset classes, or 
regional capital markets.

•  Bank: 
Provision of investment accounts for retail clients.

•  Service companies: 
Provision of fund management services and infra-
structure.

•  Securities trading firms: 
Pooling of fund brokerage, investment custody busi-
ness, and funds sales for various companies based in 
Luxembourg.

1)  Comprises the long-term equity investments included in the scope of consolidation for the UMH Group as at December 31, 2013.
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The individual companies involved are as follows:

Unlike the legal entity structure relevant for external 
purposes, internal management structure at Union 
Investment is consistently organized by function 
and operating segment across all companies and 
locations. The core competencies of marketing and 
portfolio management are each organized into two 

segments: Retail Clients and Institutional Clients 
for the former, and Portfolio Management and Real 
Estate for the latter. There are two further seg-
ments known as Fund Services (fund administration, 
investment custody business) and Infrastructure (IT, 
general administration).

UNION ASSet MANAGeMeNt HOlDING AG

Germany ROW

Asset management
companies

Service
companies Other subsidiaries Asset management

companies

Union Investment  
Privatfonds

Union IT-Services BIG-Immobilien GmbH & Co. 
Betriebs KG

Union Investment TFI 
Warsaw

Union Investment  
Institutional

Union Service-Gesellschaft BIG-Immobilien GmbH BEA Union Investment 
Hong Kong

Union Investment  
Real Estate

UIR Verwaltungsgesellschaft Non-controlling interests Securities trading firms

Union Investment  
Institutional Property

R+V Pensionsfonds Union Investment Financial Services, 
Luxembourg

compertis Attrax 
Luxembourg

Banks Financial service providers Nalinus Management companies

Union Investment  
Service Bank Quoniam Asset Management VR Consultingpartner GmbH Union Investment  

Luxembourg
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UNION ASSet MANAGeMeNt HOlDING AG

Central services and management units in the holding company

Support services

Management of fund 
assetsMarketing

It and general administration services, project management

Segment: Infrastructure

Investment custody business, 
fund management, fund brokerage

SeGMeNtS:
Retail Clients, 

Institutional Clients

SeGMeNt:
Fund Services

SeGMeNtS:
Portfolio Management, 

Real estate

Segments created on the basis of value-creation levels: Functional organization

The companies in the Union Investment Group are 
allocated to the segments. In some cases, individual 
units within a company are assigned to different 
segments. Exceptions are non-integrated companies, 
such as joint ventures (for example, BEA Union Invest-
ment) because of the ownership structure, and Union 
Investment long-term equity investments in which 
self-contained management is beneficial because of 
the business model involved (for example, Union In-
vestment TFI). These companies are managed through 
their respective supervisory bodies.
 
As an asset manager, Union Investment focuses rigor-
ously and successfully on the investment needs of 
retail and institutional clients. It offers retail investors 
products and services covering a range of require-
ments, including personal pension products, invest-
ment solutions, and wealth accumulation. One of the 
most successful solutions offered by Union Investment 
at the moment is the Riester pension plan product 
UniProfiRente/4P. More than 1.8 million clients are 
using this product to build up their personal pensions. 
Other options offered to retail investors include equity 
funds, fixed-income funds, money market funds, open-
ended real estate funds, mixed funds, funds of funds, 
and capital preservation funds.

Union Investment stands out as an innovative, reli-
able, and progressive investment expert based on 
its detailed understanding of the specific needs of 
institutional investors and on the transparency of its 
day-to-day activities. As one of the largest fund man-
agement companies in Germany, Union Investment 
is in a position to offer an extensive range of diverse 
investment strategies to satisfy the needs of its clients. 
These strategies include traditional special funds, a 
number of institutional funds with varying structures, 
advisory and outsourcing mandates, and institutional 
asset management.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report Group Management Report

73



B  Business report

I.  Macroeconomic and sector
 conditions

1. Capital markets

In terms of the performance of the different as-
set classes, 2013 was a year of contrasts. Equities 
markets in the industrialized countries saw significant 
double-digit gains, in many cases hitting new all-time 
highs, whereas a change in sentiment led to higher 
yields on safe-haven government bonds such as Ger-
man Bunds or US Treasuries. In the emerging markets, 
the performance of both equities and fixed-income 
securities was significantly worse, partly attributable 
to the drop in commodity prices, which in most cases 
was substantial.

Notable features of the beginning of the year were the 
fall in systemic risk and the search for higher returns 
in the prevailing environment of low interest rates. A 
preliminary deal on New Year’s Day in the debate sur-
rounding the ‘fiscal cliff’ in the US and hopes that the 
eurozone would emerge from recession helped global 
capital markets to kick off the year on a positive note. 
The clouds began to gather again, initially toward 
the end of the first quarter, as a result of renewed 
doubts as to whether the sovereign debt crisis in the 
eurozone could be resolved. Negative sentiment was 
exacerbated early in the summer when Ben Bernanke, 
chair of the US Federal Reserve (Fed), announced that 
the Fed could begin to taper its bond-buying program 
(quantitative easing) during the second half of the 
year. In fact, the Fed only made a final decision on this 
course of action at its last meeting in 2013 shortly 
before Christmas. From January 2014, the Fed’s bond-

buying would be cut by US$ 10 billion in an initial 
step back toward a normalized US monetary policy. 
Interest rates are nevertheless likely to remain at a 
low level until 2015. At the beginning of December, 
another source of uncertainty – the lingering dispute 
between Democrats and Republicans regarding the US 
federal budget – was also cleared up following a deal 
between the two sides covering the next two years. 

Toward the end of the year under review, economic 
indicators suggested that growth was gathering pace 
in the industrialized countries. In the US economy, 
the positive growth trend that had emerged in 2012 
continued, increasingly driven by domestic consumer 
spending. The steady impetus from within the US was 
also reflected in a further fall in the rate of unemploy-
ment, a sustained recovery in the real estate market, 
and an improvement in the expectations of small 
and medium-sized enterprises, which have a greater 
focus on domestic markets. In the second quarter of 
2013, the eurozone came out of the recession that 
had persisted for 18 months. The economic outlook 
also continued to brighten in Japan as a result of the 
fiscal and monetary policy measures initiated by the 
government of Prime Minister Shinzo Abe. Contrast-
ing with the improvements in the industrialized 
nations, there continued to be increasing concerns 
in the second quarter about growth in the emerging 
markets, particularly in China. However, indicators 
published toward the end of the year pointed to 
stabilization again. 

Performance in the different asset classes varied 
significantly. Equity markets in the industrialized 
countries posted double-digit gains across the board. 
The emerging markets, on the other hand, only saw 
marginal positive growth overall. Other than the lower 
level of monetary policy intervention, the main factor 

Source: Datastream, performance from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013.
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that had a negative impact on trends and also pushed 
down commodity prices was the growth of the Chi-
nese economy, which was weaker than expected. From 
the beginning of May, yields on the safe havens of US 
Treasuries and German Bunds rose substantially, but 
still remained rather low from a historical perspective. 
Massive capital outflows from the emerging markets 
led to significant losses on their bonds and currencies. 
Other spread products, such as bonds from the periph-
eral countries of the eurozone, corporate bonds, and 
high-yield bonds were the beneficiaries as investors 
searched for higher returns.

Despite the Fed’s decision to taper its bond-buying 
program, the monetary policy of the leading central 
banks remains expansionary and generally supportive 
of capital markets. However, the action taken by the 
Fed also demonstrates that the US has made the 
greatest progress so far in overcoming the financial 
crisis five years after the collapse of Lehman Brothers. 
The US economy has now returned to self-sustaining 
growth and in the future will no longer need the mon-
etary policy support it has required in the recent past. 
As far as the markets are concerned, economic growth 
is therefore likely to gain in importance going forward, 
becoming the principal driver behind market prices. 
Growth in the US economy is forecast to increase from 
1.8 percent in 2013 to 2.3 percent in 2014. 

Systemic risk in the eurozone has continued to recede. 
The path taken by policymakers in Europe clearly 
indicates that they are making concerted efforts to 
meet their responsibilities, but there is still a long 
way to go, especially as further moves in the direc-
tion of economic and fiscal union have been deferred 
following the German federal elections in 2013. The 

eurozone has emerged from recession and is forecast 
to achieve growth of just under 1 percent in 2014. A 
significant proportion of this growth is expected to be 
generated by Germany, where gross domestic product 
(GDP) is predicted to rise by 1.6 percent. Businesses 
are in good shape, inflation remains at a low level, 
and economic momentum is building in almost all key 
areas – all of which is generating a favorable environ-
ment for equities markets. Given the significantly 
brighter outlook in the eurozone, European equities 
are among our preferred investments. In general 
terms, we believe that falling equity correlations will 
lead to the return of greater rewards from good stock 
picks. In turn, we are somewhat less likely to see the 
frequent, abrupt switches between risk-on and risk-off 
phases experienced between 2008 and 2012.

In view of the improvement in economic conditions 
and falling systemic risk, the trend toward higher 
yields on safe government bonds, such as ten-year 
Bunds, is likely to be sustained. This has added to the 
challenges faced by fixed-income investors because 
even safe investments in the low-interest-rate environ-
ment can now also incur losses. Our preferred securi-
ties in these circumstances are high-yield, subordi-
nated, and eurozone periphery bonds, which have risk 
premiums and higher coupons that can go some way 
to offsetting the fall in market prices.

Against a background of low inflation and good levels 
of supply, the outlook for commodities remains muted 
relative to that for equities. The restrictions on the 
supply of many commodities limit the downside risk, 
whereas the prospects of an improvement in economic 
trends or the possibility of geopolitical upheaval lead 
to potential increases in prices.

Source: Union Investment as at January 7, 2014.
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2. Real-estate markets

Despite widespread improvement in leading indica-
tors, there has not yet been any noticeable recov-
ery in the total volume of space leased out across 
Europe. One exception is London, where the volume 
of space leased out rose markedly in the second 
half of 2013 against the backdrop of a substantial 
economic uptrend. However, in many locations busi-
nesses remained hesitant to lease new space. As a 
consequence, vacancy rates rose again, particularly in 
southern and eastern Europe. In contrast, the markets 
in ‘core Europe’ remained relatively stable, with only 
the odd fall in rents in evidence. There were even 
some significant rent increases in the United Kingdom 
and Germany. Real-estate markets in Asia proved to 
be robust over the course of 2013, with rental growth 
and a contraction in office space vacancy rates observ-
able in many cases in the major business centers. In 
the US, the picture in commercial office space markets 
was very similar, with vacancy rates falling throughout 
the markets and growth in rents continuing to gather 
pace.

Commercial real estate continues to be in demand 
as an investment vehicle, primarily from institutional 
investors. The low interest rates available on finance 
and more promising economic conditions make an 
investment in real estate a very attractive proposition. 
Against this background, the global volume of com-
mercial real estate deals in 2013 rose by 21 percent 
year on year to €409 billion. Activity was particularly 
brisk in the fourth quarter when trading volume 
reached €144 billion. The greatest concentration of in-

vestment around the globe was again in the Americas, 
where the total volume of deals reached €175 billion, 
up by 18 percent year on year. In European real-
estate markets, the volume of transactions climbed by 
21 percent during the course of 2013 to €142 billion. 
The equivalent figure for the Asia-Pacific region was 
€92 billion, which equated to growth of 29 percent 
compared with 2012.

Sentiment in real-estate markets has recently taken 
a further turn for the better. Given the improved 
economic outlook, rents are set to increase in a whole 
range of markets in Europe, the Americas, and Asia. 
Demand for real estate remains at a high level and 
the total volume of deals worldwide is likely to see a 
further rise in 2014, with investors expected to dem-
onstrate a continued increase in risk appetite driven by 
the brighter economic prospects. 

Global markets: decoupling of market cycles
Office real-estate ‚clock‘ – Q4 2012

Note
The ‚clock‘ shows office space markets within the rental price cycle according to Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL).
Local markets may move in different directions and at different speeds.
Positions are not necessarily representative of the investment market.

Office real-estate ‚clock‘ – Q4 2013
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3. Inflows and fund assets

Sector situation: Mutual funds

In this environment the German fund management 
industry reported total net inflows of €11.0 billion into 
securities mutual funds in 2013, the main beneficiaries 
being mixed funds (€11.6 billion) and fixed-income 
funds (€10.2 billion). Investors in mutual funds 
tended to move out of equity funds (net outflows of 
€5.7 billion), money market funds (net outflows of 
€2.0 billion), capital preservation funds (net outflows 
of €1.5 billion), and target funds (net outflows of 
€1.2 billion). The other asset classes within securi-
ties mutual funds together accounted for further net 
outflows of €0.4 billion. Open-ended real estate funds 
attracted net inflows of €3.5 billion.2) 

Sector situation: Special funds

In 2013, German investment firms generated net 
inflows of €63.5 billion (as at November 30, 2013) 
into the special funds under their management. This 
equated to an increase of 15 percent compared with 
2012 (November 30, 2012: €55.6 billion). The volume 
of special funds under management as at the end 
of November 2013 amounted to €1,073.3 billion, 
up by 9 percent year on year (November 30, 2012: 
€964.6 billion).

Sector situation: Real estate funds

There were two distinct components to the market 
for German open-ended real estate funds in 2013. 
One part of the market saw 14 open-ended real 
estate funds being wound up, but the other part of 
the market comprising products that were still being 
actively sold benefited from substantial net inflows 
for the most part. Despite the possible knock-on 
effects on investor sentiment from repeated fund liq-
uidations, the industry therefore continued to enjoy 
significant investor confidence in the future success 
of open-ended real estate funds. The other three 
institutional investor funds that have suspended the 
redemption of fund units must announce during the 
course of 2014 whether they will reopen or not. The 
adjustments in the market for open-ended real estate 
funds thus continue to be applied. Nevertheless, up 
to October 2013, the industry as a whole received 
total new net inflows of approximately €3.2 billion 
for these funds. This is proof positive of investors’ 
fundamental confidence in this asset class.

II.  Business performance

1.  Performance overview

Fund management business, assets under 
management

In 2013, the number of products run by UMH AG 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates either  
directly or under fund management mandates was 
963, slightly below the 2012 level.
 
The volume of assets under management rose from 
€190.5 billion as at December 31, 2012 to €206.2 bil-
lion at the end of 2013, which represented a year-on-
year increase of €15.7 billion. This increase was at-
tributable both to net inflows and to the performance 
of international capital markets. 

The breakdown of the growth in assets under man-
agement in 2013 was as follows:
Assets in mutual funds increased by €6.1 billion to 
€120.9 billion.
Assets in special funds grew by €2.5 billion to 
€61.3 billion.
Assets in other types of business (advisory mandates 
and asset management) minus accounts managed by 
third parties amounted to €24.0 billion, which consti-
tuted a substantial year-on-year increase (December 
31, 2012: €16.9 billion).

Performance of Union Investment Group 
funds 3)

The excellent performance of many of the capital 
market segments in 2013 was reflected in the perfor-
mance of the managed funds. On a volume-weighted 
basis, active management also enabled 63.6 percent 
of mutual funds to outperform their particular bench-
mark.

The managed equity funds achieved gains of 20.6 per-
cent on average, thereby exceeding the average gains 
in 2012 (17.2 percent). Almost all global and Europe-
an blue-chip funds were up by more than 20 percent, 
with funds focusing on small- and mid-cap stocks 
gaining more than 30 percent. Only emerging market 
portfolios lagged behind significantly as a result of 
weaker market performance. In relative terms, some 
funds, notably the European equity funds and the 
small- and mid-cap funds, outperformed their respec-
tive benchmarks by some way.

2)  BVI fund management statistics as at November 2013.
3)   All the performance figures below are stated gross, i.e. on a cost-adjusted basis, and relate to 2013.
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The main factor behind the performance of the fixed-
income funds was the rising yields on safe government 
bonds, which meant that the excellent performance 
achieved in 2012 (average gain of 8.9 percent) could 
not be sustained, the average gain for 2013 being 
1.1 percent. The most impressive performers in both 
absolute and relative terms were once again the 
corporate bond funds, which grew by 3.2 percent, 
outperforming the relevant benchmark by 1.4 percent-
age points.

The performance of the money market funds was 
also impressive with returns between 0.4 and 
1.7 percent. Given money market interest rates 
close to zero, these gains were attributable almost 
exclusively to the performance of Union Investment 
fund managers.

Many mixed mandates registered increases in double 
figures. The average gains amounted to 8.9 percent, 
outperforming the relevant benchmarks by 1.5 per-
centage points. The asymmetric, dynamic capital 
preservation products closed the year with an average 
gain of 2.5 percent, with guarantee funds up by an 
average of 1.1 percent. 

Real estate funds for retail investors

The open-ended real estate mutual funds managed by 
Union Investment for retail investors had generated 
annual returns of 2.2 percent (UniImmo: Deutschland), 
2.2 percent (UniImmo: Europa), and 2.4 percent (Uni-
Immo: Global) as at December 31, 2013. The two long-
standing funds, UniImmo: Deutschland and UniImmo: 
Europa, performed steadily during the course of the 
year, but UniImmo: Global improved significantly.

Given general trends in the sector, it is assumed that 
performance in the two long-standing funds will also 
remain largely flat over the next few months.

Real estate funds for institutional investors

Business with institutional real estate investors contin-
ued to expand in 2013. Contributions to performance 
from the managed special funds DEFO-Immobilien-
fonds 1, UII Shopping Nr. 1, and DIFA-Fonds Nr. 3 were 
in line with the planning. The institutional mutual fund 
UniInstitutional European Real Estate achieved a gain 
of 2.5 percent over the twelve months to December 
31, 2013 and the dividend yield was over 4 percent 
as in previous years. UniInstitutional German Real 
Estate, another institutional mutual fund, successfully 
acquired its first two properties and therefore also 
remained on target. In the case of UII Immobilien Mit-
eigentumsfonds Nr. 1, there were no new purchases in 
the year under review, again in line with planning. 

The special real estate funds Residential Value and 
BAEV Immobilienfonds I launched in 2011 as service 
asset management company portfolios have been 
in an advanced investment phase since 2012. The 
same also applies to the R+V Deutschland Real fund 
launched in 2012, for which the first investments were 
made during the course of 2013. A new addition in 
2013 was VGV Immobilienfonds I, and a portfolio 
purchase has already been completed for this fund. 

SDK Immoselect and SDL Immoselect, two funds that 
provide a pooling function for an insurance group, 
also performed as planned. On July 1, 2013, a further 
investment vehicle of this nature in the form of VPV 
Invest was taken over by Union Investment Luxemburg 
S.A. (UIL) for the purposes of managing the vehicle 
itself and by Union Investment Institutional Property 
GmbH (UII) for the purposes of fund management. 

After Union Investment launched into the infra-
structure business in 2012 with the UniInstitutional 
Erneuerbare Energien SICAF-SIF fund, it was able to 
complete its first purchase of wind farms. A further 
tranche of capital was successfully raised from inves-
tors in a second closing in 2013. 

Awards, rankings, and ratings

Capital, one of Germany’s leading business magazines, 
awarded Union Investment its highest rating of five 
stars for what is now the eleventh time in succession. 
Union Investment was the only asset management 
company to receive this rating in 2013. Other than 
Union Investment, just nine other companies out of 
100 assessed in total were awarded the top rating. 
The quality of fund management and of the range of 

Source: Union Investment. Performance over one year (gross) from January 1, 2013 to 
December 31, 2013.
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products and services formed part of the assessment 
in addition to fund quality. UniDeutschland XS was 
also awarded the 2013 German Fund Management 
Prize. On November 26, 2013, Union Investment was 
named best multi-asset manager in Germany, Austria, 
and Switzerland in the 2014 Feri EuroRating Awards.

In the quarterly ranking of asset management com-
panies carried out by Feri EuroRating Services as at 
December 31, 2013, Union Investment was ranked 
ninth based on a ratio of 50.0 percent of funds with 
a top rating, which meant that it was the best-placed 
German asset management company (Allianz Global 
Investors, ranked tenth, 47.2 percent; Deka, ranked 
eleventh, 44.9 percent; Deutsche Asset & Wealth 
Management, ranked 22nd, 34.0 percent).

In the rankings issued by the Morningstar ratings 
agency as at December 31, 2013 and placing Union 
Investment in a comparison with its main competitors 
in Germany, Union Investment was ranked second in 
the analysis covering one year, top of the rankings 
over three years, and third over five years. The propor-
tion of funds in the upper half of each peer group was 
52.7 percent over a one-year period, and 50.9 percent 
and 45.6 percent over the longer analysis periods.

Union Investment Group inflows and fund  
assets

The Union Investment Group had total assets under 
management of €206.2 billion as at December 31, 
2013 (December 31, 2012: €190.5 billion). These assets 
were distributed among both retail and institutional 
clients.

Retail investors – changes in inflows and  
assets under management

All funds under the Union Investment brand are of-
fered to retail clients exclusively via our partner banks 
in the cooperative financial network. It is our policy to 
reject the repeated inquiries we receive from internet 
banks for distribution agreements and not to use the 
services of independent brokers. This distinguishes 
Union Investment from most of its competitors. 

Historically, this strategy of clearly focusing on the 
cooperative financial network formed the basis for 
the exceptional level of success enjoyed by the Union 
Investment Group in the marketplace. The close form 
of collaboration practiced within the cooperative 
financial network again proved to be particularly valu-
able in 2013. 

Gross inflows fell slightly from €19.5 billion in 2012 
to €17.9 billion in 2013. However, net inflows from 
the retail clients business at €3.7 billion were higher 
than the equivalent figure of €1.1 billion in 2012. Net 
inflows were attracted particularly into open-ended 
real estate funds.

The volume of assets under management in business 
with retail clients rose to €93.5 billion as at December 
31, 2013 (end of 2012: €85.7 billion).

According to fund management statistics of the 
Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management 
e.V. (BVI) [Federal Association of German Fund Man-
agement Companies], the Union Investment Group’s 
share4) of the managed mutual funds market was 
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19.6 percent at the end of 2013 (December 31, 2012: 
19.5 percent). Union Investment therefore remained 
the third-largest manager of mutual funds in Germany.

Institutional investors – changes in inflows and 
assets under management

As at December 31, 2013, the volume of assets 
under management for institutional investors had 
risen by €7.9 billion to €112.7 billion (December 31, 
2012: €104.8 billion). The assets under management 
in special funds for institutional investors increased 
marginally to €55.4 billion (December 31, 2012:  
€54.3 billion). The volume of assets under manage-
ment in other types of business for institutional clients 
(mutual funds, advisory mandates, and institutional 
asset management) increased by €6.7 billion to 
€57.3 billion. The growth in assets under management 
was derived from both net inflows and the perfor-
mance of the capital markets. In 2013, institutional 
business generated net inflows of €6.4 billion (2012: 
€8.8 billion). Demand was particularly strong for 
institutional funds and advisory services.

According to BVI fund management statistics, the 
Union Investment Group’s market share5) of total as-
sets in special funds at the end of 2013 was 11.4 per-
cent (December 31, 2012: 11.0 percent). The Group 
therefore remained the second-largest manager of 
special funds in Germany.

Custody business and fund brokerage

As at December 31, 2013, the Union Investment 
Group managed more than 4.2 million client custody 
accounts with portfolios of the Group’s own and 
third-party investment funds. Despite the persistently 
tough market conditions caused by the European 
sovereign debt crisis, the volume of assets in client 
custody accounts climbed by €7.4 billion from a total 
of €67.9 billion to €75.3 billion.

Managed custody accounts with third-party invest-
ment funds (investment funds from fund management 
companies outside the Group) numbered around 
190,000 as at December 31, 2013 compared with 
153,000 such accounts as at December 31, 2012. 
The volume of assets invested in third-party funds 
amounted to €2.9 billion at the end of 2013 (Decem-
ber 31, 2012: €2.1 billion).

Union Investment Service Bank AG handled a total 
of around 43 million customer transactions in 2013, 
which can be broken down as follows:

28.5 million related to savings plans, withdrawal 
plans, employer-funded capital formation schemes, 
etc.,
12.2 million related to income distributions/ 
reinvestment and custody account fees,
2.1 million related to online transactions, and
0.2 million related to manual, non-online special 
postings.

1.8 million transactions were entered directly by the 
end clients and banks using the online service. OCR 
technology was used to process around 214,000 
transactions. Automated processing accounts for 
98.8 percent of the transactions processed, which is 
the optimum level from a business perspective.

The fund brokerage business processed a total of 
around 0.8 million attrax client orders with a volume 
of approximately €21.8 billion in the year under re-
view. Some 0.2 million orders worth €5.3 billion were 
also posted in Unionfonds. 

The volume of assets held in safe custody for attrax 
clients amounted to €24.8 billion as at December 31, 
2013. Of these assets, a volume of €10.7 billion was 
held for cooperative partner banks and €14.1 bil-
lion for institutional clients. The volume of fees and 
commissions paid out as trail commission in 2013 
amounted to approximately €55.8 million.

At the end of 2013, the fund brokerage business 
involved 177 active relationships with coopera-
tive banks; the number of other institutional clients 
involved had risen from 107 to 118.

5)  BVI fund management statistics as at December 2013.

Source: Fund management statistics published by the BVI as at December 2013.
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2. Business environment

Both institutional and retail investors were finding it 
increasingly difficult to generate attractive returns as 
a consequence of the lower cost of borrowing and the 
accompanying growth in investment. As far as bonds 
were concerned, it was only possible to obtain coupons 
in excess of the anticipated level of inflation by taking 
on significant risk and committing to longer maturities. 

The existing range of products was also affected by 
the requirement to implement European Union direc-
tives and regulations. Furthermore, the new regulatory 
requirements imposed by the German authorities were 
in many cases more far-reaching than strictly neces-
sary under the European specifications, hampering the 
design of products in Germany. 

Union Investment made an increasingly proactive, 
targeted, and valuable contribution at both national 
and international levels by helping with the further 
development of the market framework for invest-
ment funds. For example, at European level, Union 
Investment was involved in a wide variety of working 
groups set up by the European Fund and Asset 
Management Association (EFAMA). At national level, 
its input was through the committees of the BVI and 
the Bundesverband der Deutschen Volksbanken und 
Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR) [National Association of 
German Cooperative Banks]. Union Investment was 
also increasingly involved in discussions with other 
European regulatory authorities and took part in a 
fruitful dialog with politicians at both regional and 
European levels.

The new German Capital Investment Code (KAGB) 
came into force on July 22, 2013. This super-
seded the previous German Investment Act (InvG), 
although certain InvG provisions could continue to 
be applied for a transition period. The purpose of 
the KAGB was to transpose into German law EU 
Directive 2011/61/EU on Alternative Investment 
Fund Managers (AIFM Directive). The KAGB creates 
a standard unified set of rules and regulations 
covering investment fund assets and the managers 
of these assets. The KAGB regulates the managers of 
UCITS funds, the undertakings for collective invest-
ment in transferable securities (UCITS) funds them-
selves (UCITS also being subject to the provisions in 
Directive 2009/65/EC), the managers of alternative 
investment funds (AIFs), and the alternative invest-
ment funds themselves.

The KAGB has redefined the concept of ‘sales’. For 
example, investment fund units may no longer be 
offered in a sales operation that is not open to the 
public. In the future, a distinction will also be made 

between sales to retail investors and those to profes-
sional or semi-professional investors.

An AIF may only be sold in Germany in the future once 
a notification procedure to the regulatory authority 
has been completed. This procedure makes a distinc-
tion as to whether investment fund units are to be 
sold just to retail investors or to professional or semi-
professional investors. 

Following the implementation of the KAGB and the 
AIFM Directive, AIF managers must apply to the regula-
tory authority for separate approval, even if funds of this 
type were being managed before the KAGB came into 
force. As the German asset management companies in 
the Union Investment Group already manage AIFs, they 
will all submit an appropriate application to the relevant 
regulatory authority. The preparation for implementing 
the requirements associated with the approval applica-
tion and the advance work related to complying with 
the new legal requirements accounted for a significant 
proportion of the Company’s activities in 2013.

III. Research and development

1. Retail clients 

In 2013, product policy in the retail clients business 
continued to focus on investors’ need for security and 
on the following four core investment issues: optimiz-
ing assets (PrivatFonds products), providing for old 
age (UniProfiRente, UniProfiRente Select), investing 
(real estate funds, capital preservation funds), and 
saving (traditional savings plans). 

Optimizing assets

PrivatFonds products
The PrivatFonds range continued to generate a steady 
stream of inflows, with inflows over the whole of 2013 
amounting to €2.2 billion. The greatest net inflows 
were generated by PrivatFonds: Kontrolliert (€1.4 bil-
lion) and PrivatFonds: Konsequent pro (€611.4 mil-
lion). As at December 31, 2013, the total fund value 
for PrivatFonds products amounted to €4.2 billion.
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Providing for old age

Pensions
Government-subsidized (‘Riester’) pension plan 
products remain the key component of private pension 
provision in Germany. Based on the UniProfiRente 
products, Union Investment continued to dominate 
the market for Riester-subsidized fund-linked savings 
plans in 2013 with a market share of 61 percent (as 
at September 30, 2013) and was also able to defend 
its position as the market leader over the whole of 
the Riester product market by offering solutions based 
on insurance, home savings, funds, and banking. To 
target further potential clients in the Riester business, 
Union Investment had launched a second Riester 
product, UniProfiRente Select, in the fourth quarter of 
2012. This product, which complements the existing 
UniProfiRente/4P product, is mainly aimed at older 
clients, those with a low-risk investment focus, high-
net-worth individuals, and clients who are switching 
provider. By December 31, 2013, around 16,000 
UniProfiRente Select contracts had been signed. 
Union Investment managed approximately 1.8 mil-
lion UniProfiRente contracts at the end of December 
2013. The total assets under management in Riester 
pension plan products amounted to €9.6 billion as at 
December 31, 2013.

Investing

Capital preservation funds
Given that the sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone 
remained unresolved, investors continued to be 
highly risk averse. This was illustrated once again by 
the demand for types of investment based on capital 
preservation. Product design continued to reflect the 
persistently tough market conditions caused by low 
interest rates. The combination of readily marketable 
investment themes such as global or emerging mar-
kets equities, commodities, and innovative concepts 
(such as guarantee funds covering a number of asset 
classes) once again proved to be ideally suited to 
investors’ needs. The seven new guarantee funds in 
2013 generated a cumulative volume of around €767 
million on launch. Union Investment remained the 
market leader in capital preservation funds with total 
mutual fund assets of €15.5 billion under manage-
ment as at November 2013. 

Open-ended real estate funds
In the case of open-ended real estate funds, one of the 
main features of the year under review was the impact 
from regulatory intervention. As at December 31, 
2013, net inflows of €2.3 billion had been generated 
for the three real-estate mutual funds, fueled by early 
knowledge of the new regulations. The high level of 
inflows meant that active management of the inflows 

was necessary for the UniImmo: Deutschland fund. 
The issue of units in this fund was suspended for the 
period June 6, 2013 to December 16, 2013. After the 
KAGB came into force, the UniImmo: Europa fund con-
tinued to attract daily gross inflows of several million. 
This underlines the sustained appeal of open-ended 
real estate funds, even under the KAGB provisions.

Saving

Fund-linked savings plans performed well from the 
start of the year, generating net inflows of €1.1 bil-
lion. Union Investment also believes that there will be 
significant potential inflows from these plans over the 
next few years.

Product range in general

Over the course of the year, there was strong demand 
for the fixed-term bond fund UniEuroRenta Corporates 
Deutschland 2019 A / -net- A launched during the 
spring of 2013. The issue of units in this fund was 
suspended on November 22, 2013 to prevent the 
dilution of returns caused by the high level of inflows 
and protect the existing investors in the fund. The fund 
value amounted to €490.4 million as at December 
31, 2013. On June 5, 2013, the GenoEuroClassic and 
GenoEuroClassic II funds were merged to create a new 
fund, UniRak Konservativ A including a ‘net’ variant. 
The range of products was also enhanced on October 
1, 2013 with the addition of a fixed-income fund, 
UniEuroAnleihen, in which the investment strategy fo-
cuses on euro-denominated bonds from issuers world-
wide. Union Investment streamlined its range of funds 
during the first half of 2013, involving changes to 19 
funds. The funds concerned, which were identified in a 
review of the product range, were either wound up or 
merged with UniGlobal II on June 28, 2013.

Union Investment attaches great importance to 
maintaining its existing products as well as to carrying 
out regular adjustments to its product range. Against 
a background of legislative changes, the Retail Client 
segment endeavors to offer funds and solutions that 
are in line with the latest market developments and 
that make the most of all available opportunities to 
generate significant value added.

pro:fund

The European sovereign debt crisis, which in essence 
still remained unresolved, the fiscal debate in the US, 
and the early switch in US monetary policy signaled in 
the middle of the year were the cause of some anxiety 
in the markets in 2013. Union Investment issued 
numerous publications through its pro:fund informa-
tion system to actively help securities coordinators 
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and specialists in the local cooperative banks prepare 
sound arguments, enabling them to discuss the issues 
involved with colleagues and clients. Another high-
profile issue in pro:fund over the course of the year 
was the topic of investment opportunities in periods 
of low interest rates – a problem that we are likely to 
be facing for some time yet. The significant demand 
from these advisors for information is reflected in the 
number of pro:fund users, which has remained at a 
high level.

2. Institutional investors

The Institutional Clients segment of Union Investment 
enjoyed a highly successful year in 2013. Its net in-
flows (including advisory and institutional asset man-
agement mandates) came to €6.4 billion (compared 
with €8.8 billion in 2012). It won a total of 40 new 
clients during the reporting year, 37 of which came 
from outside the cooperative sector. The net inflows 
generated by new clients amounted to €2.2 billion. 

Given the significant reduction in risk budgets, the 
risk-controlled achievement of the minimum required 
rates of return in a fundamentally transformed 
investment environment constituted the key chal-
lenge for institutional investors. This had an impact 
on asset allocation. Pfandbriefe, covered bonds, and 
corporate bonds were the main securities in demand 
as an alternative to government bonds, which previ-
ously dominated the market. In addition, institutional 
investors increasingly turned to real estate. They also 
became bolder about alternative investments, with a 
particular focus on infrastructure investments in the 
area of renewable energies.

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt am 
Main, (Quoniam), which is a member of the Union 
Investment Group, delivered an impressive performance 
in Germany and other European countries in 2013. Its 
customer base was strengthened by seven new clients 
and additional assets under management totaling €555 
million. Quoniam operates as a specialist in quantitative 
investment strategies across all asset classes. It currently 
manages assets of €18.9 billion in 120 institutional 
portfolios. As a leading provider of quantitative asset 
management in Germany, it is the country’s most suc-
cessful firm to be set up in this market segment over the 
past fifteen years.

Union Investment TFI S.A., Warsaw, which also forms 
part of the Union Investment Group, enjoyed a good 
year in 2013 overall. The company is the eleventh 
largest fund management company in Poland with a 
market share (based on assets under management) of 
3.8 percent.

BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong 
Kong, the joint venture set up together with Hong 
Kong-based The Bank of East Asia Limited, generated 
net inflows (excluding Fund-Fund) of more than  
€75.6 million and thus remained on track for success. 
Assets under management rose by 8.1 percent.

3. Outlook for 2014

Retail clients

Marketing priorities in 2014 will be derived from 
the four core investment issues of optimizing assets 
(PrivatFonds products), providing for old age (Riester 
pension plan products), investing (capital preserva-
tion funds, fixed-term bond funds, real estate funds), 
and saving (traditional fund-linked savings plans). The 
pro:fund information system will support these activi-
ties with capital market data. Given that investors will 
continue to favor lower-risk investment strategies, new 
product launches will mainly involve capital preserva-
tion funds and fixed-term bond funds. Our current 
planning assumptions anticipate that there will be four 
tranches, each with two funds. The beginning of the 
year will also see the launch of the fixed-term bond 
fund UniEuroRenta Unternehmensanleihen 2020, 
including a net variant of the fund. The Retail Clients 
segment runs an innovation process known as ‘ideas 
screening’ once a year. The workshops held as part of 
this process present new product ideas, and the best 
are selected for launching on the market. These will be 
added to the product launch schedule for 2014.

Institutional clients

Investment conditions in 2014 will continue to be 
dominated by low interest rates, low risk budgets 
on the part of institutional investors, and increasing 
regulatory pressure. Active management of opportuni-
ties will therefore be a critical component of portfolio 
management. This will require diversification across 
the widest possible range of asset classes, regions, 
and sectors. Union Investment supports institutional 
investors by providing them with exactly the solutions 
they need in the present capital markets environment. 
In particular, it offers appropriate solutions to support 
prudent, risk-adjusted investment in equities markets. 
Union Investment will continue to consolidate its role 
as a leading provider of sustainable products in 2014.

One of the basic principles of a state-of-the-art 
risk management system is that it should include a 
rigorous process for permanent critical scrutiny of 
risk models. To this end, Union Investment seeks to 
share information with academic researchers and, as 
a platform for this dialog, will be organizing its ninth 
risk management conference in November.
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IV.  Report by the Board of Managing 
Directors on related parties

With regard to the legal transactions and measures 
listed in the report on relationships with affiliated 
companies, the Company received appropriate 
consideration in respect of each legal transaction 
based on the circumstances of which the Board of 
Managing Directors was aware at the time the legal 
transaction was carried out or the measure was 

taken. The Company was not disadvantaged as  
a result of measures being taken.

The Company has not, at the instigation or in the 
interests of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genos-
senschaftsbank (DZ BANK AG), Frankfurt am Main, or 
one of its affiliated companies, neglected to carry out 
any measure that could have been beneficial to the 
Company based on the circumstances known to the 
Board of Managing Directors at the time.

2013 2012 Change

€ million € million € million

Interest

Interest income from loans, money market business, and fixed-income 
securities

0.6 1.2 -0.6

Current income from variable-yield securities 13.1 16.9 -3.8

Interest expenses 3.1 2.3 0.8

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans  
and receivables

10.6 15.8 -5.2

Fees and commissions

Fee and commission income 1,454.1 1,270.7 183.4

Fee and commission expenses 502.9 406.8 96.1

Net fee and commission income 951.3 864.0 87.3

Gains and losses on investments -0.8 0.0 -0.8

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 7.6 16.5 -8.9

Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method -4.7 -0.8 -3.9

Administrative expenses

Staff expenses 289.7 284.1 5.6

Other administrative expenses 276.1 281.8 -5.7

Depreciation and amortization expense 18.2 14.6 3.6

Administrative expenses 584.1 580.5 3.6

Other net operating income/expense 18.9 -8.4 27.3

Profit before taxes 398.8 306.6 92.2

Income taxes 114.4 85.9 28.5

Net profit 284.3 220.6 63.7

Attributable to:

 Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 280.4 217.7 62.7

 Non-controlling interests 3.9 2.9 1.0

2013 2012 Change

Assets under management, y/e volume (€ billion) 206.2 190.5 15.7

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 59.4% 65.4% -6.0%

V. Position of the Group 

1.  Financial performance 

Net interest income after allowances for losses on 
loans and receivables amounted to €10.6 million 

in the year under review, down by €5.2 million year 
on year. This decrease was largely attributable to the 
income from long-term equity investments at Union 
Investment Real Estate GmbH derived from its French 
subsidiary Union Investment Real Estate France S.A.S. 
This investment income had been somewhat higher in 
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2012 and returned to an average level again in 2013. 

2013 2012 Change

€ million € million € million

Fee and commission income 1,454.1 1,270.7 183.4

from sales commissions 29.3 32.3 -3.0

from management fees 1,231.5 1,061.4 170.1

 from securities funds 1,033.0 907.8 125.2

 of which: performance fees 88.1 65.6 22.5

 from real estate funds 198.5 153.6 44.9

from securities custody accounts 40.0 35.9 4.1

Other 153.3 141.2 12.1

Fee and commission expenses 502.9 406.8 96.1

for volume-based commissions 393.2 334.7 58.5

Other 109.6 72.1 37.5

Net fee and commission income 951.3 864.0 87.3

The detailed breakdown of net fee and commission 
income was as follows:
The key drivers of the net fee and commission income 
are the assets under management in each financial 
year. Growth in assets under management is mainly a 
function of net new business and the performance of 
the capital markets.

As at December 31, 2013, assets under manage-
ment had risen by €15.6 billion over the year under 
review to €206.2 billion. This increase was the result 
of a positive contribution from net new business and 
the excellent performance of the capital markets. The 
level of assets under management at the end of 2013 
stood at a record high for Union Investment.

The volume of assets under management determines 
some three quarters of the net fee and commission 
income, specifically the income from management 
fees (excluding performance fees) and expenses for 
volume-related fees and commissions (comprising trail 
commission, sales commission, and other fees and com-
missions). In 2013, the rise in net fee and commission 
income was somewhat sharper than that in the average 
volume of assets under management (up by approxi-
mately 10 percent). The rise in the average volume of 
real estate fund assets (approximately 12 percent) and 
the resulting income was in excess of the increase in the 
average volume of securities fund assets (approximately 
9 percent). The reason behind the disproportionate 
increase in the volume-related net fee and commission 
income was an increase in the proportion of higher-
margin products in the securities fund assets and a 
rise in the management fees for two of the real estate 
funds. In 2013, Union Investment also generated perfor-
mance fees of around €88 million, up by some €23 
million compared with 2012. 

The sales commission income represents the proportion 
of the front-end fee that remains with Union Invest-
ment. In the year under review, gross inflows for funds 
with a front-end fee declined year on year and thus 
led to a decrease in this income item compared with 
2012. An adjustment to the fee and commission model 
for Union Investment sales partners resulted in some 
structural changes within the net fee and commission 
income: on the one hand, higher income from the safe 
custody of securities (custody account fees), on the 
other hand, higher fee and commission expenses (per-
formance bonus). In addition, there was a rise in other 
fee and commission expenses and in other fee and com-
mission income as a consequence of the greater volume 
of transactions in the fund brokerage business involving 
third-party funds. This volume does not form part of the 
assets under management. 

Gains and losses on investments in 2013 included the 
adverse impact from an impairment loss related to the 
subsidiary Union Investment Real Estate France S.A.S. 

Other gains and losses on the valuation of financial 
instruments amounted to gains of €7.6 million in 
2013 compared with gains of €16.5 million in 2012. 
The significant fall in the gains was mainly attributable 
to the substantially lower performance contribution 
year on year from the fixed-income funds held as 
part of own-account investing activities. Moreover, 
the excellent performance of equity markets in 2013 
was only partially reflected in the gains and losses 
on the valuation of financial instruments because the 
cover assets (mostly comprising equity funds) for the 
DynaCom pension benefit obligations were transferred 
to a trustee and the associated contributions to earn-
ings recognized in other comprehensive income from 
September 1, 2013. 
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Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the 
equity method amounted to a loss of €4.7 million, 
a marked deterioration compared with 2012. This line 
item reflects the Union Investment Group’s share of 
the profit or loss in R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesell-
schaft, Wiesbaden, compertis Beratungsgesellschaft für 
betrieb liches Vorsorgemanagement mbH, Wiesbaden, 
BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong 
Kong, and Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt am Main. The year-
on-year deterioration was mainly accounted for by a 
higher impairment loss on assets at Nalinus GmbH. 

Administrative expenses amounted to €584.1 million 
in 2013, a slight year-on-year increase of €3.6 million 
(2012: €580.5 million):

Staff expenses went up by 2 percent in the year under 
review. The higher staff expenses mainly arose from 
average salary increases, adjustments to variable 
remuneration components, and from recruitment in 
2012/2013. The expenses in connection with the 
partial retirement scheme and retirement pensions (in 
accordance with actuarial reports) declined year on 
year.

Other administrative expenses fell by €5.7 million 

from €281.8 million in 2012 to €276.1 million in the 
year under review.

The principal reason behind this contraction in other 
administrative expenses was a lower B2C marketing 
expense under public relations/marketing. In addition, 
lower project portfolio expenses and lower payments 
for general consulting services led to a lower consul-
tancy expense. However, property and occupancy costs 
rose as a result of one-off relocation expenses and 
capital investment in existing buildings. IT, office, and 
sundry expenses remained roughly at the same level 
as in 2012.

The depreciation and amortization expense rose by 
€3.6 million from €14.6 million in 2012 to €18.2 mil-
lion in the year under review. This was largely attribut-
able to increased capitalization of internally generated 
software. 

Other net operating income increased by €27.3 
million year on year to €18.9 million in the reporting 
period. The extraordinary expenses that had arisen in 
2012 – the recognition of provisions for a restructur-
ing project and for general external tax audit risks 
– were not incurred again in 2013.

Based on an average Group tax rate of 30.91 per-
cent, the effective tax rate in the UMH Group was 
calculated at 28.69 percent (2012: 28.03 percent). 
The income tax expense went up by €28.5 million 
year on year to €114.4 million in 2013 and con-
sisted of a current tax expense of €110.6 million 
(2012: €88.3 million) and a deferred tax expense 
of €3.8 million (2012: deferred tax income of €2.4 
million). The increase in the current tax expense 
was explained by the higher profit before taxes. The 
increase in the deferred tax expense was largely the 
result of higher deferred tax liabilities in connection 
with investments.

Overall, the performance described above led to a 
significant year-on-year rise of €63.7 million in net 
profit to €284.3 million (2012: €220.6 million), 
the highest level of net profit ever achieved by the 
Company over an equivalent period. 

The very low cost/income ratio of 59.4 percent is 
testimony to the efficient use of resources in the Union 
Investment Group. The cost/income ratio is the ratio 
of administrative expenses to the total of all other 
components of income before tax. The ratio for 2013 
represented an improvement of 6.0 percentage points 
compared with the equivalent ratio for 2012.

Comparison with the profit originally forecast 
for 2013

The original net profit forecasts for 2013 were also 
well exceeded. The main reason was that the growth 
in assets under management was greater than 
predicted as a consequence of the substantial upturn 
in capital market performance and a slight increase in 
net new business. Income from performance fees also 
exceeded budgets and these factors together pushed 
up net fee and commission income significantly. Ad-
ministrative expenses during the course of 2013 came 
in marginally below the original planning figures. The 
aggregate effect was a considerable improvement in 
net profit compared with original budgets.

2013 2012 Change

€ million € million € million

IT expenses 69.3 69.0 0.3

Public relations/marketing 50.8 57.2 -6.4

Office expenses 36.0 35.3 0.7

Consultancy 31.9 34.5 -2.6

Property and occupancy costs 30.6 28.4 2.2

Other 57.4 57.5 -0.1

Other administrative expenses 276.1 281.8 -5.7
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Dividend

As in previous years, a very substantial proportion of 
the earnings generated by UMH AG will be distrib-
uted to its shareholders. The payment of a dividend 
of €7.06 per share (dividend for 2012 paid in 2013: 
€5.17 per share) will be proposed to the Annual 
General Meeting to be held on May 12, 2014. This 
would equate to a total dividend payment of €205.0 
million (2012: €150.2 million). The Supervisory Board 
of UMH AG approved the proposed appropriation of 
profit at its meeting held on March 4, 2014.

2. Financial position and liquidity

2.1 Financial position

Principles and objectives of financial  
management

All cash and cash equivalents available in the 
Group’s own bank accounts and investment accounts 
are termed ‘financial resources’. We pursue a conser-
vative investment strategy.

Cash flows are continuously analyzed and monitored 
as part of a rolling liquidity planning process so that 
prompt action can be taken to counter any liquidity 
problems that may be identified. Liquidity management 
begins with the management of cash flows from the 
Group’s operating business. This is supported by tactical 
liquidity management, which focuses specifically on 
the selection of investment alternatives. Stress tests 
are regularly carried out as a further element in the 
strategy in order to assess the impact of changes in 
interest rates on the Group’s cash positions.

Financial resources are classified in various categories 
according to the following criteria.

Short-term investments for liquidity management 
purposes (‘liquidity’): If financial resources are 
expected to be invested for less than three years, they 
are allocated to the ‘liquidity’ category. Investments for 
liquidity management purposes include cash accounts, 
time deposits, money market and money-market-linked 
funds, and fixed-income funds. 

Initial funding (‘funding’): Investment funds are 
initially funded on the basis of each fund profile with 
funds transferred from the issuing company’s short-
term investments used for liquidity management. 
Initial funding is repaid as soon as possible to the 
short-term investments used for liquidity management. 
In addition, temporary investments in funds used to 
protect the liquidity of these funds are allocated to the 
‘funding’ category.

Investment in pension plans and employee retention 
programs (‘employee investments’): All cash invested 
by employees of the Union Investment Group as part 
of pension plans and employee retention programs is 
allocated to this investment category. 

Longer-term capital investments (‘strategic invest-
ments’): Strategic investments are investments in 
funds or securities that are selected on the basis of 
risk/reward criteria and are expected to be held for at 
least three years as part of long-term liquidity plan-
ning. The expected term of the investment is deter-
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mined before the Group enters into the transaction 
concerned.

The four categories of financial resources are subject 
to constant risk monitoring and are broken down as 
follows:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€ million Percent € million Percent € million

Strategic investments 389.3 44.8 231.5 38.1 157.8

of which fixed-income funds 274.5 31.6 196.0 32.2 78.5

of which equity funds 75.5 8.7 6.7 1.1 68.8

of which mixed funds 16.7 1.9 13.8 2.3 2.9

of which real estate funds 8.8 1.0 6.2 1.0 2.6

of which money market funds 7.5 0.9 8.8 1.4 -1.3

of which other funds 6.3 0.7 0.0 0.0 6.3

liquidity 361.4 41.6 183.0 30.1 178.4

of which fixed-income funds 305.1 35.1 155.4 25.6 149.7

of which money market funds 56.3 6.5 26.6 4.4 29.7

of which mixed funds 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.2 -1.0

Funding 109.1 12.5 134.0 22.0 -24.9

of which real estate funds 58.2 6.7 58.5 9.6 -0.3

of which fixed-income funds 36.0 4.1 35.5 5.8 0.5

of which funds of funds 9.2 1.1 9.0 1.5 0.2

of which equity funds 2.7 0.3 4.9 0.8 -2.2

of which money market funds 2.1 0.2 2.1 0.3 0.0

of which mixed funds 0.8 0.1 13.9 2.3 -13.1

of which other funds 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

of which infrastructure funds 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

of which commodities funds 0.0 0.0 10.1 1.7 -10.1

employee investments 9.7 1.1 59.5 9.8 -49.8

of which fixed-income funds 9.2 1.1 10.1 1.7 -0.9

of which funds of funds 0.5 0.1 1.1 0.2 -0.6

of which equity funds 0.0 0.0 47.5 7.8 -47.5

of which real estate funds 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.1 -0.8

total securities 869.5 100.0 608.0 100.0 261.5

of which fixed-income funds 624.8 71.9 397.0 65.3 227.8

of which equity funds 78.2 9.0 59.1 9.7 19.1

of which real estate funds 67.0 7.7 65.5 10.8 1.5

of which money market funds 65.9 7.6 37.5 6.1 28.4

of which mixed funds 17.5 2.0 28.7 4.7 -11.2

of which funds of funds 9.7 1.1 10.1 1.7 -0.4

of which other funds 6.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 6.4

of which commodities funds 0.0 0.0 10.1 1.7 -10.1

of which infrastructure funds 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€ million Percent € million Percent € million

Securities 869.5 75.6 608.0 58.6 261.5

Bank balances 281.1 24.4 429.9 41.4 -148.8

total balance of cash and cash equivalents 1,150.6 100.0 1,037.9 100.0 112.7

‘Funding’ includes an amount of €50.0 million  
(December 31, 2012: €50 million) related to  
investments in funds to protect fund liquidity.

The table below shows the total balance of cash and 
cash equivalents.
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2.2  liquidity 

Liquidity is constantly monitored to ensure that the 
companies in the Union Investment Group can meet 
their payment obligations at all times. Liquidity plan-
ning in the individual companies is used as the basis 
for monitoring the short-and medium-term liquidity 
situation and for managing liquidity. The objective 
of liquidity planning is to forecast liquidity trends, 
determine liquidity and capital needs, and manage 
the liquidity situation accordingly. This liquidity plan-
ning process is supported by IT systems (SAPBusi-
ness Warehouse). It has a monthly rolling structure 
covering a planning period of 15 months based on the 
latest profit budget accounts (budgets and projec-
tions) and incorporates the actual figures from the 
previous months in the current financial year as well 
as the liquidity (balances in the liquidity and strategic 
investments categories) available on the last account-
ing day of the month prior to the start of the planning 
period in question. The liquidity planning structure 
corresponds to the account-based breakdown of the 
balance sheet and income statement in accordance 
with the requirements of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB). The forecast changes in liquidity are 
derived from the planned cash inflows and outflows 
associated with the budgeted income and expenses 
and from changes in balance sheet items that impact 
liquidity. At an operational level, all transactions on 
bank accounts are managed on a day-by-day basis 
and subsequently checked. 

As at the reporting date, the equity ratio for the Group 
was 55.7 percent. The current liabilities and provisions, 
i.e. due within one year, were covered in full by bank 
balances, loans and receivables with short residual 
maturities, and securities that could be liquidated at 
short notice.

DZ BANK AG has provided UMH AG with a credit line 
of €850 million, which was granted under a frame-
work loan agreement and is available until further 
notice. This credit line has been provided to facilitate 
funding should UMH AG need to purchase fund units. 
The current credit line has not been fully utilized.

Taking into account the balance of financial resourc-
es available on the reporting date and the changes 
in liquidity forecast by the monthly rolling 15-month 
liquidity planning process, and assuming that the 
business performs as planned, all the companies in 
the Union Investment Group will be in a position 
at all times to meet the financial obligations due in 
the analysis period from the available cash and cash 
equivalents.
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3. Net assets

3.1 Net assets

The following table shows a summary of the individual 
items on the consolidated balance sheet by financial 
category:

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€ million Percent € million Percent € million

Loans to and receivables from

banks 320.4 20.7 482.8 33.5 -162.4

customers 48.1 3.1 57.0 4.0 -8.9

Investments 869.3 56.3 589.9 41.0 279.4

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method 57.1 3.7 63.7 4.4 -6.6

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 115.0 7.4 108.6 7.5 6.4

Income tax assets 19.9 1.3 28.8 2.0 -8.9

Residual assets 109.6 7.1 84.1 5.8 25.5

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 6.3 0.4 25.0 1.8 -18.7

total assets 1,545.7 100.0 1,439.9 100.0 105.8

liabilities and equity Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€ million Percent € million Percent € million

Liabilities to 

banks 16.6 1.1 22.9 1.6 -6.3

customers 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0

Provisions 109.9 7.1 179.6 12.5 -69.7

Income tax liabilities 67.7 4.4 64.8 4.5 2.9

Residual liabilities 490.0 31.7 445.7 30.9 44.3

Equity 861.4 55.7 726.8 50.5 134.6

total liabilities and equity 1,545.7 100.0 1,439.9 100.0 105.8

Total assets increased slightly year on year to 
€1,545.7 million. In accordance with the standards 
for the presentation of balance sheet information in 
the financial services sector, the volumes of the Union 
Investment Group’s investment funds and assets in 
other types of asset management format are not 
reported on the balance sheet. 

Investments amounting to €869.3 million (December 
31, 2012: €589.9 million) represented a major item 
on the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet 
as at December 31, 2013. Investments consist almost 
exclusively of investments in investment funds man-
aged by asset management companies in the Union 
Investment Group. The function and breakdown of 
these investments is explained in the ‘Financial posi-
tion’ section. Investments grew from €589.9 million 
as at December 31, 2012 to €869.3 million as at the 
reporting date, a year-on-year increase of €279.4 mil-
lion. However, loans to and receivables from banks 
declined by €162.4 million from €482.8 million at the 
end of 2012 to €320.4 million as at December 31, 
2013. This change was mainly attributable to a timing 

issue in that some financial resources that had been 
deposited in bank accounts as at December 31, 2012 
were committed to investments in the year under 
review.

Of the total decrease in the carrying amount of shares 
in companies accounted for using the equity method, 
€7.1 million was accounted for by Nalinus GmbH, 
Frankfurt am Main, and €0.6 million by BEA Union 
Investment Ltd., Hong Kong. The carrying amounts of 
shares in other companies accounted for using the 
equity method increased. In the year under review, 
VR Consulting Partner GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, was 
recognized for the first time with a carrying amount of 
€1.0 million.

Additions to property, plant and equipment 
amounted to €2.0 million, while the depreciation ex-
pense came to €3.2 million. Taking into account other 
changes, the net carrying amount fell by €1.2 million 
from €50.8 million at the end of 2012 to €49.6 mil-
lion as at December 31, 2013. 
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Additions to intangible assets amounted to 
€22.7 million in the year under review; some of this 
amount was offset by an amortization expense of 
€15.1 million. Taking into account other changes, the 

net carrying amount increased by €7.5 million from 
€57.8 million at the end of 2012 to €65.4 million as 
at December 31, 2013.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€ million € million € million

Provisions for employee benefits 95.6 161.2 -65.6

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 61.0 118.5 -57.5

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 28.2 31.1 -2.9

Provisions for termination benefits 6.4 11.6 -5.2

Other provisions 14.3 18.4 -4.1

Provisions 109.9 179.6 -69.7

Other assets included receivables of €75.2 million due 
from fund assets (December 31, 2012: €60.1 million). 
This amount primarily comprised unbilled management 
fee receivables for the month of December.  
The drop in liabilities to banks of €6.3 million from 
€22.9 million to €16.6 million was largely attributable 
to lower fee and commission liabilities in connection 
with fund unit trading.

The year-on-year decline of €69.7 million in provi-
sions from €179.6 million to €109.9 million largely 
reflected the addition to plan assets carried out in 
September 2013 in connection with the funding of 
remaining defined benefit obligations. Investment fund 
units amounting to €58.4 million previously reported 
under investments were transferred to a trust-based 
solution resulting in lower provisions for defined 
benefit obligations. Provisions for employee termina-
tion benefits decreased by €5.2 million from €11.6 
million to €6.4 million, provisions for other long-term 
employee benefits by €2.9 million from €31.1 million 
to €28.2 million, and other provisions by €4.1 million 
from €18.4 million to €14.3 million.

Equity grew from €726.8 million at the end of 2012 
to €861.4 million as at the reporting date, a year-
on-year increase of €134.6 million. Of this increase, 
€63.7 million was attributable to the higher net profit, 
and €67.5 million to retained profits. The profits were 
retained by a number of companies in the Union 
Investment Group in response to regulatory require-
ments. The equity ratio was 55.7 percent, up by 
5.2 percentage points compared with the 2012 ratio of 
50.5 percent.

3.2 Non-financial performance indicators

employees

The Union Investment Group’s workforce is critical to its 
performance, future profitability, and competitiveness. 

The Union Investment Group pursues an innovative, 
needs-oriented professional development strategy 
in order to provide the best possible framework in 
which it can nurture the capabilities and commitment 
of its employees in line with their responsibilities and 
potential. Some €2.1 million (2012: €2.1 million) 
was invested in professional development activities in 
total in 2013. Target-driven people management and 
the use of performance-related remuneration help to 
ensure that employees at all levels learn to think and 
act from a business perspective. Employee motivation 
and commitment to this target-based approach are 
also encouraged by variable remuneration components 
based on individual performance targets. As at Decem-
ber 31, 2013, UMH AG had 240 employees (December 
31, 2012: 229 employees) with an average age of 41.3 
(December 31, 2012: 40.8) and an average period of 
service of 9.4 years (December 31, 2012: 8.9 years). 
At the end of 2013, the Union Investment Group 
employed 2,459 people (December 31, 2012: 2,450). 
Across the Group, the average age of employees was 
40.9 (December 31, 2012: 40.3) and the average 
period of service 9.5 years (December 31, 2012: 9.0 
years).   range of efficiency enhancement measures 
was initiated in 2012 as part of the UI 2.0 project in 
order to safeguard the future viability of the Union 
Investment Group over the long term. These mea-
sures will lead to a number of changes within UMH 
AG, including job losses to be implemented by 2015, 
restructuring, and redeployment.

Brand performance

The Union Investment brand is systematically managed 
as a corporate brand. This efficient brand architecture 
approach, which is increasingly favored by financial 
service providers, requires holistic strategic brand man-
agement from a holding company perspective.

In 2013, as part of its strategic brand management 
activities, UMH started to record brand strength index 
data for all target groups relevant to the brand. This 
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index is determined from well-established brand 
management parameters and is expressed as a value 
between 0 and 100. The latest brand strength index 
values for Union Investment are as follows: 93 for 
retail client bank advisors, 79 for institutional inves-
tors, 78 for partners in the real estate business, 68 for 
retail investors, and 67 for tenants in properties held 
by Union Investment Real Estate (UIR/UII). Given the 
varying relevance of the brand in the decision-making 
process within the different target groups, the values 
for all the target groups are seen as positive from a 
brand management perspective. The brand strength 
index data will be collected annually and it will be 
possible to draw up an analysis of the changes in the 
index over time from 2014 onward.

In a comparison with the performance of competitor 
brands, the picture established over the last few years 
has remained largely unchanged and Union Invest-
ment has remained well ahead of most of its competi-
tors in terms of the strength of its brand. This brand 
therefore constitutes a valuable asset for the Union 
Investment Group over the long term. We predict that 
the brand parameter values will remain steady in 2014 
with just a few small deviations from the actual values 
achieved in 2013.

Client satisfaction

The entities in the Union Investment Group carry out 
regular satisfaction surveys, either once a year (for 
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH (UIP) investors 
and brokers, UIR/UII tenants) or every two years (for 
Union Investment Institutional GmbH (UIN) investors). 
In 2013, the available satisfaction scores showed an 
improvement for all client groups compared with the 
previous survey: On a scale of 1 = exceptionally happy 
to 5 = unhappy, the 2013 score for bank executives 
was 2.0 (2012: 2.2), and for bank advisors 1.9 (2012: 
2.2). In the case of investors who hold their invest-
ment fund units in UnionDepot investment accounts, 
the average satisfaction score was 2.4, whereas the 
average score for this client group in 2012 had been 
2.6. The satisfaction rating for institutional investors 
was 1.8 (2011: 2.1). Tenants in German properties 
held by UIR/UII delivered an average satisfaction rat-
ing of 2.3 in 2013 compared with 2.5 in the previous 
year. There is expected to be a slight downward trend 
in client satisfaction in 2014. This prediction is based 
firstly on the assumption that investors quickly be-
come accustomed to the level of service offered, and 
simply maintaining this level of service is no longer 
adequate to achieve the same satisfaction scores. 
Secondly, once high satisfaction scores have been 
achieved, it tends to become more difficult to raise 
the level of service still further. Moreover, satisfaction 
scores are also dependent on the performance of capi-

tal markets. Given that this performance can only be 
predicted to a limited extent, any forecast of satisfac-
tion scores must factor in some potential for a reverse.

employee volunteering through the  
mitMenschen initiative

Socially responsible volunteering by employees forms 
part of the Union Investment Group’s sustainability 
strategy. The mitMenschen initiative was launched 
in the 2006 anniversary year, driven by a desire to 
give something back to the community. In the past, 
Corporate Communications planned solely centrally 
organized activities and only for specified project 
Saturdays but, since a redesign of the initiative in  
November 2012, employees have been able to 
organize and manage their own activities. To this end, 
Union Investment maintains a database of socially 
responsible activities on its intranet and employees 
are able to add their own activities or register for 
proposed projects.

This new, more flexible approach to the initiative 
offers employees greater opportunities for volunteer-
ing – all year round, and flexible in terms of location 
and time. The fact that projects can also be carried out 
in leisure time during the week facilitates long-term 
commitments such as mentoring.

Eleven projects were submitted through the socially 
responsible activities database in 2013. A total of 155 
employees from all levels voluntarily gave around 767 
hours of their leisure time at the Frankfurt, Ham-
burg, and Luxembourg sites for the benefit of seven 
organizations. This work helped socially disadvantaged 
children, young people, and adults and people with 
disabilities. We expect the redesigned initiative to 
become better established over the coming year with 
more projects being submitted. Union Investment is 
also planning to redesign its approach to corporate 
social responsibility with the aim of supporting not-
for-profit organizations by offering pro bono work.
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3.3 Statement of cash flows

The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to deter-
mine and present the cash flows generated or used by 
the Union Investment Group in its operating activities, 
investing activities, and financing activities in the year 
under review. 

A statement of cash flows is not particularly mean-
ingful as far as investment companies are concerned. 
The Union Investment Group’s statement of cash 
flows does not replace financial or liquidity planning, 
nor is it used as a management tool.

 Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement 
equate to the cash and cash equivalents balance sheet 
item, which comprises cash on hand and balances 
held with central banks, together with debt instru-
ments from public-sector entities and bills of exchange 
eligible as collateral for central bank funding if the 
residual maturity is less than three months and the 
amounts concerned are deemed to be the retention 
of liquidity. Receivables from banks that are repayable 
on demand are not included; these items are classified 
under operating activities.

The cash flows from operating activities were 
determined using the indirect method and provide 
information on the cash flows from the results of the 
main activities recognized in the income statement 
and from changes in balance sheet items from the 
Union Investment Group’s business activities that are 
not attributable to investing or financing activities. 
These cash flows demonstrate the Union Investment 
Group’s ability to generate cash from its operating 
activities and from its own resources in order to meet 
its obligations, maintain its operations, pay dividends, 
and support capital expenditure without having to 
resort to external sources of funding.

The main features of the cash flows from investing 
activities in the year under review were proceeds of 
€417.9 million from the disposal of investments and 
payments of €676.3 million to acquire investments.  
In addition, cash payments of €22.7 million were 
made in relation to software projects, €2.0 million in 
relation to capital expenditure on other property,  
plant and equipment, and €1.0 million in connection 
with the acquisition of shares in the joint venture  
VR Consulting Partner GmbH. 

In accordance with the definition in IAS 7.17, cash 
flows from financing activities comprised cash flows 
arising from transactions with equity holders and 
other shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries, from 
other capital, and from the drawdown and repayment 
of loans and other borrowings. The cash flows from 
financing activities were primarily accounted for by 
the payment by UMH AG of the dividend for 2012 
amounting to €150.2 million and the payment of divi-
dends from subsidiaries of UMH AG to non-controlling 
interests amounting to €2.9 million.

C events after the balance sheet  
 date 

There were no events of particular significance after 
the end of the financial year.

Statement of cash flows 2013 2012

€ million € million

Cash flows from operating 
activities

437.2 1.7

Cash flows from investing 
activities

-284.0 164.2

Cash flows from financing 
activities

-153.3 -165.9

= Net change in cash and cash 
equivalents 

-0.1 0.0

+ Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the year

0.1 0.1

= Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the year

0.0 0.1
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D  Outlook, opportunity, and
 risk report

I. Opportunity report

Union Investment pursues a value-driven business 
policy focused on generating a steady increase in 
enterprise value with due regard to the balance 
between risk and return. It strives to achieve its objec-
tives through long-term, profitable growth. Union 
Investment aims to increase client wealth and win 
client trust. It therefore addresses the key challenges 
presented by the capital markets and develops needs-
based investment solutions. At Union Asset Manage-
ment Holding AG, the performance of the corporate 
group is reflected particularly in the current net 
income from long-term equity investments, although 
a distinction needs to be made between the transfer 
of profit or loss and income from long-term equity 
investments. In the case of profit or loss transfers, the 
profit or loss generated by the subsidiary is transferred 
directly to Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
whereas income from long-term equity investments is 
derived from the payment of a dividend by the subsid-
iary to Union Asset Management Holding AG and the 
amount of any dividend may be different from the net 
profit generated for the year.

In this regard, Union Investment believes it is faced 
with the following opportunities, which would have an 
impact mainly on Union Asset Management Holding 
AG’s current net income from long-term equity invest-
ments. 

Investors are continuing to place significant emphasis 
on security in their investment priorities. However, the 
current low level of interest rates means that there are 
only negligible returns on savings deposits. Therefore, 
investors are only able to generate a reasonable return 
if they are prepared to take on a controlled level of 
risk. Given this background, Union Investment sees an 
opportunity to continue to consolidate its position as 
an active risk manager and expand its funds business.

Among other things, the client safety-first require-
ment is pushing up demand for investment in physical 
assets, particularly in the form of real estate funds. 
The excellent positioning of Union Investment in this 
market offers significant sales potential among retail 
and institutional clients.

Following the financial crisis, a large number of legis-
lative provisions have been implemented resulting in 
a significant impact on the securities business. These 
provisions include the German Capital Investment 
Code (KAGB), which came into force in July 2013. 

Further statutory provisions are also in the pipeline 
at the moment. In view of these developments, 
Union Investment believes that there is also an op-
portunity to develop customized, solution-oriented 
products and to strengthen customer loyalty.
As a consequence of the growing importance of 
the issue of sustainability, Union Investment ex-
pects increasing interest from institutional clients in 
sustainability-based investments and in the UnionEn-
gagement service. The UnionEngagement service 
from Union Investment offers investors the option of 
exerting shareholder influence based on portfolios 
held with Union Investment or with other custodian 
banks. Investors are also provided with sustainability 
research and expertise. This opens up the opportunity 
for Union Investment to further increase inflows and 
asset values as well as to strengthen its positioning as 
a responsible asset management company. 

Based on the identified opportunities, Union Invest-
ment believes there is the prospect of boosting net 
inflows and the volume of assets under management 
on an ongoing basis, thereby continuing to increase 
the accompanying net fee and commission income for 
the Group.

Union Investment also constantly works on improving 
its processes, thereby saving time and costs. Over-
all, this results in both sales-based and costs-based 
opportunities to generate excellent earnings perfor-
mance. At Union Asset Management Holding AG, this 
is reflected in both current net income from long-term 
equity investments (that is to say, in the transfer of 
profits and in the distribution of dividends from sub-
sidiaries) and in administrative expenses.

II. Risk report

1. Proven systems for
  identifying and managing risk

The Union Investment Group is an asset manager 
and its performance is therefore influenced to a large 
degree by trends in real-estate and capital markets 
and by the investment behavior of fund investors. It 
acts in the interests of fund investors and pursues a 
value-driven business policy with the long-term objec-
tive of generating a sustained increase in enterprise 
value taking into account a balance of risks and 
rewards. The Board of Managing Directors of UMH 
AG therefore attaches great importance to the highly 
skilled management of risk. 

Internal management systems are designed so that 
risks can be identified, monitored on a regular basis, 
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and actively managed. The systems aim to ensure that 
risks potentially leading to negative variances from 
predicted performance are identified as early as pos-
sible and that corrective action is initiated to mitigate 
the risk. At the same time the aim is also to ensure 
that the Group can exploit business opportunities tak-
ing into account profitability and the Group’s capacity 
to assume risk. 

The Union Investment Group’s risk management 
system (RMS) is a continuous process that incorpo-
rates all organizational measures and procedures for 
identifying, measuring, monitoring, and managing risk. 
The RMS is organized in compliance with regula-
tory requirements. UMH AG is a company within the 
DZ BANK Group and is thus integrated into the risk 
management system of this group.

The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG bears 
responsibility for risk management in the Union 
Investment Group. The risk strategy categorizes the 
material types of risk identified, defines the funda-
mental risk measurement methods used, and provides 
detailed guidance on how to deal with the risk 
concerned. The risk strategy is consistent with the risk 
strategies implemented in the DZ BANK Group. Risk 
measurement and management procedures have been 
devised for all the material risk types, risk concentra-
tions, and interaction with investment fund assets 
identified during the course of the risk inventory 
check. The Risk Management Committee is the central 
risk committee in the Union Investment Group. At its 
meetings, it discusses the risk situation of the Group 
and prepares decisions for the Board of Managing 
Directors of UMH AG. The Risk Manager and the cen-
tral risk management unit are charged by the Board 
of Managing Directors with ensuring the integrity of 
the groupwide RMS. Quarterly risk reports on UMH 
AG and the main companies in the Union Investment 
Group are prepared for their senior management 
teams and supervisory boards as part of the regular 
reporting cycle. 

The details on the RMS, including all policies and strat-
egies, are documented in the Company’s risk manual.

The internal audit department carries out an annual 
review of the RMS to ensure that it is fully operational.

The following sections describe the key components of 
the RMS in the Union Investment Group.

Analysis of risk-bearing capacity

In order to ensure that the Union Investment Group 
and its companies continue to survive as going con-
cerns, their ability to bear risk is regularly monitored 

as part of the economic risk and capital manage-
ment system. The material types of risk are limited in 
accordance with the risk strategy and the aggregate 
risk cover available and are backed by risk capital. 
This involves limiting the maximum risk permitted by 
the risk appetite in the form of upper loss limits in 
such a way that the survival of UM AG and the Union 
Investment Group as going concerns is not put at risk. 
This process incorporates the effects of diversification 
between the different risk types. Independent experts 
use industry standards and methods to calculate the 
risk capital requirement and monitor the upper loss 
limits. Union Investment carries out regular stress tests 
in respect of the main types of risk. The methods used 
are subject to an annual adequacy review.

early-warning system

Data on risk indicators is regularly collected and 
aggregated into 22 risks as part of the early-warning 
system. If predefined tolerance limits are exceeded, the 
system triggers an early warning that prompts those 
responsible for risk management to conduct a causal 
analysis and implement risk mitigation measures. The 
early warnings generated by the system therefore 
guarantee that corrective action will be initiated in 
good time. The early-warning system essentially covers 
operational risk, business risk, and risks that can arise 
from outsourced functions. In addition, the Group has 
an ad hoc reporting system for the early identification 
of exceptional risk situations that require immediate 
action.

Risk reporting

The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG receives 
quarterly written reports on changes in the risk posi-
tion in the reporting period. The risk report describes 
and assesses the overall risk position. It highlights 
any critical areas of potential risk and, if necessary, 
recommends action to eliminate such potential risk. 
The Board of Managing Directors uses this report as 
the basis for the information it forwards to the Super-
visory Board. In addition to these regular risk reports, 
any critical risk information is passed to the Board of 
Managing Directors without delay and, if necessary, 
also passed on to the Supervisory Board.

2.  Description of the main risks

The Union Investment Group’s risk strategy is applied 
to the risks identified and classified as material in the 
annual risk inventory check. These risks are regularly 
monitored and managed with the help of the risk 
management system on the basis of the guidance 
specified in the risk strategy.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses arising 
from human behavior, technological failure, process or 
project management weaknesses, or external events. 
Legal risk is included in this definition. In comparison 
with other risks, operational risk is extremely impor-
tant in the Union Investment Group because the ac-
tivities of the Group focus on the provision of services 
for third parties and not on the Group’s assumption of 
risk on its own account.
 
The risk capital requirement is quantified using the 
Standardized Approach as specified in the German 
Solvency Regulation (SolvV). As at December 31, 2013, 
the risk capital requirement was calculated to be 
€109.3 million. The upper loss limit was €111 million. 
The risk capital requirement did not exceed the upper 
loss limit at any point during the course of 2013. The 
early-warning system used in addition to the calcula-
tion of the economic risk capital requirement triggered 
warnings for various individual risks as intended and 
initiated corrective action to facilitate management of 
the risk. During the course of the year, there were no 
indications of any critical situations likely to represent a 
risk to the Group as a going concern. 

The Group records in a loss database all losses of 
€1,000 or more arising in connection with operational 
risk. If such a risk materializes, it can cause not only 
the immediate losses, but also delays or interrup-
tions to operations, or even give rise subsequently 
to reputational risk. If loss events are recorded, it 
enables Union Investment to analyze operational risks 
that have become critical and identify trends and 
concentrations. The action specified subsequently to 
mitigate the risk or prevent such risk materializing 
can then also be refined. Over the course of time, 
there are regular fluctuations in the pattern of losses 
as the probability of relatively large losses occurring 
in individual cases is very low. Losses did not reach 
a critical level relative to the upper loss limit at any 
point during 2013.

The risk profile in connection with operational risk is 
tightened up as part of an annual self-assessment 
process in which scenario-based analyses are applied. 
Worst-case scenarios play a key role in this process. 
They provide indications as to how the Group should 
manage extreme risk events.

The Group has implemented various precautionary 
measures from an organizational perspective to miti-
gate or avoid effects from operational risk:

The Union Investment Group’s practice of pooling 
activities, and the associated practice of specializing at 
individual stages of the value creation process, funda-
mentally helps to reduce operational risk. For example, 
IT services and related tasks are outsourced to a 
specialist IT service provider in the Group. Back-office 
activities are also brought together in the organiza-
tional structure. 

In addition to the pooling of tasks internally, some 
services are outsourced to specialist third-party provid-
ers. This is the case, for example, in IT operations. 
All planned outsourcing is subject to a standardized 
outsourcing process, which also includes an analysis 
of the risk arising in connection with the outsourc-
ing project concerned. Depending on the outcome 
of the analysis, outsourced activities and processes 
are included in the risk management system. Existing 
outsourcing arrangements are monitored and reports 
regularly submitted to senior management teams. 
Any necessary corrective action is initiated, where 
appropriate.

Various organizational, technical, and HR structures 
and procedures have been put in place to improve the 
stability of processes and reduce risk. These include 
an internal control system, a central fraud prevention 
unit, the segregation of functions except at Board of 
Managing Directors level, an appropriate technical 
infrastructure, the use of suitably skilled and quali-
fied employees, and the provision of adequate HR 
resources.

In the Union Investment Group, the structure of the 
remuneration systems is the responsibility of the 
Group HR division and is enshrined in the remunera-
tion policy. The objective of the remuneration systems 
is to provide an appropriate reward in return for 
the services of the employees and offer effective 
performance incentives. One of the express provisions 
in the policy and systems is that targets leading to 
the assumption of excessive risk must not be agreed. 
This helps to minimize operational risk. The remunera-
tion systems are designed such that they comply with 
applicable regulatory requirements.

Insurance policies have been taken out to cover 
certain risks, some of which cannot be managed or 
controlled.

Union Investment has a business continuity plan 
covering emergencies and critical situations. The aim 
of the plan is to reduce the impact from external risks 
that could lead to extremely high losses or damage, or 
even jeopardize the continued existence of the Group 
as a going concern.
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Market risk

Market risk comprises market risk in the narrow sense 
of the term and market liquidity risk. Market risk in 
the narrow sense of the term is defined as the risk of 
losses on financial instruments or other assets arising 
from changes in market prices or in the parameters 
that influence prices (for example, interest-rate risk, 
spread risk, migration risk, currency risk, equity price 
risk, real-estate risk, fund price risk, and asset man-
agement risk). Market liquidity risk is the risk of loss 
arising from adverse changes in market liquidity, for 
example as a result of a reduction in market depth or 
market disruption. Market liquidity risk is only of minor 
significance.

Fund price risk and asset management risk are par-
ticularly important for UMH AG and the Union Invest-
ment Group. Fund price risk arises from the own-ac-
count investing activities undertaken by the companies 
in the Group. The Union Investment Group adopts a 
conservative approach to its own-account investing 
activities, investing primarily in the Group’s funds. 
Heightened volatility in financial markets can lead to 
changes in the value of fund assets, which are then 
reflected in the income statement. UMH AG uses a 
planning committee to monitor and manage its own-
account investing, and does not undertake trading 
activities specifically in pursuit of short-term gain. The 
fund price risk is quantified as a value-at-risk with a 
confidence level of 99.9 percent and a holding period 
of one year. The calculation is based on a Monte-Carlo 
simulation, taking into account crisis scenarios and 
risk mitigation techniques. Asset management risk is 
the risk arising from contractually agreed obligations 
to make additional capital payments to fund investors 
or clients if there is a shortfall in the funds. This risk 
category is relevant because the risk of such payments 
may arise in connection with subsidized pension plan 
products (Riester pension plan products, particularly 
UniProfiRente) and guarantee funds. Such additional 
payments to investors would represent expenses for 
the Company. The risk related to UniProfiRente is 
calculated using a simulation of the expected future 
obligations to make additional capital payments. The 
risk of possible additional capital payments in connec-
tion with guarantee funds is quantified using suitable 
models and statistical methods depending on the 
structure of the product concerned. The performance 
of pension plan products and guarantee funds is 
constantly monitored. 

The economic risk capital requirement for market risk 
was calculated to be €93.4 million as at December 31, 
2013. The upper loss limit was €116 million. The risk 
capital requirement did not exceed the upper loss limit 
at any point during the course of 2013.

equity risk

Equity risk is defined as the risk of losses arising 
from negative changes in the fair value of that por-
tion of the long-term equity investments portfolio 
in which the risks are not covered by other types of 
risk. Equity risk only includes long-term equity invest-
ments that are not integrated into the differenti-
ated risk measurement process with a look-through 
approach for the individual risks. If the risk material-
izes, there may be a need to recognize impairment 
losses to reduce the carrying amounts of the equity 
investments concerned. The equity risk is calculated 
as a relative value-at-risk with a confidence level of 
99.9 percent and a holding period of one year. The 
economic risk capital requirement for equity risk was 
calculated to be €28.7 million as at December 31, 
2013. The upper loss limit was €39 million. The risk 
capital requirement did not exceed the upper loss 
limit at any point during the course of 2013.

Business risk

Business risk denotes the risk of losses arising from 
earnings volatility for a given business strategy and 
not covered by other types of risk. In particular, 
this comprises the risk that, as a result of changes 
in material circumstances (for example, economic 
conditions, product environment, customer behavior, 
market competitors) corrective action cannot be taken 
solely at an operational level to prevent the losses. The 
Company would thus report an operating loss if such 
a risk should materialize.

The economic risk capital requirement is calculated 
using an earnings-at-risk approach as a value-at-risk 
with a one-year timeframe and a confidence level of 
99.9 percent. A risk capital requirement of €1.7 million 
was reported as at December 31, 2013. The upper loss 
limit was €10 million. The risk capital requirement did 
not exceed the upper loss limit at any point during the 
course of 2013. The additional early-warning system 
triggered warnings for various individual risks as 
intended and initiated corrective action to facilitate 
management of the risk. During the course of the 
year, there were no indications of any critical situa-
tions likely to represent a risk to the Group as a going 
concern. 

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report Group Management Report
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Reputational risk

Reputational risk is defined as the risk of losses 
from events that damage confidence, particularly the 
confidence of clients, distributors, investors, the labor 
market, or the general public, in the companies of 
the Union Investment Group or in the products and 
services they offer. 

Reputational risk affecting the Group or the Group 
companies may arise from the management of invest-
ment fund assets. If a reputational risk were to materi-
alize, this could lead to an outflow of client funds and 
therefore to lower income in the future. The effects of 
reputational risk are factored into the measurement of 
business risk and covered by the risk capital deter-
mined for the latter.

liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the loss that can arise 
if insufficient funds are available to meet payment 
obligations when due (liquidity risk in the narrow sense 
of the term) or if any necessary funding can only be 
obtained on unfavorable terms (funding risk). The main 
items that can give rise to liquidity risk are the payment 
obligations of the companies in the Group. If liquidity 
risk materializes, the settlement of payment obliga-
tions by the Group companies could be delayed. To 
avoid any such scenario, liquidity items are subject to 
continuous liquidity management. Active planning and 
control of liquidity aims to ensure that the companies 
can meet their payment obligations at all times. The 
solvency of the Union Investment Group was never in 
jeopardy at any point during the reporting period. 

3.  Summary of the risk position  
in the year under review

The results from the risk monitoring process were dis-
cussed at regular meetings of the Risk Management 
Committee and suitable action was initiated, where 
appropriate. The Board of Managing Directors of UMH 
AG was kept abreast of developments relevant to 
risk by means of the quarterly risk reports and ad hoc 
notification of any critical issues, as required. Based on 
these details, the Board of Managing Directors took 
action to manage the risk and informed the Superviso-
ry Board of UMH AG about the risk position. Individual 
high-risk trends were mitigated by specific corrective 
action taken as part of the risk management process.
Over the whole of 2013, there were no risks to 
UMH AG or the Union Investment Group as a going 
concern. The analysis of risk-bearing capacity does not 
highlight any obvious trends that could not be coun-

tered by the corrective action taken. The Union Invest-
ment Group’s ability to bear risk was not impaired at 
any time. The Group complied with all upper loss limits 
during the reporting period. As dictated by prudent 
business practice, provisions were recognized in the 
annual financial statements to cover business and tax 
risks. The solvency of UMH AG and the companies in 
the Union Investment Group was never in jeopardy at 
any point in the year under review.

III. Outlook

Please refer to the details in section B. V. 3.2 for infor-
mation on the non-financial performance indicators.

This outlook covers the 2014 financial year.

Following the highest level of net profit ever achieved 
by the Company and the record volume of assets un-
der management in 2013, Union Investment has again 
set itself ambitious targets for 2014.

Against the background of persistently tough condi-
tions – significant capital market volatility coupled 
with low returns, continuation of the European 
sovereign debt crisis, moves toward tighter regula-
tion – Union Investment plans to rigorously exploit 
opportunities to deliver excellent business perfor-
mance. However, it is precisely these conditions that 
mean there is an inherent potential for a reverse in 
this outlook. For example, the impact from a sudden 
deterioration in the European sovereign debt crisis 
cannot be reliably estimated.

In 2014, Union Investment is looking to repeat the 
very high level of net inflows achieved in 2013. This 
represents a very ambitious goal, given the imminent 
maturity of a significant number of capital preserva-
tion funds. Based in addition on the assumption of 
positive performance across all asset classes, planning 
figures predict further growth in assets under manage-
ment, reaching a new high slightly in excess of the 
level of 2013. 

A modest decrease is forecast for net fee and com-
mission income. Although the volume-related income 
will rise in proportion to the increase in average assets 
under management, income from performance fees 
is not expected to be generated on the scale of 2013 
because of the current capital market environment. 
Another reason is the gradual switch in performance 
fee models.

Administrative expenses are expected to see a moder-
ate increase. This is the result of increasing regulatory 
requirements, IT investment over the last year and 
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consequential operating costs, and capital spending 
in connection with existing buildings. There will be a 
moderate rise in staff expenses caused by a targeted 
increase in employee numbers covering regulatory 
issues, core competencies, and growth areas, by an 
increase in average salaries, and by the effect over 
a whole year from appointments made during the 
course of 2013.

Given the factors described above, a significant net 
profit is once again forecast for 2014, although it will 
represent a marked decrease compared with the figure 
achieved in 2013. A corresponding deterioration in the 
cost/income ratio is also expected as a result. 

Frankfurt am Main, March 10, 2014 

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke 
(Chief Executive Officer)

 
Jens Wilhelm
(Member of the Board of 
Managing Directors)

Alexander Schindler 
(Member of the Board of 
Managing Directors)
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Supervisory Board and Chairman’s Committee

In 2013, the Supervisory Board and its Chairman’s 
Committee monitored the management activities of 
the Board of Managing Directors in compliance with 
the applicable legal provisions and the Articles of 
Association, and decided on items of business that 
required their consent.

To carry out its responsibilities and in compliance with 
the applicable legal provisions, the Supervisory Board 
formed a Chairman’s Committee that served, in par-
ticular, as the Human Resources Committee and Audit 
Committee and prepared decisions for approval by the 
Supervisory Board. The Chairman’s Committee met 
four times during the course of 2013. The Supervisory 
Board was regularly kept informed of its activities.

The former Chief Executive Officer of Bremische 
Volksbank eG Mr. Jürgen Burhop, who had been a 
shareholder representative on the Supervisory Board 
since July 4, 2001, stepped down from the Supervisory 
Board and the Chairman’s Committee on December 
31, 2013. On November 30, 2013, employee repre-
sentative Mr. Walter Klemming, a former health and 
safety officer at Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, 
also stepped down from the Supervisory Board. The 
Supervisory Board would like to thank Mr. Burhop and 
Mr. Klemming for their dedication and valuable  

Report of the Supervisory Board

support. On December 1, 2013, Mr. Wolfgang Nett, 
sales director at Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, 
joined the Supervisory Board as Mr. Klemming’s 
replacement. At the Supervisory Board meeting on 
December 16, 2013, the Supervisory Board elected  
Mr. Rainer Schaidnagel (Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG) 
to replace Mr. Burhop on the Chairman’s Committee 
with effect from January 1, 2014. Mr. Burhop’s suc-
cessor on the Supervisory Board will be elected by the 
Annual General Meeting of Union Asset Management 
Holding AG (UMH) on May 12, 2014.

Cooperation with the Board of Managing 
Directors

Mr. Ulrich Köhne, a member of the Board of Managing 
Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
left the Company for personal reasons on November 
11, 2013. His tasks have been taken over by the other 
members of the Board of Managing Directors until his 
successor is appointed.

The Board of Managing Directors provided the Super-
visory Board with regular, timely and comprehensive 
written and oral reports on the position and perfor-
mance of the Company and the Group and on general 
business developments. The Board of Managing Direc-
tors also regularly informed the Supervisory Board 
about ongoing operations and future business policy 
including the corporate strategy and organizational 
structures of the Union Investment Group.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the Company’s and 
the Group’s risk position as well as the development 
of systems and procedures used to manage operation-
al, market and credit/guarantee risks, and examined 
other material risks specific to fund management 
business.

Supervisory Board meetings

The Supervisory Board held five meetings in the year 
under review. At these meetings, and via regular 
reports (principally quarterly reports), the Supervisory 
Board was regularly and comprehensively informed 
about the current position of the Company and the 
Group, primarily with regard to general business per-
formance, important individual transactions, and any 
personnel developments. The Supervisory Board was 
informed comprehensively and promptly of the work 
carried out by the Chairman’s Committee. The Super-
visory Board also approved material long-term equity 
investment decisions and business action plans. Other 
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key issues covered in the Supervisory Board meet-
ings included budgeting and the impact of regulatory 
changes on the Union Investment Group’s business.

Between its meetings, the Supervisory Board was 
informed by the Board of Managing Directors in  
writing about important events such as personnel 
matters. In urgent cases the Supervisory Board  
approved significant transactions between meetings 
by adopting resolutions via voting in writing. 

Outside the meetings, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, who also chairs the Chairman’s Committee, 
held regular discussions with the Chief Executive 
Officer regarding important decisions and specific 
individual transactions.

Cooperation with the independent auditors

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Eschborn, Frankfurt am Main, was elected as the 
independent auditor by the Annual General Meeting 
held on May 13, 2013 and subsequently instructed by 
the Supervisory Board to carry out the audit.

In its capacity as the independent auditor, Ernst & 
Young GmbH confirmed that the separate financial 
statements for the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements – including the bookkeeping sys-
tem – as well as the management report for the Com-
pany and the group management report for the 2013 
financial year together with the report on relationships 
with affiliated companies prepared and submitted 
by the Board of Managing Directors complied with 
the applicable legal provisions. The auditors issued 
an unqualified opinion for each of these items. In 
connection with the audit of the report submitted by 
the Board of Managing Directors on relationships with 
affiliated companies, Ernst & Young GmbH confirmed 
that after due audit and assessment “1. the actual 
disclosures in the report are accurate, 2. the consider-
ation paid by the Company for the transactions listed 
in the report was not inappropriately high, and 3. as 
regards the activities listed in the report, there are 
no circumstances that would support an assessment 
materially different from that arrived at by the Board 
of Managing Directors.”

The audit reports were submitted to the members of 
the Supervisory Board, who discussed them in detail. 
The Supervisory Board agrees with the findings of the 
audit.

Adoption of the financial statements

The Supervisory Board has reviewed in detail the 
separate financial statements, the management report, 
the report of the Board of Managing Directors on rela-
tionships with affiliated companies, and the proposal 
for the appropriation of profit. It also held detailed 
discussions on these submissions in the presence 
of the independent auditors. No reservations were 
expressed. The Supervisory Board has also reviewed in 
detail the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report and, here too, held detailed 
discussions on these submissions in the presence 
of the independent auditors. No reservations were 
expressed here either.

The Supervisory Board also acknowledged and  
approved the findings of the audit of the separate 
financial statements, the consolidated financial state-
ments, the management report for the Company, the 
group management report, and the report on relation-
ships with affiliated companies conducted by the  
independent auditors. In a resolution adopted on 
March 4, 2014 the Supervisory Board approved the 
separate financial statements prepared by the Board 
of Managing Directors; these financial statements 
were thereby formally adopted. The Supervisory Board 
also agreed with the proposed appropriation of 
profit. In a resolution adopted today, the Supervisory 
Board approved the consolidated financial statements 
prepared and submitted by the Board of Managing 
Directors.

Following the concluding findings of the review con-
ducted by the Supervisory Board, no reservations were 
expressed regarding the concluding statement by the 
Board of Managing Directors in the report on relation-
ships with affiliated companies.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board  
of Managing Directors and all employees for their 
valuable contribution in 2013.

Frankfurt am Main, March 31, 2014

Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
Frankfurt am Main

Wolfgang Kirsch
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements
of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
for the Financial Year 
from January 1 to December 31, 2013

Consolidated income statement 
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2013

UMH Group Note 2013 2012

€‘000 €‘000

Net interest income [25] 10,636 15,778

Interest income and current income 13,721 18,038

Interest expenses -3,085 -2,260

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables [26] -48 -11

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables

10,588 15,767

Net fee and commission income [27] 951,265 863,972

Fee and commission income 1,454,123 1,270,749

Fee and commission expenses -502,858 -406,777

Gains and losses on investments [28] -803 –

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments [29] 7,624 16,495

Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method [30] -4,667 -792

Administrative expenses [31] -584,102 -580,459

Other net operating income/expense [32] 18,850 -8,389

Profit before taxes 398,755 306,594

Income taxes [22], [33] -114,422 -85,947

Net profit 284,333 220,647

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 280,418 217,724

Non-controlling interests 3,915 2,923
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UMH Group Note 2013 2012

€‘000 €‘000

Net profit 284,333 220,647

Other comprehensive income/loss 3,383 -24,981

Amounts reclassified to the consolidated income statement -1,430 1,492

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets [34], [35], [52] -121 121

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries [35], [52] -226 1,792

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and associates 
accounted for using the equity method

[35], [52] -1,076 -465

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/loss [35] -7 44

Amounts not reclassified to the consolidated income statement 4,813 -26,473

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans  [35], [52] 7,172 -38,567

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/loss [35] -2,359 12,094

Total comprehensive income/loss 287,716 195,666

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 283,747 193,183

Non-controlling interests 3,969 2,483

Statement of comprehensive income 
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2013
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Consolidated balance sheet 
as at December 31, 2013

Assets Note Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

€‘000 €‘000

Cash and cash equivalents [9], [36] 43 63

Loans to and receivables from banks [10], [37] 320,414 482,833

Loans to and receivables from customers [10], [38] 48,115 57,024

Investments [12], [39] 869,257 589,889

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method [13], [40] 57,117 63,742

Property, plant and equipment [14], [41] 49,556 50,770

Intangible assets [15], [42] 65,356 57,837

Income tax assets [22], [43] 19,863 28,760

Other assets [44] 109,714 83,995

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale [16], [45] 6,297 25,023

Total assets 1,545,732 1,439,936

Liabilities and equity Note Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012

€‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to banks [17], [46] 16,649 22,858

Liabilities to customers [17], [47] 88 90

Derivatives (negative fair values) [18], [48] 7,626 6,121

Provisions [19], [20], [49] 109,902 179,627

Income tax liabilities [22], [50] 67,750 64,823

Other liabilities [51] 482,363 439,626

Equity [52] 861,354 726,791

Subscribed capital 87,130 87,130

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617

Retained earnings 467,727 395,842

Revaluation reserve 52 112

Currency translation reserve -623 740

Unappropriated earnings 280,418 217,724

Non-controlling interests 8,033 6,626

Total liabilities and equity 1,545,732 1,439,936
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2013

UMH Group Note Sub- 
scribed  
capital

Capital  
reserves

Retained  
earnings

Revalua-
tion 

reserve

Currency  
transla- 

tion  
reserve

Unappro- 
priated  

earnings

Equity  
before  

non- 
control- 

ling  
interests

Non- 
control- 

ling  
interests

Total 
equity

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Jan. 1, 2012 87,130 18,617 390,704 – -633 193,710 689,528 8,591 698,119

Net profit – – – – – 217,724 217,724 2,923 220,647

Other comprehensive 
income/loss

[52] – – -26,026 112 1,373 – -24,541 -440 -24,981

Total comprehensive 
income/loss

– – -26,026 112 1,373 217,724 193,183 2,483 195,666

Changes in scope of 
consolidation

– – -12,391 – – – -12,391 -1,156 -13,547

Dividend paid [52] – – -150,155 – – – -150,155 -3,292 -153,447

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 193,710 – – -193,710 – – –

Dec. 31, 2012 87,130 18,617 395,842 112 740 217,724 720,165 6,626 726,791

Jan. 1, 2013 87,130 18,617 395,842 112 740 217,724 720,165 6,626 726,791

Net profit – – – – – 280,418 280,418 3,915 284,333

Other comprehensive 
income/loss

[52] – – 4,752 -60 -1,363 – 3,329 54 3,383

Total comprehensive 
income/loss

– – 4,752 -60 -1,363 280,418 283,747 3,969 287,716

Capital increase – – – – – – – 359 359

Acquisition/disposal of 
non-controlling interests 

– – -436 – – – -436 – -436

Dividend paid [52] – – -150,155 – – – -150,155 -2,921 -153,076

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 217,724 – – -217,724 – – –

Dec. 31, 2013 87,130 18,617 467,727 52 -623 280,418 853,321 8,033 861,354
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Statement of cash flows
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2013

UMH Group 2013 2012

€‘000 €‘000

Net profit 284,333 220,647

Non-cash items included in net profit and reconciliation to cash flows from operating 
activities

Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses, and reversal of impairment losses on assets, and 
measurement changes on financial assets and liabilities

15,827 -1,577

Non-cash changes in provisions and accruals 341,778 348,501

Other non-cash income and expenses 78,596 36,315

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets and liabilities -4,363 40

Other adjustments (net) -5,984 -15,321

Subtotal 710,187 588,605
Cash changes in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities

Loans to and receivables from banks 162,419 -217,755

Loans to and receivables from customers 8,891 -16,153

Other assets -25,721 9,628

Liabilities to banks -6,208 -9,888

Liabilities to customers -2 -622

Derivatives (negative fair values) -1 0

Other liabilities -360,892 -297,051

Interest and dividends received 15,583 19,553

Interest paid -3,070 -1,927

Income taxes paid -63,938 -72,710

Cash flows from operating activities 437,248 1,680

Proceeds from the disposal of:

Investments 417,898 730,692

Property, plant and equipment 10 10

Intangible assets 89 –

Payments for the acquisition of:

Investments -676,321 -542,812

Joint ventures and associates -980 –

Property, plant and equipment -1,988 -2,144

Intangible assets -22,674 -21,552

Cash flows from investing activities -283,966 164,194

Dividend payments to the shareholders of UMH AG and other shareholders -153,076 -153,447

Changes in cash from other capital -226 -12,407

Cash flows from financing activities -153,302 -165,854

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 63 43

Cash flows from operating activities 437,248 1,680

Cash flows from investing activities -283,966 164,194

Cash flows from financing activities -153,302 -165,854

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 43 63
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Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement equate to the cash and cash equivalents balance sheet 
item, which comprises cash on hand and balances held with central banks, together with debt instruments from 
public-sector entities and bills of exchange eligible as collateral for central bank funding if the residual maturity  
is less than three months and the amounts concerned are deemed to be the retention of liquidity. Receivables 
from banks that are repayable on demand are not included; these items are classified under operating activities.

The statement of cash flows shows a breakdown of, and changes in, cash and cash equivalents during the finan-
cial year. It is broken down into operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities.

Cash flows from operating activities comprise cash transactions (cash inflows and outflows) in connection with 
loans to and receivables from banks and customers, other assets, liabilities to banks and customers, and other 
liabilities. Interest and dividend payments, together with current income tax payments, are also classified under 
cash flows from operating activities.

Cash flows from investing activities show cash transactions related to investments, property, plant and equip-
ment, and intangible assets. This item also includes the effects from changes in the scope of consolidation.

Cash flows from financing activities comprise proceeds from capital increases, proceeds from the drawdown of 
loans, payments for the redemption of loans, dividend payments, and changes in cash related to other capital.

A statement of cash flows is not particularly meaningful as far as investment companies are concerned. The 
statement of cash flows for the UMH Group does not replace liquidity and financial planning, nor is it used as  
a management tool.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
General disclosures

[1] Basis of consolidated accounting

Union Asset Management Holding AG (UMH AG) 
is the holding company of the Union Investment 
Group and a subsidiary of DZ BANK AG Deutsche 
Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main 
(DZ BANK). The primary purpose of UMH AG’s 
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates is to issue 
and sell investment funds, hold these funds in safe 
custody, and provide associated services. The Union 
Investment Group is also the competence center for 
asset management within the cooperative financial 
network. 

The registered office of UMH AG is situated at Wiesen-
hüttenstrasse 10, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 
The Company was entered in the commercial register 
of the Frankfurt am Main local court on June 16, 1999 
under reference number HRB 47289. The shares in 
UMH AG are not publicly traded. 

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG are 
included in the consolidated financial statements of 
DZ BANK, which in turn prepares the consolidated 
financial statements covering the greatest number of 
entities included in the overall group and is entered in 
the commercial register of the Frankfurt am Main local 
court under reference number HRB 45651.

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG 
comprise the consolidated income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidat-
ed balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, 
the statement of cash flows, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. They consolidate 
the separate financial statements of UMH AG and its 
subsidiaries (hereafter also referred to as the ‘UMH 
Group’ or ‘Union Investment Group’). The consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared to 
the balance sheet date of UMH AG (December 31, 
2013). The balance sheet dates for the subsidiaries 
included in the consolidation are also December 31, 
2013.

In accordance with standard international practice, 
the consolidated income statement and balance sheet 
are presented in a condensed and clearly structured 
format in compliance with the requirements of IAS 
1. Balance sheet line items are shown in order of 
liquidity. More detailed information is provided in 
the additional disclosures set out in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in euros (€). Unless stated otherwise, the 
amounts are presented in thousands of euros (€ thou-
sand, €’000) to ensure that the consolidated financial 
statements are clear and comprehensible. Due to 
rounding, discrepancies may occur between sums of 
the component items and totals shown in tables. 

All items in the consolidated financial statements are 
recognized and measured on the assumption that the 
business will continue as a going concern. Income and 
expenses are recognized under the accrual method, 
i.e. they are recognized in the period to which they 
relate from a financial perspective. 

With the exception of the contractual maturity analysis 
(Note [57]) as required by IFRS 7.39, the disclosures 
on the nature and extent of risks arising from financial 
instruments (IFRS 7.31-42) are included in the risk 
report within the group management report.

[2] Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report for the financial year from January 
1 to December 31, 2013 have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU), and 
the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315a (1) of the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) in conjunction with section 315a (3) 
HGB.

The financial statements of the companies consoli-
dated in the UMH Group have been prepared using 
uniform accounting policies.

Changes in accounting policies

•  First-time application in 2013 of changes in IFRS

The following new, amended, and revised versions of 
financial reporting standards, the new interpretation 
below, and the specified improvements to IFRS are  
applied for the first time in UMH’s consolidated finan-
cial statements for the 2013 financial year:
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,
-  Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 

International Financial Reporting Standards – Severe 
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-
Time Adopters,

-  Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards – Govern-
ment Loans,

-  Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Dis-
closures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities,
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-  Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements – Presentation of Items of Other Com-
prehensive Income,

-  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: 
Recovery of Underlying Assets,

- Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits,
-  Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets – 

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets,

-  IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of 
a Surface Mine, and

-  Annual Improvements to International Financial 
Reporting Standards, 2009-2011 Cycle.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement standardizes the 
IFRS provisions relating to fair value measurement. 
The fair value is now defined as the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants on the measurement date. IFRS 13 also 
harmonizes and expands the disclosures in the notes 
relating to fair values. The scope of the disclosure 
requirements differentiates between disclosures 
about assets and liabilities recognized at fair value 
on the balance sheet and disclosures about assets 
and liabilities not recognized at fair value on the bal-
ance sheet. The adoption of IFRS 13 has no material 
quantitative impact on the UMH consolidated finan-
cial statements. Owing to the enhanced disclosure 
requirements in IFRS 13, the non-recurring fair value 
measurements of assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value on the balance sheet are now assigned 
to the levels of the fair value hierarchy in the UMH 
consolidated financial statements. A description of 
the valuation process used for recurring and non-
recurring fair value measurements categorized within 
Level 3 is also provided. From now on, disclosures 
concerning transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of 
the fair value hierarchy will be made for all transfers 
(rather than only for material transfers), but only in 
respect of assets and liabilities that are still held at 
the end of the reporting period. Furthermore, IFRS 
13 has resulted in an additional disclosure relating 
to the fair value hierarchy for the fair value of assets 
and liabilities not recognized at fair value on the 
balance sheet. The consolidated financial statements 
now contain disclosures in respect of all assets and 
liabilities relating to quantitative information about 
significant unobservable inputs for fair values that 
are measured on a recurring or non-recurring basis 
and are assigned to Level 3. With regard to recurring 
and non-recurring measurements of fair value that 
are assigned to Levels 2 and 3 of the fair value hier-
archy, a description is also provided of the valuation 
techniques and the inputs used in the measurement 
of fair value. The UMH Group is applying IFRS 13 
prospectively. Where comparative values are provided 

in the UMH consolidated financial statements, they 
are calculated in accordance with IFRS 7.

The amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities do not have any impact on the UMH con-
solidated financial statements. Enhanced disclosures 
may be required in specific cases in the future. These 
would contain information on the effects and poten-
tial effects of netting arrangements on the financial 
position of the Group and information about the na-
ture of these arrangements. In particular, the changes 
require the disclosure of gross amounts for financial 
assets and financial liabilities, net amounts shown on 
the balance sheet, and amounts that are subject to 
enforceable master netting arrangements or similar 
agreements. The amendments to IFRS 7 have been 
applied retrospectively.

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements – Presentation of Items of Other Compre-
hensive Income have led to a change in the break-
down of other comprehensive income reported by the 
UMH Group in the consolidated financial statements. 
Disclosures about other comprehensive income are 
split into amounts of other comprehensive income 
that will be reclassified to the consolidated income 
statement and amounts that will not be reclassified. 
The amendments to IAS 1 have been applied retro-
spectively.

The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits have no 
material quantitative impact on the UMH consolidated 
financial statements. As a result of the change in the 
definition of termination benefits, top-up amounts 
committed as part of preretirement part-time employ-
ment agreements are reported as provisions for other 
long-term or short-term employee benefits and no 
longer as provisions for termination benefits. The UMH 
consolidated financial statements continue to contain 
enhanced disclosures, in particular relating to the key 
characteristics of defined benefit plans, including the 
associated risks and the management of these risks. 
Defined benefit obligations are broken down into plan 
groups with risks that differ significantly from each 
other. The plan characteristics and the risks are also 
described. In line with the amended provisions of the 
standard, the impact of pension plans 
on future cash flows is presented by disclosing the 
material actuarial assumptions, the associated sen-
sitivity analysis, and the weighted average duration 
of the defined benefit obligations. Some of the asset 
classes for the plan assets have been redefined, in 
that the assets have been broken down further into 
those assets for which market prices are quoted in 
an active market and those assets for which this is 
not the case.  
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The amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets – 
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial  
Assets do not have an impact on the UMH consolidat-
ed financial statements. The amendments reverse the 
requirement introduced in IAS 36 as a result of IFRS 
13 Fair Value Measurement whereby the recoverable 
amount must be disclosed for each cash-generating 
unit (or group of units) to which significant goodwill 
or significant intangible assets with an unlimited 
useful life are assigned. In addition, the amendments 
to IAS 36 introduce new disclosures in respect of 
assets and cash-generating units for which an impair-
ment loss or the reversal of an impairment loss was 
recognized in the reporting period and the recoverable 
amount was determined on the basis of fair value less 
costs of disposal. There are currently no such assets or 
cash-generating units in the UMH Group. The amend-
ments to IAS 36 have been adopted early by the UMH 
Group on a voluntary basis from the 2013 financial 
year. They have been applied retrospectively.

The other aforementioned amended financial report-
ing standards, improvements to International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and the new interpretation re-
ferred to above have no material impact on the UMH 
consolidated financial statements.

•  Changes in IFRS endorsed by the EU but not yet 
applied

The UMH Group has decided against voluntary early 
adoption of the following new, revised, or amended 
financial reporting standards and the following new 
or amended interpretations that have been endorsed 
by the EU:
- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements,
-  IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,
- IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements,
-  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures,
-  Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 
12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – Transi-
tion Guidance,

-  Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities, and IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements – 
Investment Entities,

-  Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Pre-
sentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities, and

-  Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Rec-
ognition and Measurement – Novation of Deriva-
tives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 
Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of 

Interests in Other Entities supersede the provisions 
for consolidated financial statements in IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, SIC-12 Consolida-
tion – Special Purpose Entities, and SIC-13 Jointly 
Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by 
Venturers. Henceforward, the revised IAS 27 Separate 
Financial Statements only includes provisions govern-
ing single-entity financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS. IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12 along with 
the revised IAS 27 and IAS 28 must be applied for 
the first time in financial years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. The UMH Group will apply them 
for the first time for the 2014 financial year. IFRS 10 
is the core standard for preparing consolidated finan-
cial statements and establishes a uniform principle  
of control applicable to all entities. An investor  
controls an investee when the investor is exposed,  
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee. The  
assessment of whether control exists must consider 
all facts and circumstances and, in the event of 
changes, must be reviewed. The implementation of 
IFRS 10 is unlikely to have a material impact on the 
UMH Group’s scope of consolidation. IFRS 11 con-
tains amended rules about the accounting treatment 
of joint arrangements. There are two types: joint  
operations and joint ventures. The distinction is 
based on the type of joint arrangement. The previous 
option in IAS 31 to apply proportionate consolida-
tion for joint ventures has been removed. In the 
future, joint ventures may only be accounted for 
using the equity method in consolidated financial 
statements. The amendments resulting from IFRS 11 
have no impact on the UMH consolidated financial 
statements. Joint ventures are already accounted for 
under the equity method in the UMH consolidated 
financial statements. IFRS 12 governs all disclosure 
requirements regarding subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
asso ciates, and unconsolidated structured enti-
ties. The type of interests, the associated risks, and 
the financial impact must be disclosed, along with 
information about significant assumptions and 
estimates. The requirements are more extensive than 
the previous rules. IFRS 12 will result in enhanced 
disclosures in the UMH consolidated financial state-
ments, particularly regarding structured entities. 
Furthermore, disclosures about support arrangements 
for structured entities will be required.

The purpose of the amendments to IFRS 10 Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrange-
ments, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities – Transition Guidance is to provide a detailed 
explanation of the intention of the transitional 
provisions originally set out in IFRS 10. The amend-
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ments also include exemptions from the transitional 
provisions in IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12. The UMH 
Group will apply the amendments from the 2014 
financial year onward. This is not expected to lead 
to any material changes in the UMH consolidated 
financial statements. The amendments to IAS 32 
– Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities set out 
specific application guidelines for offsetting finan-
cial instruments, although the existing fundamental 
provisions for offsetting financial instruments remain 
unchanged. The amendments will be applied by the 
UMH Group retrospectively from the 2014 financial 
year. The amendments to IAS 32 are unlikely to have 
a material impact on the UMH Group’s presentation 
of financial instruments. 

The amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement – Novation of 
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
include an exemption that means it is not necessary 
to discontinue a designated hedge if novation of a 
hedging instrument to a central counterparty meets 
certain requirements. In particular, the exemption 
stipulates that the novation must be taking place  
because of laws or regulations. The amendments 
have no material impact on the UMH consolidated  
financial statements. The amendments will be ap-
plied retrospectively from the 2014 financial year.

The UMH Group will apply the aforementioned IFRS 
amendments from the 2014 financial year in compli-
ance with the relevant transitional provisions.

The other aforementioned revised or amended finan-
cial reporting standards and the new/amended inter-
pretation referred to above have no material impact 
on the UMH consolidated financial statements.

•  Changes in IFRS that have not been endorsed  
by the EU

The following new or revised accounting standards, 
amended accounting standards, and IFRS improve-
ments, as well as the new/amended interpretation, 
that have been issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU:
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
-  Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Mandatory 

Effective Date and Transition Disclosures,
- Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Contributions,
- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle,
-  Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle, 

and
- IFRIC 21 Levies.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments constitutes part (phase I 
Classification and Measurement and phase III Hedge 
Accounting) of a wide-ranging project to replace 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Mea-
surement in its entirety. As a result of IFRS 9, financial 
assets need to be reclassified. Both the business 
models of the portfolios and the characteristics of 
the contracted cash flows for the individual financial 
assets must be taken into account for the purposes 
of the reclassification. Unlike IAS 39, IFRS 9 specifies 
that, as regards financial liabilities designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss, any changes in such 
liabilities resulting from a change in credit risk must be 
recognized in other comprehensive income. The other 
requirements relating to financial liabilities have been 
largely carried over from IAS 39 unchanged. IFRS 9 
also contains new rules on hedge accounting, which 
take the form of a general hedge accounting model 
that replaces the corresponding hedge accounting 
rules in IAS 39. This new model improves the presen-
tation of internal risk management activities and en-
tails numerous disclosure requirements. An option has 
also been introduced whereby rating-related changes 
in the fair value of financial liabilities designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss can be recognized as 
other comprehensive income early without having to 
apply all of the rules in IFRS 9.

The impact of IFRS 9 on future consolidated financial 
statements can only be investigated once the revisions 
to phase I Classification and Measurement and phase 
II Impairment Methodology have been completed and 
the finalized standard has been published. The expo-
sure draft ED/2013/3 Financial Instruments: Expected 
Credit Losses has been available for phase II Impair-
ment since March 2013.

The initial application date was postponed when the 
finalized rules on hedge accounting were published. 
According to the latest IASB discussions, first-time 
adoption will not be until January 1, 2018 at the 
earliest. At the time of publication of these consoli-
dated financial statements, the precise date from 
when IFRS 9 will be required to be applied was still 
unknown.

The transitional provisions governing the switch to 
IFRS 9 have changed as a result of amendments to 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 – Mandatory Effective Date and 
Transition Disclosures. They are required to be adopted 
retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. Another 
change as a result of the amendments is that there is 
no longer a requirement to report restated prior-year 
figures. For companies that apply IFRS 9 for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, there 
is an additional requirement under IFRS 7 to include 
disclosures in the notes describing the effects of the 
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transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The timing of the 
UMH Group’s initial adoption of IFRS 9 depends on 
when the standard becomes part of EU law. As at the 
date on which these consolidated financial statements 
are published, no date has yet been planned for adop-
tion by the EU.

The amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations as 
part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 
Cycle clarify that contingent considerations classified 
as assets or liabilities must be measured at fair value 
at every reporting date. The amendments to IFRS 3 
result in a consequential amendment that requires 
a change to the definitions of the four categories of 
financial instruments pursuant to IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In the  
future, financial instruments will be designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss if they are categorized 
as held for trading, constitute a contingent consider-
ation of an acquirer in the context of a business com-
bination, or are designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition. 

The amendments to IFRS 3 have no material quan-
titative impact on the UMH consolidated financial 
statements. Disclosures in the notes referring to the 
IAS 39 categories will be amended to reflect the 
new definition in IAS 39. The amendments must be 
applied to financial years beginning on or after July 
1, 2014.

The other aforementioned amendments and improve-
ments to IFRSs and the new interpretation have no 
material impact on the UMH consolidated financial 
statements.

The initial application dates for amendments issued by 
IFRS are subject to the proviso that the amendments 
must first be incorporated into EU law.

•  First-time application in 2013 of changes to the 
HGB

The group management report was prepared in accor-
dance with German accounting standard no. 20 (DRS 
20) for the first time in the reporting year.

•  Voluntary changes in accounting policies

There were no voluntary changes to accounting poli-
cies in the year under review.

[3] Scope of consolidation

In addition to UMH AG as the parent company, the 
UMH consolidated financial statements include 15 
subsidiaries (2012: 15) in which UMH AG directly or 
indirectly holds more than 50 percent of the shares 
or voting rights. Eleven of these subsidiaries (2012: 
eleven) have their registered office in Germany, while 
four (2012: four) are headquartered in other countries. 
Five subsidiaries (2012: five) that are not material to 
an understanding of the financial position and financial 
performance of the UMH Group have not been consoli-
dated and are reported as investments in subsidiaries 
under investments.

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG 
do not include any subgroups that prepare their own 
subgroup financial statements.

One new subsidiary was established during the year 
under review. This subsidiary is not material to an 
understanding of the financial position and financial 
performance of the UMH Group and is not included 
in the scope of consolidation but is reported as an 
investment in subsidiaries under investments.

In the year under review, one investment fund (2012: 
one) was included in the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with IAS 27 and SIC-12.

Two joint ventures (2012: one) – one of which is in 
Germany (2012: none) – are accounted for using the 
equity method. 

UMH AG holds 49 percent of the shares in the joint 
venture VR Consultingpartner GmbH, Frankfurt am 
Main, which was founded in the reporting year and is 
included in the UMH consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method. The remaining shares in the 
joint venture are held by DZ BANK (41 percent) and 
WGZ BANK (10 percent). No publicly quoted market 
prices are available for the joint venture.

Three associates (2012: three) – all of which are in 
Germany (2012: three) – are accounted for using the 
equity method. 

The most recently available annual financial state-
ments in each case are used as the basis for reporting 
associates accounted for using the equity method. Any 
known material effects in the year under review are 
covered in a reconciliation statement.
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Forty-six investment funds (2012: 25) over which UMH 
AG can exercise control and that are not material to 
an understanding of the financial position and finan-
cial performance of the UMH Group have not been 
consolidated and are reported under investments.

Three investment funds (December 31, 2012: six) over 
which UMH AG can exercise control were held for sale 
as at the balance sheet date. 

A complete list of the subsidiaries, joint ventures,  
associates, and investment funds included in the  
consolidated financial statements can be found in  
the list of shareholdings (Note [62]).

[4] Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries and investment funds are consolidated 
using the acquisition method. This method requires all 
the subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities to be recognized 
at their fair value at the acquisition date or at the date 
on which control is acquired.  
Any difference between the acquisition cost and the 
fair value of the assets and liabilities is recognized as 
goodwill under intangible assets. The carrying amount 
of goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a 
year or more frequently if there is any indication of 
possible impairment.  
If goodwill is found to be impaired, an impairment 
loss is recognized. Any negative goodwill is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss.

Intragroup assets and liabilities, as well as intragroup 
income and expenses, are eliminated in full. Intragroup 
profits or losses resulting from transactions within the 
group are eliminated unless the amounts concerned 
are immaterial.

Joint ventures and associates are accounted for under 
the equity method and are reported as shares in 
companies accounted for using the equity method. The 
acquisition cost of these long-term equity investments 
and any goodwill are determined at the time the 
investments are initially included in the consolidated 
financial statements. The rules applied in this case are 
the same as those applied to subsidiaries.

The carrying amount of equity is adjusted over time 
based on the associates’ and joint ventures’ financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with local accounting standards and reconciled to 
IFRS.

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of funding 
provided for a number of investment funds, as a result 
of which the Group is in a position to exercise control 
over the fund concerned. These holdings are consoli-
dated unless they satisfy the criteria specified in IFRS 
5 and can be reported under non-current assets and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, and  
associates that are of no material significance and are 
therefore not consolidated, as well as equities and 
other shareholdings, are recognized under investments 
and measured at fair value or, if a fair value cannot be 
reliably determined, at cost.

[5] Estimates

It is necessary to make assumptions and estimates 
in accordance with the relevant financial reporting 
standards in order to determine the carrying amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses recognized 
in these consolidated financial statements. These 
assumptions and estimates are based on historical 
experience, planning, and expectations or forecasts 
regarding future events.

Assumptions and estimates are used primarily in 
determining the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and in identifying any impairment 
of financial assets. In addition, estimates have a  
significant impact on determining the level of provi-
sions for employee benefits and other provisions as 
well as on recognizing and measuring income tax 
assets and income tax liabilities. 

Fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

If there are no prices available for certain financial 
instruments from active markets, the fair values of 
such financial assets and financial liabilities have to 
be determined on the basis of estimates, resulting 
in some uncertainty. Uncertainties associated with 
estimates arise primarily if fair values are determined 
using valuation techniques involving significant valua-
tion parameters that are not observable in the market. 
This affects both financial instruments measured 
at fair value and financial instruments measured at 
amortized cost whose fair values are disclosed in the 
notes.
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Impairment of financial assets

When an impairment test is carried out for financial 
assets in the category of ‘loans and receivables’, it is 
necessary to determine estimated future cash flows 
from interest payments and the repayment of principal 
as well as from any recovery of collateral. This requires 
estimates and assumptions, which in turn give rise to 
some uncertainty.

 Provisions for employee benefits and other 
provisions

Uncertainty associated with estimates in connection 
with provisions for employee benefits arises primarily 
from the measurement of defined benefit obligations, 
on which actuarial assumptions have a material effect. 
Actuarial assumptions are based on a large number 
of long-term, forward-looking factors, such as salary 
increases, annuity trends, and average life expectancy.

Actual cash outflows in the future related to items for 
which other provisions have been recognized may dif-
fer from the forecast utilization of the provisions.

Income tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on 
the basis of estimates of future taxable income in 
taxable entities. In particular, these estimates have 
an effect on any assessment of the extent to which it 
will be possible to make use of deferred tax assets in 
the future. The calculation of current tax assets and 
liabilities for the purposes of preparing HGB financial 
statements involves estimates of details relevant to 
income tax.

[6] Financial instruments

All financial assets and financial liabilities, including 
all derivatives, are reported on the balance sheet in 
accordance with IAS 39. All financial instruments 
are measured at fair value on initial recognition. The 
amounts initially recognized for financial assets and 
financial liabilities not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss include transaction costs directly at-
tributable to the acquisition of the assets or liabilities 
concerned. The subsequent measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities depends on the IAS 39 
category in which they are classified on acquisition.

Categories of financial instruments

•  Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Within this category a distinction is made between 
financial instruments held for trading and financial 
instruments that are irrevocably designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss on acquisition.

The UMH Group has no financial assets or liabilities in 
its portfolio that the Group has purchased or entered 
into with the intention of generating a gain from 
short-term fluctuations in prices or from the trading 
margin. No financial assets form part of any portfolio 
that has been used to generate short-term profit-
taking in the recent past. The only items reported in 
the held-for-trading category within the UMH Group 
are therefore derivative financial liabilities.

Items in the ‘designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss’ subcategory arise from application of the fair 
value option as specified in IAS 39. Fair value is used 
as the basis for determining both the risks and the 
returns from own-account investments, and these 
figures are then reported to the Board of Managing 
Directors. Application of the fair value option to these 
own-account investments helps harmonize both the 
financial management and the presentation of the 
UMH Group’s financial position and financial perfor-
mance.

•  Held-to-maturity investments

The Union Investment Group has not classified any 
investments to the held-to-maturity category.

•  Loans and receivables

All non-derivative financial instruments that have fixed 
or determinable payments and that are not quoted in 
an active market are classified as loans and receiv-
ables. The basic requirement is that these financial 
instruments must not be classified initially as ‘financial 
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ 
or as ‘available for sale’. Loans and receivables are 
measured at amortized cost.

The Union Investment Group classifies all its trade 
receivables as well as loans to and receivables from 
banks and customers in this category.
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•  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise all non-
derivative financial instruments that have not already 
been assigned to one of the other categories. Avail-
able-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair 
value, with any changes in fair value reported in the 
revaluation reserve via other comprehensive income/
loss, although impairment losses arising as a result of 
a drop in credit rating and any realized gains or losses 
are recognized in the income statement. Reversals of 
impairment losses on debt instruments are recognized 
in the income statement; reversals of impairment 
losses on equity instruments are recognized in other 
comprehensive income/loss. Available-for-sale securi-
ties are reported under investments.

•  Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise financial liabilities 
and debt certificates including bonds unless they have 
been designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
These liabilities are recognized at amortized cost.

The Union Investment Group classifies all its trade 
payables as well as liabilities to banks and customers 
in this category.

Initial recognition and derecognition of  
financial assets and liabilities

Derivatives are initially recognized on the trade date. 
Regular way purchases and sales of non-derivative 
financial assets are recognized and derecognized  
using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair 
value between the trade date and settlement date  
are recognized in accordance with the category of  
the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognized when the con-
tractual rights derived from them expire or are 
transferred to parties outside the Group such that 
substantially all the risks and rewards or control 
of the assets are transferred to the receiving party. 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they have 
been fully repaid.

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment 
losses on financial assets

Financial assets not measured as at fair value through 
profit or loss must be tested at each balance sheet 

date to establish whether there is any objective  
evidence that these assets are impaired. 

In the case of debt instruments, important objective 
evidence includes financial difficulties on the part of 
the issuer or debtor, delay or default on interest pay-
ments or repayments of principal, failure to comply 
with ancillary contractually agreed arrangements or 
the contractually agreed provision of collateral, a 
significant downgrading in credit rating or issue of  
a default rating.

Significant objective evidence of impairment in the 
case of equity instruments includes a lasting deteriora-
tion in financial performance, sustained losses or con-
sumption of equity, substantial changes with adverse 
consequences for the issuer’s technological, market, 
economic or legal environment, and/or a considerable 
or enduring reduction in fair value associated with 
such changes.

As regards securities, the disappearance of an active 
market for a financial asset owing to financial difficul-
ties on the part of the issuer may constitute evidence 
of impairment.

•  Available-for-sale financial assets

If there is a negative revaluation reserve as at the 
balance sheet date for individual financial assets in 
the ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ category, an 
impairment test is carried out to establish whether 
there is any objective evidence, as detailed above, that 
the assets concerned are impaired. In this case the 
cumulative negative amount in the revaluation reserve 
must be reclassified to profit or loss. Impairment losses 
related to equity instruments measured at cost are 
deducted directly from the carrying amounts of the 
financial assets concerned and recognized in profit or 
loss.

In the case of debt instruments, if the reasons for a 
previously recognized impairment loss no longer apply 
and this can be attributed to an event that occurred 
after the impairment was identified, any such impair-
ment loss must be reversed. The reversal of impair-
ment losses in respect of equity instruments measured 
at fair value in the ‘available-for-sale financial assets’ 
category is not permitted. Any subsequent increases 
in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. Impairment losses may not be reversed for 
equity instruments measured at cost.
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Classes of financial instruments

The classes of financial instruments correspond  
to the line items on the balance sheet. The only 
exception is the ‘investments’ line item, which is  
sub divided into the classes ‘investments measured  
at fair value’ and ‘investments measured at amor-
tized cost’; please refer to Note [53].

[7]  Financial instruments at fair value

Fair value is deemed to be the price at which 
a financial instrument can be traded between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length 
transaction that is not a forced sale. The fair value 
of financial instruments is determined on the basis 
of market prices or observable market data at the 
balance sheet date or by using recognized valuation 
models. Investment fund units are measured at the 
redemption price less a redemption charge, provided 
such a charge is stipulated in the contractual terms. 
If securities and derivatives can be traded with suf-
ficient liquidity in active markets, i.e. market prices 
are available, or tradable prices can be established 
by active market participants, then these prices are 
used as the basis for determining fair value. If no 
prices from liquid markets are available, fair value is 
determined using techniques whose parameters are 
based on observable market data. Financial instru-
ments repayable on demand are measured at their 

principal amount. These instruments include cash 
on hand, current account credit balances, and trade 
receivables.

[8] Currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
closing rate prevailing at the balance sheet date into 
the relevant functional currency of the entities in the 
UMH Group. The translation of non-monetary assets 
and liabilities depends on the way in which these 
assets and liabilities are measured. If non-monetary 
assets are measured at amortized cost, they are 
translated using the historical exchange rate. Non-
monetary assets measured at fair value are translated 
at the closing rate. Income, expenses, gains, and losses 
are translated at the prevailing closing rate when 
they are recognized either in profit or loss or in other 
comprehensive income/loss.

If the functional currency of subsidiaries consolidated 
in the UMH Group is different from the Group’s 
reporting currency (euro), all assets and liabilities are 
translated at the closing rate and equity is translated 
at the historical rate. The resulting difference is re-
ported in the currency translation reserve. Income and 
expenses are translated at the average rate. In most 
cases, the functional currency of the entities included 
in the consolidated financial statements is the euro, 
i.e. the group reporting currency.
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[9] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and 
balances with central banks and other government 
institutions. Cash and cash equivalents are measured 
at their nominal amount.

[10] Loans and receivables

Loans to and receivables from banks and customers 
are recognized at amortized cost. Loans are recog-
nized when the loan is paid out.

Premiums, discounts, and transaction costs are 
recognized in the income statement under net interest 
income/expense. Accrued interest income on loans 
and receivables as well as premiums and discounts 
are reported with the pertinent loans and receivables 
under the relevant balance sheet items. Premium and 
discount amounts are allocated over the term of the 
loan/receivable using the effective interest method.

[11] Allowances for losses on loans and 
 receivables

An allowance is recognized for losses on loans and 
receivables if there is objective evidence that it will 
not be possible to collect the full amount when due. 
The amount of the allowance is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows from 
this loan or receivable.

Uncollectible loans and receivables are written off 
immediately; any subsequent receipts from loans and 
receivables already written off are recognized in the 
income statement. The total amount of the allowances 
for losses on loans and receivables is clearly reported 
as a deduction from loans to and receivables from 
banks and customers.

[12] Investments

Investments comprise non-trading bonds and other 
fixed-income securities, equities and other variable-
yield securities, and investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates. This balance sheet line item 
mainly consists of investment fund units. These invest-
ments may be short-term investments for the purposes 
of liquidity management (liquidity), initial funding for 
newly launched funds (funding), investments in pen-
sion plans or employee retention programs (employee 
investments), or longer-term capital investments 
(strategic investments). In addition, temporary invest-
ments in funds used to protect the liquidity of these 

funds are allocated to the ‘funding’ category. Financial 
instruments are measured at fair value on acquisition. 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities depends on the IAS 39 category in 
which they are classified on acquisition.

[13]  Shares in companies accounted for using 
the equity method

Investments in associates and joint ventures are recog-
nized at cost on the consolidated balance sheet when 
significant influence is acquired or the entity is estab-
lished. In subsequent years, the carrying amount of 
the equity is adjusted to take into account the Group’s 
share of the changes in equity. The Group’s share of 
the profit or loss from the associate or joint venture is 
recognized on the consolidated income statement as 
the profit/loss from companies accounted for using the 
equity method.

[14] Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises the following 
assets used by the Group for its own purposes: land 
and buildings that are expected to be used over more 
than one period, and office furniture and equipment. 
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less 
depreciation. If there are indicators as at the balance 
sheet date that the assets may be impaired, an impair-
ment test is carried out. If the higher of the fair value 
less costs to sell or the value in use is found to be 
lower than the cost less depreciation, a correspond-
ing impairment loss is recognized. If the reasons for a 
previously recognized impairment loss no longer apply, 
the impairment loss is reversed up to a maximum of 
the carrying amount net of depreciation that would 
have applied if the impairment loss had not been 
recognized.

The normal useful lives of property, plant and equip-
ment are determined by taking into account expected 
physical wear and tear, technical obsolescence, and 
legal and contractual restrictions.

The normal useful life for buildings is 40 years, and 
for office furniture and equipment between three and 
13 years. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line 
basis. Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation expense on property, plant and 
equipment is included in administrative expenses 
(Note [31]). Impairment losses and reversals of impair-
ment losses as well as gains and losses on disposals 
of property, plant and equipment are reported under 
other net operating income/expense (Note [32]).

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements 

119



[15] Intangible assets

Intangible assets include purchased software and any 
goodwill. Intangible assets are measured at amortized 
cost.

The normal useful life of most software is four or five 
years. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line 
basis.

If there are indications at the balance sheet date that 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life may be 
impaired, the asset is subjected to an impairment test. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, intangible 
assets not yet ready for use, and goodwill are not 
amortized but are tested for impairment once a year.

The Union Investment Group does not develop any 
of its own software as part of its software projects. 
However, standard software products are customized, 
resulting in expenses that are regularly capitalized as 
ancillary costs for purchased software licenses. 

The amortization expense on intangible assets is 
included in administrative expenses (Note [31]). 
Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses 
as well as gains and losses on disposals of intangible 
assets are reported under other net operating income/
expense (Note [32]).

[16]  Non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale

The carrying amount of non-current assets or disposal 
groups for which a sale is planned is recovered prin-
cipally through a sale transaction rather than through 
their continuing use. These assets and disposal groups 
therefore need to be classified as held for sale if the 
criteria set out below are satisfied.

To be classified as held for sale, the assets or disposal 
groups must be available for immediate sale in their 
present condition subject only to terms that are usual 
and customary for sales of such assets or disposal 
groups, and it must be highly probable that a sale will 
take place. A sale is deemed to be highly probable if 
there is a commitment to a plan to sell the asset or 
disposal group, an active program to locate a buyer 
and complete the plan has been initiated, the asset or 
disposal group is being actively marketed for sale at a 
price that is reasonable in relation to the current fair 
value, and a sale is expected to be completed within 
one year of the date on which the asset or disposal 
group is classified as held for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. The assets are no longer depreciated or 
amortized from the date on which they are classified 
as held for sale.

Assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 
are shown separately on the balance sheet under 
non-current assets and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale and liabilities included in disposal 
groups classified as held for sale. Gains and losses 
arising on remeasurement at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell and gains 
and losses on the sale of these assets or disposal 
groups that represent a component of an entity (i.e. 
they represent a cash-generating unit or groups of 
cash-generating units) are recognized in the con-
solidated income statement under profit (loss) from 
discontinued operations, net of tax. Gains and losses 
arising on remeasurement and on the sale of assets 
or disposal groups that do not represent a compo-
nent of an entity are recognized in the consolidated 
income statement under other net operating income/
expense (Note [32]).

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of fund-
ing provided for a number of investment funds, as a 
result of which the Group is in a position to exercise 
control over the fund concerned. These holdings are 
consolidated unless they satisfy the criteria specified 
in IFRS 5 allowing them to be reported as disposal 
groups under non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale and liabilities included in 
disposal groups. This is the case if the UMH Group 
actively endeavors to sell off the holdings immedi-
ately in order to ensure that the funding is repaid 
and if it is highly probable that the investment funds 
concerned will no longer be under the control of the 
UMH Group within one year of the initial acquisition 
of the holdings.

[17] Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized at amortized cost.

Liabilities from financial guarantees that fall within the 
scope of IAS 39 are measured at fair value on initial 
recognition. They are subsequently measured at the 
higher of any provision recognized in accordance with 
IAS 37 and the amount initially recognized. Liabilities 
from financial guarantees are reported as ‘other  
liabilities’ on the balance sheet.

120



[18]  Derivatives (negative fair values)

Figures reported in this item on the balance sheet 
represent funding gaps in capital preservation com-
mitments in accordance with section 1 (1) no. 3 of 
the German Personal Pension Plan Certification Act 
(AltZertG) in connection with the UniProfiRente and 
UniProfiRente Select products issued by Union Invest-
ment Privatfonds GmbH to the extent that such fund-
ing gaps arise on the measurement of each individual 
contract as specified in section II no. 1 in conjunction 
with section V of circular 2/2007 (BA) issued by the 
Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (Ba-
Fin) [German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority] 
on January 18, 2007. The amounts recognized as li-
abilities in each case represent the difference between 
the present value of the pension plan contributions 
guaranteed in accordance with section 1 (1) no. 3 
AltZertG and the market value of the customer port-
folio, provided that this difference is positive.

This item also includes funding gap risks arising from 
guarantee funds that were issued by asset manage-
ment companies belonging to the Group. The car-
rying value is recognized as the difference between 
the present value of the guarantee commitments at 
the next guarantee date of a fund and the net asset 
value of the fund, provided that this difference is 
positive. 

[19]  Provisions for employee benefits

Provisions for employee benefits are recognized in 
accordance with IAS 19.

A distinction is made in occupational pension 
schemes between defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans. In defined contribution plans, 
the entity concerned has no obligation other than 
to pay contributions to an external pension provider. 
The providers covering the pension entitlements of 
employees in the Union Investment Group’s German 
companies are as follows: BVV Versicherungsverein 
des Bankgewerbes a.G., Berlin (BVVaG), BVV Versor-
gungskasse des Bankgewerbes e.V., Berlin (BVVeV), 
R+V Pensionsversicherung a.G., Wiesbaden (RVPaG), 
R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden 
(RVP), and Versorgungskasse genossenschaftlich 
orientierter Unternehmen VGU e.V., Wiesbaden 
(VGUeV). All the plans in this case are in fact de-
fined benefit plans, but they are treated as defined 
contribution plans in accordance with the rules for 
multi-employer plans specified in IAS 19.34.

Under defined benefit plans, the entity concerned has 
an obligation to pay the benefits promised to current 
and former employees, although there is a distinction 
between plans funded by provisions and those funded 
by third-party arrangements.

In accordance with IAS 19, the Union Investment 
Group recognizes provisions for its obligations aris-
ing in connection with pension entitlements and cur-
rent benefits payable to eligible current and former 
employees of the Group as well as their surviving de-
pendants (the plans being funded by both employer 
and employees). There are various different pension 
systems in operation at the individual Union Invest-
ment Group sites depending on local legal, financial 
and tax circumstances. However, all the systems are 
generally based on the length of service and the 
individual employee’s level of remuneration.

Since November 1, 2007, the remaining pension 
obligations under employer-funded pension commit-
ments to retirees and former employee beneficiaries 
with vested pension entitlements and to a significant 
proportion of the beneficiaries who are still em-
ployed have been funded via VGUeV or RVP. Because 
these remaining obligations are funded via external 
pension providers, the UMH Group does not have 
any direct payment obligations in respect of these 
people.

The defined benefit obligation of UMH Group compa-
nies is measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method and is based on actuarial 
evaluations. The calculation of the obligation takes 
into account current projections of mortality, invalidity 
and employee turnover, expected increases in salaries, 
entitlements, and pensions, and uses a realistic 
discount rate. The discount rate is based on interest 
rates currently available for long-term corporate bonds 
from investment-grade issuers, and in 2013 was set 
at 3.25 percent (2012: 3.25 percent). Mortality and 
invalidity assumptions are derived from the Heubeck 
2005 G mortality tables. Irrespective of the investment 
structure of the existing plan assets and pension insur-
ance policies, the expected return on the plan assets 
and pension insurance policies is determined using a 
discount rate of 3.25 percent.

The employer-funded pension obligations are covered 
by VGUeV and RVP assets, which may be used solely 
for the purposes of meeting the pension commitments 
and are protected from the claims of any creditors. The 
VGUeV and RVP assets are plan assets as defined by 
IAS 19 and are netted against the pension obligations. 
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If the assets exceed the pension obligations, an asset 
item is recognized in accordance with IAS 19. If the 
assets do not cover the obligation, the net obligation 
is recognized under provisions for pensions.

In some cases in the past, pension insurance policies 
were taken out to cover the risks arising from pen-
sion obligations. Some of these policies are pledged 
to employees. The premiums are paid by the Union 
Investment Group.

The obligations arising from the deferred compensation 
scheme (employee-funded) are covered by invest-
ments in Union Investment Group investment fund 
units. Since September 2013, these investment fund 
units have been held in a contractual trust arrange-
ment (CTA) by R+V Treuhand GmbH, Wiesbaden. They 
are plan assets as defined by IAS 19 and are netted 
against the corresponding pension obligations.

Actuarial gains or losses may arise from increases or 
decreases in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the fair value of plan assets, or reimburse-
ment rights. The reasons for these actuarial gains 
or losses may include changes in the calculation 
parameters, changes in the estimates of risk from 
pension obligations, differences between the actual 
and expected return on plan assets, and differences 
between the actual and expected return on reimburse-
ment rights.

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit obliga-
tions, plan assets, and reimbursement rights are 
recognized in other comprehensive income/loss in 
accordance with IAS 19.120 (c).

Provisions are recognized to cover obligations arising 
from partial retirement schemes.

[20] Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized in accordance with 
IAS 37.

When determining the amount to be recognized for 
provisions, the UMH Group needs to make assump-
tions about the probability of an outflow of resourc-
es. Although these assumptions are a best estimate 

based on the prevailing circumstances in each case, 
the need to make assumptions means that there 
is a degree of uncertainty involved. When measur-
ing provisions, assumptions also have to be made 
about the likely amount of the outflow of resources. 
A change in the assumptions used may alter the 
amount recognized for the provisions.

[21] Revenue

Revenue comprises management fees, sales commis-
sions, and other commissions. Revenue is recognized 
when the underlying services have been performed, it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group, and the amount of the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is generally recognized over the 
period in which the underlying services are performed. 
In the case of performance-related management fees, 
revenue is recognized when the contractually agreed 
performance criteria have been satisfied.

The management fees represent the payment of a 
consideration for the professional management of 
mutual funds, special funds, individual portfolios, and 
portfolios forming part of advisory agreements with 
institutional clients.

Management fees vary depending on the asset classes 
being managed and sometimes include performance-
related components. 

The volume-related sales commission that is gener-
ated from the sale of fund units with a front-end fee is 
used, among other things, to cover sales and market-
ing expenses. Sales commission is recognized on the 
date of the sale. The amount recognized is reduced 
by the portion of the sales commission passed on to 
sales partners, any such reduction being reported as a 
deduction from revenue.

Interest income generated from deposits and fixed-
income securities is recognized using the effective 
interest method.

Dividend income from long-term equity investments 
and distributions from investment fund units are 
recognized on the date that the legal entitlement to 
the payment arises.
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[22] Income taxes

Current and deferred tax assets are shown under the 
income tax assets balance sheet item; current and 
deferred tax liabilities are reported under income tax 
liabilities.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are calcu-
lated using current tax rates. A corporation tax rate 
of 15.0 percent (2012: 15.0 percent) and a solidarity 
surcharge rate of 5.5 percent (2012: 5.5 percent) of 
corporation tax applied to the German companies. 
The trade tax rate for the subsidiaries was 16.1 
percent (2012: 16.1 percent). Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities arose in connection with differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in accordance with IFRS and those in the tax base. 
These differences are expected to impact on income 
tax liabilities or refunds in the future (temporary dif-
ferences). Deferred taxes were measured using the tax 
rates expected to apply in the country of the company 
concerned in the period in which the taxes will actu-
ally be paid or recovered. Deferred tax assets for as 
yet unused tax loss carryforwards are only recognized 
if it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits in the same tax unit in the future against which 
the losses can be utilized. Current tax receivables and 
payables are reported separately and are not netted, 
nor are they discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized either 
on the income statement (under income taxes) or on 
the balance sheet (under equity) depending on the 
treatment of the items to which they relate. Deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted on the 
balance sheet if they relate to the same tax authori-
ties.

Other, non-income-related taxes are reported under 
other net operating income/expense (Note [32]).

After the balance sheet date, there were no changes 
to tax rates or tax legislation that could have a 
significant impact on the UMH Group’s income tax 
assets or liabilities.

The income tax expense represents the total of the 
current tax expense and the deferred taxes. The 
current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the 
taxable income for the year. Taxable income is differ-
ent from the net profit for the year reported in the 
income statement because taxable income disregards 
income and expense that is not taxable/deductible 
for tax purposes or that is only taxable/deductible for 
tax purposes in subsequent years. The UMH Group’s 

current tax liabilities were calculated using the tax 
rates in force at the balance sheet date or enacted 
prior to the balance sheet date.

The UMH Group is liable to pay income taxes in vari-
ous countries, and the basis for measuring this liabili-
ty varies from country to country. Provisions for taxes 
worldwide were recognized on the basis of profits 
determined in accordance with local stipulations 
and locally applicable tax rates. However, there are 
some transactions whose final taxation cannot be 
definitively determined during the normal course of 
business. The amount of the provisions set aside for 
tax audits is based on estimates as to the probability 
of additional tax becoming due in the future and the 
amount of such liabilities. An appropriate provision 
is recognized for any risks arising from a different 
tax treatment that might be applied in the future. If 
the final taxation of these transactions differs from 
the tax originally assumed, this will impact on the 
current and deferred taxes recognized in the period 
in which the taxation is definitively determined.

The UMH Group also needs to make estimates 
to determine whether any impairment losses 
need to be recognized on deferred tax assets. 
There are two key elements in deciding whether 
deferred tax assets are impaired: an assessment 
of the probability that temporary measurement 
differences will reverse and an assessment as to 
whether the loss carryforwards that have given rise 
to the recognition of deferred tax assets can be 
utilized. These factors depend on the availability of 
future taxable profits during the periods in which the 
temporary measurement differences reverse and the 
tax loss carryforwards can be utilized. The interpreta-
tion of complex tax legislation and the amount and 
timing of future taxable income are subject to a 
degree of uncertainty. There may be changes to the 
taxes payable in future periods as a consequence 
of differences between actual outcomes and as-
sumptions or future changes in these assumptions, 
especially in view of the increasing interdependence 
of international markets.

[23] Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising 
from past events. The existence of these obligations 
will only be confirmed by future events outside the 
control of the UMH Group. Present obligations arising 
out of past events but not recognized because of the 
improbability of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits also constitute contingent liabilities.
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Contingent liabilities are measured at the best 
estimate of possible future outflows of resources 
embodying economic benefits.

[24] Leasing

Under IAS 17, a lease is classified as an operat-
ing lease if substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership are not transferred to the 
lessee. In operating leases, the lessor accounts for 
the assets. In contrast, a finance lease is a lease 
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the asset concerned to the 
lessee.

There are also a very small number of cases in which 
rental income is earned from leasing office space 
to third parties. All such leases are operating leases. 
Lease payments under an operating lease are  
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease and reported as administrative expenses.

There were no contractual arrangements classified  
as finance leases during the reporting year.
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[25] Net interest income

[27] Net fee and commission income

Consolidated income statement disclosures

[26] Allowances for losses on loans and receivables

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Directly recognized write-downs -18 -11 -7

Changes in liabilities from financial guarantee contracts -30 – -30

Total -48 -11 -37

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Interest income and current income 13,721 18,038 -4,317

from lending and money market operations 590 1,169 -579

from investment fund units 12,127 12,357 -230

from long-term equity investments 4 12 -8

from investments in subsidiaries 1,000 4,500 -3,500

Interest expenses -3,085 -2,260 -825

for liabilities to banks and customers -3,070 -1,927 -1,143

for other liabilities -15 -333 318

Total 10,636 15,778 -5,142

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Fee and commission income 1,454,123 1,270,749 183,374

from sales commissions 29,285 32,272 -2,987

from management fees 1,231,483 1,061,394 170,089

from securities custody accounts 40,044 35,902 4,142

other 153,311 141,181 12,130

Fee and commission expenses -502,858 -406,777 -96,081

for volume-based commissions -393,208 -334,680 -58,528

for revenue-based commissions -5,676 -4,956 -720

for securities custody accounts -4,184 -3,932 -252

other -99,790 -63,209 -36,581

Total 951,265 863,972 87,293
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[28] Gains and losses on investments

[30] Profit/loss from companies accounted for using the equity method

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Joint ventures 2,115 1,626 489

Associates -6,782 -2,418 -4,364

Total -4,667 -792 -3,875

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading

-1,505 -2,489 984

Fair value gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading 

-1,504 -2,488 984

Realized gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading

-1 -1 –

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

9,129 18,984 -9,855

Gains and losses on bonds and other fixed-income securities – 29 -29

•  Realized gains and losses on bonds and other fixed-income securities 
(active market)

– 29 -29

Gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

9,129 18,955 -9,826

•  Fair value gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

4,774 18,894 -14,120

•  Realized gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities 
(including other shareholdings)

4,355 61 4,294

Total 7,624 16,495 -8,871

[29] Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Gains and losses on the sale or change in fair value of available-
for-sale equities and other variable yield securities (including 
other shareholdings)

0 – 0

Gains and losses on the sale of other shareholdings or on the 
recognition of impairment losses for other shareholdings 

0 – 0

•  Gains and losses realized on the sale of other shareholdings measured 
at cost

0 – 0

Gains and losses on the sale or change in fair value of available-
for-sale investments in subsidiaries  

-803 – -803

•  Gains and losses realized on the sale of investments in subsidiaries 
measured at cost (measured in accordance with IAS 39) 

-1 – -1

•  Impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries measured at fair value 
(measured in accordance with IAS 39) 

-802 – -802

Total -803 – -803
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[31] Administrative expenses

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Staff expenses -289,706 -284,074 -5,632

Wages and salaries -253,400 -247,520 -5,880

Social security contributions -25,249 -25,970 721

Pension and other post-employment benefit expenses -11,057 -10,584 -473

Other administrative expenses -276,149 -281,789 5,640

IT expenses -69,338 -69,001 -337

Public relations/marketing -50,783 -57,185 6,402

Office expenses -36,038 -35,251 -787

Consultancy -31,929 -34,454 2,525

Property and occupancy costs -30,639 -28,383 -2,256

Other -57,422 -57,515 93

Depreciation and amortization expense -18,247 -14,596 -3,651

Property, plant and equipment -3,183 -3,421 238

Intangible assets -15,064 -11,175 -3,889

Total -584,102 -580,459 -3,643

The following table shows a breakdown of pension and other post-employment benefit expenses: 

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Defined benefit plan expenses -8,133 -7,553 -580

Current service cost -5,152 -3,876 -1,276

Interest cost -6,057 -6,797 740

Expected return on plan assets 2,946 3,005 -59

Expected return on reimbursement rights 130 115 15

Defined contribution plan expenses -2,690 -2,657 -33

Expenses in respect of other pension and post-employment 
benefits

-234 -374 140

Total -11,057 -10,584 -473

[32] Other net operating income/expense

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Other operating income 25,672 27,108 -1,436

Income from the refund of other taxes 7,489 6,746 743

Income from the reversal of accruals 7,265 8,755 -1,490

Income from the reversal of provisions 1,908 1,602 306

Income from exchange differences on currency translation 90 110 -20

Residual other operating income 8,920 9,895 -975

Other operating expenses -6,822 -35,497 28,675

Expenses for other taxes -4,298 -12,821 8,523

Expenses for exchange differences on currency translation -109 -530 421

Restructuring expenses – -15,049 15,049

Impairment losses on intangible assets – -198 198

Residual other operating expenses -2,415 -6,899 4,484

Total 18,850 -8,389 27,239
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[33] Income taxes

The breakdown of income taxes is as follows: 

The following reconciliation shows the relationship between profit/loss before taxes and income taxes in the year 
under review:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Current tax expense -110,582 -88,338 -22,244

Deferred taxes -3,840 2,391 -6,231

Total -114,422 -85,947 -28,475

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Profit before taxes 398,755 306,594 92,161

x income tax rate 30.910% 30.852% 0.058%

= expected income tax expense for 2013 123,255 94,590 28,665

Deduction from tax owing to tax-exempt income -13,266 -14,684 1,418

Addition to tax owing to non-deductible expenses 9,291 9,383 -92

Trade tax variance 3,159 2,354 805

Tax rate differences on income subject to taxation in other countries -3,294 -3,442 148

Reduction/increase in tax owing to changes in the law and the  
introduction of new types of tax

– 5 -5

Current tax expense/income relating to prior periods -5,365 -3,612 -1,753

Deferred tax expense/income relating to prior periods 3,269 1,426 1,843

Other -2,627 -73 -2,554

Tax expense in accordance with IFRS 114,422 85,947 28,475

The income tax expense included income from the interest on recognized corporation tax credits amounting to 
€219 thousand (2012: €1,692 thousand).

The deferred tax income attributable to temporary differences or the reversal thereof that did not result from  
either loss carryforwards or tax rate differences amounted to €3,840 thousand (2012: tax income of 
€2,396 thousand).

The deferred tax expense/tax income attributable to tax rate changes or the introduction of new types of tax is 
shown separately in the reconciliation.
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2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets -121 – -121

Gains (+) and losses (-) arising during the reporting year -923 – -923

Gains (-) and losses (+) reclassified to the consolidated income statement 802 – 802

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Amounts reclassified to the consolidated income statement 
(before tax)

-1,423 1,448 -2,871

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive 
income/loss

-7 44 -51

Amounts reclassified to the consolidated income statement 
(after tax)

-1,430 1,492 -2,922

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (before tax) -121 121 -242

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/
loss

2 -2 4

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (after tax) -119 119 -238

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 
(before tax)

-226 1,792 -2,018

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/
loss

-9 46 -55

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries (after tax)

-235 1,838 -2,073

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and associates 
accounted for using the equity method (before tax)

-1,076 -465 -611

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/
loss

– – –

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method (after tax)

-1,076 -465 -611

Amounts not reclassified to the consolidated income statement 
(before tax)

7,172 -38,567 45,739

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive 
income/loss

-2,359 12,094 -14,453

Amounts not reclassified to the consolidated income statement 
(after tax)

4,813 -26,473 31,286

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (before tax) 7,172 -38,567 45,739

Income taxes relating to this component of other comprehensive income/
loss

-2,359 12,094 -14,453

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (after tax) 4,813 -26,473 31,286

Other comprehensive income/loss (before tax) 5,749 -37,119 42,868

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/loss

-2,366 12,138 -14,504

Other comprehensive income/loss (after tax) 3,383 -24,981 28,364

Statement of comprehensive income disclosures

[34] Amounts reclassified to the consolidated income statement

[35] Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income/loss

The table below shows the income taxes relating to the various components of other comprehensive income/loss.
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Consolidated balance sheet disclosures

[36] Cash and cash equivalents

[37] Loans to and receivables from banks

[38] Loans to and receivables from customers

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Cash on hand 43 63 -20

Total 43 63 -20

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks in Germany 285,235 403,724 -118,489

of which repayable on demand 285,233 403,718 -118,485

Loans to and receivables from banks outside Germany 35,179 79,109 -43,930

of which repayable on demand 34,593 78,977 -44,384

Total 320,414 482,833 -162,419

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from customers in Germany 31,886 45,392 -13,506

Loans to and receivables from customers outside Germany 16,229 11,632 4,597

Total 48,115 57,024 -8,909

Loans to and receivables from customers included loans of €22 thousand secured by mortgage (December 31, 
2012: €25 thousand).

Loans to and receivables from customers also included employer loans to salaried staff amounting to 
€2,159 thousand (December 31, 2012: €4,483 thousand).

In addition, they include receivables from customers of €7,486 thousand (December 31, 2012: €10,780 thou-
sand) in respect of accrued custody account fees for investment accounts under the German Capital Accumula-
tion Act (VermBG).
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[39] Investments

Changes in investments

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Equities and other variable-yield securities 863,532 583,248 280,284

Equities 31 31 –

Investment fund units 863,198 582,914 280,284

Other shareholdings 303 303 –

Investments in subsidiaries 5,725 6,641 -916

Total 869,257 589,889 279,368

Equities and other 
variable-yield 

securities

Investments in 
subsidiaries 

Total

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2013 580,192 6,520 586,712

Additions 676,312 9 676,321

Reclassifications 6,054 – 6,054

Disposals -396,684 -2 -396,686

Currency translation -60 – -60

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2013 865,814 6,527 872,341

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at fair value as 
at Jan. 1, 2013

3,056 121 3,177

Changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss resulting from 
measurement at fair value in 2013

– -121 -121

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value through profit or loss in 
2013

1,596 – 1,596

Reclassifications (measurement at fair value) 718 – 718

Disposals (measurement at fair value) -7,646 – -7,646

Changes resulting from currency translation (measurement at fair value) -6 – -6

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at fair value as 
at Dec. 31, 2013

-2,282 – -2,282

Impairment as at Jan. 1, 2013 – – –

Additions (impairment losses) – -802 -802

Amortization as at Dec. 31, 2013 – -802 -802

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2013 583,248 6,641 589,889

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2013 863,532 5,725 869,257
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[40] Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

There are no active markets for the investments accounted for using the equity method, nor can their fair value 
be reliably determined by using a valuation technique based on assumptions that do not rely on available  
observable market data. There are no other suitable markets elsewhere. The investments in joint ventures and 
associates are largely intended to support the operating activities of the UMH Group over the long term.

Changes in shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

The changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss relating to investments in joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method comprised comprehensive losses of €1,128 thousand (2012: comprehensive loss 
of €465 thousand) attributable to currency translation, comprehensive income of €52 thousand (2012: none) 
attributable to the measurement of available-for-sale financial assets, and comprehensive losses of €1,685 thou-
sand (2012: comprehensive loss of €1,232 thousand) attributable to dividend payments.

The changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss relating to investments in associates accounted 
for using the equity method comprised comprehensive losses of €177 thousand (2012: comprehensive loss of 
€283 thousand) attributable to distributions.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Investments in joint ventures 49,516 49,182 334

Investments in associates 7,601 14,560 -6,959

Total 57,117 63,742 -6,625

Investments in  
joint ventures

Investments in  
associates

Total

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2013 55,282 20,210 75,492

Additions 980 – 980

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2013 56,262 20,210 76,472

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under the  
equity method as at Jan. 1, 2013

-6,100 -5,650 -11,750

Changes resulting from measurement under the equity method -646 -6,959 -7,605

• of which changes recognized in other comprehensive income/loss -2,761 -177 -2,938

• of which changes recognized in profit or loss 2,115 -6,782 -4,667

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under the  
equity method as at Dec. 31, 2013

-6,746 -12,609 -19,355

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2013 49,182 14,560 63,742

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2013 49,516 7,601 57,117
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The following table shows the total of the UMH Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, equity, and income and 
expenses recognized in profit or loss in respect of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method:

The following table shows the total of the UMH Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, equity, and income and 
expenses recognized in profit or loss in respect of associates accounted for using the equity method:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Assets 27,638 28,307 -669

Liabilities 2,019 2,042 -23

Equity 25,619 26,265 -646

Income recognized in profit or loss 9,274 7,906 1,368

Expenses recognized in profit or loss -7,159 -6,280 -879

Net profit/loss for the period 2,115 1,626 489

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Assets 180,933 170,433 10,500

Liabilities 173,162 152,494 20,668

Equity 7,771 17,939 -10,168

Income recognized in profit or loss 34,193 23,011 11,182

Expenses recognized in profit or loss -40,975 -25,429 -15,546

Net profit/loss for the period -6,782 -2,418 -4,364

[41] Property, plant and equipment

Changes in property, plant and equipment

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Land and buildings 44,253 44,798 -545

Office furniture and equipment 5,303 5,972 -669

Total 49,556 50,770 -1,214

Land and buildings Office furniture and 
equipment

Total

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2013 64,426 27,672 92,098

Additions 741 1,251 1,992

Disposals – -584 -584

Currency translation – -36 -36

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2013 65,167 28,303 93,470

Depreciation as at Jan. 1, 2013 -19,628 -21,700 -41,328

Additions (depreciation) -1,286 -1,899 -3,185

Disposals – 580 580

Currency translation – 19 19

Depreciation as at Dec. 31, 2013 -20,914 -23,000 -43,914

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2013 44,798 5,972 50,770

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2013 44,253 5,303 49,556
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[42] Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Software 65,356 57,837 7,519

Total 65,356 57,837 7,519

No goodwill has been recognized by the UMH Group. All intangible assets have a finite useful life.

Software Total

€‘000 €‘000

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2013 153,127 153,127

Additions 22,675 22,675

Disposals -89 -89

Currency translation -13 -13

Cost as at Dec. 31, 2013 175,700 175,700

Amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2013 -95,290 -95,290

Additions (amortization) -15,064 -15,064

Currency translation 10 10

Amortization and impairment losses as at Dec. 31, 2013 -110,344 -110,344

Carrying amount as at Jan. 1, 2013 57,837 57,837

Carrying amount as at Dec. 31, 2013 65,356 65,356
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[43] Income tax assets

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Current tax assets 4,371 8,460 -4,089

Germany 4,371 8,398 -4,027

Rest of the world – 62 -62

Deferred tax assets 15,492 20,300 -4,808

Deferred tax assets (recognized in income) 41,204 40,139 1,065

Deferred tax assets (recognized in equity) 11,451 12,513 -1,062

Netting -37,163 -32,352 -4,811

Total 19,863 28,760 -8,897

Current income tax assets included corporation tax credits of €4,206 thousand (December 31, 2012: €5,146 thou-
sand).

Deferred tax assets that were only expected to be realized after twelve months amounted to €12,025 thousand 
(based on their net value; December 31, 2012: €15,422 thousand).

Deferred tax assets represent the potential income tax relief available from temporary differences between the  
carrying amounts for assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with IFRS and those  
in the tax base in accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group.

No deferred taxes were recognized in respect of loss carryforwards of €60 thousand (December 31, 2012: 
€9 thousand) because, from the current perspective, it was not considered certain that the loss carryforwards  
could be utilized.

Deferred tax assets were recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Assets

Investment fund units 4 113 -109

Investments in subsidiaries and long-term equity investments 27 – 27

Property, plant and equipment 374 387 -13

Intangible assets 10 58 -48

Other assets 1,241 1,425 -184

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities to customers 9 – 9

Derivatives (negative fair values) 2,343 1,918 425

Provisions for employee benefits 40,432 39,353 1,079

Other provisions 635 634 1

Other liabilities 7,580 8,764 -1,184

Total 52,655 52,652 3

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Annual Report Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements 

135



[44] Other assets

[45] Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale

[46] Liabilities to banks

[47] Liabilities to customers

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Other financial receivables 76,887 61,645 15,242

Trade receivables 76,299 61,412 14,887

• of which from investment funds 75,171 60,083 15,088

Residual other receivables 588 233 355

Other tax assets 17,626 10,273 7,353

Residual other assets 8,260 6,286 1,974

•  of which funding surplus for defined benefit plans 3,642 1,574 2,068

•  of which reimbursement rights recognized as assets in accordance with 
IAS 19.116

4,567 3,994 573

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 6,941 5,791 1,150

Total 109,714 83,995 25,719

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Investments 6,297 25,023 -18,726

Total 6,297 25,023 -18,726

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to banks in Germany 15,936 22,310 -6,374

of which repayable on demand 15,936 22,310 -6,374

Liabilities to banks outside Germany 713 548 165

of which repayable on demand 713 548 165

Total 16,649 22,858 -6,209

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to customers in Germany 81 72 9

of which repayable on demand 81 72 9

Liabilities to customers outside Germany 7 18 -11

of which repayable on demand 7 18 -11

Total 88 90 -2
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[48] Derivatives (negative fair values)

[49] Provisions

Provisions for defined benefit obligations

The provisions for defined benefit plans predominantly relate to closed pension schemes that are no longer 
accepting new participants. There are also defined benefit pension plans for members of boards of managing 
directors. New employees in Germany are almost always only offered defined contribution pension plans, for 
which it is not necessary to recognize a provision. The picture outside Germany is more varied because there 
are both defined contribution and defined benefit plans that are open to a small proportion of new employ-
ees. However, the proportion of the Group’s total obligations accounted for by obligations outside Germany 
is not material.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

In connection with guarantee commitments 7,626 6,121 1,505

Total 7,626 6,121 1,505

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Provisions for employee benefits 95,624 161,248 -65,624

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 60,980 118,541 -57,561

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 28,225 31,063 -2,838

• of which provisions for partial retirement schemes 14,028 15,607 -1,579

•  of which residual provisions for other long-term employee benefits 14,197 15,456 -1,259

Provisions for termination benefits 6,419 11,644 -5,225

•  of which provisions for termination benefits linked with restructuring 6,419 11,644 -5,225

Other provisions 14,278 18,379 -4,101

Provisions for litigation costs 965 432 533

Provisions for restructuring 3,986 3,405 581

Residual provisions 9,327 14,542 -5,215

Total 109,902 179,627 -69,725
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The total volume of obligations under defined benefit plans is broken down by risk category as follows:

The final-salary-dependent pension obligations are the employer’s pension obligations to employees, the amount 
of which depends on the employee’s final salary before the insured event occurred. For the most part, they can 
be assumed to constitute a life-long payment obligation. In Germany, section 16 (1) of the Occupational Pensions 
Act (BetrAVG) requires the pension amount to be adjusted every three years to reflect the change in consumer 
prices or net wages. The main risk factors for final-salary-dependent pension plans are therefore longevity, 
changes in salary, inflation risk, and the discount rate.

A significant risk factor – over which the Company has no influence – is the level of market interest rates for 
investment-grade fixed-income corporate bonds because the resulting interest affects both the amount of the 
obligations and the measurement of the plan assets. This risk can be limited by structuring the plans in such  
a way as to match the obligations and the plan assets.

The majority of defined benefit contributory plans comprise obligations to pay fixed capital amounts or amounts 
at fixed interest rates, part of which are paid by the employee and part by the employer. The most prevalent 
pension scheme is funded by employees paying part of their salary into the scheme. Under the other significant 
scheme, the contributions are linked to remuneration and must be paid by the employer. However, this pension 
scheme is closed to new employees.

Accessorial obligations are plans under which the employer commits to a benefit that essentially corresponds 
to the benefit that will be provided when an insured event occurs if the contributions are invested in a financial 
product of a third-party pension provider or insurer. The amount of the pension benefits therefore depends on 
the pension plan of the third-party pension provider, which is also directly exposed to the risk factors longevity, 
changes in salary, and market interest risk. These plans are therefore almost risk free for the employer.

The pension plans in Germany are not subject to minimum funding requirements. Some pension plans outside 
Germany are governed by local regulations, but these do not include minimum funding requirements.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Germany 193,393 185,470 7,923

Final-salary-dependent plans 88,582 88,220 362

Accessorial plans – – –

Defined benefit contributory plans 104,811 97,250 7,561

Rest of the world 3,043 2,671 372

Final-salary-dependent plans – – –

Accessorial plans – – –

Defined benefit contributory plans 3,043 2,671 372

Total 196,436 188,141 8,295
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The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 188,141 137,478 50,663

Current service cost 5,152 3,876 1,276

Interest cost 6,057 6,797 -740

Current pension payments -3,908 -3,710 -198

Employee contributions 3,980 4,459 -479

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) -2,941 39,276 -42,217

of which due to experience adjustments -1,898 -857 -1,041

of which due to changes in financial assumptions -1,043 40,133 -41,176

Reclassifications -45 -35 -10

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 196,436 188,141 8,295

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

Percent Percent Percentage points

Discount rate 3.25 3.25 –

Salary increases 0.00-3.25 0.00-3.25 –

Pension increases 0.00-3.00 0.00-3.00 –

Staff turnover 0.00-6.00 0.00-6.00 –

Dec. 31, 2013 Change

€‘000 Percent

Change in the present value of defined benefit obligations as at Dec. 31, 2013 if 196,436

the discount rate were 100 basis points higher -24,557 -12.5%

the discount rate were 100 basis points lower 30,955 15.8%

the future salary increase were 50 basis points higher 2,636 1.3%

the future salary increase were 50 basis points lower -2,471 -1.3%

the future pension increase were 25 basis points higher 2,658 1.4%

the future pension increase were 25 basis points lower -2,544 -1.3%

the future life expectancy were one year longer 3,028 1.5%

the future life expectancy were one year shorter -3,235 -1.6%

The following actuarial assumptions were used in the measurement of the obligations:

Based on the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the weighted absolute percentages for the salary 
increase parameter and pension increase parameter are 1.50 percent (2012: 1.55 percent) and 1.50 percent 
(2012: 1.55 percent) respectively. The weighted absolute percentage for staff turnover is 0.88 percent  
(2012: 0.87 percent).

The duration of the defined benefit obligations as at December 31, 2013 was 15 years for Germany  
(December 31, 2012: 15 years) and 15 years for the rest of the world (December 31, 2012: 16 years).

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to the main actuarial assumptions. 
The effects shown are based on an isolated change to one assumption, with the other assumptions remaining 
the same. Correlation effects between individual parameters are not considered.
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Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Present value of defined benefit obligations 196,436 188,141 8,295

of which not funded by plan assets 41,124 111,928 -70,804

of which funded by plan assets 155,312 76,213 79,099

Fair value of plan assets 139,098 71,175 67,923

Total obligation (net) 57,338 116,966 -59,628

Funding surplus 3,642 1,574 2,068

Provisions recognized for defined benefit obligations 60,980 118,541 -57,561

Fair value of reimbursement rights 4,567 3,994 573

Plan assets

The funding status of the defined benefit obligations is shown in the following table:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 71,175 66,784 4,391

Expected return on plan assets 2,946 3,005 -59

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 4,199 705 3,494

of which due to experience adjustments 4,199 705 3,494

Funding of plan assets 63,187 3,138 60,049

of which contributions by employer 63,187 3,138 60,049

of which contributions by employees – – –

Pension benefits paid -2,409 -2,457 48

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 139,098 71,175 67,923

The following table shows the changes in plan assets:

The actual return on plan assets amounted to €7,145 thousand in the year under review (2012: €3,710 thou-
sand). 

Additional contributions to plan assets of €7,509 thousand are expected in 2014 (2013: €3,561 thousand).

The plan assets mainly comprise entitlements arising from insurance contracts and investment fund units with 
broadly diversified portfolios. The risks attached to plan assets in connection with entitlements arising from insur-
ance contracts are reviewed regularly by the pension providers VGUeV and RVP in order to determine the funding 
ratio for the obligation.

The defined benefit obligations and the plan assets are in the euro currency areas.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Investment fund units (securities funds) – no market price quoted 
in an active market

61,751 – 61,751

Investment fund units (real estate funds) – no market price quoted 
in an active market

1,144 – 1,144

Entitlements arising from insurance policies 76,203 71,175 5,028

Total 139,098 71,175 67,923

The fair value of the plan assets is broken down by asset class as follows:
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Changes in other provisions

Provisions for 
litigation costs

Provisions for 
restructuring

Residual 
provisions

Total

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1, 2013 432 3,405 14,542 18,379

Additions 558 – 1,757 2,315

Utilizations -25 -818 -6,327 -7,170

Reversals – – -647 -647

Reclassifications – 1,410 – 1,410

Effect from the increase in the discounted amount over time and change in 
the discount rate

– -11 2 -9

Closing balance as at Dec. 31, 2013 965 3,986 9,327 14,278

The residual maturities of other provisions are shown in the following table:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Provisions for litigation costs 965 432 533

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years 965 432 533

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for restructuring 3,986 3,405 581

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years 2,115 1,395 720

More than five years 1,871 2,010 -139

Indefinite – – –

Residual provisions 9,327 14,542 -5,215

Up to three months 559 624 -65

Three months to one year 2,372 1,846 526

One year to five years 4,455 9,781 -5,326

More than five years 1,941 2,291 -350

Indefinite – – –

Reimbursement rights

The following table shows the changes in reimbursement rights:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 3,994 3,917 77

Expected return on reimbursement rights 130 115 15

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 33 5 28

of which due to experience adjustments 33 5 28

Funding of reimbursement rights 454 315 139

of which contributions by employer 442 278 164

of which contributions by employees 12 37 -25

Pension benefits paid -44 -370 326

Settlements – 12 -12

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 4,567 3,994 573

The actual return on reimbursement rights amounted to €163 thousand in the year under review  
(2012: €120 thousand).
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[50] Income tax liabilities

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Current income tax liabilities 61,943 60,414 1,529

Provisions for income taxes 61,791 60,182 1,609

Income tax liabilities 152 232 -80

Deferred tax liabilities 5,807 4,409 1,398

Deferred tax liabilities (recognized in profit or loss) 41,349 36,436 4,913

Deferred tax liabilities (recognized in equity) 1,621 325 1,296

Netting -37,163 -32,352 -4,811

Total 67,750 64,823 2,927

Provisions for income taxes are tax liabilities for which a final and binding tax assessment notice has not yet 
been issued.

Income tax liabilities include payment obligations for current income taxes owed to tax authorities both in  
Germany and in other countries.

Deferred tax liabilities represent the potential income tax expense arising from temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts for assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with IFRS and 
those in the tax base in accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group.

Deferred tax liabilities that were only expected to be actually incurred after twelve months amounted to 
€5,668 thousand (based on their net value; December 31, 2012: €4,398 thousand).

Deferred tax liabilities were recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Assets

Investment fund units 6,084 3,631 2,453

Investments in subsidiaries and long-term equity investments – 2 -2

Property, plant and equipment 8,118 8,112 6

Intangible assets 0 1 -1

Liabilities and equity

Provisions for employee benefits 27,740 24,929 2,811

Other provisions 987 34 953

Other liabilities 41 52 -11

Total 42,970 36,761 6,209

[51] Other liabilities

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 28 – 28

Other financial liabilities 11,872 22,356 -10,484

Liabilities to social security providers 1,107 1,068 39

Trade payables 8,953 5,857 3,096

Sundry other liabilities 1,812 15,431 -13,619

Other tax liabilities 50,654 57,840 -7,186

Accruals 419,283 358,925 60,358

of which for sales commissions 296,755 244,907 51,848

Residual other liabilities 422 388 34

Deferred income 104 117 -13

Total 482,363 439,626 42,737
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[52] Equity

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Subscribed capital 87,130 87,130 –

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617 –

Retained earnings 467,727 395,842 71,885

Revaluation reserve 52 112 -60

Currency translation reserve -623 740 -1,363

Unappropriated earnings 280,418 217,724 62,694

Non-controlling interests 8,033 6,626 1,407

Total 861,354 726,791 134,563

Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital corresponds to the share capital of UMH AG. It amounts to €87,130 thousand (December 
31, 2012: €87,130 thousand) and is divided into 29,043,466 (December 31, 2012: 29,043,466) fully paid-up, 
registered no-par-value shares. The UMH Group did not hold any treasury shares at the balance sheet date. There 
were no preferential rights or restrictions in relation to the distribution of dividends.

A dividend of €5.17 per share (2012: €5.17 per share) was distributed to shareholders during the reporting year 
in accordance with the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting held on May 13, 2013. This equates to 
a total dividend payment of €150,155 thousand (2012: €150,155 thousand).

The payment of a dividend of €7.06 per share will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 
May 12, 2014. This would equate to a total dividend payment of €205,047 thousand. The Supervisory Board of 
UMH AG approved the proposed appropriation of profit at its meeting held on March 4, 2014.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves comprise the premiums arising on the issue of shares in the Company.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprise the undistributed earnings from prior years, actuarial gains and losses on defined 
benefit plans and plan assets in accordance with IAS 19.120 (c), and on reimbursement rights in accordance with 
IAS 19.116, together with the effects of the first-time adoption of IFRS with the exception of the effects from the 
remeasurement of available-for-sale financial instruments.

Breakdown of changes in retained earnings by component of other comprehensive income:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 4,752 -26,026 30,778

Total 4,752 -26,026 30,778
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Currency translation reserve

The effects of exchange rates arising when the financial statements of Group companies denominated in foreign 
currency are translated into the group reporting currency (euro) are reported in the currency translation reserve.

Breakdown of changes in the currency translation reserve by component of other comprehensive income:

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve comprises the effects from the remeasurement of the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial instruments (net of the associated deferred taxes) before these effects can be recognized in profit or 
loss. Gains and losses are only recognized in profit or loss when the relevant asset is sold or an impairment loss 
has been recognized.

Breakdown of changes in the revaluation reserve by component of other comprehensive income/loss:

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of subsidiaries’ equity not attributable to UMH AG.

Breakdown of changes in non-controlling interests by component of other comprehensive income:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries

-235 1,838 -2,073

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method

-1,128 -465 -663

Total -1,363 1,373 -2,736

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets -112 112 -224

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method

52 – 52

Total -60 112 -172

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets -7 7 -14

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 61 -447 508

Total 54 -440 494
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Financial instruments disclosures

[53] Categories of financial instruments

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans and receivables 445,416 601,502 -156,086

Loans to and receivables from banks 320,414 482,833 -162,419

Loans to and receivables from customers 48,115 57,024 -8,909

Other financial receivables 76,887 61,645 15,242

Other financial liabilities 28,609 45,304 -16,695

Liabilities to banks 16,649 22,858 -6,209

Liabilities to customers 88 90 -2

Other financial liabilities 11,872 22,356 -10,484

Available for sale 6,059 6,975 -916

Investments 6,059 6,975 -916

 •  Equities and other variable-yield securities (including long-term equity 
investments)

334 334 –

 - measured at cost 334 334 –

• Investments in subsidiaries 5,725 6,641 -916

 - measured at fair value 5,700 6,624 -924

 - measured at cost 25 17 8

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 869,495 607,937 261,558

Investments 863,198 582,914 280,284

•  Equities and other variable-yield securities (including long-term equity 
investments)

863,198 582,914 280,284

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 6,297 25,023 -18,726

Held for trading 7,626 6,121 1,505

Derivatives (negative fair values) 7,626 6,121 1,505

Investments with a carrying amount of €359 thousand (December 31, 2012: €351 thousand) were measured at 
cost. There are no active markets for these investments, nor can their fair value be reliably determined by using 
a valuation technique based on assumptions that do not rely on available observable market data. There are no 
other suitable markets elsewhere. The purpose of these investments is largely to support the business operations 
of the UMH Group on a permanent basis.

The carrying amount of equity instruments measured at cost and derecognized in 2013 amounted to €2 thou-
sand (2012: none).

The financial instruments in the UMH Group do not form part of any hedge.
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[54] Items of income, expense, gains and losses

Net gains and losses

The breakdown of net gains or net losses on financial instruments by IAS 39 category for financial assets and 
financial liabilities is as follows:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 19,751 28,852 -9,101

Held-for-trading financial instruments -1,505 -2,489 984

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss 21,256 31,341 -10,085

Available-for-sale financial assets 201 4,512 -4,311

Loans and receivables 573 1,158 -585

Other financial liabilities -3,083 -2,057 -1,026

Net gains or net losses comprise gains and losses on fair value measurement through profit or loss, impairment 
losses and reversals of impairment losses, and gains and losses on the sale or early repayment of the financial 
instruments concerned. These items also include interest income and expense as well as current income.

Interest income and expense

The following total interest income and expense arose in connection with financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not at fair value through profit or loss:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Interest income 590 1,169 -579

Interest expenses -3,083 -2,057 -1,026

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Fee and commission income 1,454,123 1,270,749 183,374

Fee and commission expenses -500,825 -404,857 -95,968

Items of income and expense arising from commissions for asset management provided for third-
party account

Impairment losses on financial assets

The table below shows impairment losses on financial assets broken down by financial instruments in the follow-
ing balance sheet line items:

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from customers 18 11 7

Investments 802 – 802
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[55] Fair values

If there is an active market in financial assets and financial liabilities, the fair value is based on the relevant  
market price as at the balance sheet date. The fair values of investment fund units are the redemption prices  
(net asset value) published by the relevant asset management companies in accordance with requirements under 
national investment law. If the contractual conditions of a fund stipulate a redemption charge, the fair value is 
reduced by this charge.

The fair value of investments classified as equity instruments that are not quoted in an active market is deter-
mined using an income capitalization approach based on parameters such as forecasts, calculated free cash 
flows, beta factors, or risk-adjusted and interpolated interest rates based on the basic discount curve. If fair value 
cannot be reliably determined largely owing to the unavailability of profit planning data, equity instruments that 
are not quoted in an active market are measured at cost.

Owing to the short residual period, the carrying amount is used as a realistic estimate of the fair value of finan-
cial resources, current trade receivables and other receivables, checking account and instant-access deposits 
with banks, current trade payables and other payables, checking-account liabilities to banks, and borrowing 
with or without an interest rate that is fixed in the short term. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets in the table reflect the amount that best represents the Com-
pany’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date, although collateral and other credit 
enhancements held were not taken into consideration. The maximum credit risk for negative fair values on 
derivatives amounted to €4,241 thousand (December 31, 2012: €4,771 thousand) in respect of capital pres-
ervation commitments for the UniProfiRente retirement pension product and €3,385 thousand (December 31, 
2012: €1,350 thousand) in respect of minimum payment commitments in connection with guarantee funds 
launched by asset management companies belonging to the Group.

The valuation methods described above are used to determine the fair values of all classes of financial  
instrument.

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks (fair value) 320,414 482,833 -162,419

Loans to and receivables from banks (carrying amount) 320,414 482,833 -162,419

Loans to and receivables from customers (fair value) 48,115 57,024 -8,909

Loans to and receivables from customers (carrying amount) 48,115 57,024 -8,909

Investments (fair value) 869,257 589,889 279,368

Investments (carrying amount) 869,257 589,889 279,368

Other financial receivables (fair value) 76,887 61,645 15,242

Other financial receivables (carrying amount) 76,887 61,645 15,242

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (fair value) 6,297 25,023 -18,726

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (carrying 
amount)

6,297 25,023 -18,726

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to banks (fair value) 16,649 22,858 -6,209

Liabilities to banks (carrying amount) 16,649 22,858 -6,209

Liabilities to customers (fair value) 88 90 -2

Liabilities to customers (carrying amount) 88 90 -2

Negative fair values on derivatives (fair value) 7,626 6,121 1,505

Negative fair values on derivatives (carrying amount) 7,626 6,121 1,505

Other financial liabilities (fair value) 11,872 22,356 -10,484

Other financial liabilities (carrying amount) 11,872 22,356 -10,484
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[56] Fair value hierarchy

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet

The recurring fair value measurements are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical financial assets or 
liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Investment 
fund units held for own-account investing activities are assigned to this level of the fair value hierarchy.

Level 3 fair value measurements use models with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observ-
able market data (unobservable inputs).

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Investments 868,898 589,538 279,360

of which level 1 – 582,914 -582,914

of which level 2 863,198 – 863,198

of which level 3 5,700 6,624 -924

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 6,297 25,023 -18,726

of which level 1 – 25,023 -25,023

of which level 2 6,297 – 6,297

of which level 3 – – –

Total 875,195 614,561 260,634

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Derivatives (negative fair values) 7,626 6,121 1,505

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 7,626 6,121 1,505

of which level 3 – – –

Total 7,626 6,121 1,505
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The transfer from level 1 to level 2 is attributable to a revised estimate of the market observability of the valua-
tion parameters used in the valuation method.

Transfers between levels 1 and 2 take place when there is a change in the inputs that is relevant to categoriza-
tion in the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value measurements within level 3 

The table below shows the changes in the recurring fair value measurements of assets within level 3 during the 
year under review:

As part of the processes for fair value measurement, the UMH Group reviews whether the valuation methods 
used for the measurement are typical and whether the valuation parameters used in the valuation methods are 
observable in the market. This review takes place at every balance sheet date. On the basis of this review, the 
fair values are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy. In the UMH Group, transfers between the levels 
generally take place as soon as there is a change in the inputs that is relevant to categorization in the fair value 
hierarchy. In each step of this process, both the distinctive features of the particular product type and the distinc-
tive features of the business models of the group entities are taken into consideration.

The loss recognized in profit or loss of €802 thousand is reported on the consolidated income statement within 
gains and losses on investments. The loss recognized in other comprehensive income of €121 thousand is re-
ported on the statement of comprehensive income within gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets.

The fair value of investments in subsidiaries within level 3 is determined on the basis of the income capitalization 
approach using unobservable inputs, such as future income. The risk-adjusted interest rate is 8.75 percent.

Strategically held investments in subsidiaries and other shareholdings whose fair values are calculated using an 
income capitalization approach are not included in a sensitivity analysis.

Transfers

Assets held at the balance sheet date and measured at fair value on a recurring basis were transferred as follows 
between the levels of the fair value hierarchy:

Transfers from level 1 to level 2 2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Investments 582,914 – 582,914

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 25,023 – 25,023

Level 3 – financial assets 2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Opening balance as at Jan. 1 6,624 – 6,624

Reclassifications – 6,503 -6,503

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value -923 121 -1,044

of which through profit or loss -802 – -802

of which through other comprehensive income -121 121 -242

Closing balance as at Dec. 31 5,700 6,624 -924
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Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value

Recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities that are not recognized at fair value on the balance 
sheet, but whose fair value must be disclosed, are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Investments within level 3 comprise equities and other variable-yield securities (including long-term equity invest-
ments) and investments in subsidiaries that are measured at cost.

Assets Dec. 31, 2013

€‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks 320,414

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 320,414

of which level 3 –

Loans to and receivables from customers 48,115

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 48,115

of which level 3 –

Investments 359

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 –

of which level 3 359

Other financial receivables 76,887

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 76,887

of which level 3 –

Total 445,775

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013

€‘000

Liabilities to banks 16,649

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 16,649

of which level 3 –

Liabilities to customers 88

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 88

of which level 3 –

Other financial liabilities 11,872

of which level 1 –

of which level 2 11,872

of which level 3 –

Total 28,609
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[57] Contractual maturity analysis

The maturity analysis shows the contractually agreed cash inflows and outflows.

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks 320,414 482,833 -162,419

Up to one month 320,414 482,833 -162,419

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Loans to and receivables from customers 48,915 14,681 34,234

Up to one month 40,457 43,027 -2,570

One month to three months 1,248 5,667 -4,419

Three months to one year 489 77 412

One year to five years 5,614 7,290 -1,676

More than five years 1,107 1,647 -540

Indefinite – – –

Investments 869,257 589,889 279,368

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 869,257 589,889 279,368

Other financial receivables 76,887 61,645 15,242

Up to one month 76,297 61,436 14,861

One month to three months 157 23 134

Three months to one year 203 61 142

One year to five years 9 25 -16

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 221 100 121

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 6,297 25,023 -18,726

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 6,297 25,023 -18,726
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Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to banks 16,649 22,858 -6,209

Up to one month 16,649 22,858 -6,209

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Liabilities to customers 88 90 -2

Up to one month 88 90 -2

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Derivatives (negative fair values) 7,626 6,121 1,505

Up to one month 24 0 24

One month to three months 1 – 1

Three months to one year 12 0 12

One year to five years 608 56 552

More than five years 3,597 4,715 -1,118

Indefinite 3,384 1,350 2,034

Other financial liabilities 11,872 22,356 -10,484

Up to one month 8,591 19,622 -11,031

One month to three months 2,032 820 1,212

Three months to one year 545 609 -64

One year to five years 657 1,264 -607

More than five years 47 41 6

Indefinite – – –

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Financial guarantees 45,326 47,327 -2,001

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 45,326 47,327 -2,001

The table above shows financial guarantees’ potential cash outflows rather than their expected outflows.
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[58] Assets past due

Assets past due but not yet impaired Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from customers 215 157 58

Up to three months 4 – 4

Three months to six months 3 19 -16

Six months to one year 40 59 -19

More than one year 168 79 89

Other financial receivables 4 4 –

Up to three months – – –

Three months to six months – 4 -4

Six months to one year – – –

More than one year 4 – 4

[59] Foreign currency volume

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks 20,330 17,634 2,696

US dollar (USD) 761 633 128

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) 0 1 -1

Pound sterling (GBP) 2 2 –

Polish zloty (PLN) 19,553 16,983 2,570

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 14 15 -1

Loans to and receivables from customers 1,616 1,351 265

US dollar (USD) 1,430 1,046 384

Swiss franc (CHF) – 251 -251

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 140 15 125

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 46 39 7

Investments 3,451 3,483 -32

US dollar (USD) 0 0 –

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) 3,451 3,483 -32

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Other financial receivables 2,506 3,374 -868

US dollar (USD) 34 5 29

Swiss franc (CHF) 1 – 1

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 63 23 40

Polish zloty (PLN) 2,406 3,319 -913

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – 25 -25

Other foreign currencies 2 2 –

Total 27,903 25,842 2,061
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Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Other financial liabilities 965 677 288

US dollar (USD) 34 0 34

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 0 – 0

Polish zloty (PLN) 931 677 254

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 965 677 288

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Financial guarantees 45,326 47,327 -2,001

US dollar (USD) 45,326 47,327 -2,001

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 45,326 47,327 -2,001

The nominal amount is reported for financial guarantees.
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Other disclosures
 
[60] Equity management

As a subsidiary of DZ BANK, UMH AG is not subject to separate consolidated supervision as a banking group 
under the German Banking Act (KWG) and, consequently, nor is it subject to any regulatory capital requirements 
at UMH Group level. However, some of the companies in the Union Investment Group are – at individual bank 
level – subject to regulatory capital requirements under national legislation, which was complied with at all times 
during the reporting year. Regulatory capital requirements in the Federal Republic of Germany are specified for 
capital management companies by section 25 of the German Capital Investment Code (KAGB) and for Union 
Investment Service Bank AG by section 10 KWG. The Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG also uses the 
corporate guidelines on integrated risk and capital management as the basis for ensuring appropriate capital  
adequacy in the Union Investment Group. In these procedures, the aggregate risk is compared against the  
available aggregate risk cover for a given analysis period in order to make sure that, with a specified confidence 
level, the potential losses do not exceed the aggregate risk cover. Aggregate risk cover comprises the equity 
reported on the balance sheet and quasi-equity components, and also takes into account hidden reserves and  
liabilities that would crystallize in the event of a loss. Please refer to the statement of changes in equity for  
further information on the composition of and changes in equity. Additional details on risk management can  
also be found in the risk report within the group management report.

The Union Investment Group (through UMH AG) had total assets under management of €206,160,485 thousand 
at the balance sheet date (December 31, 2012: €190,535,266 thousand). The fund assets comprise equity funds, 
fixed-income funds, money-market funds, mixed funds, other securities funds, capital preservation funds, real 
estate funds, alternative investment funds, and hybrid funds issued by the Union Investment Group.

The Union Investment Group also manages assets as part of its fund-linked asset management and institutional 
asset management business, under advisory and outsourcing mandates, and as part of private banking. The 
fund value of funds that have been issued by the Union Investment Group but whose portfolio management has 
been outsourced is shown as a deduction. The definition of assets under management is based on the aggregate 
statistics from the Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies (BVI), Frankfurt am Main.

Assets managed on behalf of group companies are included in the figures presented above. Some of these assets 
are accounted for in accordance with SIC-12. To maintain consistency with the BVI aggregate statistics, the fund 
volumes for BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong, a joint venture consolidated using the  
equity method, together with IPConcept (Luxemburg) S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen, (IPC Luxembourg) and  
IPConcept (Schweiz) AG, Zurich, (IPC Switzerland) have also been included in the figures presented above.  
IPC Luxembourg and IPC Switzerland are non-consolidated subsidiaries in the DZ BANK Group.

[61] Assets under management

Volume of assets under management

The volume of assets under management in the Union Investment Group at the balance sheet date was as  
follows:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Fund assets 182,120,755 173,662,927 8,457,828

Volume in other formats 30,006,813 26,023,159 3,983,654

of which fund-linked asset management 330,000 315,000 15,000

of which institutional asset management 6,220,636 5,561,119 659,517

of which advisory and outsourcing 23,456,177 20,147,040 3,309,137

Accounts managed by third parties -5,967,083 -9,150,820 3,183,737

Total 206,160,485 190,535,266 15,625,219
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Net inflows to assets under management

The table below gives a breakdown of the net inflows to assets under management in the Union Investment Group.

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Net inflows (fund assets) 3,343,514 7,463,310 -4,119,796

Net inflows (in other formats) 2,924,758 3,666,887 -742,129

of which institutional asset management 702,052 1,178,468 -476,416

of which advisory and outsourcing 2,222,706 2,488,419 -265,713

Net change in accounts managed by third parties 3,852,223 -1,265,298 5,117,521

Total 10,120,495 9,864,899 255,596

Net inflows to assets under management constitute the balance of inflows to and outflows from the product for-
mats that make up assets under management. There were net inflows of €10,120,495 thousand in 2013 (2012: 
net inflows of €9,864,899 thousand).

Volume of fund assets

The following table shows the volume of fund assets in the Union Investment Group at the balance sheet date:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Mutual funds 120,814,712 114,827,925 5,986,787

Equity funds 30,113,435 26,176,837 3,936,598

Fixed-income funds 33,859,561 33,181,914 677,647

Money-market funds 2,029,535 1,846,106 183,429

Mixed funds 14,969,544 16,346,498 -1,376,954

Other securities funds 1,093,539 350,328 743,211

Capital preservation funds 14,798,389 15,422,908 -624,519

Open-ended real estate funds 22,612,814 20,203,476 2,409,338

Alternative investment funds 726,365 803,985 -77,620

Hybrid funds 611,530 495,873 115,657

Special funds 61,306,043 58,835,002 2,471,041

Equity funds 326,744 313,677 13,067

Fixed-income funds 10,109,564 8,788,067 1,321,497

Mixed funds 40,593,681 39,977,636 616,045

Other securities funds 288,179 – 288,179

Capital preservation funds 8,058,803 8,271,485 -212,682

Special real estate funds 1,929,072 1,484,137 444,935

Total 182,120,755 173,662,927 8,457,828
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Net inflows to fund assets

The table below gives a breakdown of the net inflows to fund assets in the Union Investment Group.

Number of funds managed

The number of investment funds managed at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

Number Number Number

Mutual funds 690 708 -18

Equity funds 174 184 -10

Fixed-income funds 141 145 -4

Money-market funds 12 11 1

Mixed funds 245 246 -1

Other securities funds 6 6 –

Capital preservation funds 95 96 -1

Open-ended real estate funds 6 9 -3

Alternative investment funds 5 6 -1

Hybrid funds 6 5 1

Special funds 311 323 -12

Equity funds 1 1 –

Fixed-income funds 24 23 1

Mixed funds 197 191 6

Other securities funds 2 – 2

Capital preservation funds 76 83 -7

Special real estate funds 11 25 -14

Total 1,001 1,031 -30

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Mutual funds 1,450,979 5,306,711 -3,855,732

Equity funds -254,431 -176,711 -77,720

Fixed-income funds 1,387,801 4,170,169 -2,782,368

Money-market funds 194,167 -1,048,932 1,243,099

Mixed funds -2,111,408 1,443,817 -3,555,225

Other securities funds -24,895 -5,782 -19,113

Capital preservation funds -447,158 -1,156,073 708,915

Open-ended real estate funds 2,698,801 2,153,810 544,991

Alternative investment funds -50,431 -23,207 -27,224

Hybrid funds 58,533 -50,380 108,913

Special funds 1,892,535 2,156,599 -264,064

Equity funds -42,560 -48,478 5,918

Fixed-income funds 1,368,964 523,150 845,814

Mixed funds 48,221 2,005,347 -1,957,126

Other securities funds 288,179 – 288,179

Capital preservation funds -219,231 -469,473 250,242

Special real estate funds 448,962 146,053 302,909

Total 3,343,514 7,463,310 -4,119,796
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[62] List of shareholdings

The shareholdings of Union Asset Management Holding AG at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated investment funds

Joint ventures accounted for under the equity method

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

Fund management companies

Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) –

Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg 90.0% –

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) –

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg 94.0% –

Union Investment Towarzystwo Funduszy Inwestycyjnych S.A., Warsaw 100.0% –

Financial services institutions

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 87.0% 2) –

Banks

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) –

Securities trading companies

attrax S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Financial Services S.A., Luxembourg – 100.0%

Service companies

UIR Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg – 3) 94.0%

Union IT-Services GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) 3) –

Union Service-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 1) 3) –

Other subsidiaries

BIG-Immobilien GmbH & Co Betriebs KG, Frankfurt am Main 94.0% 3) 6.0%

BIG-Immobilien Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% 3) –

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

UI Vario: 2, Luxembourg – 100.0%

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong 49.0% –

VR Consultingpartner GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 49.0% –

1)  As permitted by section 264 (3) HGB, the annual general meetings of these subsidiaries decided not to publish their annual financial statements for the finan-
cial year from January 1 to December 31, 2013 pursuant to section 325 HGB.

2) However, 100 percent of the voting shares are held.
3) No audited and certified annual financial statements are prepared by these companies.
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Investment funds held for sale

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 2, Hamburg 100.0% –

UIN MultiAssetFonds, Frankfurt am Main – 98.8%

UniEuroAnleihen, Luxembourg – 60.8%

1) No audited and certified annual financial statements are prepared by these companies.

Associates accounted for under the equity method

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

compertis Beratungsgesellschaft für betriebliches Vorsorgemanagement mbH, Wiesbaden 49.0% –

Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 49.0% 1) –

R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden 49.0% –

Non-consolidated subsidiaries

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

UII Issy 3 Moulins SARL, Paris – 1) 90.0%

UIR FRANCE 1 S.a.r.l., Paris – 1) 94.0%

UIR FRANCE 2 S.a.r.l., Paris – 1) 94.0%

UNION INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE ASIA PACIFIC PTE. LTD., Singapore – 1) 94.0%

Union Investment Real Estate France SAS, Paris – 94.0%
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Non-consolidated investment funds

Name and registered office Shareholding  
− direct

Shareholding 
− indirect

UIN-Fonds Nr. 776, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 779, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 780, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 781, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 782, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 783, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 784, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 785, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 786, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 787, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 788, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 789, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 790, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 791, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 792, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 793, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 794, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 795, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 796, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 797, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 800, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 802, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UIN-Fonds Nr. 803, Frankfurt am Main 100.0% –

UniVorsorge 1, Luxembourg – 100.0%

UniVorsorge 2, Luxembourg – 78.4%

UniVorsorge 3, Luxembourg – 84.7%

UniVorsorge 4, Luxembourg – 82.4%

UniVorsorge 5, Luxembourg – 74.7%

UniVorsorge 6, Luxembourg – 71.4%

UniVorsorge 7, Luxembourg – 83.8%

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 3, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 4, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 5, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 3, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 4, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 5, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 6, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 7, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 8, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 9, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 10, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 11, Hamburg 100.0% –

UII Immobilien Treuhandfonds Nr. 12, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniInstitutional Residential Real Estate, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniImmo: Flexibel, Hamburg 100.0% –

UniImmo: Metropolen, Hamburg 100.0% –
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[63] Contingent liabilities

There are contingent liabilities of €429 thousand (December 31, 2012: none) for outstanding subscription  
obligations in respect of a fund (UII Shopping Nr. 1) of Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg, 
of €10,727 thousand.

The likelihood of the contingent liabilities crystallizing – and in what volume – is uncertain.

[64] Other obligations

The Union Investment Group has capital preservation commitments under section 1 (1) no. 3 of the German 
Personal Pension Plan Certification Act (AltZertG) amounting to €8,063,244 thousand (December 31, 2012: 
€6,956,973 thousand). These commitments are the total amount of the contributions paid by investors into 
the individual variants of the UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select products of Union Investment Privatfonds 
GmbH. Statutory provisions specify that this is the minimum amount that must be made available at the start of 
the payout phase.

There are also minimum payment commitments of €11,626,072 thousand (December 31, 2012: 
€12,312,434 thousand) in connection with genuine guarantee funds launched by fund management companies 
in the UMH Group.

The fair value of the shortfall in cover for these guarantee commitments is reported on the balance sheet under 
‘Derivatives (negative fair values)’ (Note [48]).

[65] Operating lease disclosures

Some lease arrangements include index-linked contingent rents.

A few of the leases for buildings have options to renew the lease at the end of the initial term.

Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable  
operating leases

151,457 136,398 15,059

of which up to one year 27,047 22,812 4,235

of which one year to five years 70,709 67,639 3,070

of which more than five years 53,701 45,947 7,754

Future minimum lease payments are attributable to: 151,457 136,398 15,059

Land and buildings leases 129,013 107,049 21,964

Vehicle leases 4,719 2,654 2,065

IT leases 17,725 26,695 -8,970

Future rental receipts expected under non-cancelable
subleases at the balance sheet date

– – –

Lease and sublease payments
recognized as an expense in 2013

26,002 24,805 1,197

of which minimum lease payments 24,027 22,984 1,043

of which contingent rents 1,975 1,821 154

of which payments under subleases – – –
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[66] Financial guarantees

Following the disposal of GVA GENO-Vermögens-Anlage Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main, (GVA), UMH AG 
issued guarantees in 2011 to DZ BANK and WGZ BANK as security for loans extended by these banks to two 
closed-end investment funds marketed by GVA. As at December 31, 2013, the nominal amount of these guaran-
tees was US$ 62,400 thousand (December 31, 2012: US$ 62,400 thousand), which equated to €45,326 thou-
sand (December 31, 2012: €47,327 thousand).

[67] Number of employees

The following table gives a breakdown by category of the average number of employees in 2013, calculated in 
accordance with section 267 (5) HGB:

2013 2012 Change

Number Number Number

Female employees 1,098 1,102 -4

of which full-time employees 657 713 -56

of which part-time employees 441 389 52

Male employees 1,367 1,362 5

of which full-time employees 1,283 1,321 -38

of which part-time employees 84 41 43

Total employees 2,465 2,464 1

For information only:

Female trainees 40 49 -9

Male trainees 53 56 -3

Total trainees 93 105 -12

[68] Auditor fees

The following table shows the breakdown of auditor fees by type of service:

Auditor fees comprise expenses relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and group manage-
ment report of UMH AG, the statutory audit of the annual financial statements and management report of UMH 
AG, and the audit of the separate financial statements and management reports of subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements for which an audit is mandatory. The fees charged for other attestation services 
essentially included fees for the audit performed in accordance with section 36 of the German Securities Trading 
Act (WpHG), the auditor’s review of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements package, as well as 
other attestations and audit-related services. Tax consultancy fees related to remuneration for services rendered 
in accordance with section 1 of the German Tax Consultancy Act (StBerG). The fees for other services mainly 
resulted from the auditing of funds in the year under review.

[69] Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events of particular significance after the end of the financial year.

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Auditing services 417 484 -67

Other attestation services 193 207 -14

Tax consultancy services 7 4 3

Other services 1,129 283 846

Total 1,746 978 768
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[70] Related party disclosures

DZ BANK directly holds 54.44 percent (December 31, 2012: 54.44 percent) of the share capital in UMH AG. UMH 
AG is therefore controlled by DZ BANK as defined by IAS 27. As a result, DZ BANK constitutes a related party of 
the UMH Group, as do the other entities consolidated by DZ BANK as well as its non-consolidated subsidiaries, 
its associates and joint ventures.

Taking into account shares held indirectly, WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düssel-
dorf, (WGZ BANK) also holds a significant investment in UMH AG.

The list of shareholdings (Note [62]) shows the related parties controlled by the UMH Group or over which the 
UMH Group can exercise a significant influence.

In the UMH Group, the following are related parties (individuals) as defined by IAS 24.9: the Board of Managing 
Directors and the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK, the Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board of 
UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions and further key management personnel in the UMH Group as well as 
their respective close family members.

UMH AG maintains extensive business relationships with the entities included in the consolidated financial state-
ments as part of its normal business activities. The transactions within these relationships are conducted on an 
arm’s-length basis.

UMH AG and other entities included in the consolidated financial statements enter into relationships with  
other related parties during the course of their normal business activities. This business is transacted on an  
arm’s-length basis.
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Related party disclosures

Assets Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Loans to and receivables from banks 313,436 427,825 -114,389

of which DZ BANK 251,795 381,711 -129,916

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 10,865 25,870 -15,005

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 21 19 2

of which WGZ BANK 50,755 20,225 30,530

Loans to and receivables from customers 1,265 1,402 -137

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 637 764 -127

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 36 27 9

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 592 611 -19

Other assets 19,133 11,380 7,753

of which DZ BANK 13,877 6,672 7,205

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 689 709 -20

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries – 2 -2

of which associates of UMH AG – 3 -3

of which pension plans for employees 4,567 3,994 573

Liabilities Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Liabilities to banks 407 580 -173

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 404 562 -158

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK – 10 -10

of which WGZ BANK – 0 0

of which associates of UMH AG 3 8 -5

Liabilities to customers 53 58 -5

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 53 58 -5

Other liabilities 58,745 49,771 8,974

of which DZ BANK 32,992 26,899 6,093

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 15,426 13,607 1,819

of which WGZ BANK 9,166 8,128 1,038

of which associates of UMH AG 190 68 122

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 971 1,069 -98
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Consolidated income statement 2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Interest income and current income 1,103 4,771 -3,668

of which DZ BANK 100 233 -133

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 0 22 -22

of which WGZ BANK 3 16 -13

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 1,000 4,500 -3,500

Interest expenses -3,043 -1,885 -1,158

of which DZ BANK -3,020 -1,852 -1,168

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -23 -29 6

of which WGZ BANK – -4 4

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables -29 – -29

of which DZ BANK -19 – -19

of which WGZ BANK -10 – -10

Fee and commission income 24,319 20,456 3,863

of which DZ BANK 1,150 1,279 -129

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 21,583 20,492 1,091

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 10 9 1

of which WGZ BANK 229 -2,600 2,829

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 1,347 1,276 71

Fee and commission expenses -92,158 -63,896 -28,262

of which DZ BANK -45,683 -26,954 -18,729

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -28,839 -26,753 -2,086

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 0 – 0

of which WGZ BANK -13,041 -6,005 -7,036

of which associates of UMH AG -341 -235 -106

of which joint ventures of UMH AG -4,254 -3,949 -305

Administrative expenses -15,486 -10,597 -4,889

of which DZ BANK -5,354 -3,877 -1,477

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -8,068 -5,271 -2,797

of which associates of DZ BANK – -3 3

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK -27 -27 –

of which WGZ BANK -66 -59 -7

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries -1,207 -1,290 83

of which associates of UMH AG -712 -58 -654

of which joint ventures of UMH AG -52 – -52

of which other related parties – -12 12

Other net operating income/expense 9,835 7,711 2,124

of which DZ BANK 7,448 5,414 2,034

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 509 512 -3

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 13 10 3

of which WGZ BANK 48 92 -44

of which non-consolidated subsidiaries 448 329 119

of which associates of UMH AG 3 5 -2

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 1,366 1,349 17

Other disclosures Dec. 31, 2013 Dec. 31, 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Financial guarantees 45,326 47,327 -2,001

of which DZ BANK 30,217 31,551 -1,334

of which WGZ BANK 15,109 15,776 -667

Please refer to our comments in Note [66] for further information on the above financial guarantees.
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The fair value of the plan assets at the associate R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, was 
€22,818 thousand as at the balance sheet date (December 31, 2012: €19,602 thousand). Funding of 
€1,223 thousand was provided in the year under review (2012: €200 thousand).

The ‘other assets’ balance sheet item includes pension plans for the benefit of employees with a value of 
€4,567 thousand (December 31, 2012: €3,994 thousand). This includes the fair value of reimbursement rights 
at R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden, a company also controlled by DZ BANK, amounting to €3,273 thou-
sand (December 31, 2012: €3,994 thousand). Funding of €309 thousand was provided in the year under review 
(2012: €315 thousand).

Remuneration paid to related parties

The UMH Group’s key management personnel are deemed to comprise the Board of Managing Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions, and other staff in key positions in the Group.

In accordance with IAS 19.151, disclosures are also made with regard to the post-employment benefits paid to 
these persons.

The compensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board of UMH AG in return for the performance of 
their duties amounted to €372 thousand in the year under review (2012: €362 thousand). The remuneration 
paid to the members of the Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG in 2013 amounted to €4,289 thousand 
(2012: €4,348 thousand).

2013 2012 Change

€‘000 €‘000 €‘000

Short-term compensation 11,466 11,505 -39

Long-term compensation 1,279 1,450 -171

Contributions to defined contribution plans 41 42 -1

Current service cost of defined benefit plans 1,728 1,125 603

Total 14,514 14,122 392
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[71] Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

[72] Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Name Professional capacity

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Ulrich Köhne Member of the Board of Managing Directors (until November 11, 2013)

Name and Supervisory Board post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch 
Chairman 1)

Chief Executive Officer, 
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Karl-Heinz Moll 
Deputy chairman 1)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde 
Employee representative

Member of the Employees‘ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Jürgen Burhop 
Member 1) 

(until December 31, 2013)

Chief Executive Officer,  
Bremische Volksbank eG, Bremen 
(until March 31, 2013)

Dr. Friedrich Caspers 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich 
Member

President,  
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin

Lars Hille 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

Walter Klemming 
Employee representative
(until November 30, 2013)

Health & safety officer,  
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
(until November 30, 2013)

Roland Müller 
Employee representative 1)

Member of the Employees‘ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Professor Dr. Wolfgang Müller 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Wolfgang Nett
Employee representative
(since December 1, 2013)

Sales director,
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main   

Heike Orth 
Employee representative

Group leader, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,  
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Rainer Schaidnagel 
Member 2)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Andreas Theis 
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg 

Claudia Vives Carrasco 
Employee representative

Real estate manager,  
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr. Heinz Wings 
Member

Chief Executive Officer,  
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg

1) Also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board.
2) Since January 1, 2014, also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory 

Board.
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[73] Supervisory mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees 

As at December 31, 2013, members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees also held mandates on 
the statutory supervisory bodies of major companies. Companies included in the consolidation are indicated with 
an asterisk (*).

Mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management 
Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Hans Joachim Reinke Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
 
Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until November 20, 2013)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since November 21, 2013)

Alexander Schindler Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Jens Wilhelm Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Ulrich Köhne
(until November 11, 2013)

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until November 11, 2013)

Mandates held by employees of Union Asset Management Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Sonja Albers Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*) 
Member of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Andreas Zubrod Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (*)
Member of the Supervisory Board (since November 18, 2013)
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Mandates held by members of management boards/senior management and employees:

[74] Residual other disclosures

The Board of Managing Directors signed these consolidated financial statements on March 10, 2014 and at 
the same time approved them for submission to the Supervisory Board. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory 
Board to review the consolidated financial statements and then to declare whether the consolidated financial 
statements are approved.

Frankfurt am Main, March 10, 2014

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke Alexander Schindler
Chief Executive Officer Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm
Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Name Mandate(s)

Giovanni Gay 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors

Björn Jesch
Member of the Board of Managing Directors
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg (*)
Member of the Board of Directors   

Rainer Kobusch
Member of the Board of Managing Directors
(Union Investment Service Bank AG)
(since April 1, 2013)   

attrax S.A., Luxembourg (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors
(since April 1, 2013)

Dr. Reinhard Kutscher 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Union Investment Real Estate GmbH)

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg 
Member of the Supervisory Board

Klaus Riester 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Member of the Board of Directors 

Nikolaus Sillem 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Institutional GmbH)

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Member of the Board of Directors

Peter Werhan 
Member of the Board of Managing Directors 
(Union Investment Service Bank AG)
(until March 31, 2013)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*) 
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 
(until March 31, 2013)
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Audit Opinion (translation)

We have issued the following audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by Union Asset Management Holding 
AG, Frankfurt am Main, comprising the consolidated 
income statement, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated balance sheet, the statement 
of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows, and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
together with the group management report, for the 
financial year from January 1, 2013 to December 31, 
2013. The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) is the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with section 317 HGB and 
the German generally accepted standards for the audit 
of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (German Institute of Public Audi-
tors) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements materially 
affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the appli-
cable financial reporting framework and in the group 

management report are detected with reasonable as-
surance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 
economic and legal environment of the Group and ex-
pectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The 
effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report are examined primarily on a test 
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 
includes assessing the annual financial statements of 
the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the determination of the companies to 
be included in the consolidated financial statements, 
the accounting and consolidation principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management re-
port. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the 
consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS 
as adopted by the EU and the additional require-
ments of German commercial law pursuant to section 
315a (1) HGB, and give a true and fair view of the 
net assets, financial position and results of operations 
of the Group in accordance with these requirements. 
The group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and 
suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future 
development.”

Eschborn, Frankfurt am Main, March 10, 2014

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

Heist Kruskop
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer  
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)
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Shareholders and Decision-making Bodies
of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Shareholders

DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main

54.44%

WGZ BANK AG
Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

17.72%

VR GbR
Frankfurt am Main 1)

24.25%

Local cooperative banks (including holding companies of the primary banks, trade associations, and  
special-purpose entities of the German cooperative financial network as well as other entities)

3.59%

1)  A partnership under the German Civil Code between DZ BANK AG, Frankfurt am Main, WGZ BANK AG, Düsseldorf, and R+V Personen Holding GmbH, Wies-
baden; the holdings of the VR GbR partnership assets are as follows: DZ BANK AG, 47.52 percent; WGZ BANK AG, 11.25 percent; and R+V Personen Holding 
GmbH, 41.23 percent. Taking into account these investments in VR GbR, Frankfurt am Main, the percentages of the voting shares held by the shareholders in 
Union Asset Management Holding AG are as follows: DZ BANK AG, 65.96 percent,2); WGZ BANK AG, 20.45 percent; and, R+V Personen Holding GmbH, 10 
percent.

2)  When the calculation of shareholdings also takes into account DZ BANK AG’s controlling interest in R+V Versicherung AG, which holds all the shares in R+V 
Personen Holding GmbH, DZ BANK AG controls 75.96 percent of the voting shares in Union Asset Management Holding AG.

As at March 10, 2014

Name Supervisory Board post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch 1) Chairman Chief Executive Officer, 
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main 

Karl-Heinz Moll 1) Deputy Chairman Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde Employee representative Member of the Employees‘ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Jürgen Burhop 1) Member
(until December 31, 2013)

Chief Executive Officer,  
Bremische Volksbank eG, Bremen (until March 31, 2013)

Dr. Friedrich Caspers Member Chief Executive Officer,  
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich Member President,  
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin 

Lars Hille Member Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main 

Walter Klemming Employee representative  
(until November 30, 2013)

Health & safety officer,  
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (until November 30, 2013)

Roland Müller 1) Employee representative Member of the Employees‘ Council,  
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Professor Dr. Wolfgang 
Müller 

Member Chief Executive Officer,  
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Wolfgang Nett Employee representative
(since December 1, 2013)

Sales director,
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt am Main   

Heike Orth Employee representative Group leader, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,  
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt am Main

Rainer Schaidnagel 2) Member Member of the Board of Managing Directors,  
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Andreas Theis Member Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg

Claudia Vives Carrasco 
 

Employee representative Real estate manager,  
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr. Heinz Wings Member Chief Executive Officer,  
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg

Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

1) Also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board.
2) Since January 1, 2014, also a member of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board.
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Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer 

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Ulrich Köhne Member of the Board of Managing Directors (until November 11, 2013)

Advisory Council

Dr. Wolfgang Baecker
Chairman

Chief Executive Officer,
VR-Bank Westmünsterland eG, Coesfeld

Gerhard Oppermann
Deputy Chairman

Deputy Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Hannoversche Volksbank eG, Hannover

Mario Baumert Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG, Aurich

Gunnar Bertram Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Chemnitz eG, Chemnitz

Dr. Ulrich Bittihn Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Paderborn-Höxter-Detmold eG, Paderborn

Andreas Böhler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Kraichgau Wiesloch-Sinsheim eG, Wiesloch

Dr. Thomas Brakensiek Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Hamburger Volksbank eG, Hamburg

Dirk Cormann Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Heinsberger Volksbank AG, Heinsberg

Joachim Erhard Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Würzburg eG, Würzburg

Manfred Gasteiger Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Donauwörth eG, Donauwörth

Walter Geser Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG, Rosenheim

Dr. Christoph Glenk Chief Executive Officer, 
VR Bank Dinkelsbühl eG, Dinkelsbühl

Uwe Gutzmann Chief Executive Officer,
Volks- und Raiffeisenbank eG, Wismar

Dr. Peter Hanker Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Mittelhessen eG, Giessen

Eberhard Heim Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Tübingen eG, Tübingen

Michael Joop Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Hameln-Stadthagen eG, Hameln

Carsten Jung Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Berliner Volksbank eG, Berlin

Hubert Kamml Chief Executive Officer,
VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG, Rosenheim

Volker König Deputy Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors,
VR Bank Schwäbisch Hall-Crailsheim, Schwäbisch Hall

Heinrich Lages Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Selm-Bork eG, Selm

Michael Mengler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
VVB Vereinigte Volksbank Maingau eG, Obertshausen

Jörn Nordenholz Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank eG, Sulingen

Christoph Ochs Chief Executive Officer,
VR Bank Südpfalz eG, Landau

Wolfgang Osse Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Kasseler Bank eG Volksbank Raiffeisenbank, Kassel
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As at March 10, 2014

Advisory Council (continued from page 172)

Andreas Otto Member of the Board of Managing Directors, 
Volksbank Remscheid-Solingen eG, Remscheid

Kurt Reinstädtler Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Bank 1 Saar eG, Saarbrücken

Stefan Rinsch Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Krefeld eG, Krefeld

Manfred Sonnenschein Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
BANK IM BISTUM ESSEN eG, Essen

Eberhard Spies Chief Executive Officer,
VR Bank Schwäbisch Hall-Crailsheim eG, Schwäbisch Hall

Manfred Stevermann Chief Executive Officer, 
Sparda-Bank West eG, Düsseldorf

Wolfgang Völkl Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Oberbayern Südost eG, Bad Reichenhall

Ekkehard Windler Spokesman of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Klettgau-Wutöschingen eG, Wutöschingen

Roger Winter Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank eG, Constance

Jürgen Wunn Chief Executive Officer,
PSD Bank RheinNeckarSaar eG, Stuttgart
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Objectives, key facts and figures – 
sustainability performance of 
Union Investment
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About this report

This 2013 annual report and CSR report for the Union 
Investment Group presents an overview of the main 
economic, environmental, and social developments 
and advances made by the Union Investment Group 
in the 2013 financial year. The economic section of 
this report relates to the Group companies in both 
Germany and abroad. Unless otherwise stated, the  
key data in respect of employees and social issues 
refers only to the position at the German offices in 
2013. The environmental figures at corporate level 
relate to the offices in Germany and Luxembourg in 
2011, again unless otherwise stated. The key figures 
for the real estate portfolio of the Union Investment 
Group are shown for 2010, 2011, and 2012 and en-
compass parts of the global real estate portfolio held 
by Union Investment.

Transparency and comparability of reporting 

The report follows the guidance in version G3.1 of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Union Investment also 
takes account of sector-specific requirements that are 
documented in the additional protocols for the financial 
sector and the construction and real estate sector 
(Financial Service Sector Supplement; Construction & 
Real Estate Sector Supplement). The extent to which the 
GRI guidelines are applied will continue to be reviewed 
in 2014.

In addition to following the GRI guidance, the report 
complies with the requirements of the German Property 
Federation (ZIA) for sustainability reporting in the real 
estate sector. Union Investment is a signatory to the ZIA 
sustainability code and undertakes to comply with the 
ten principles of the ZIA sustainability code when con-
ducting its business activities. Each year, in accordance 
with the code, the Union Investment Group publishes 
its objectives, action plans, activities, and progress, 
including such details in the clusters relevant to the 
Group (‘2: Operating & leasing’ and ‘3: Investing’).

At corporate level, there were no material changes in 
the period under review relating to employees, society, 
and products & services, so the data is directly com-
parable with previous publications. Key environmental 
figures at corporate level could differ from those previ-
ously reported following the certification of the environ-
mental management system at the Luxembourg offices 

in 2013. Union Investment bases its reports covering 
the real estate portfolio on international standards 
such as those published by Greenhouse Gas Protocol 
(GHG Protocol). These standards are being continuously 
refined with modifications to the methodology used. In 
preparing its report on the real estate portfolio, Union 
Investment has taken into account these annual chang-
es to the calculation and adjustment methods used for 
the CO2 data records. Some of the reported values may 
therefore differ from those reported in 2012.

Materiality analysis

The 2013 annual report and CSR report is based on 
the core themes identified in a materiality analysis car-
ried out during the year under review. The participants 
in the online survey – which was conducted using a 
structured questionnaire – were individuals identified 
as belonging to relevant stakeholder groups to whom 
the CSR report is addressed. A total of 99 individuals 
from the different stakeholder groups took part in the 
survey:

12%

17%

3%

22%

9%

2%

2%

7%

11%

4%
4% 1%

1% 5%

n Local cooperative banks
n Tenants
n Employees
n Journalists
n Associations
n Rating agencies
n End investors

n Institutional clients
n Investees
n Cooperative financial network
n NGOs
n SRI initiatives
n Employee roundtable
n Other
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The survey identified the following key topics as 
relevant: products and services, dealing responsibly 
with employees, impact of business operations on the 
environment and society, and transparent communica-
tions. The respondents believed products and services 
should have the greatest priority for the Union Invest-
ment Group:

Formal aspects of the report

To improve readability, repeated use throughout the 
report of the full legal form of the names of Group 
companies or not-for-profit institutions has been 
avoided. 

The 2013 annual report and CSR report can be ac-
cessed on the internet in German or English at 
http://unternehmen.union-investment.de > Wer wir 
sind > Kennzahlen > Geschäftsbericht as a PDF down-
load. The next combined annual report and CSR report 
from the Union Investment Group will appear in 2015.

Further information

An overview of the activities of the Union Invest-
ment Group and further information can be found 
online at www.union-investment.de.

Survey based on a five-point scale ranging from 1 (extremely important) to 5 (unimportant); (n≥98)
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Union Investment  
sustainability program

Union Investment has implemented a sustainability program to manage and monitor its internal sustainability 
activities and objectives across all areas of CSR involvement. The first version of the program published in 2010 
covered the period 2011 to 2015. Rapid progress in all areas of CSR activity meant that the planned objectives 
and action had already been largely completed by the end of 2013. In contrast to the CSR reports for 2011 and 
2012, the following sustainability program therefore includes new objectives and action plans. It also includes all 
the objectives and action plans from the hitherto separately managed environmental program. This has enabled 
us to ensure that a consistent logic is in place for managing sustainability issues with the support of IT systems 
and that matching data material is available for all sustainability objectives and activities. 

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Introduce a sustainability management program 
•  Implement a database for IT support of the sustainability management system (key 

figures, internal reporting, document management)
•  Comply with the German Sustainability Code and the German Property Federation 

(ZIA) Sustainability Code for the real estate sector
•  Assess compliance with the legal requirements for the environmental management 

system
•  Coordinate the ‘Standards and codes’ working group in the DZ BANK Group: adopt a 

sustainability code for the whole of the DZ BANK Group
•  Expand the sustainability data platform for assessing and ensuring the suitability of 

service providers
•  Become a member of the ECOPROFIT Club Frankfurt am Main to continue to develop 

environmental performance and share information with other organizations
•  Redesign the CSR strategy and continue the 2015 sustainability program

2015
2013

2013

2014

2014

2014

2014

2015

done

done

planned

planned

planned

planned

planned

Integrate sustainability into corporate management 
• Integrate sustainability targets into the balanced scorecards
• Integrate sustainability targets into personal target agreements
•  Integrate sustainability issues into reports to the supervisory bodies of Union Asset 

Management Holding AG
•  Check whether sustainability issues can be incorporated into the activities of foreign 

companies in which Union Investment holds equity investments

2016
2014
2014
2015

2016

planned
planned
planned

planned

1. Strategy/organization 

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Establish a systematic process of communication on sustainability issues
•  Increase communication via the active shareholding strategy at Union Investment
• Publish the second sustainability report
•  Expand sustainability training as part of UniKompetenz at the Hamburg and Luxembourg sites
•  Expand and update the CSR microsite on the intranet for employees
•  Design and implement a Union Investment sustainability day for employees
• Draw up a strategy for possibly switching the reporting standard to GRI 4.0
•  Expand internal and external sustainability communications using the 2013 materiality 

analysis

2015
2014
2014
2014
2014

2014/2015
2015
2015

done
planned
planned
planned
planned
planned
planned

2. Communication 

• New action / Action transferred from the environmental management program
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Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Reduce energy consumption by 10 percent (base year 2009)
•  Relocate to an environmentally sustainable building certified with a gold certificate 

from the German Sustainable Building Council (DGNB)
• Carry out safety and environmental training for drivers of company vehicles

2015
2014

2015

planned

planned

New target; the previous target 
was a reduction of 6 percent

Reduce water consumption by 3 percent (base year 2009)
•  Organize information and training events to raise employee awareness of water 

consumption

2015
2014 planned

Reduce CO2 emissions by 50 percent based on occupied workstations (base year 2009)
• Prepare a climate strategy for the Union Investment Group
• Implement the Green Car Policy adopted in 2013 for company cars

2015
2014

2014/2015
planned 
planned

New target; the previous target 
was a reduction of 6 percent

Reduce total paper consumption by 55 percent and the use of printer and photocopy-
ing paper by 10 percent per employee (base year 2009)

•  Upgrade software for managing individual transactions to ensure duplex printing
• Reduce the weight of the paper used for copying

2015

2013
2013

done
done

New target; the previous target 
was an overall reduction of 
8 percent and a reduction in 
printer and photocopier paper 
consumption of 10 percent

Increase the proportion of recycled paper to 15 percent and certified paper to 
80 percent (based on total paper consumption)

•  Develop a strategy for adapting procurement guidelines for all product groups 
involving paper or cardboard items

• Identify further potential for optimization
• Print fund data in the advisor magazine on recycled paper
• Optimize print runs and execution of print jobs

2015

2013

2014
2013
2014

done

planned
done

planned

3. Environment

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Maintain and improve employee job satisfaction levels 
•  Carry out staff surveys (Climate Barometer) in 2011 and 2013. 
•  Implement the conclusions drawn from the findings of the 2011 staff survey
• Carry out a management feedback process

• Extend the management feedback system to include additional feedback providers
•  Expand the health management program (themed days, web-based training, 

management training)

2013
2011/2013

2013
2014

2014
2014

planned
done

postponed 
from 2012

planned
planned

Some management 
responsibilities were shifted as 
a result of the Union Investment 
2.0 project. It will therefore not 
be possible to obtain meaning- 
ful findings until 2014.

Improve employee retention 
• Introduce a cross-mentoring program in the DZ BANK Group 
•  Check and decide whether it is possible to include SRI funds in the occupational 

pensions offered to employees of Union Investment
• Participate in the 2014/2015 Top Employers contest
• Introduce a system to facilitate job-shadowing opportunities across divisions

2015
2014
2014

2014/2015
2015

planned
planned

planned
planned

Promote a work-life balance
•  Sign the Diversity Charter
•  Obtain audit berufundfamilie® work and family audit re-certification 
•  Reach company agreement on mobile and home working (pilot project and rollout)

2015
2014

2014/2015
2014/2015

planned
planned
planned

4. Employees
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5. Corporate citizenship

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Continue to develop corporate social responsibility at Union Investment
•  Draw up a plan to further develop corporate citizenship
•  Establish a partnership with a charitable organization
•  Set up a coordination function and implement guidelines for developing corporate 

citizenship
•  Expand the partnership with SOS Children’s Villages for the Frankfurt site

2015
2013 
2013
2014

2014

done
done

planned

planned

Promote sustainability and investor-oriented interests in the finance industry and in 
connection with regulatory issues 

•  Assist in the development of the ADG (German Cooperatives Academy) training 
courses on the issue of sustainability for cooperative banks

•  Contribute to the EU Commission’s proposal for a regulation governing European 
long-term investment funds (ELTIFs)

•  Carry out joint development work within the Sustainable Investment Forum (FNG) on a 
standard label for SRI funds

•  Develop a certification training course for SRI advisors at cooperative banks (ADG)
•  Represent investor interests in relation to a proposal from the EU Commission on 

investor information for packaged retail investment products (PRIPS)

2015

2013

2014

2014

2014/2015
2015

done

planned

planned

planned
planned

Continue to develop the general corporate commitment to sustainability
• Implement IT-based, sustainability-oriented supplier assessment 
•  Review and include integration companies (German companies specifically structured 

with a focus on the employment of disabled people) in the selection of suppliers by the 
Union Investment Group

•  Include sustainability components in the selection of relevant service provider 
agreements in connection with portfolio management

•   Check and expand the sustainability requirements in procurement and supplier 
management

2015
2014  
2014

2014/2015

2014/2015

planned
planned

planned

planned

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Increase assets under management for institutional clients in the area of sustainable 
investment by 50 percent (base year 2010) 

• Implement UniEngagement sales and marketing initiatives
•  Launch the SIRIS SRI Research information system as a solution suitable for clients
•  Regularly supply ESG data to Quoniam Asset Management
•  Launch additional institutional SRI funds as long as there is a good business case
• Develop new target groups for SRI investments and sales initiatives
•  Systematically integrate sustainability issues (ESG benefits) into investment committee 

reports and meetings

2015

2013  
2014
2014

2014/2015
2014/2015

2015

done
planned
planned
planned
planned
planned

Expand communication on sustainability issues and SRI in
institutional business

•  Commission an academic study on a specific SRI issue
•  Set up an annual client event: ‘Sustainability Day’
•  Establish the ‘CSR experts group’ as a client event

2014

2014
2014/2015
2014/2015

planned
planned
planned

6. Institutional clients 

• New action / Action transferred from the environmental management program
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7. Retail clients 

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Expand and refine investment processes
•  Introduce a policy for a responsible commodities investment strategy
•  Expand SRI strategies and asset classes for different areas of expertise
•  Enhance sustainability analysis in the portfolio management process
• Give greater depth to SRI strategies and asset classes for different areas of expertise
•  Establish the SIRIS SRI Information system as a marketable product suitable for clients
•  Check whether it is possible to include SRI funds in Union Investment retirement 

planning products

2015
2013  
2014
2015
2014
2014

2014/2015

done
planned
planned
planned
planned
planned

Expand the active shareholding policy
•  Contribute a sustainability-focused presence at seven annual general meetings and in the 

form of 300 proxy votes
•  Depending on client approach, raise the number of votes cast at annual general 

meetings
• Increase international shareholder engagement activities

2015
2015

2014/2015

2014/2015

planned

planned

planned

8. Securities portfolio management 

Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Increase assets under management in the area of sustainable investment by 
50 percent by 2015 (base year 2010)

•  Check whether it is possible to include SRI funds in Union Investment retirement 
planning products

•  Carry out sales and marketing activities based on the topic of sustainability
•  Expand communications with banks on sustainability issues (media and formats, 

increase frequency)
•  Continue to establish the UniNachwuchs savings plan as part of activities in ‘saving’, 

one of the four core investment issues

2015

2013 

2014
2014

2014

done

planned
planned

planned

Increase the support for bank advisors, enabling them to provide investment fund 
advice with greater investor and investment focus

•  Help the cooperative banks to implement the intentions of the new German Capital 
Investment Code (KAGB) in a fair and practical way

•  Help the cooperative banks to implement regulatory aspects of consumer protection in 
their advisory services

2015

2014

2014/2015

planned

planned
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Objectives and actions Timetable Status Notes

Expand and refine sustainable investment processes for the real estate funds
•  Devise and introduce ‘green due diligence’ for real estate purchases
•  Introduce processes for issuing and administering energy performance certificates for 

real estate
•  Introduce a service provider eligibility test that would include investigating the 

environmental stance of major service providers
•  Introduce criteria that take account of environmental factors when awarding contracts 

to service providers in Germany
•  Check whether a responsible investment policy is possible for real estate business
• Introduce service provider scores for property management
•  Introduce green leases to be used for new German office space leases
•  Implement a responsible investment policy in processes used by the Real Estate 

segment
•  Draw up a plan for integrating sustainability elements into European office space 

leases (green leases)
•  Draw up a plan for integrating sustainability elements into leases for hotel, retail, and 

logistics real estate in Germany (green leases)
•  Analyze at least 75 percent of the real estate portfolio (in terms of space) from the 

perspective of sustainability
• Integrate sustainability considerations into the existing real estate portfolio

2015
2013  
2013  

2013

2013

2013
2014
2014
2015

2015

2015

2015

2015

done
done

done

done

done
planned
planned
planned

planned

planned

planned

planned

Increase energy efficiency and improve the environmental impact of portfolio 
properties

•  Offer green electricity for general office space in the key fund assets in Germany
•  Increase the capture of energy, CO2, water, and waste data from the relevant parts of 

the real estate portfolio, covering approximately 75 percent of the total portfolio
•  Analyze the properties for potential environmental improvements with a view to 

optimizing energy, CO2, water, and waste data for office real estate in Germany
•  Specify improvement measures with a view to optimizing energy, CO2, water, and 

waste data for office real estate in Germany
•  Implement the optimization action plans that have been developed
•  Measure the level of target attainment for the action plans that have been developed: 

analyze the energy, CO2, water, and waste data for the real estate portfolio

2016

2014
2015

2015

2016

2016-2020
2016-2020

 done
planned

planned

planned

planned
planned

The action item ‘Specify 
concrete improvement targets 
for energy, CO2, water, and 
waste data for the properties in 
the real estate portfolio’ has 
been superseded by action 
items two to four.

Develop and increase commitment to sustainability across the real estate sector
•  Collaborate with the ZIA ‘Sustainability, energy, and environment’ working group and 

contribute to the work of the DGNB’s real estate advisory committee on developing 
the determination of key figures for the real estate sector in Germany

•  Design and collaborate in studies, initiatives, and ratings, such as ESI, Sire, GRESB, and 
Scope

2015
2015

2015

planned

planned

9. Real estate funds 

• New action / Action transferred from the environmental management program
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In the sections below, Union Investment provides its 
employees, clients, partners, and interested members of 
the general public with information about its activities 
in the area of sustainable real estate management. This 
is the third year in succession that Union Investment 
has made such information available. This information 
includes the disclosure of relevant consumption data 
for the real estate funds portfolio, the quality of which 
has been assured. The purpose is to facilitate ongoing 
tracking and thereby achieve greater transparency, 
identify potential for enhancement, and continuously 
improve the real estate portfolio in terms of sustain-
ability. The CSR reports for 2011 and 2012 included a 
presentation of the consumption data over the entire 
real estate portfolio 1) for the years in which the data 
was collected. This report for 2013 also shows recorded 
and extrapolated consumption data for all properties1). 
Data was collected afresh for 2012. In the case of 
2010 and 2011, the consumption data from the in-
terim CSR report has been re-evaluated and re-stated. 

1. Profitable long-term 
 real estate investments
Union Investment believes that financial success and 
sustainable practices are inextricably linked. It there-
fore sets itself challenging operational targets for the 
management of its real estate funds in the interests of 
its investors in order to meet investor needs for profit-
able real estate investments over the long term. 

If sustainability factors in a real estate portfolio are 
to be continuously improved, relevant consumption 
data for heating, electricity, water, and waste, together 
with details of CO2 emissions, must be systematically 
recorded and analyzed, and any potential for improve-
ment identified. 

Besides certification of properties in accordance with 
national and international standards, a further focus 
of attention is capital investment in existing properties 
in the portfolio with the aim of reducing consumption 
in the fund assets concerned. Union Investment also 
plans to refine its management systems and analysis 
tools, in which the parameters include a compre-
hensive range of findings from sustainability experts. 

These tools are used for the systematic analysis of 
its real estate portfolio in terms of both quality and 
quantity. Only by recognizing the inherent potential of 
a real estate portfolio is it possible to identify the right 
individual measures for each individual property at 
the right point in time to achieve a sustainable focus 
for the portfolio as a whole. This enables tenants to 
enjoy lower consumption costs, and investors the best 
possible returns.

2.  Portfolio sustainability  
management (SoFi PSM)

A real estate fund portfolio with a sustainable focus 
not only benefits investors and tenants, it also helps 
the environment. That is why we have developed 
a proprietary portfolio sustainability management 
system (SoFi PSM). It captures all property-specific 
consumption data and highlights areas where 
properties have the potential for optimization, such 
as energy and water consumption. It also enables us 
to introduce measures for a more efficient use of re-
sources. SoFi PSM forms the foundation on which the 
long-term sustainability of the international real estate 
funds portfolio at Union Investment is based. 

SoFi PSM is firmly integrated into standard asset and 
property management processes at Union Invest-
ment, and it ensures that the portfolio is analyzed on 
an annual basis. The management system follows up 
property-specific targets and the effect of optimiz-
ing the operation of properties. Experts constantly 
monitor consumption data for buildings, as well as 
the achievement rates for the agreed targets and 
measures and their impact. 

Objective and methodology

Using the SoFi PSM system, Union Investment aims  
to collect consumption data for 75 percent of its real 
estate funds portfolio (in terms of total floor area) on 
an incremental basis by 2015. A subportfolio com-
prising 209 properties was selected for review in 
2013. Based on these properties, data was effectively 
collected from 78 percent of the portfolio, so the 
above target was already exceeded in 2013. 

1)  In each case less the number of residential buildings, properties under construction, and properties being redeveloped; see also ‚2.1 Objective and methodology‘.

Union Investment  
real estate portfolio
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Data for final energy consumption, CO2 emissions,  
water consumption, and volume of waste was 
computed for these 209 properties in the real estate 
portfolio. The portfolio under review provided specific 
key performance indicators (KPIs) that could be used 
as the basis for extrapolation to reflect the entire 
portfolio 1) of 295 properties with a market value of 
€19.9 billion. Given the international orientation of 
the portfolio, the consumption data was adjusted for 
aspects that were specific to countries, properties, and 
uses. A wide range of building characteristics, such as 
occupation density, time in use, climate, vacancy rates, 
and special uses that affect the environmental per-
formance of a property, was also taken into account 
when capturing and analyzing the data. The analysis 
below shows consumption data that can be evaluated 
with reference to benchmarks. Carbon footprints and 
water footprints can be presented at property, fund, or 
portfolio level. The data used for the analysis of  
environmental performance was captured for the  
entire floor area of each building and includes con-
sumption by tenants.

The consumption data for 2010 and 2011 already 
published in the interim report in 2012 has been 
included again in this report. The inclusion of this 
data takes into account the latest developments and 
improvements in the SoFi PSM system.

When the process for capturing data was updated 
in 2012, more precise tenant consumption data was 
incorporated. This means that both absolute and 
specific values may have changed solely as a result of 
improvements in the methodology. As a consequence, 
there is only limited comparability between the 
consumption data for 2010 and 2011 and the data for 
2012. The updated data capture and methodology will 
lead to optimized results in the future, providing better 
comparability over the long term. 
 
Representative data

The subportfolio reviewed in 2013 was representative 
of the overall portfolio in terms of types of usage and 
space. Properties that were under construction or be-
ing remodeled were not included in the analysis, nor 
were residential buildings because they accounted for 
a very small proportion of the overall portfolio. 
The tables below show the consumption data in 
chronological order for the prevailing portfolio in each 
case and the associated properties. The analysis is not 
on a like-for-like basis. 

1)  In each case less the number of residential buildings, properties under construction, and properties being redeveloped; see also ‚2.1 Objective and methodology‘.

Type of usage, 2010 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 120 2,094,873 53%

Retail 33 928,826 24%

Hotels 19 420,292 11%

Logistics 11 475,880 12%

Total 183 3,919,870 100%

Type of usage, 2010 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 190 2,993,417 51%

Retail 53 1,476,986 25%

Hotels 25 520,674 9%

Logistics 19 900,191 15%

Total 287 5,891,268 100%

Portfolio under review

Extrapolated portfolio

Type of usage, 2011 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 125 2,185,128 53%

Retail 34 970,152 24%

Hotels 20 432,482 10%

Logistics 12 529,156 13%

Total 191 4,116,917 100%

Type of usage, 2012 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 141 2,602,897 54%

Retail 38 1,232,025 26%

Hotels 17 343,006 7%

Logistics 13 639,867 13%

Total 209 4,817,795 100%

Type of usage, 2011 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 190 2,993,417 51%

Retail 53 1,476,986 25%

Hotels 25 520,674 9%

Logistics 19 900,191 15%

Total 287 5,891,268 100%

Type of usage, 2012 Number 
of  
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 

(%)

Offices 193 3,175,293 52%

Retail 53 1,461,353 24%

Hotels 29 530,972 9%

Logistics 20 981,267 16%

Total 295 6,148,885 100%
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Changes in the portfolio under review

The ratio between the portfolio under review and 
the total portfolio changes each year as a result of 
changes in the composition of the portfolio caused by 
the acquisition or disposal of properties. Compared 
with 2011, 37 new properties with a floor area of 
941,680m² were included in the capture of consump-
tion data in 2012. At the same time, 19 properties 
with a total floor area of 354,230m² were excluded 
from the consumption data analysis as a result of 
property disposals, redevelopment work, or implausi-
ble data. Data for around a fifth of the reviewed floor 
area in 2012 was therefore recorded for the first time. 
This led to an overall rise in the proportion of the total 
portfolio accounted for by the reviewed floor space to 
78 percent and an increase in the proportion account-
ed for by the number of reviewed properties to 71 
percent. In 2012, the total floor space in the portfolio 
rose by 4 percent year on year as a consequence of 
property acquisitions and disposals. The changes in the 
reviewed and extrapolated portfolios also meant that 
there was limited comparability between the values 
for 2010/11 and those for 2012.

2.2 Main findings

The changes in the consumption of resources and 
in emissions in the real estate portfolio have been 
presented based on the data captured for three years 
in succession.

The analysis of the data for 2010 and 2012 shows a 
small increase in the specific figure for final energy 
compared with CO2 and water. The specific figure for 
the volume of waste has fallen. 

The inclusion of new properties and the optimized 
capture of tenant data are just some of the reasons 
for the increase in the absolute figures. Overall, the 
extended portfolio under review will lead to greater 
transparency and therefore to better base data for 
future comparisons. The following shows a comparison 
between the data for 2012 and 2010. 

n Floor area reviewed n Floor area not reviewed

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

(percent)

Percentage of total portfolio floor area reviewed

2010

33%

67%

2011

30%

70%

2012

22%

78%

n Floor area reviewed n Floor area not reviewed

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

(percent)

Percentage of number of buildings in total portfolio reviewed

2010

36%

64%

2011

33%

67%

2012

29%

71%

n Offices n Retail n Hotels  n Logistics

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

(percent)

Breakdown of reviewed portfolio floor area and total portfolio floor area by building use

2010

Portfolio under review Portfolio under review Portfolio under reviewTotal portfolio Total portfolio Total portfolio

2011 2012

53% 53% 54%51% 51% 51%

24% 24% 26%25% 25% 24%

11% 10% 7%9% 9% 9%

12% 13% 13%15% 15% 16%
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Direct energy is energy in which the fossil fuel is actu-
ally burnt on site or in a process owned or controlled 
by the company concerned (such as natural gas for a 
heating system in the organization or the consumption 
of fuel by a company vehicle fleet). Indirect energy 
is energy in which the fossil fuel is burnt off site or 
outside the control of the company concerned to meet 
the needs of the organization for secondary energy 
(such as electricity, heating, or cooling). The different 
types of emissions are also derived from these defini-
tions of direct and indirect energy consumption. Scope 
1 emissions are emissions that result from direct 
energy consumption. Scope 2 emissions are emissions 
that result from indirect energy consumption. 

Direct absolute final energy consumption in the port-
folio fell from 2010 to 2012, whereas indirect final 
energy consumption increased.
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Absolute final energy consumption (GWh/year, extrapolated portfolio)
Proportion of consumption for each usage type per year Consumption for each usage type per year

27%

12%

2010

1,251

6%

55%

26%

12%

2011

1,224

6%

56%

31%

11%

2012

1,346

8%

50%

689

2010

680

2012

679

2011

339

2010

413

2012

321

2011

146

2010

144

2012

146

2011

77

2010

109

2012

78

2011

Absolute final energy consumption is the total volume 
of energy used for supplying buildings with heat and 
power. In 2012 it amounted to approximately 1,346 
GWh for the total portfolio and rose by 8 percent 
compared with 2010. In the same period, the total 
floor area for the overall portfolio rose by 4 percent. 
This is part of the reason for the higher final energy 
consumption. 

In the analysis of the types of usage, half of the final 
energy consumption in 2012 was accounted for by 
office buildings, which represented 52 percent of 
the floor space in the total portfolio. The cut in final 
energy consumption of 1 percent between 2010 and 
2012 even though there had been a simultaneous 
increase in floor area of approximately 182,000m² 
was therefore particularly valuable. In the case of 
retail buildings, final energy consumption climbed by 

n Offices n Retail n Hotels  n Logistics

n Absolute final energy consumption, direct consumption of primary energy (EN3)	

n Absolute final energy consumption, indirect consumption of primary energy (EN4)
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Absolute final energy consumption broken 
down by direct and indirect primary energy 
sources – EN3 + EN4 (GWh/year)
Extrapolated portfolio, proportion of consumption by primary energy source (scopes 1 and 2) per year

2010

12%

88%

1,251

2011

12%

88%

1,224

2012

10%

90%

1,346

Offices LogisticsHotelsRetailTotal portfolio
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just under 22 percent from 2010 to 2012, thereby 
accounting for approximately 31 percent of the total 
final energy consumption. Absolute final energy con-
sumption in hotel buildings fell by 1 percent between 
2010 and 2012 although the size of the extrapolated 
portfolio grew by around 10,000m². In contrast, the 
final energy consumption in logistics buildings was up 

by 43 percent on the 2010 figure, a disproportionately 
high increase compared with the change in floor area. 
However, this consumption only accounts for 8 percent 
of the total energy consumption and is derived from a 
total of 13 properties representing 16 percent of the 
total floor area in the portfolio.

Specific final energy consumption represents the energy 
consumed for heat and power relative to the energy 
reference area of the buildings. Adjusting the final 
energy consumption data for climatic differences, usage 
variances, and special users enabled the values for each 
property in the total portfolio to be compared with 
each other. They are broken down by building type.

In 2012, the specific final energy consumption for 
the portfolio rose by 1 percent compared with 2010. 
It should be noted however that, in contrast to the 
consumption of electricity, specific heating consump-
tion diminished. The different changes in the specific 

values become clearer with the evaluation by type of 
usage. In the largest component of the portfolio, office 
buildings, specific final energy consumption dropped 
by 3 percent. On the other hand, the specific value 
for retail buildings over the period 2010 to 2012 rose 
by just under 10 percent and the equivalent figure 
for logistics buildings by 24 percent. These increases 
were caused in each case by a number of factors, 
including new properties in the reviewed portfolio 
because these properties had a higher final energy 
consumption on average than the properties reviewed 
in 2010. Specific final energy consumption remained 
unchanged in the hotel buildings.

400

300

200

100

0

Specific final energy consumption – CRESS 1 [kWh/(m²/year)]

Average portfolio consumption per year,
by type of consumption

2010

251

66%

34%

2011

258

63%

37%

2012

253

68%

32%

400

300

200

100

0

Average portfolio consumption per year,
by type of consumption

20122010

61%
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39%

2011

58%

285

42%

62%

267

38%

2010

77%

254

23%

2011

76%

256

24%

2012

80%

278

20%

2010

58%

282

42%

2011

52%

303

48%

2012

55%

283

45%

2010

83%

92

17%

2011

80%

98

20%

2012

84%

114

16%

Offices

Logistics

HotelsRetail

254

n	Energy consumption value, heating (kWh/m²)                   n Energy consumption value, electricity (kWh/m²)                       Portfolio average over three years (kWh/m2)

Total portfolio
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Absolute CO2 emissions broken down by direct 
and indirect primary energy source – EN16
(t CO2e/year1), extrapolated portfolio)    

392,278 380,603

444,531

n Scope 1, GHG Protocol [tCO2e/year] n Scope 2, GHG Protocol [tCO2e/year]
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Portfolio emissions by primary energy source each year (scopes 1 and 2)    

2010

8%

92%

2011

7%

93%

2012

6%

94%

Scope 1 – Direct emissions: Comprises all green-
house gas emissions (GHG emissions) directly from 
sources that are owned or controlled by the entity 
concerned and therefore subject to the entity’s direct 
influence. Such GHG emissions include, for example, 
those from combustion in stationary installations 
such as heating boilers or from mobile sources such 
as the entity’s own vehicles, emissions from chemical 
processes, and leaked emissions from air-conditioning 
systems.

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions through energy use: 
Comprises all indirect GHG emissions resulting from 
the use of energy outside the entity concerned by a 
power utility company. These emissions include those 
from generating electricity, district heating, and district 
cooling.

Over all three years, the proportion of total CO2 emis-
sions accounted for by scope 1 emissions has fallen 
steadily, whereas the proportion of scope 2 CO2 emis-
sions has risen.

Absolute CO2 emissions – also referred to as the 
carbon footprint – are based on the consumption of 
energy in the form of direct and indirect heating and 
electricity consumption. 

The absolute and specific CO2 emissions have been 
determined in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol 2010 standard using country-related and, in 
some cases, location-dependent CO2 emission factors. 
In 2012, the carbon footprint for the total portfolio 
was approximately 444,531 tonnes, up by 13 percent 
compared with 2010. 

In the analysis by usage type for 2012, office build-
ings accounted for more than half of the floor space 
(52 percent) in the extrapolated total portfolio. This 

large proportion of the floor area was responsible 
for 46 percent of the total absolute CO2 emissions in 
2012. Although the period between 2010 and 2012 
saw the office buildings floor area grow by around 6 
percent, absolute CO2 emissions fell by 1 percent over 
the same period. Given the high proportion of space 
accounted for by offices, this is a very valuable cut in 
emissions.

The proportion of floor space in the extrapolated 
total portfolio attributable to retail buildings was 24 
percent in 2012. These buildings generated over 35 
percent of the total CO2 emissions, 33 percent higher 
than in 2010. One of the reasons was that abso-
lute final energy consumption also rose sharply but 
there were also changes in the energy consumption 
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Absolute CO2 emissions – EN16 (t CO2e/year, extrapolated portfolio)
Proportional emissions breakdown by usage type and year Emissions by usage type and year
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n Offices n Retail n Hotels  n Logistics

2010

392,278

8%

10%

30%

52%

2011

380,603

30%

8%

52%

10%

2012

444,531

35%

10%

9%

46%

Offices

29,775

2010

41,778

2012

30,606

2011

LogisticsHotelsRetailTotal portfolio
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structure and differences in the associated conversion 
factors per kWh.

In the case of hotel and logistics buildings, there was 
a small increase in the number of properties compared 
with the portfolio as a whole. 

Specific CO2 emissions relate the absolute CO2 emis-
sions to the energy reference area.

There was an overall increase in specific CO2 emis-
sions. They rose by 7 percent from 2010 to 2012 
whereas the specific final energy consumption for the 
portfolio went up by 1 percent in the same timespan. 

The specific CO2 emissions from office buildings 
dropped by 4 percent between 2010 and 2012. This 
amounted to a reasonable change given a fall in spe-
cific final energy consumption of 3 percent in this pe-
riod. In retail premises, specific CO2 emissions climbed 
by 26 percent over the analysis period. This change 
was primarily attributable to the rise in electricity con-
sumption. Specific CO2 emissions from hotel buildings 
rose by 9 percent in this period. In this case, specific 
final energy consumption remained unchanged be-
tween 2010 and 2012. In logistics buildings, specific 
CO2 emissions were up by 25 percent from 2010 to 
2012, not unreasonable given the above average 
increase of 24 percent in final energy consumption. 
At one logistics property that is particularly significant 
in terms of consumption, the rise in consumption was 

huge. The primary reason was the special use of the 
floor area in the property concerned. This massive 
increase at one site impacted the data for the usage 
type as a whole.

Connection between energy consumption and CO2 
emissions 
Measured across all user groups, the proportion of 
energy used for power had a direct impact on abso-
lute CO2 values. While the percentage attributable to 
electricity in the consumption of final energy averaged 
60 to 70 percent, the ratio for the carbon footprint 
was different, with the proportion attributable to 
electricity averaging 74 to 80 percent. In the case of 
specific final energy consumption, the proportion  
accounted for by electricity went up by just under  
3 percent from 2010 to 2012, which was consistent 
with the growth of 6 percent in the proportion of spe-
cific CO2 emissions attributable to electricity consump-
tion. Absolute water consumption comprises the total 
volume of water consumed and it includes all sources 
of supply (drinking water, groundwater, surface water, 
rainwater). When extrapolated to reflect the entire 
portfolio, it forms the water footprint. 
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Specific CO2 emissions – CRESS 3 [kg CO2 e/(m²/year)]  
Average emissions per year, by type of consumption
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Average portfolio emissions by usage type and year, and by type of consumption
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Offices LogisticsHotelsRetail

65

n	CO2 emissions, heat [kg CO2e /(m²/year)]                 n CO2 emissions, electricity [kg CO2 e /(m²/year)]                      Portfolio average over three years[kg CO2e /(m²/year)]

1)  CO2e = CO2 equivalent: To make the effects of different greenhouse gases (GHGs) comparable with each other, the UN has created an index expressing the 
potential warming from a GHG over a specified period compared with that caused by CO2. GHG emission data can therefore be converted, compared, and 
aggregated into a CO2 equivalent.

Total portfolio
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33%
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Compared with 2010, the water footprint for the 
overall portfolio went up by a fraction under 21 
percent in 2012 to a volume of 3.9 million m³. Given 
the increase in floor area of just 4 percent over the 
same period, the rise in absolute water consumption 
was therefore disproportionately high compared to the 
change in floor area.

In the analysis of water footprint by usage type, it is 
clear that office buildings accounted for the highest 
proportion (40 percent). However, this proportion fell 
by 3 percent over the analysis period, whereas the 
total portfolio floor area accounted for by offices went 
up to 52 percent. As in the case of office buildings, 
logistics buildings accounted for a proportion of total 
water consumption (9 percent) that was lower than 
their corresponding proportion of the total floor area 
in the portfolio (16 percent). The opposite was the 
case for retail and hotel premises. Compared with 
proportions of the total portfolio floor area of 24 
percent and 9 percent respectively, these usage types 
accounted for 34 percent and 18 percent respectively 
of the total water consumption in 2012.
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Average consumption per year Average consumption by usage type and year

2010

0.55

2011

0.53

2012

0.60

0.56

Specific water consumption represents water con-
sumption in relation to energy reference area and, 
unlike the absolute value, is adjusted for special users. 

Average water consumption was 9 percent higher in 
2012 than in 2010 at 0.6 m³/m². The analysis by us-
age types shows that there were only minor changes 

for office and logistics buildings, whereas retail and 
hotel buildings registered significant increases in con-
sumption over the analysis period. These increases in 
consumption were caused in particular by the acquisi-
tion of large properties with above-average specific 
water consumption. 

OfficesTotal portfolio LogisticsHotelsRetail

n Specific water consumption [m3/(m²/year)]                    Portfolio average over three years [m3/(m²/year)]

Offices LogisticsHotelsRetailTotal portfolio
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The absolute volume of waste is the total quantity of 
waste produced in the categories of recycled waste, 
landfill waste, and incinerated waste.

In 2012 it amounted to 53,151 tonnes for the total 
portfolio and rose by just 1 percent compared with 
2010. Whereas the quantity of waste was up by 9 
percent from office buildings and by 2 percent from 

logistics buildings, retail and hotel buildings managed 
to reduce their waste by 5 percent and 15 percent 
respectively. The changes in the absolute volume of 
waste were mainly attributable to the acquisition and 
disposal of properties. Logistics buildings are respon-
sible for the highest volumes of waste as a result of 
the nature of the use of the property.
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n Offices n Retail n Hotels  n Logistics

2010

52,819

36%

9%

26%

29%

2011

52,079

23%

35%

33%

9%

2012

53,151

25%

8%

36%

31%

Specific volume of waste is adjusted for special users 
and expresses the volume of waste in relation to the 
energy reference area. 

Between 2010 and 2012, this key figure fell by 2.5 
percent to 7.8 kg/m². It should be noted that the 
proportion of ‘waste recycled’ rose by an average 
of 5 percent whereas ‘waste, no disposal method 

indicated’ fell by 23 percent. It can be concluded from 
this that users have made an important contribution 
to the sustainable management of the buildings. Data 
for the volume of waste is difficult to determine, but 
data capture in this regard has improved considerably 
compared with previous years.
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Absolute values, all KPIs, entire portfolio (extrapolated) 2010  
(287 properties)

2011  
(287 properties)

2012  
(295 properties)

Final energy consumption [GWh/year] 1,251 1,224 1,346 

Final energy consumption, EN3 (for scope 1) [kWh/year] 148 141 130

Final energy consumption, EN4 (for scope 2) [kWh/year] 1,103 1,083 1,216

CO2 emissions, EN16 [t CO2/year] 392,278 380,603 444,531

CO2 emissions (scope 1) [t CO2/year] 29,745 28,367 26,479 

CO2 emissions (scope 2) [t CO2/year] 362,533 352,236 418,052 

Water consumption, EN8 [m³/year] 3,239,432 3,124,017 3,911,741

Volume of waste, EN22 [t/year] 52,819 52,079 53,151

Specific values, portfolio under review 2010 2011 2012

Final energy consumption, CRESS 1 [kWh/(m²/year)] 251 258 253

Energy consumption value, heating [kWh/(m²/year)] 86 96 80

Energy consumption value, electricity [kWh/(m²/year)] 165 162 173 

CO2 emissions, CRESS 3 [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 65 62 69

Specific CO2 emissions, heating [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 17 16 14

Specific CO2 emissions, electricity [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 48 46 55

Water consumption, CRESS 2 [m³/(m²/year)] 0.55 0.53 0.60

Volume of waste [kg/(m²/year)] 8.0 8.0 7.8

2.4 Overall values

Extrapolation of the reviewed KPIs to reflect the entire portfolio produced the following absolute values: 

3.  Sustainability process/ 
sustainability management 

3.1. Analysis and evaluation tools

The core tool used to record KPIs and thus ensure 
that the portfolio of properties held by the real estate 
funds is sustainability-oriented is the SoFi portfolio 
sustainability management system (SoFi PSM). This ap-
plication is at the heart of sustainability management 
for the real estate funds portfolio at Union Investment; 
it is used to bring together and manage a wide variety 
of processes, including: 

•  recording and analyzing the KPIs, i.e. heating and 
electricity consumption data, CO2 emissions, water 
consumption, and the volume of waste in the fund 
properties;

•  assessing service provider eligibility, which involves 
reviewing and evaluating service providers from a 
sustainability perspective; 

•  carrying out the sustainable investment check (SI 
check), which is run when a property is purchased 
and also annually for all properties in the portfolio in 
order to identify potential for optimization; 

•  providing the option for an internal portfolio 
comparison in terms of consumption values (internal 
benchmarking);

•  issuing various reports, such as property reports and 
fund reports, and supplying data for ratings and 
benchmarking; 

•  reliably adjusting data in compliance with interna-
tional standards, such as the guidelines for introduc-
ing sustainability measurements in a real estate 
portfolio, as recommended by the ZIA;

•  requesting and recording the proportion of green 
leases used for leased-out space.

Quality assurance – Independent parties manually reviewed the captured data 
for each property to check that it was complete and plausible.

Completeness of data – In cases where some of the consumption data was un-
available, it was added on the basis of reference values. The mechanism developed 
for this purpose incorporated use-related averages from different sources and histo-
rical portfolio data.

Extrapolation – If it was not possible to determine some of the data (such as ten-
ant data) in full, data was extrapolated on the basis of usage and with a floor area 
weighting, or on the basis of reference values within the software used.

Adjustment – To ensure that the properties in the international portfolio were 
comparable with each other, specific data was adjusted. Final energy consumption 
data was adjusted for climate, operating hours, vacancy periods, occupancy density, 

and special users. The climate adjustment was applied using location-related weath-
er periods for the last few years. The specific consumption values for water and 
waste were adjusted for special users. No adjustment was applied to the CO2 equiv-
alents determined on the basis of country-specific emission factors, nor was any ad-
justment generally applied to the absolute values. 

Energy reference area – The total floor area in a building that is heated or tem-
perature-controlled.

Note: The presentation of energy consumption and CO2 emissions is broken down 
by direct primary energy sources (such as coal, natural gas, oil, biofuels, etc. – in 
other words, energy generated directly on site by means of combustion) and indirect 
primary energy sources (such as electricity generated from fossil fuels, nuclear ener-
gy, district heating – in other words, purchased energy).

Note on data quality
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The system components offering consumption data 
capture, property reports, and the property purchase SI 
check mean that Union Investment has at its disposal 
a set of tools that is perfectly suited to identifying and 
leveraging potential improvements in the environmental 
and economic sustainability of its fund properties and 
therefore of its portfolio as a whole. 

The SI check is used to carry out an annual assessment 
of fund properties from a qualitative perspective. In 
this check, data based on criteria relating to energy 
and the environment, water consumption, waste and 
recycling, efficiency and flexibility, location quality, 
health, and well-being is recorded and evaluated. This 
enables Union Investment to determine and document 
qualitative changes in its real estate funds property 
portfolio. The SI check is subject to continuous further 
development and refinement. It is not only used for 
regularly assessing the existing portfolio, it is also a 
mandatory requirement in the process for review-
ing purchases of properties for the real estate funds. 
Compliance with minimum values is required for any 
property purchase and best efforts must be made to 
ensure properties attain predefined target values. The 
combination of SI checks for qualitative assessment 
and the recording of KPIs for quantitative analysis 
guarantees that Union Investment documents and 
evaluates comprehensive real estate and portfolio 
data on an annual basis. At the same time, it follows 
up the impact of the actions it has taken and is gradu-
ally integrating this review of the success of the ac-
tions into work processes as a standard requirement. 

In the process for assessing service provider eligibil-
ity, Union Investment can systematically manage 
and assess the quality of its service providers from a 
sustainability perspective and continuously improve 
the collaboration with providers in terms of sustain-
ability. 

Union Investment also encourages its service provid-
ers to make improvements to existing buildings in the 

portfolio focusing on sustainability. Together with the 
parties involved in a project, it formulates binding sus-
tainability targets and initiates carbon due diligence 
(CDD) processes in respect of the properties. 

These processes involve examining and proposing 
action in relation to building operation with a view 
to saving energy and cutting CO2 emissions. Union 
Investment offsets the necessary capital investment 
against the impact from the potential energy savings 
on operating costs; it is often energy costs that lead 
to increased operating costs. In this case, a detailed 
examination is carried out based on financial and 
environmental factors. 

Benchmarks and product ratings offer the opportunity 
for comparisons both within the portfolio and with 
other major holders of real estate portfolios; they also 
support the introduction of industry-wide measure-
ment bases for sustainability criteria. Investment 
managers can use benchmarks and ratings to obtain 
pointers to potential improvements at both property 
and portfolio levels.

Finally, the purpose of signing green leases is to en-
sure that tenants are actively involved in the objective 
of achieving sustainable and resource-saving building 
operation, increasing the efficient use of resources, 
and reducing emissions in the construction and opera-
tion of real estate.

One acknowledged trend in the industry is that real 
estate failing to meet key sustainability criteria will 
be subject to penalties in the future in the form of 
markdowns in investment property markets and rental 
markets. Consequently, it is even more important to 
highlight sustainable characteristics when valuing real 
estate. A clear objective is to make the inclusion of 
transparent sustainability criteria a standard compo-
nent of real estate appraisal.

3.2.  Investment strategy and  
due diligence process 

Union Investment aims to integrate sustainability 
fully and systematically into its business processes. 
In particular, this includes permanently reducing 
the environmental impact of its entire real estate 
portfolio while generating long-term financial returns 
and thereby gradually working its way toward a 
sustainable real estate funds portfolio. As part of the 
environmental management system (EMS) at Union 

Investment, sustainable processes are quality assured 
and their progress monitored. 

Sustainability has been firmly established in the 
Union Investment business strategy for many years in 
the interest of preserving the value of its real estate 
portfolio. A mandatory SI check is carried out as part 
of the due diligence process for new purchases. The 
quality of many of the buildings in the portfolio in 
terms of sustainability is therefore verifiable.
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Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Emporio Tower Hamburg Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland LEED CS 2.0 Platinum

Finsbury Circus London United  
Kingdom Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland BREEAM New Construction Excellent

CityQuartier  
DomAquarée Berlin Germany Hotel UniImmo:  

Deutschland
DGNB New Mixed Urban Districts Silver (pi-
lot project)

Westferry Circus London United  
Kingdom Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland BREEAM Offices 2008 Very Good

Rhein-Galerie Ludwigshafen Germany Shopping mall UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB New Retail Buildings (NHA) 09 Gold

Nord 1 Frankfurt Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 08 Silver

Laim 290 Munich Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 08 Silver

Atmos Munich Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 08 Silver

Arc de Seine Paris France Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland Haute Qualité Environnementale (HQE)

Rund Vier Vienna Austria Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 09 Silver

Logpark Rade Neu-Wulmsdorf Germany Logistics UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Industrial Buildings (NIN) 09 
Gold

Equinox Glasgow United  
Kingdom Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland
BREEAM In-Use: Part 1 Very Good and Part 
2 Good

Centurion Commercial 
Center Hamburg Germany Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 09 Gold and HafenCity  
Ecolabel Gold (pre-certification)

Rosmarin Karree Berlin Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM In-Use: Parts 1 and 2 Very Good

Europlaza 4 Vienna Austria Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 09 Gold

Manufaktura Łódź Poland Shopping mall UniImmo:  
Deutschland

BREEAM In-Use: Part 1 Very Good and  
Part 2 Excellent

G1 Glasgow United  
Kingdom Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland BREEAM Office 05 Very Good

600 13th Street Washington D.C. USA Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB Silver

111 South Wacker Chicago USA Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS Gold and EB Gold

Limbecker Platz Essen Germany Shopping mall UniImmo: Europa DGNB New Retail Buildings (NHA) 09 Silver

Forum Kayseri Kayseri Turkey Shopping mall UniImmo: Europa BREEAM Europe Retail 08 Very Good

51 Fifty-One Zurich Switzerland Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS 3.0 Gold

Central Seine Paris France Office UniImmo: Europa HQE

555 Mission Street San Francisco USA Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS 2.0 Gold

Multi-Cube Heddesheim Germany Logistics UniImmo: Europa DGNB New Industrial Buildings (NIN) 09 
Gold

Alberga B Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM Very Good

Senator Warsaw Poland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM Very Good

1 Coleman Street London United  
Kingdom Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM Office 05 Very Good

Portfolio properties with certification

Source: Union Investment as at December 31 of the year concerned.

Proportion of properties with certification

2011 2012 2013

Number 
of  
properties

% (by #
appraisal 
value)

Number 
of  
properties

% (by  
appraisal 
value)

Number 
of  
properties

% (by  
appraisal 
value)

Proportion of portfolio properties with  
certification or pre-certification 25 20 31 19 45 27

Proportion of portfolio properties
without certification 282 80 280 81 290 73

Proportion of properties with certification
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Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Torre Mayor Mexico City Mexico Office UniImmo: Global LEED EBOM Gold

Whirlpool RDC Denver USA Logistics UniImmo: Global LEED NC Certified

Woodland Pointe Virginia Herndon USA Office UniImmo: Global LEED EB Certified

3Stawy Katowice Poland Shopping mall UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use: Part 1 Good and Part 2 
Very Good 

Westpark Zurich Switzerland Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use: Part 1 Very Good and Part 
2 Good 

Pilke Helsinki-Vantaa Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM Very Good

Zebra Tower Warsaw Poland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate LEED CS Gold

Alberga A Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM Very Good

Monarch The Hague Netherlands Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM NB Excellent

Hehku Helsinki Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM Very Good

Europa-Galerie  
Saarbrücken Saarbrücken Germany Shopping mall UniInstitutional  

European Real Estate
DGNB New Retail Buildings (NHA) 2009 
Silver

Skanska HQ Helsinki Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate LEED CS VS2009 Platinum

Space 20 Darmstadt Germany Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings (NBV) 09 Silver

Karlstrasse 4-6 Frankfurt Germany Office UniInstitutional  
German Real Estate

BREEAM In-Use: Part 1 and 2 Good,  
Part 3 Pass

Portfolio properties with certification (continued)

Properties with certification in progress

Certification helps to create a clear understanding of 
sustainability in the real estate sector. At the same 
time it provides investors and property users with 
greater transparency for assessing the sustainable 
qualities of properties and sets out parameters for 
optimizing buildings in terms of sustainability. This is 
why Union Investment focuses its investment strategy 
on properties that have evidence of their sustainability. 
Ideally, new buildings should have a sustainability 
certificate. Currently, 45 properties have certification 
or pre-certification.

3.3. Raising stakeholder awareness 

Real estate management can only be fully sustainable 
if all those involved play their part. That is why Union 
Investment raises awareness by means of a variety of 
media and events that provide its employees, market 
participants, customers, and tenants with informa-
tion about the opportunities and needs created by 
sustainability. Union Investment has run the online 

‘Sustainable Real Estate Investment Knowledge Portal’ 
since 2010. It uses numerous examples from its own 
portfolio to illustrate how to put sustainability success-
fully into practice. 

3.4. Obligations placed on property users

As well as the fabric of a building, the use to which 
it is put is also a major factor that determines its 
ecological footprint. Consequently, more and more 
sustainable criteria are being incorporated into lease 
agreements to ensure that buildings are operated 
sustainably. 

The key component of a green lease is the commit-
ment to sustainability by both the landlord and the 
tenant. The pursuit of financial efficiency must also in-
clude moves toward sustainable operation and thereby 
toward a real estate portfolio that combines sustain-
ability with appropriate financial performance over the 
long term. A green lease may specify a requirement 

Source: Union Investment as at December 31, 2013

Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Prinzregentenplatz Munich Germany Office UniImmo: Deutsch-
land

DGNB New Office and Administrative Build-
ings including Modernization (MVB) 10 Silver 
(pre-certificate)

CapSquare Kuala Lumpur Malaysia Office UniImmo: Europa GBI Provisional, Certified

Akzo Nobel Amsterdam Netherlands Office UniImmo: Deutsch-
land BREEAM Excellent
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that consumption data be regularly shared so that 
the picture regarding consumption becomes transpar-
ent over time. The lease may also include provisions 
requiring the use of environmentally friendly materials 
and energy-efficient equipment, and specify that best 
efforts be made to maintain the property with efficient 
use of resources. In green leases, the parties involved 
can agree options for more extensive reconstruction 
work related to sustainability, for example if energy 
savings can be achieved through structural changes. 
In the case of certified properties, the parties can also 
agree to seek or improve certification. 

Like all standard institutional leases, the standard 
leases used by Union Investment already contain a se-
ries of sustainable components. Union Investment aims 
to expand its standard leases to include further basic 
sustainability criteria. A list of standard lease clauses 
can be used to add property-specific features and 
Union Investment plans to apply this template to new 
leases from 2014. Depending on the lease, the clauses 
in green leases are individually agreed and are then 
subject to mandatory implementation by the tenant.
Union Investment was also involved in the ‘Green 
Leases’ project group, which drew up and published 
50 standard recommendations covering the sustain-
able use and management of real estate in Germany. 
In 2013, this project group won the ‘Sustainability’ 
category in the awards presented by German publisher 
Immobilien Manager. 

Finally, Union Investment recorded the proportion of 
green leases in its real estate fund portfolio in 2012. 
These leases covered approximately 12 percent of the 
rental space in the international real estate funds port-
folio held by Union Investment. 

3.5. Obligations placed on service providers 

Under the environmental management system 
introduced in 2010, Union Investment has undertaken 
to incorporate environmentally relevant criteria into 
the development of products and services, into new 
contracts for tender, and into the selection of business 
partners. In the case of real estate asset manage-
ment, this affects the selection of property managers 
because Union Investment has included appropriate 
sustainability criteria in service contracts. The selection 
of business partners is based on specially developed 
profiles that are an integral part of the systematic 
evaluation process. Because it also aims to improve 
its environmental performance on an ongoing basis, 
Union Investment requires its service providers to apply 
sustainable principles to their activities and to impose 
similar obligations on their business partners. 

3.6. Transparency in the sector

Union Investment is striving to create transparency in 
the real estate sector so that it will be possible to mea-
sure the sustainable quality of properties. It therefore 
makes its findings, progress, and approaches publicly 
available by providing aggregated consumption data 
for its fund properties and information about the 
methods it uses to analyze buildings. Union Investment 
encourages transparency about sustainability in the 
real estate sector by working with numerous initiatives 
and research projects such as the S-I-R-E – Sustain-
able Investment in Real Estate study. The objective 
of this study is to identify the measurable impact of 
sustainability criteria on the financial performance of 
retail and office buildings in Europe. Union Investment 
was also an active participant in the CCRS Economic 
Sustainability Indicator (ESI) project for developing 
forward-thinking valuation systems that incorporate 
sustainability criteria.

3.7. Information sharing and benchmarking

As part of its involvement in numerous initiatives, 
Union Investment maintains a regular dialog with 
other real estate portfolio holding companies. It has 
been a member of the Urban Land Institute (ULI) since 
1999. The ULI campaigns for the sustainable develop-
ment of living environments and Union Investment 
plays a particularly active role in its LessEn initiative. 
Its connection with HypZert GmbH relates primarily 
to the specialist energy and environment group. The 
HypZert study on the sustainability of buildings and 
its role in valuation was compiled in 2011 with the 
support of Union Investment. It was one of the first 
steps toward documenting, analyzing, and comparing 
the various methods being discussed by the market for 
valuing real estate in a way that also reflects sustain-
ability. As a founding member of the German Sustain-
able Building Council (DGNB), Union Investment has 
also been contributing its expertise and experience to 
wide-ranging working groups and expert panels since 
2007. The DGNB certification system was established 
with the help of pilot certification projects closely sup-
ported by Union Investment.

Together with other major institutions and holders of 
real estate portfolios, Union Investment plays an active 
role in developing industry-wide benchmarks and is a 
constant driving force behind this process. 

3.8 Ratings

In 2012 and 2013, Union Investment took part in the 
Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) 
survey. In this initiative, which was established by 
investors in 2009, the sustainability performance of 
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funds is evaluated in an annual analysis and the find-
ings presented using a scores-based model. Reports 
with the survey results, including fund rankings, can 
be created. Participants thus also have the option of 
setting sustainability targets, ranking the sustainability 
performance of their own funds in a comparison with 
other market players and products, and tracking the 
attainment of targets. The overarching objective is to 
achieve transparency.

The performance of the individual funds is illustrated 
in a four-quadrant model, broken down into Green 
Starters, Green Talk, Green Walk, and finally Green 
Stars. This GRESB model classifies the funds submitted 
for assessment by the participants according to their 
sustainability performance.

In 2013, all Union Investment funds improved their 
GRESB rating positions compared with 2012 and 

The horizontal axis for the coordinates shows the 
management & policy assessment criteria, whereas 
the vertical axis shows the assessment criteria imple-
mentation & measurement. The position of each fund 
in one of the four quadrants is determined using a 
percentage score. If a fund is positioned in the Green 
Starters quadrant, it means that the fund has initial 
sustainability policies. Environmental initiatives have 
not yet been fully implemented. Consumption data 
is not comprehensively recorded. The Green Talk 
quadrant indicates that there is already a budget for 
sustainability management. In addition, reporting 
and sustainability programs have been developed. 
However, there are deficiencies in terms of measur-
ing, planning, and implementing action for enhanc-
ing environmental performance. On the other hand, 
if a fund is positioned in the Green Walk quadrant, 
it indicates that sustainability programs have been 
integrated and consumption data is recorded on an 
ongoing basis, but that the reporting system is not 
very well developed and there are also deficiencies 
in formal methods and processes. Green Stars is the 
quadrant to aim for. In this case, an integrated sustain-
ability management system has been established, with 
processes and reporting based on this system. The en-
vironmental performance of the portfolio is managed 
in a continuous process based on analysis, objectives, 
and follow-up.

are classified at least in the Green Talk quadrant. 
UniImmo:Deutschland even managed to improve its 
position from Green Talk (2012) to Green Stars (2013). 
In the overall analysis, Union Investment real estate 
funds came out in the range 38 percent to 47 percent, 
therefore above the average value for the GRESB fund 
portfolio as a whole (39 percent).

In 2013, an assessment of sustainability with a 
weighting of 10 percent was included for the first 
time in the open-ended real estate fund ratings issued 
by the Scope ratings agency. Before this method was 
actually used in practice, Union Investment helped 
Scope’s sustainability committee with the assessment 
of sustainability in the preparation of the ratings. 
These ratings will be continuously refined. Scope is 
one of the leading independent rating agencies in the 
areas of credit ratings, investment management rat-
ings, and portfolio analysis. 

3.9. Comprehensive understanding of  
sustainability

Union Investment has enshrined the issue of sus-
tainability in guidelines, policies, and programs at 
corporate level, ensuring that responsibilities in 

business units are laid down and that sustainability is 
factored into all processes. The obligation that Union 
Investment has imposed on itself to structure business 
processes in accordance with the requirements of the 
ZIA Code has therefore been satisfied.

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Corporate Social Responsibility Report  KPIs

197



4.  ZIA-compliant sustainability 
reporting

ZIA’s position on sustainability

The ZIA sets out the basic principles for sustainable 
business in the real estate sector in its sustainability 
code published in 2011. The ‘ZIA Code’ encompasses 
an industry code together with stipulations covering 
industry reporting, sustainability measurement, cor-
porate governance/responsibility, and corporate social 
responsibility.

Union Investment has been a member of the ZIA 
since June 2008 and has been heavily involved in the 
development of the industry code. Within the working 
group Sustainability, Energy and Environment (NEU), 
Union Investment mainly worked on the development 
of the ZIA’s Guideline for the Introduction of Sustain-
ability Measurement in Real Estate Portfolios – Tech-
nological-Environmental Aspects, which appeared in 
2013. These guidelines contain recommendations for 
standard sustainability measurements to be used in 
the real estate industry. The collection of key data and 
internal benchmarking at Union Investment is based 
on these guidelines, ensuring that consumption data is 
of the requisite quality and facilitating benchmarking 
throughout the market. 

The objective of sustainability measurement is to pro-
vide an important basis for the value-added develop-
ment of the majority of the existing properties in the 
portfolio, integrating environmental, economic, and 
social criteria. This process can highlight the potential 
for optimizing value because greater transparency 
allows environmental objectives to be pursued in 
concert with the implementation of economic require-
ments. 

Union Investment complies with methodology recom-
mended by ZIA in carrying out the sustainability mea-
surements for its portfolio and satisfies all the criteria.
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GRI Index

GRI indicator Page/Reference/Comment
Applica-

tion 
level

1. Strategy and analysis

1.1 Statement from the most senior decision maker 2013 AR pages 8-9

1.2 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 2013 AR pages 94-98

2. Organizational profile

2.1 Name of the organization 2013 AR U1

2.2 Brands, products, and/or services 2013 AR p. 71; pages 77-83

2.3
Operational structure of the organization including the main 
divisions, operating companies, subsidiaries and joint ventures

2013 AR pages 71-73

2.4 Location of organization’s headquarters 2013 AR p. 110

2.5 Countries where the organization operates 2013 AR p. 72

2.6 Ownership structure and legal form 2013 AR p. 171

2.7 Markets 2013 AR pages 74-76

2.8 Scale of the organization 2013 AR p. 77; p. 158; p. 207 (LA1)

2.9 Significant changes regarding size, structure, or ownership No changes during the reporting year (2013).

2.10 Awards www.union-investment.com > About Union Investment > Awards

3. Report parameters

3.1 Reporting period 2013 AR p. 176

3.2 Publication of most recent previous report May 2012

3.3 Reporting cycle 2013 AR p. 176

3.4 Contacts 2013 AR p. U5

3.5 Process for defining report content 2013 AR p. 176

3.6 Boundary of the report 2013 AR p. 176

3.7 Limitations on the scope of the report There are no particular limitations.

3.8 Joint ventures, subsidiaries, outsourced operations 2013 AR pages 158-159

3.9 Data measurement
The procedures and specifications concerning measurement laid 
down in the GRI G3.1 guidelines have been applied, so far as the 
data allowed.

3.10 Re-statement of information provided in earlier reports Unless otherwise stated, comparability has been maintained.

3.11
Changes in the scope, boundary, or measurement methods applied 
in the report

2013 AR p. 176

3.12 GRI Content Index 2013 AR pages 199-210

3.13 External assurance for the report No external assurance for the report

4. Governance, commitments, and engagement

4.1 Governance structure of the organization 2013 AR pages 167-169 

4.2
Indicate whether the chair of the highest governance body is also an 
executive officer

2013 AR pages 167-169 

4.3 Independent members of the highest governance body 2013 AR p. 167

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report  IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

All reports are available at www.unternehmen.union-investment.de > Wofür wir uns engagieren > Anspruch & Grundsätze > Nachhaltigkeit

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported
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4.4
Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to make recommenda-
tions to the highest governance body

Union Investment attaches great importance to a high degree of 
transparency and fast communication throughout the hierarchy. 
Employees have the option to approach the Board of Managing 
Directors directly at any time. The Chief Executive Officer may also 
be contacted directly at any time through the Board of Managing 
Directors blog available on the intranet. In addition, employee 
events are held several times each year. At these events, employees 
can address questions and submit suggestions to the Board of 
Managing Directors. Employee satisfaction surveys are carried out at 
regular intervals.

Within the Union Investment Group, the various works councils 
represent the interests of employees. The relationship between the 
works councils and corporate management is based on trust and 
constructive dialog.

Every shareholder is entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG. Every shareholder also has 
the right to information as provided for in the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). Outside this formal framework, there are 
also numerous events offering shareholders the opportunity for 
direct contact with the Board of Managing Directors, Supervisory 
Board, and members of the decision-making bodies at subsidiaries 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG.

4.5
Linkage between compensation for members of the highest 
governance body, senior managers, and executives, and the 
management of the organization

The objective of the remuneration systems is to provide an 
appropriate reward in return for the services of the employees and 
offer effective performance incentives. 

The remuneration system for staff covered by collective pay 
agreements in Germany is based on the collective pay agreements 
for private and public-sector banks; in Luxembourg, the system is 
based on the collective pay arrangements applicable in that country. 
The salaries under collective pay agreements comprise monthly 
salaries and bonuses. 

The remuneration structure for employees not subject to collective 
pay agreements comprises a function-based basic monthly salary 
and an annual performance-related component. The performance-
related component is not restricted to quantitative targets; 
qualitative and sustainability-based targets may also be agreed on 
an individual basis. An earnings-based bonus and a growth-oriented 
long-term component (LTIP) may be granted as voluntary additional 
benefits. The LTIP provides an incentive linked to long-term corporate 
performance and supports long-term staff retention; at the same 
time, it reflects the risk position of the Company.

The remuneration structure for the members of the Board of 
Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
comprises a basic salary and a target bonus system. The bonus 
components are broken down by Group, Company, and individual 
targets. Of the total bonus, 40 percent is paid out as a long-term 
component in the form of a deferred bonus.

The remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board of 
Union Asset Management Holding AG is determined by the Annual 
General Meeting and comprises solely a fixed remuneration 
component. This fixed remuneration is deliberately paid 
independently of the performance of the organization.

4.6
Processes in place for the highest governance body to ensure 
conflicts of interest are avoided

In accordance with the articles of association, the ten members of 
the Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG to 
be appointed by the Annual General Meeting must use their 
personal qualities and expertise to ensure that the interests of 
holders of units in investment funds issued by subsidiaries are 
protected. Generally, only members of the managing body of a 
cooperative enterprise may be elected as shareholder representa-
tives on the Supervisory Board, although up to two shareholder 
representatives may be exempted from this requirement. The five 
employee representatives on the Supervisory Board are elected by 
the workforce.

The members of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset 
Management Holding AG are appointed by the Supervisory Board of 
Union Asset Management Holding AG. The Supervisory Board sets 
the highest standards in terms of the skills, qualifications, and 
experience required for members of the Board of Managing 
Directors. The Supervisory Board and the independent auditors of 
the annual financial statements audit the management activities of 
Union Asset Management Holding AG to ensure that the activities 
are suitable and properly carried out.

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported
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4.7
Qualifications of the members of the highest governance body 
regarding sustainability issues

2013 AR pages 18-23

4.8 Statements of mission, codes of conduct, and principles
Sustainability policy; responsible investment policy; environmental 
policy

4.9
Procedures of the highest governance body for overseeing 
sustainability performance

Union Investment bases its agreements on performance targets for 
employees on their contributions to value creation. If sustainability is 
of particular importance in an employee function, appropriate 
sustainability performance targets are also agreed for this employee. 
There are plans to explicitly integrate sustainability targets at Board 
of Managing Director and senior management levels in 2014 in 
accordance with the adopted sustainability strategy.

4.10
Processes for evaluating the highest governance body’s 
sustainability performance

Each year, the independent auditors of the annual financial 
statements audit the management activities of the Board of 
Managing Directors to ensure these activities have been properly 
carried out. The findings are notified to the Supervisory Board. If 
subsidiaries of Union Asset Management Holding AG are subject to 
supervision by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
(BaFin), the findings of the annual audit are also notified to BaFin. 
At least once a year, BaFin holds supervisory meetings with the 
senior management teams of the Group companies subject to its 
supervision. From time to time, BaFin may also initiate special audits. 
The management activities of the Board of Managing Directors are 
also continuously monitored by the Supervisory Board. For further 
details, please refer to the written report by the Supervisory Board 
(2013 AR pages 102-103). The Supervisory Board evaluates the 
performance of the Board of Managing Directors once a year on the 
basis of performance targets agreed beforehand.  

4.11 Precautionary approach 2013 AR pages 18-23

4.12 Externally developed agreements, principles or initiatives

Union Investment is involved in the implementation of a number of 
external agreements, principles, and initiatives, such as: 
• United Nations Global Compact (through the DZ BANK Group);
• UN Principles for Responsible Investment;
• Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies;
• German Sustainability Code;
• Sustainable Investment Forum;
• German Property Federation;
• German Sustainable Building Council;
• Urban Land Institute.

4.13 Membership of organizations See 4.12.

4.14 Stakeholder groups 2013 AR p. 176

4.15 Basis for selection of stakeholders 2013 AR p. 176

4.16 Stakeholder engagement

The dialog with, and inclusion of, stakeholder groups is specific to 
each target group and has varying forms and levels of intensity. 
The shareholders in Union Investment are involved through the 
established supervisory bodies; in the case of the local cooperative 
banks, there are series of events held in each region annually, at 
which all aspects of the collaboration with Union investment are 
discussed in detail. Employees are informed about the position of 
the Company at regular events and through internal media. 
Matters of interest and concerns can also be shared. Union 
Investment is in continuous dialog with regulators and other 
authorities. Involvement with academics and the arts world is 
through the work of the Union Investment Foundation and 
through cooperation agreements and studies, specifically in 
connection with internal efforts to arrive at a consensus on a 
variety of topics.

4.17 Topics and concerns raised through stakeholder engagement 2013 AR p. 176; see also 4.16
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Financial service sector supplement (FSSS)

FS1 Policies with specific environmental components

• Union Investment sustainability policy
• Responsible investment policy
• Proxy voting policy
The policies can be accessed at 
www.unternehmen.union-investment.de > Wofür wir uns 
engagieren > Anspruch & Grundsätze > Nachhaltigkeit

FS2
Procedures for assessing and screening environmental and social 
risks in the most important business lines

From a corporate management perspective, ESG criteria are of 
relevance in the balanced scorecard; they are also managed as an 
integral part of the risk management system. Environmental risks 
are also regularly analyzed and managed through the environmental 
management system, which has ISO 14001 certification. In 
connection with employees – a critical factor for a service provider 
– social aspects are covered by the regular ‘Top Employers in 
Germany’ auditing program, which is carried out by external 
assessors. Following appropriate decisions made by the Board of 
Managing Directors, any deficiencies uncovered and potential for 
improvement identified are incorporated into the next round of 
strategic planning and into the target planning for the relevant 
employees concerned.

FS3
Monitoring of clients’ compliance with agreed environmental and 
social requirements

FS4
Processes for improving staff competency to implement the 
environmental and social policies and procedures

Internal communications include regular reports on relevant 
environmental and social topics. A separate CSR microsite on the 
intranet provides a vehicle for these communications. An electronic 
mailbox dedicated to sustainability is provided for the submission of 
suggestions and questions. A range of professional development 
sessions on sustainability issues in the various divisions provides a 
further option for employees to obtain detailed information. The 
internal mitMenschen corporate volunteering program offers all 
employees the opportunity to engage in community activities within 
the corporate framework. Further training opportunities related to 
current social issues (such as caring for relatives) are also offered by 
the HR division.

FS5
Interactions with stakeholder groups regarding environmental and 
social risks

Union Investment shares information on environmental and social 
risks through, for example, its membership of the Sustainable 
Investment Forum (FNG) and the European Sustainable and 
Responsible Investment Forum (Eurosif) within the framework 
established by the United Nations Principles for Responsible 
Investment (UN PRI).

FS6
Percentage of the portfolio for business lines by region, size, and 
sector

FS7
Value of products and services designed to deliver a social benefit 
broken down 
by purpose

• Retail investors: €2.3 billion
• Institutional investors: €4.5 billion
• Total: €6.8 billion

FS8
Value of products and services designed to deliver an environmental 
benefit broken down by purpose

See FS7.

FS9
Coverage and frequency of audits to assess implementation 
of environmental and social policies

Regular internal and external certification is carried out in 
accordance with ISO 14001 as part of the environmental 
management system. From an HR perspective, an annual 
independent audit is carried out as part of the ‘Top Employers in 
Germany’ program.

FS10
Percentage and number of companies held in the institution’s 
portfolio with which the reporting organization has interacted on 
environmental or social issues

All the wholly owned subsidiaries in the Union Investment Group in 
Germany take environmental factors (energy, water, and paper 
consumption) into account in investment decisions and in 
operational procedures. The EMS-certified companies in the Union 
Investment Group are as follows:
 
Germany: Union Asset Management Holding AG, Union Investment 
Privatfonds GmbH, Union Investment Service Bank AG, Union 
IT-Services GmbH, Union Service-Gesellschaft mbH, Union 
Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Union Investment Real 
Estate GmbH, Union Investment Institutional GmbH

Luxembourg: Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Union Investment 
Financial Services S.A., attrax S.A.

FS11
Percentage of assets subject to positive and negative environmental 
or social screening

All non-current assets are screened against negative criteria.
Positive criteria are used in the screening of 3.32 percent of 
non-current assets.

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported
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FS12
Voting policies applied to environmental or social issues for shares 
over which the reporting organization holds the right to vote

For asset rights that are fully managed; see proxy voting policy for 
information on voting record.

FS13
Access points to the organization’s services for persons in 
low-populated or economically disadvantaged areas Union Investment does not operate in economically disadvantaged 

regions or regions with a low population.
FS14 Initiatives to improve access to services for disadvantaged people

FS15
Policies for the fair design and sale of financial products and  
services

The Union Investment Group is committed to abiding by the code of 
conduct laid down by the Federal Association of German Fund 
Management Companies (BVI).It therefore respects the standards of 
the code when reporting on the performance of its funds.

FS16 Initiatives to enhance financial literacy by type of beneficiary

• Union Investment is involved in the BVI Hoch im Kurs 
   initiative aimed at delivering financial education in schools.
• Union Investment offers employees professional development to  
   qualify as a Certified Sustainability Investments Manager (CSIM).

Construction & Real Estate Sector Supplement CRESS

CRE1 Energy consumption of buildings 2013 AR p. 182

CRE2 Water consumption of buildings 2013 AR p. 190

CRE3 Greenhouse gas emissions from buildings 2013 AR p. 189

CRE4
Greenhouse gas emissions from new construction and redevelop-
ment activity

CRE5
Land and other assets redeveloped or scheduled for redevelopment 
for the existing or intended land use according to applicable legal 
provisions

CRE6
Percentage of the organization operating in compliance with an 
internationally recognized health and safety management system

CRE7
Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily displaced and/or 
resettled by land development, broken down by project

CRE8
Type and number of sustainability certification, rating and labeling 
schemes for new construction, management, occupation, and 
redevelopment

2013 AR p. 194

Economic performance indicators

Management approach 2012 IR p. 6

EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed
Net profit: €280,333 thousand; 2013 AR p. 104; p. 106; p. 137;  
p. 203 (EC8); p. 209 (SO6)

EC2 Financial implications due to climate change
Climate change is taken into account through environmental 
reduction targets in the Union Investment sustainability program.

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations

All employees on permanent contracts at Union Investment receive 
a pension entitlement. For information on provisions for employee 
benefits, see 2013 AR p. 137. Additional social benefits such as a 
subsidized travel card, partial retirement scheme, childcare places, 
and a childcare allowance are also provided.

EC4 Financial assistance received from government
No significant financial assistance received from government during 
the 2013 reporting period.

EC5
Range of ratios of standard entry level wage compared to local 
minimum wage at significant locations of operation

EC6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on suppliers

EC7 Procedures for local hiring

EC8 Infrastructure investments and services for public benefit

1. Via the Union Investment Foundation we regularly support 
projects in the fields of science and research, education and training 
– particularly those concerning financial investment and the 
cooperative movement. The foundation was also established to 
promote culture and the arts, and for charitable purposes. 

2. Since 2006, Union Investment employees have been involved in 
the mitMenschen project for people whose life is not always easy. As 
part of the project, they carry out voluntary work for organizations in 
and around Frankfurt, Hamburg, and Luxembourg for the benefit of 
children, young people, and senior citizens in need.

EC9
Explanation and description of the type and scope of activities with 
significant indirect economic impact
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Environmental performance indicators

Management approach 2012 IR pages 7-8

EN1 Materials used

• Paper consumption per occupied workstation: 301 kg/workstation
• Paper consumption declined by 14.5 percent compared with 2012
• Paper consumption per occupied workstation was cut by  
   19.1 percent compared with 2012
• Photocopier paper consumption in 2013 was 107,530kg.  
   This equates to consumption of 39kg (2012: 48.5kg)  
   per occupied workstation.
See p. 204 for more key figures

EN2 Recycled materials
• Proportion of recycled paper: 5.9 percent
• Proportion of certified paper: 79.1 percent
See also EN1.

EN3 Direct energy consumption For key figures see 2013 AR p. 204; p. 186 for real estate portfolio.

EN4 Indirect energy consumption
For key figures see 2013 AR p. 204; p. 186 for real estate portfolio; 
see also EN3.

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported

Paper consumption 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Recycled paper 120,000 60,000 46,937 21,587 251,163

FSC-certified paper 230,300 230,300 359,318 834,756 809,434

PEFC-certified paper 300,000 200,000 268,223 109,885 282,927

Non-certified paper 396,800 437,800 119,134 63,909 6,082

Total 1,047,100 928,100 793,612 1,030,137 1,349,606

Paper consumption and use of recycled paper 2009-2013 (kg)

Direct energy consumption (fuel) in 2011 by source

Location/ 
fuel type

Consumption  
(liters)

Consumption  
(kWh)

Luxembourg

Diesel 91,000.00 909,090.00

Germany

Petroleum 18,862.12 167,024.07

Diesel 614,334.08 6,137,197.46

Total – 7,213,311.53

Indirect energy consumption in 2011 by source (kWh)1)

1)  The data shown here is not directly comparable with the data in the 2011 CSR report because the Luxembourg office was only integrated into the environmental manage-
ment system in 2012 and a complete set of data was not available for Hamburg.

Location
Heating

Electricity Occupied  
workstationsNatural gas District heating

Luxembourg 434,835.00 – 1,018,511.50 301

Frankfurt 4,835,324.93 763,882.11 7,284,666.81 1,962

Baseler Oval – 262,287.69 738,994.00 292

Cityhaus 979,606.00 – 1,261,861.35 446

Westendstrasse – 501,594.42 1,495,009.46 411

Wiesenhüttenplatz 560,390.93 – 910,162.00 276

Wiesenhüttenstrasse 3,295,328.00 – 2,878,640.00 537

Hamburg – 207,851.01 1,196,551.19 376

Total by energy type 5,270,159.93 971,733.12 9,499,729.50 –
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EN5 Energy saved

• Year-on-year reduction in energy consumption: 10.2 percent
• Year-on-year reduction in energy consumption per occupied  
   workstation: 15 percent 
See p. 205 for more key figures

EN6 Initiatives for energy-efficiency and renewable energies

The size of the uninterruptible power supply facility in the 
Wiesenhüttenstrasse building was reduced; ventilation and cooling 
at the data-processing center in Luxembourg was optimized; 
air-conditioning in various buildings was subject to further 
optimization.
A new CAR-policy was also drawn up for the vehicle fleet as well as 
a safety and environmental training plan for company car drivers.

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption

Energy consumption is being reduced by means of continuous 
employee training in areas such as energy consumption, business 
travel, paper consumption, use of letter and parcel mail, and 
avoidance of waste. As a result of training in procurement units, 
consideration of environmental issues has become better established 
in supplier and procurement management.

EN8 Total water withdrawal

In its buildings, Union Investment uses only drinking-quality water 
supplied by municipal water companies. In 2011, consumption at 
the sites in Germany and Luxembourg amounted to a total of 
25,811m3 (2010: 26,387m3). See p. 190 for data relating to the 
real estate portfolio.

EN9
Groundwater sources significantly impacted by the withdrawal  
of water

EN10 Water recycled and reused

EN11 Land in, or adjacent to, protected areas

EN12 Material impact of activities in protected areas

EN13 Habitats protected or restored

EN14
Strategies, ongoing measures and future plans for managing 
impacts on biodiversity

Location Electricity, district heating, fuel Vehicle fleet fuel 
(consolidated for Germany)

Luxembourg -278,963.99 -221,698.08

Frankfurt -1,580,276.90

-223,331.98

Baseler Oval -339,519.20

Cityhaus 139,055.37

Westendstrasse -176,930.07

Wiesenhüttenplatz -414,435.00

Wiesenhüttenstrasse -788,448.00

Hamburg 63,018.86

Total -1,796,222.03 -445,030.06

Energy saved in 2011 compared with 2010 (KWh)  

Location Electricity, district heating, fuel Vehicle fleet fuel 
(consolidated for Germany)

Luxembourg -112,782.52 -137,941.92

Frankfurt -1,979,899.15

-413,425.64

Baseler Oval -589,651.31

Cityhaus -133,330.65

Westendstrasse 122,102.88

Wiesenhüttenplatz -223,716.07

Wiesenhüttenstrasse -1,155,304.00

Hamburg 43,119.65

Total -2,049,562.02 -551,367.56

Energy saved in 2011 compared with 2009 base year (KWh)
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EN15
Number of species on the IUCN Red List and on national lists whose 
natural habitat is in areas that are affected by the organization’s 
business activities, broken down by level of threat

EN16 Greenhouse gas emissions For key figures see p. 206; p. 188 for real estate portfolio data

EN17 Other greenhouse gas emissions See EN16.

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

• Printing is carried out almost exclusively using a carbon-neutral  
   printing approach, saving several hundred tonnes of CO2  
   each year. 
• Following discussions with landlords, it has been possible to
   convert all but 17 percent of general electricity consumption to 
green electricity. 
• In 2013, the Luxembourg offices were integrated into the 
environmental management system. These offices are also saving 
approximately 280 tonnes of CO2 each year by using carbon-neutral 
sources of electricity.
• The CAR policy for the vehicle fleet has been revised and a safety  
   and environmental training plan for drivers has been drawn up. 

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight

EN20 NOx, SOx, and other air emissions by weight

EN21 Total water discharge by type and destination

Water used for drinking, cooking, cleaning, sanitation, and building 
engineering resulted in Union Investment discharging approximately 
24,789m3 (2010: 24,284.97m3) of waste water into the sewerage 
system. This volume differs by about 4.1 percent from the figure 
stated in EN8 (total water withdrawn). The difference from the figure 
stated for total water withdrawn was due to water used for cooking, 
water heaters and for watering plants, particularly at the Cityhaus 
building.

EN22 Waste by type and disposal method
For key figures see p. 206; disposal methods are the responsibility of 
the waste disposal company; see p. 191 for data relating to the real 
estate portfolio.

EN23
Spillages of pollutants such as oils, chemicals etc.,
by number and volume

EN24

Weight of transported, imported, exported, or treated waste  
deemed hazardous under the terms of the Basel Convention, 
annexes I, II, III, and VIII, and percentage of transported waste 
shipped internationally

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported

2011 CO2 (tonnes) Scope2)

Vehicle fleet (fuel consumption) 1,889.31 Scope 1

Electricity consumption 1,596.95 Scope 2

Consumption of natural gas 
and district heating 1,325.47 Scope 2

Paper consumption (waste) 258.88 Scope 3

Business travel (train, airplane,  
rental car, private car) 1,522.33 Scope 3

Letter mail 313.48 Scope 3

Parcel mail 82.91 Scope 3

Total carbon footprint 6,989.33 –

Type of waste Weight

Waste paper (t) 215.2

Mixed packaging (t) 7.3

Non-recyclable waste (t) 92.4

Other

Lamps (kg) 122.1

Used batteries (kg) 17.0

Commercial waste (t) 30.0

Data media (kg) 46.0

Electrical waste (kg) 285.0

Waste toner (kg) 2,226.0

Total direct, indirect, and  
other greenhouse gas emissions by weight  
(t CO2 equivalent)1) Union Investment waste in 2011 by type

1) As defined by Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol)
2) Germany and Luxembourg
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EN25
Identity, size, protected status, and biodiversity value of water bodies 
and related habitats significantly affected by the reporting 
organization’s discharges of water and runoff

EN26 Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts See EN18 and EN 21.

EN27 Percentage of products whose packaging has been recycled

EN28 Sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws None in 2013.

EN29 Impacts of transportation

EN30
Total environmental protection expenditures and investments broken 
down by type

Social performance indicators: Labor practices and decent work

Management approach 2012 IR p. 7

LA1
Total workforce by employment type, employment contract, 
and region

• 2,503 employees, of which 1,406 male and 1,097 female.
• By employment category: Board of Managing Directors/division 
heads, 46;  
  departmental heads, 79; group leaders, 229; employees, 2,133;  
  trainees, 28
• By employment type: Full-time, 1,873; part-time, 580
• By contract type: Collectively negotiated, 849; non-collectively 
negotiated, 1,654

LA2 Employee turnover For key figures see p. 207

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees
No distinction is made between full-time and part-time employees 
with regard to employee benefits.

LA4 Employees covered by collective bargaining agreements
There are company agreements within the framework of the 
codetermination rights of the works council.
• Employees covered by collective bargaining agreements: 849

LA5 Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes

LA6 Workforce represented on health & safety committees

LA7 Occupational diseases, lost days, and work-related fatalities

• Industrial accident rate: 0.014 percent
• Sickness rate: 4.40 percent
• Workplace accidents: 35, of which 19 involved men, and 16 
women
• Commuting accidents: 28, of which 16 involved men, and 12 
women
• Fatalities: None in 2013.

LA8 Education and training regarding serious diseases
• Employee Assistance Program (EAP), advisory service for 
employees and individuals living in the same household.
• Return-to-work support.

LA9 Formal agreements on health and safety at work

< 30 30-50 > 50

Male 28 52 1

Female 23 42 0

< 30 30-50 > 50

Male 7 44 8

Female 6 51 10

< 30 30-50 > 50

Male 2 1 0

Female 0 4 0

New appointments1) in 2013 by age group 
(< 30; 30-50; > 50) and gender

Number of leavers in 2013 by age group and 
gender

Number of employees recruited in 2013 who 
then left the company again in 2013 – by age 
group and gender

1)  Only individuals joining Union Investment for the first time are classified as new 
appointments.
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LA10 Training per employee

The Union Investment the Group complies with the ILO core labor 
standards and the OECD guidelines on training and professional 
development.
Training and professional development by employee category (hours/
employee):
• Overall: 100.1
• Professional development for departmental heads: 28.7
• Professional development for group leaders: 33.5
• Professional development for employees: 18.5
• Professional development for divisional heads: 19.4

LA11 Programs for skills management and lifelong learning

Professional development at Union Investment is based on a 
multidimensional approach:

1. Needs-based development (adaptation or additional skills for 
direct job requirements)
2. Development of potential (skills and qualifications for future 
requirements or to enable employee to take on wider functions)
3. Promotion of internal employability (developing an understanding 
for processes and interrelationships with a view to deployment in a 
number of different areas).

Different programs and tools specific to each target group are used. 
Knowledge management systems are used in different organiza-
tional units.

LA12
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews

• Proportion of employees with performance appraisal: 100 percent
• Proportion of employees with appraisal and feedback discussions: 
   100 percent
• Proportion of employees with target agreements and target 
attainment discussions: 61.13 percent

LA13 Ratio of basic salary of men to women
• Proportion of male senior managers: 84.9 percent
• Proportion of female senior managers: 15.1 percent

LA14
Average compensation by gender and 
employee category

The different collectively negotiated and non-collectively negotiated 
remuneration systems are the same for all employee groups, 
regardless of age, gender or other diversity factor. Depending on the 
employee group, there may be slight differences in a comparison of 
basic salaries between men and women, but salaries are also at the 
same level in some cases. There is no significant difference between 
genders in terms of either basic salary or annual pay increases.

Social performance indicators: Human rights

Management approach 2012 IR p. 8

HR1 Investment agreements

HR2 Suppliers that have undergone screening on human rights

Union Investment also focuses on sustainable procurement 
management in its purchasing activities. Selecting a third party from 
which to buy a product or service involves more than just financial 
and content-related criteria. Sustainability is also incorporated into 
an evaluation matrix. If analysis shows that two firms are equally 
well qualified and their pricing is similar, Union Investment selects 
the company with the more sustainable product or service.

HR3
Total hours of employee training on the organization’s policies and 
procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to 
operations, including the percentage of employees trained

HR4 Incidents of discrimination No incidents in 2013.

HR5 Freedom of association and collective bargaining

HR6 Child labor

HR7 Forced labor

HR8
Percentage of security personnel trained in the organization’s 
policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are 
relevant to operations

HR9
Total number of incidents of violations involving rights of indigenous 
people and actions taken

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported
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Social performance indicators: Society

Management approach 2012 IR p. 8

SO1 Impacts of operations on communities

SO2 Risks related to corruption
• Proportion of units reviewed from a corruption perspective: 
100 percent.
• Number of units reviewed from a corruption perspective: 12.

SO3 Training in anti-corruption policies and procedures

The internal ‘Preventing and averting financial crime’ guidelines are 
binding upon all employees of the Union Investment Group. Training 
to prevent other criminal offenses will be carried out from 2012 in 
accordance with the German Banking Act (KWG). In 2013, 898 
employees took part in anti-corruption training.

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption

No incidents of corruption in 2013.
The handling of potential incidents of corruption is described in 
internal guidelines as an integral part of fraud prevention. The 
guidelines set out an overall process, including legal action and the 
issue of lessons learned. The actual follow-up action to be taken 
depends on the incident in each case and is specified by a 
whistleblower committee.

SO5 Lobbying

SO6
Total value of contributions (financial or benefits in kind) made to 
political parties, politicians, and related institutions listed by country

The Union Investment Group does not contribute financially or make 
benefits in kind available to political parties or politicians.

SO7
Total number of legal actions for anticompetitive behavior, anti-trust, 
and monopoly practices and their outcomes

There were no legal actions brought in 2013.

SO8
Monetary value of significant fines and total number of 
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations

No fines or non-monetary sanctions were imposed in 2013.

Social performance indicators: Product responsibility

Management approach 2012 IR p. 6

PR1 Health & safety impact of products and services

PR2
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning health and safety impacts of products 
and services, broken down by type of outcome

PR3 Product information

The Union Investment Group is committed to abiding by the code of 
conduct laid down by the Federal Association of German Fund 
Management Companies (BVI).It therefore respects the standards of 
the code when reporting on the performance of its funds.

PR4
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning product and service information and 
labeling, broken down by type of outcome

PR5 Customer satisfaction

Client surveys are carried out every two years by means of telephone 
interviews with the following target groups: managers and advisors 
at cooperative partner banks, retail and institutional investors, 
commercial tenants, attrax intermediary banks, and institutional 
clients of attrax. Smaller scale client surveys are carried out as 
required in the intervening years. See 2013 AR p. 92 for the findings 
from previous client surveys.

Aside from its two-yearly surveys, Union Investment also values the 
feedback it receives from its customers so it frequently conducts 
market research. All customer contact is also subject to quality 
assurance, whether it happens via the website, through regular 
publications for the different client groups sent by email or letter, or 
at events. 

PR6 Standards related to advertising

• The Union Investment Group is committed to abiding by the code 
of conduct laid down by the Federal Association of German Fund 
Management Companies (BVI).It therefore respects the standards of 
the code when reporting on the performance of its funds.
• The Union Investment Group complies with the Markets in 
Financial Instruments Directive  
   (MiFID) as a matter of course.
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PR7

Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning marketing communications, including 
advertising, sales promotion, and sponsorship, broken down by type 
of outcome

No incidents in 2013.

PR8
Total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer data

None in 2013.

PR9
Fines for non-compliance with regulations concerning products and 
services

There were no fines in 2013.

2013 AR = 2013 Annual Report and Sustainability Report   IR = 2012 CSR Interim Report  CSR 2011 = 2012 CSR Report

 fully reported   partially reported   not reported
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Associates 

An associate is an entity in which an investor can 
exercise significant influence over the entity’s financial 
and operating policy decisions. Associates are gener-
ally included in the investor’s consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method.
  
Fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received for an 
asset or paid to settle a liability in an arm’s-length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties.
  
Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments consist of non-derivative 
financial assets listed on an active market with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an 
entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. IAS 39 provides for a separate measurement 
category for such financial instruments. However, this 
category is not used in the UMH Group.

Cash flow

Cash flow is the term given to inflows and outflows of 
cash and cash equivalents.
 
Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments with the following 
characteristics: their value changes in response to the 
change in a specified underlying instrument (for ex-
ample share price, foreign exchange rate, interest rate); 
they generally require only a small initial investment 
or no initial investment at all; and they are settled at a 
future date in cash or by the delivery of the underlying 
instrument.
 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of determin-
ing the effective interest income or expense on inter-
est-bearing financial instruments. The effective interest 
method is used, for example, to allocate premiums or 
discounts as well as capitalized transaction costs over 
the term of a financial instrument so as to generate a 
constant rate of interest on the carrying amount.
  
Designation as at fair value through profit or 
loss (fair value option)

IAS 39 offers the option of designating any financial 
asset or financial liability irrevocably as at fair value 
through profit or loss (fair value option). 
Further criteria must be satisfied before the option can 
be exercised. Exercise of the option normally reduces 
accounting mismatches.
  
Equity method

The equity method is a prescribed method for recog-
nizing and measuring investments in associates and 
joint ventures in consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The measurement 
of the investment in the investor’s financial statements 
is based on the proportion of equity attributable 
to the investor. Changes in this share of equity are 
reflected in the financial statements of the investor by 
an adjustment to the measurement of the investment 
(mirror-image method).
  
Acquisition method

The acquisition method must be used to account 
for business combinations in consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. The 
acquisition method is based on the notion that all the 
assets and liabilities held by the acquiree – rather than 
this entity’s shares – are acquired at their respective 
fair value. Hidden reserves and liabilities reported in 
the acquiree’s financial statements must therefore be 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
  

Glossary
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Finance lease

A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to the owner-
ship of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. 
As beneficial owner, the lessee must account for the 
asset and recognize a liability for the payment of 
lease installments to the lessor. The lessor recognizes 
the present value of the lessee’s lease payments as a 
receivable.

Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 
  
Amortized cost

Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial as-
set or financial liability is measured at initial recogni-
tion minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortization using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction 
(directly or through the use of an allowance account) 
for impairment or uncollectibility.
  
Goodwill

Goodwill is the positive difference between the price 
paid for a business combination and the sum of the 
fair values for the proportion of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. It encompasses future economic 
benefits that cannot be separately identified and 
recognized as individual assets.
  
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS)

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are 
the accounting standards published by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In addition 
to the IFRSs published since 2003, the standards 
include the previously published International Ac-
counting Standards (IASs), the interpretations of the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

Joint venture 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
two or more parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets that have fixed or determinable payments and 
that are not quoted in an active market. This category 
includes, in particular, receivables and some types of 
investments.
  
Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are income taxes that are to be paid or 
refunded in the future, that arise from measurement 
differences between the tax base and the IFRS finan-
cial statements, and that do not constitute a current 
tax liability due to the tax authorities, or a current tax 
receivable due from the tax authorities, on the date 
they are recognized. Deferred taxes are recognized in 
respect of timing differences and, in certain circum-
stances, in respect of tax loss carryforwards.
  
Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve is a separate line item under 
equity. Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets are reported under this item.
  
Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of sub-
sidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the parent 
company.
 
Operating lease

All leases that do not satisfy the requirements for 
finance leases are classified as operating leases. Ben-
eficial ownership of the leased asset remains with the 
lessor and the asset is recognized and measured in the 
lessor’s financial statements.

215

Union Asset Management Holding AG 2013 Corporate Social Responsibility Report Glossary



Other financial liabilities

All financial liabilities that are not classified as held for 
trading or designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss are classified as other financial liabilities. Other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.
  
Impairment of assets

An asset is impaired if its recoverable amount is below 
its carrying amount. The methodology for calculating 
the amount of an impairment loss depends on each 
individual case and the relevant IFRS provisions.
  
Financial instruments held for trading

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified 
as financial instruments held for trading if they are 
primarily purchased with the intention of reselling 
them in the near term or sold with the intention of 
repurchasing them in the near term. Derivatives not 
designated as an effective hedge are also allocated to 
this category.
  
Held for sale

A non-current asset or disposal group is classified as 
held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.
  

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
financial assets that cannot be classified in any other 
category as specified in IAS 39. Changes in the fair 
value of assets in this category are generally rec-
ognized in other comprehensive income/loss. Only 
permanent impairment losses are recognized in the 
income statement.
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Note on forward-looking statements

The group management report and other sections of this annual report contain 

forward-looking statements that are based on current planning, assumptions, 

and estimates rather than on historical facts. In all cases, the forward-looking 

statements apply at the time the statements are made and we give no 

undertaking to update the content on the basis of new information or future 

events after publication of this report. We have derived our assessments 

and conclusions from these forward-looking statements, expectations, and 

forecasts. We explicitly draw attention to the fact that all our forward-looking 

statements are subject to known or unknown risks and uncertainties and are 

based on conclusions that relate to future events. These in turn are subject 

to risks, uncertainties, and other factors outside our control. Such risks, 

uncertainties, and other factors may arise, among other things, from changes 

in general economic conditions or the competitive environment, trends on the 

capital markets, changes in the tax/legal framework, and other risks. Actual 

events in the future may therefore differ substantially from our forward-looking 

statements, expectations, forecasts, and conclusions. We can accept no liability 

for the accuracy or completeness of the information provided and can make no 

warranty that future situations will occur as described.

General disclaimer

Unless otherwise stated, the past performance of the funds has been determi-

ned on the basis of Union Investment’s own calculations using the BVI method 

(front-end fees not included, where applicable). 

Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. For exten-

sive product-specific information and details of the opportunities and risks 

attaching to Union Investment Group funds, please refer to the latest sales pro-

spectuses, the Company’s terms and conditions, or the annual and half-yearly 

reports, which can be obtained free of charge from the client service offered by 

Union Investment Service Bank AG at Wiesenhüttenstrasse 10, 60329 Frankfurt 

am Main, Germany. These documents constitute the sole binding basis for 

the purchase of funds. The content of this annual report does not constitute a 

recommendation to take a specific course of action; it is not a substitute for 

personal investment advice from the Bank or for expert personal tax advice. 

Although Union Asset Management Holding AG has taken due care in prepa-

ring and producing this document, Union Investment gives no guarantee that 

the information contained therein is up to date, accurate, and complete.

Revision date of all information, disclosures, explanations, charts, and dia-

grams: March 10, 2014  

(unless stated otherwise).

Formal aspects of the report

 

To improve readability, repeated use throughout the report of the full legal 

form of the names of group companies has been avoided. The 2013 Annual 

Report is available in both German and English. It can be accessed on the 

internet at www.gemeinschaft-ist-alles.de, either as an interactive report or as 

a PDF download.
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